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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

v.
DATE: March 25, 2015

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

THIS FINAL ORDER IS NO NPRECEDENTIAL 1
Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Jason Weidenfeld, Esquire, and Pamela Gault, Washington, D.C., for the
agency.
BEFORE
Susan Tsui Grundmann, Chairman
Mark A. Robbins, Member
FINAL ORDER
¶1

The appellant has filed a petition for review of the initial decision, which
dismissed his individual right of action (IRA) appeal for lack of jurisdiction.
Generally, we grant petitions such as this one only when: the initial decision
contains erroneous findings of material fact; the initial decision is based on an
erroneous interpretation of statute or regulation or the erroneous application of
1

A nonprecedential order is one that the Board has determined does not add
sign ificantly to the body of MSPB case law. Parties may cite nonprecedential orders,
but such orders have no precedential value; the Board and administrative judges are not
required to follow or distinguish them in any future decisions. In contrast, a
precedential decision issued as an Opinion and Order has been identified by the Board
as significantly contributing to the Board’s case law. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.117(c).
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2
the law to the facts of the case; the judge’s rulings during either the course of the
appeal or the initial decision were not consistent with required procedures or
involved an abuse of discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of
the case; or new and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed.

See

Title 5 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 1201.115 (5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.115). After fully considering the filings in this appeal, and based on the
following points and authorities, we conclude that the petitioner has not
established any basis under section 1201.115 for granting the petition for review.
Therefore, we DENY the petition for review. Except as expressly MODIFIED by
this Final Order to address the appellant’s new claims raised in the first instance
on review, we AFFIRM the initial decision.
BACKGROUND
¶2

The appellant, an employee of the Department of Energy, filed an IRA
appeal alleging that, in reprisal for his whistleblowing activities, the Office of
Special Counsel (OSC) failed or refused to take steps to resolve his protected
disclosures regarding violations of law by OSC. Initial Appeal File (IAF), Tab 1
at 1, 15-16, Tab 2 at 1. On the section of the appeal form requiring the appellant
to indicate the personnel action or decision that he was appealing, he wrote, “any
other significant change in working conditions.”

IAF, Tab 1 at 4.

OSC

responded, alleging that the appellant was never employed by OSC, the matters
raised in his appeal were not personnel actions, and the Board lacked jurisdiction
to review the merits of OSC’s investigative decisions.

IAF, Tab 6 at 6.

Subsequently, the administrative judge issued an order to show cause, which set
forth the requirements for establishing jurisdiction over an IRA appeal.

IAF,

Tab 10 at 1-2.
¶3

After the appellant submitted two responses to the order to show cause, the
administrative judge dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction without holding
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3
the hearing requested by the appellant.

See IAF, Tab 1 at 2, Tab 13, Initial

Decision (ID) at 1, 4; see also IAF, Tabs 11-12 (the appellant’s responses to the
show cause order). He found that the Board lacked jurisdiction over the appeal
because OSC’s failure to resolve the appellant’s claims of whistleblower
retaliation was not a “personnel action” under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). 2 ID at 3.
In addition, the administrative judge found that the Board lacked authority to
review the appellant’s allegations that OSC violated 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g), a
statutory provision addressing referral of certain protected disclosures received
by OSC to agency heads. ID at 4; IAF, Tab 12 at 4-6.
¶4

The appellant has filed a timely petition for review. Petition for Review
(PFR) File, Tab 3. The agency has filed a response to the petition for review, and
the appellant has filed a reply. PFR File, Tabs 5-6.
DISCUSSION OF ARGUMENTS ON REVIEW

¶5

The Board’s jurisdiction is not plenary; it is limited to those matters over
which it has been given jurisdiction by law, rule, or regulation. Maddox v. Merit
Systems Protection Board, 759 F.2d 9, 10 (Fed. Cir. 1985).

The Board has

jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant exhausts his administrative
remedies before OSC and makes nonfrivolous allegations that: (1) he made a
disclosure described under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), or engaged in protected activity
described under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or (D); and (2) the
disclosure or protected activity was a contributing factor in the agency’s decision
to take or fail to take a personnel action as defined by 5 U.S.C. §
2302(a). 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(3), 1221(e)(1); Yunus v. Department of Veterans
Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2001). We agree with the administrative
2

The administrative judge found that, standing alone, the fact that the appellant was not
employed by OSC, the agency that he alleged took the personnel action against him, did
not necessarily preclude Board jurisdiction over h is appeal. See ID at 3; see also Weed
v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221, ¶¶ 9-10 (2010) (finding that the
Whistleb lower Protection Act (WPA) did not restrict the definition of an “employee” to
employees of the agency alleged to have taken the personnel action at issue).
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4
judge that the dispositive issue in this appeal is whether the appellant raised a
nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took or failed to take a personnel action against
him. See ID at 3.
The administrative judge correctly found that the appellant failed to raise a
nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took or failed to take a personnel action against
him.
¶6

“Personnel

actions,” for

purposes of the Whistleblower

Protection

Enhancement Act (WPEA), are defined as the following 12 actions:

(i) an

appointment; (ii) a promotion; (iii) an action under 5 U.S.C. chapter 75 or other
disciplinary or corrective action; (iv) a detail, transfer, or reassignment; (v) a
reinstatement; (vi) a restoration; (vii) a reemployment; (viii) a performance
evaluation under 5 U.S.C. chapter 43; (ix) a decision concerning pay, benefits, or
awards, or concerning education or training if the education or training may
reasonably be expected to lead to an appointment, promotion, performance
evaluation, or other action described in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A); (x) a decision
to order psychiatric testing or examination; (xi) the implementation or
enforcement of any nondisclosure policy, form, or agreement; and (xii) any other
5 U.S.C.

significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions.
§ 2302(a)(2)(A).
¶7

The appellant has not alleged, either below or on review, that OSC’s actions
constitute

any

of

the

11

personnel

actions

enumerated

in

5

U.S.C.

§ 2302(a)(2)(A)(i)-(xi). See PFR File, Tabs 3, 6; see also IAF, Tabs 1-2, 11-12.
Instead, the appellant relies upon 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), arguing that
OSC’s failure or refusal to resolve his alleged protected disclosures and refusal to
seek a legal opinion from the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of
Justice regarding his allegations that OSC violated the law constitute a
“significant change in working conditions.” PFR File, Tab 3 at 10, 12, Tab 6
at 5; IAF, Tab 1 at 4, Tab 2 at 1 (the appellant’s argument below). We agree with
the administrative judge that, although OSC’s investigations and prosecutorial
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5
decisions may be of keen interest to the appellant, they do not constitute
personnel actions within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). See ID at 3-4.
¶8

The appellant has not challenged the administrative judge’s findings that
OSC is not his employing agency and that he has not applied to OSC for any
work, transfer, detail, restoration, or other attribute of employment. ID at 3; PFR
File, Tabs 3, 6. The appellant continues to allege on review that OSC’s failure or
refusal to resolve his alleged protected disclosures was a personnel action because
it “would dissuade a[]reasonable co-worker from making protected disclosures to
OSC,” reporting prohibited personnel practices to OSC, or assisting in an OSC
investigation. See PFR File, Tab 3 at 10; see also IAF, Tab 2 at 1 (the appellant’s
argument below). However, he has not alleged that OSC’s actions or inactions
resulted in any specific changes in his own job duties, responsibilities, or working
conditions. 3 See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii); see also PFR File, Tabs 3, 6; IAF,
Tab 1 at 15-16, Tab 2 at 1, Tabs 11-12. In the absence of such allegations, the
appellant’s generalized assertion that he experienced a significant change in
duties, responsibilities or working conditions is insufficient to raise a
nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took a personnel action against him.

See

Godfrey v. Department of the Air Force, 45 M.S.P.R. 298, 303 (1990)
(jurisdiction over an IRA appeal requires more than generalized assertions
unsupported by reference to any specific matter).

3

Although not clearly articulated by the appellant on review, to the extent that he
alleges that OSC’s failure or refusal to resolve his disclosures is a personnel action
because it contributes to “corruption and dysfunction” in the federal workplace, we find
that such a general allegation is not sufficiently concrete or specific to constitute a
personnel action under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). See PFR File, Tab 3 at 6 (the
appellant’s argument that OSC’s alleged abandonment of its statutory responsibilities
results in corruption and dysfunction in federal agencies); see also King v. Department
of Health & Human Services, 133 F.3d 1450, 1452-53 (Fed. Cir. 1998) (an action must
have “practical consequences” for an employee to constitute a “personnel action” under
5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)); Zimmerman v. Department of Housing & Urban
Development, 61 M.S.P.R. 75, 80 (1994) (allegations of “continuing reprisal” and
“threats” were too vague to constitute personnel actions).
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6
¶9

The statute authorizing Board jurisdiction over IRA appeals authorizes an
employee to seek corrective action from the Board with respect to a personnel
action taken “against such employee.” 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). It does not authorize
an employee to appeal alleged personnel actions taken against his coworkers. See
id.; see also Stoyanov v. Department of the Navy, 474 F.3d 1377, 1380-81 (Fed.
Cir. 2007) (finding that the alleged personnel action must be taken or proposed to
be taken against the person bringing the IRA appeal). We find that the alleged
deterrent effect upon the appellant’s coworkers is not a personnel action
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). 4
The administrative judge did not misinterpret the nature of the alleged “personnel
action.”

¶10

On review, the appellant argues that the administrative judge misinterpreted
the nature of the personnel action that he alleged that OSC took against him. PFR
File, Tab 3 at 4, 10-13. He contends that the administrative judge misconstrued
his appeal as alleging that the personnel action was OSC’s failure to protect him
from reprisal by his employing agency, the Department of Energy.
12-13.

Id. at 4,

We find that the appellant’s argument is not supported by the initial

decision or any other evidence in the record below. The administrative judge did
not state that the appellant alleged that OSC had failed to protect him from
reprisal by the Department of Energy.

See ID.

Instead, he found that the

appellant alleged that OSC’s “failure to resolve or refusal to resolve [his]
allegations of whistleblower reprisal in a timely and objective manner” was a
4

The appellant argues that Supreme Court precedent in Burlington Northern & Santa
Fe Railway Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006), a case arising under Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act, requires the Board to consider whether OSC’s actions would dissuade a
reasonable coworker from making protected disclosures to OSC. PFR File, Tab 3 at 10.
However, in Stoyanov, which was decided after Burlington Northern, the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit held that, in an IRA appeal, the personnel action must
be taken against the person bringing the appeal. Stoyanov, 474 F.3d at 1380-81. It is
well settled that decisions of the Federal Circu it constitute precedent that is b inding on
the Board. Spain v. Department of Homeland Security, 99 M.S.P.R. 529, ¶ 9 (2005),
aff’d, 177 F. App’x 88 (Fed. Cir. 2006).
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7
personnel action. ID at 3. We find the administrative judge’s interpretation to be
consistent with the appellant’s allegations below that OSC retaliated against him
by failing or refusing to resolve his claims regarding OSC’s own violations of
law. 5 See IAF, Tab 2 at 1 (the appellant’s allegations below), Tab 11 at 2 (same).
Absent a personnel action, the Board lacks jurisdiction to review the appellant’s
claims that OSC violated the law.
¶11

On review, the appellant contends that the administrative judge erred in
failing to address whether he made a protected disclosure. 6 PFR File, Tab 3 at
12. However, absent a “personnel action,” the Board lacks jurisdiction over the
appellant’s IRA appeal. See Shivaee v. Department of the Navy, 74 M.S.P.R. 383,
387 (1997) (in order for a right of appeal to accrue under the WPA, the
predecessor to the WPEA, the appellant must establish that he was subject to a
threatened personnel action); see also Yunus, 242 F.3d at 1371 (in order to
establish Board jurisdiction over an IRA appeal, an appellant must establish both
that he made a protected disclosure and that the disclosure was a contributing
factor in the decision to take or fail to take a personnel action). Therefore, once
5

Even assuming for the sake of argument, however, that the administrative judge
misconstrued the appellant’s arguments, the appellant has not demonstrated that this
error would be prejudicial to his substantive rights. See Panter v. Department of the Air
Force, 22 M.S.P.R. 281, 282 (1984) (an adjudicatory error that is not prejudicial to a
party’s substantive rights provides no basis for reversal of an initial decision). We find
that the appellant failed to raise a nonfrivo lous allegation that either OSC’s failure to
resolve his allegations that OSC violated the law or OSC’s failure to protect him from
unspecified reprisal by the Department of Energy was a personnel action, as that term is
defined in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).
6

After the close of the record on review, the appellant filed two motions seeking leave
to file additional evidence and argument. PFR File, Tabs 9, 12. The appellant alleges
that this new evidence would support his claims of “having a ‘reasonable belief’ in his
whistleblower disclosures about OSC law breaking . . . .” See PFR File, Tab 9 at 4, see
also PFR File, Tab 12 at 4-5. However, the appellant has not demonstrated the
relevance of this evidence to the dispositive issue in this appeal, which is whether he
raised a nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took or failed to take a personnel action
against him.
Accordingly, the appellant’s motions are denied.
See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.114(k) (once the record closes, no additional evidence or argument will be
accepted unless it is new and material).
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8
the administrative judge found that the appellant had failed to raise a
nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took or failed to take a personnel action against
him, he was not required to address whether the appellant had a reasonable belief
that OSC was violating the law. See Shivaee, 74 M.S.P.R. at 387-89 (dismissing
an IRA appeal on the ground that the appellant failed to raise a nonfrivolous
allegation of a personnel action, without addressing whether he had a reasonable
belief that the agency violated the law).
¶12

On review, the appellant also repeatedly asserts that OSC violated the law
when it failed to resolve his whistleblower disclosures. PFR File, Tab 3 at 4-6,
10, 12, Tab 6 at 5.

However, the Board has no authority to adjudicate the

appellant’s claims that OSC violated the law in failing to investigate his claims.
See Wren v. Merit Systems Protection Board, 681 F.2d 867, 871-72 (D.C. Cir.
1982) (finding that the Board had no authority to enforce the statutory
requirement that OSC investigate allegations of whistleblower reprisal).
The Board will not address the issue of whether the Board took a personnel action
against him by failing to conduct special studies, including studies of OSC.
¶13

On review, the appellant continues to argue that the Board enables OSC’s
violations of law by failing to conduct “special studies” pursuant to 5 U.S.C.
§ 1204(a)(3). 7 See PFR File, Tab 3 at 6-7, 9, 12, Tab 6 at 5; see also IAF, Tab 11
at 6 (the appellant’s assertion below that the Board violated the law by failing to
conduct special studies). For the first time on review, he additionally contends
that the Board’s failure to conduct special studies was itself a “significant change
in working conditions.” PFR File, Tab 6 at 5.

¶14

The appellant previously raised the issue of whether the Board took a
personnel action against him by failing to conduct special studies, including
studies of OSC, in another appeal against the Board, Carson v. Merit Systems
Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1. The administrative
7

Because the administrative judge did not address this claim, we MODIFY the initial
decision to do so.
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9
law judge dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, finding that the appellant
failed to raise a nonfrivolous allegation that the Board’s failure to conduct special
studies constituted a personnel action. 8 See Carson v. Merit Systems Protection
Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1, Initial Decision at 2, 5-7
(Nov. 6, 2014). The initial decision became the Board’s final decision after all
three Board members recused themselves from considering the appellant’s
petition for review. Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, MSPB Docket
No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1, Order (Dec. 23, 2014); see 5 C.F.R. § 1200.3(b).
Because the Board’s members previously recused themsel ves from considering
this issue, the Board will not address it further. 9
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
The initial decision, as supplemented by this Final Order, constitutes the
Board’s final decision in this matter. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.113. You have the right to
request the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit to review this
final decision.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date of this order. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec.
27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. The court has
8

For the first time on review, the appellant also argues that because he raised claims
against the Board, his appeal should have been assigned to an administrative law judge
under 5 C.F.R. § 1201.13, as though it were an appeal by a Board employee, or
alternatively, that the administrative judge should have been disqualified under 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.42. PFR File, Tab 3 at 9, 12. As noted above, the appellant’s appeal against the
Board was assigned to an administrative law judge. See Carson v. Merit Systems
Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1, Initial Decision at 1 n.2
(Nov. 6, 2014).
9

On December 31, 2014, the appellant appealed the Board’s final decision to the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, where his appeal remains
pending. The court will review the issue of the Board’s jurisdiction over the appeal de
novo. See Stoyanov, 474 F.3d at 1379 (whether the Board has jurisdiction to adjudicate
an appeal is a question of law that is reviewed de novo).
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held that normally it does not have the authority to waive this statutory deadline
and that filings that do not comply with the deadline must be dismissed. See
Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management, 931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of the Board’s decision concerning your
claims

of

prohibited

personnel

practices

under 5

U.S.C.

§ 2302(b)(8),

(b)(9)(A)(i), (b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge
the Board’s disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you
may request review of this final decision by the United States Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent jurisdiction. The
court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60 days after the
date of this order. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If
you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. You may choose to request
review of the Board’s decision in the United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit or any other court of appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not
both.

Once you choose to seek review in one court of appeals, you may be

precluded from seeking review in any other court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
States Code, at our website.

Additional information about the United States

Court of Appeals for

Federal

the

Circuit

is available

at

the

court's

website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular relevance is the court's "Guide for
Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is contained within the court's Rules of
Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11. Additional information about other courts of
appeals can be found at their respective websites, which can be accessed
through http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our website
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11
at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have expressed
interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems Protection Board
appellants before the Federal Circuit.

The Merit Systems Protection Board

neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor warrants that any
attorney will accept representation in a given case.

FOR THE BOARD:

______________________________
William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board

Washington, D.C.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: August 17, 2015

THIS FINAL ORDER IS NONPRECEDENTIAL 1
Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Pamela Gault, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the agency.
BEFORE
Susan Tsui Grundmann, Chairman
Mark A. Robbins, Member

FINAL ORDER
¶1

The appellant has filed a petition for review of the initial decision, which
dismissed his individual right of action (IRA) appeal for lack of jurisdiction.
Generally, we grant petitions such as this one only when: the initial decision
contains erroneous findings of material fact; the initial decision is based on an
erroneous interpretation of statute or regulation or the erroneous application of
1

A nonprecedential order is one that the Board has determined does not add
significantly to the body of MSPB case law. Parties may cite nonprecedential orders,
but such orders have no precedential value; the Board and administrative judges are not
required to follow or distinguish them in any future decisions. In contrast, a
precedential decision issued as an Opinion and Order has been identified by the Board
as significantly contributing to the Board’s case law. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.117(c).
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2
the law to the facts of the case; the judge’s rulings during either the course of the
appeal or the initial decision were not consistent with required procedures or
involved an abuse of discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of
the case; or new and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed.

See

Title 5 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 1201.115 (5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.115). After fully considering the filings in this appeal, and based on the
following points and authorities, we conclude that the petitioner has not
established any basis under section 1201.115 for granting the petition for review.
Therefore, we DENY the petition for review. Except as expressly MODIFIED by
this Final Order to dismiss the appeal based on adjudicatory efficiency, and to
acknowledge and decline to address the appellant’s claims against the Board, we
AFFIRM the initial decision.
BACKGROUND
¶2

The appellant, an employee of the Department of Energy (DOE), has filed a
number of IRA appeals, alleging that various agencies, including DOE, the Office
of Special Counsel (OSC), and the Board, took personnel actions against him in
retaliation for protected disclosures. Initial Appeal File (IAF), Tab 1 at 5; see,
e.g., Carson v. Department of Energy, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0520-W-1,
Final Order at 2 (May 21, 2015); Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, MSPB
Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1 (Carson I), Final Order at 2 (Mar. 25, 2015);
Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637W-1, Initial Decision at 2 (Nov. 6, 2014).

¶3

In the present IRA appeal, the appellant alleged that, in reprisal for his
whistleblowing activities, OSC failed or refused to properly investigate, process,
and resolve his whistleblower complaints regarding DOE and the Board. IAF,
Tab 1 at 4, 8, Tab 17 at 8-13.

OSC moved to dismiss the appeal based on

adjudicatory efficiency or collateral estoppel due to an initial decision in one of
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3
the appellant’s prior IRA appeals, Carson I. IAF, Tab 20 at 3-5; see Carson I,
Initial Decision (July 25, 2014).
¶4

After issuing orders setting forth the requirements for establishing
jurisdiction over an IRA appeal, and then considering the appellant’s responses,
the administrative judge dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction without
holding the requested hearing. IAF, Tab 25, Initial Decision (ID); see IAF, Tab 1
at 2, Tab 3 at 1-4, Tab 6 at 4, Tab 8 at 2-4, Tab 17. The administrative judge
denied the agency’s request to dismiss the appeal based on collateral estoppel
because a petition for review was pending in Carson I and he did not address the
agency’s alternative argument that the appeal should be dismissed based on
adjudicatory efficiency.

ID at 2-3; see IAF, Tab 20 at 3-5.

Instead, the

administrative judge dismissed the appeal on the ground that the appellant failed
to raise a nonfrivolous allegation that OSC took or failed to take a personnel
action against him. 2 ID at 3-4.
¶5

The appellant has filed a timely petition for review. Petition for Review
(PFR) File, Tab 3. The agency has filed a response, and the appellant has filed a
reply. 3

PFR File, Tabs 10, 21.

In addition, the appellant has filed motions

seeking leave to submit additional evidence and argument on review. PFR File,
Tabs 7, 11, 17, 20.
DISCUSSION OF ARGUMENTS ON REVIEW
¶6

The Board’s jurisdiction is limited to those matters over which it has been
given jurisdiction by law, rule, or regulation.

Maddox v. Merit Systems

2

On review, the appellant claims that the administrative judge found that he raised a
nonfrivolous allegation that he engaged in protected activity by filing whistleblower
complaints with OSC. Petition for Review (PFR) File, Tab 21 at 4-5.
The
administrative judge did not make any such finding. See ID. Regardless, because we
resolve this appeal on other grounds, we do not reach this issue.
3

On April 1, 2015, the Clerk of the Board granted the appellant an extension of time to
file a reply and ordered him to file an amended reply to replace an unauthorized
pleading filed in the interim. PFR File, Tab 18 at 1-2; see PFR File, Tabs 16, 21.
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Protection Board, 759 F.2d 9, 10 (Fed. Cir. 1985). The Board has jurisdiction
over an IRA appeal if the appellant exhausts his administrative remedies before
OSC and makes nonfrivolous allegations that: (1) he made a disclosure described
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), or engaged in protected activity described
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or (D); and (2) the disclosure or
protected activity was a contributing factor in the agency’s decision to take or fail
to take a personnel action as defined by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a).

5 U.S.C. §§

1214(a)(3), 1221(e)(1); Yunus v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367,
1371 (Fed. Cir. 2001).
The Board will not address the appellant’s allegations against it.
¶7

On review, as he did below, the appellant argues that the Board violates the
law and enables OSC’s violations of law by failing to conduct “special studies”
pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1204(a)(3).

PFR File, Tab 3 at 4-13; see IAF, Tab 5

at 4-5, 7, Tab 9 at 5. For the first time on review, he additionally contends that
the Board’s failure to conduct special studies was itself a personnel action, and
that the Board took a personnel action against him through its “failure or refusal
to address” his whistleblower disclosures regarding OSC.

PFR File, Tab 3

at 10-11, 13-14.
¶8

The appellant previously raised the issue of whether the Board took a
personnel action against him by failing to conduct special studies, including
studies of OSC, in another appeal against the Board, Carson v. Merit Systems
Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1. The appeal was
assigned to an administrative law judge, who dismissed it for lack of jurisdiction.
See Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-140637-W-1, Initial Decision at 2, 5-7 (Nov. 6, 2014). The initial decision became
the Board’s final decision after all three Board members recused themselves from
considering the appellant’s petition for review.

Carson v. Merit Systems

Protection Board, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1, Order (Dec. 23,
2014); see 5 C.F.R. § 1200.3(b).

Because the Board’s members previously
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recused themselves from considering this issue, the Board will not address it
further.

The current two Board members similarly recuse themselves from

addressing the appellant’s new allegation that the Board took a personnel action
against him by failing or refusing to address his whistleblower disclosures
regarding OSC. See PFR File, Tab 3 at 13-14.
¶9

The Board does not, however, recuse itself from the appellant’s claims
against OSC. On review, he argues that the Board members cannot adjudicate
these claims due to a conflict of interest. 4 PFR File, Tab 3 at 4-5.

¶10

We find that the appellant’s generalized assertion that the Board enables
violations of law by OSC, a separate and distinct agency, is insufficient to
warrant the Board’s recusal from adjudicating his claims against OSC based upon
allegations

of

bias.

See

generally

Oliver

v.

Department

of

Transportation, 1 M.S.P.R. 382, 386 (1980) (in making a claim of bias or
prejudice against an administrative judge, a party must overcome the presumption
of honesty and integrity that accompanies administrative adjudicators). Similarly,
we find that the appellant has failed to establish that recusal is warranted based
upon the appearance of a conflict of interest. See generally Shoaf v. Department
of Agriculture, 97 M.S.P.R. 68, ¶¶ 7-12 (2004) (an administrative judge did not
abuse his discretion in denying a recusal motion where the appellant failed to
allege facts that would reasonably cause an objective observer to question the
administrative judge’s impartiality), aff’d, 158 F. App’x 267 (Fed. Cir. 2005).
The appellant’s claims against OSC are dismissed based on adjudicatory
efficiency.
¶11

In response to the appellant’s petition for review, OSC reiterates its
argument, raised below, that the appeal should be dismissed based on
adjudicatory efficiency or collateral estoppel. PFR File, Tab 10 at 5; see IAF,
4

Below, the appellant raised similar arguments in moving to recuse the administrative
judge. IAF, Tab 5 at 4-5, 7. The administrative judge denied the request and also
denied the appellant’s motion to certify the issue for an interlocutory appeal. IAF,
Tab 8 at 2, Tab 9 at 4-6; ID at 4 n.1.
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Tab 20 at 3-5. We agree that the instant appeal should be dismissed based on
adjudicatory efficiency. 5
¶12

When an appellant files an appeal that raises the same claims raised in an
earlier appeal before the decision in the earlier appeal has become final, the
Board may dismiss the subsequent claims based upon adjudicatory efficiency.
Bean v. U.S. Postal Service, 120 M.S.P.R. 447, ¶ 5 (2013); Zgonc v. Department
of Defense, 103 M.S.P.R. 666, ¶ 6 (2006) (same), aff’d, 230 F. App’x 967 (Fed.
Cir. 2007). Appeals may be dismissed in the interest of adjudicatory efficiency
where an identity of issues exists and the controlling issues in the appeal will be
determined

in

a

prior

appeal.

Kinler

v.

General

Services

Administration, 44 M.S.P.R. 262, 263 (1990).
¶13

In Carson I, an administrative judge found that the appellant failed to raise
a nonfrivolous allegation that OSC’s failure or refusal to resolve his alleged
protected disclosures constituted a personnel action. Carson I, ID at 3-4. The
appellant filed a petition for review of the initial decision in Carson I, which the
Board denied approximately 2 months after the initial decision in the instant
appeal was issued. Carson I, Final Order at 1-2. We found that he failed to raise
a nonfrivolous allegation that OSC’s investigations and prosecutorial decisions
constitute personnel actions within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). Id.
at 4-6. Subsequently, he appealed our decision in Carson I to the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (Federal Circuit), where his appeal
remains pending. 6
5

On review, the appellant contends that the administrative judge did not provide him
with notice of the elements of proof for collateral estoppel and adjudicatory efficiency.
PFR File, Tab 21 at 5-6. However, this oversight was cured by the agency’s pleading
below, which provided this information. See IAF, Tab 20 at 3-5; Mapstone v.
Department of the Interior, 106 M.S.P.R. 691, ¶ 9 (2007) (an administrative judge’s
failure to provide an appellant with proper jurisdictional notice can be cured if the
agency’s pleadings contain the notice that was otherwise lacking).
6

Collateral estoppel may only be applied when there is a final judgment in the previous
litigation. Zgonc, 103 M.S.P.R. 666, ¶ 6. Because the Federal Circuit will review the
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¶14

We find that the determinative jurisdictional issue in the present appeal—
whether the appellant raised a nonfrivolous allegation that OSC’s investigations
and prosecutorial decisions constitute personnel actions within the meaning
of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)—is identical to the determinative jurisdictional issue
in Carson I. 7 See IAF, Tab 25; ID at 3-4; Carson I, Final Order at 4-6. Because
the controlling jurisdictional issue regarding the appellant’s claims against OSC
in the instant appeal will be determined by the Federal Circuit in Carson I, we
find that his claims against OSC should be dismissed based upon adjudicatory
efficiency. 8
The appellant has not shown that the new evidence that he submits and desires to
submit on review is material.

¶15

With his petition for review, the appellant submits two documents that he
contends constitute new and material evidence: (1) a January 22, 2015 notice of
proposed rulemaking regarding a proposal to amend OSC’s regulations; and
(2) what he characterizes as a “whistleblower disclosure” regarding the notice of
issue of the Board’s jurisdiction over Carson I de novo, we find that the present appeal
should not be dismissed based on collateral estoppel. See Cataulin v. U.S. Postal
Service, 41 M.S.P.R. 681, 683 (1989) (a judgment pending on appeal may be given
collateral estoppel effect, unless the appeal removes the entire case to the appellate
court and constitutes a proceeding de novo); Lively v. Department of the Navy,
31 M.S.P.R. 318, 321 (1986) (same); see also Stoyanov v. Department of the Navy,
474 F.3d 1377, 1379 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (the Federal Circuit reviews the Board’s
jurisdictional findings de novo).
7

We have considered the appellant’s argument on review that his claims in the present
appeal differ from his claims in Carson I because here he alleged that OSC failed to
protect him from reprisal. PFR File, Tab 21 at 7-8. However, the sole basis for his
allegation that OSC failed to protect him from reprisal is that it did not properly
investigate, process, and resolve his whistleblower complaints, which are the same
claims he raised in Carson I. See IAF, Tab 1 at 4, 8, Tab 17 at 8-13. Therefore, the
argument does not alter our conclusion that the determinative jurisdictional issues in the
two appeals are identical.
8

However, although we find that the appeal should be dismissed based on adjudicatory
efficiency, the administrative judge did not err in declining to dismiss the appeal on that
basis. See, e.g., Kroeger v. U.S. Postal Service, 865 F.2d 235, 239 (Fed. Cir. 1988)
(“where the requirements are met, it would not be error (though it may waste judicial
resources) to decline to apply collateral estoppel”).
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proposed rulemaking. PFR File, Tab 1. In addition, on March 2, 2015, he filed a
motion seeking leave to submit additional evidence in support of his appeal,
including letters: (1) from OSC in response to the “whistleblower disclosure”;
and (2) from the appellant to the Tennessee Board of Architectural and
Engineering Examiners concerning a professional misconduct complaint, both
dated February 23, 2015. 9 PFR File, Tab 7.
¶16

The Board generally will not consider evidence submitted for the first time
on review absent a showing that:

(1) the documents and the information

contained therein were unavailable before the record closed despite due diligence;
and (2) the evidence is of sufficient weight to warrant an outcome different from
that of the initial decision. Carson v. Department of Energy, 109 M.S.P.R. 213,
¶ 21 (2008), aff’d, 357 F. App’x 293 (Fed. Cir. 2009); see 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.115(d). The appellant has failed to demonstrate that the evidence at issue
is relevant to the Board’s dismissal on the grounds of adjudicatory efficiency, and
accordingly, the evidence is not material to the outcome of his case. See Russo v.
Veterans Administration, 3 M.S.P.R. 345, 349 (1980) (the Board will not grant a
petition for review based on new evidence absent a showing that it is of sufficient
weight to warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision).
Accordingly, we will not consider the new evidence submitted on review and
DENY the appellant’s March 2, 2015 motion for leave to file additional evidence.
See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(a)(5) (providing that nonstandard pleadings are only
accepted on review based on a showing of the nature and need for the pleading).
9

On March 27, March 31, and April 8, the appellant also filed motions for leave to
submit the Board’s final order in Carson I on review, and to submit new argument in
his reply regarding the order in Carson I. PFR File, Tabs 11, 17, 20. We have taken
official notice of our order in Carson I, and it is unnecessary for the appellant to submit
it on review. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.64 (allowing the Board to take official notice of
matters that can be verified). Further, we find that his three motions for leave are moot
because he submitted, and we have reviewed, his arguments regarding the effect of
Carson I on the instant appeal. PFR File, Tab 1 at 6-8, 10. However, having
considered these arguments, we find that they do not alter our conclusion that his
claims against OSC should be dismissed based on adjudicatory efficiency. Id.
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NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
The initial decision, as supplemented by this Final Order, constitutes the
Board’s final decision in this matter. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.113. You have the right to
request review of this final decision by the United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date of this order. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec.
27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. The court has
held that normally it does not have the authority to waive this statutory deadline
and that filings that do not comply with the deadline must be dismissed. See
Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management, 931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of the Board’s decision concerning your
claims

of

prohibited

personnel

practices

under

5

U.S.C.

§ 2302(b)(8),

(b)(9)(A)(i), (b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge
the Board’s disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you
may request review of this final decision by the United States Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent jurisdiction. The
court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60 days after the
date of this order. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If
you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. You may choose to request
review of the Board’s decision in the United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit or any other court of appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not
both.

Once you choose to seek review in one court of appeals, you may be

precluded from seeking review in any other court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the Federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
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States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode.htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court’s website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court’s “Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants,” which is
contained within the court’s Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our website
at

http://www.mspb.gov/probono for

information

regarding

pro

bono

representation for Merit Systems Protection Board appellants before the Federal
Circuit. The Merit Systems Protection Board neither endorses the services
provided by any attorney nor warrants that any attorney will accept representation
in a given case.

FOR THE BOARD:

______________________________
William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board

Washington, D.C.
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Office of the Clerk of the Board
1615 M Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20419-0002
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15-3135

ATTESTATION
I HEREBY ATTEST that the attached index represents a list of the documents
comprising the administrative record of the Merit Systems Protection Board in the appeal
of Joseph P. Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620W-1, and that the administrative record is under my official custody and control on this
date

on file in this Board
May 29, 2015
Date

William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated
this day to each of the following:
Petitioner
U.S. Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Respondent

U.S. Mail

Robert E. Kirschman, Director
Commercial Litigation Branch
Civil Division Classification Unit
U.S. Department of Justice
1100 L Street, N.W., Room 12124
Washington, DC 20530

May 29, 2015
(Date)

William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board
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JOSEPH P. CARSON
v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620- W-1

INDIVIDUAL RIGHT OF ACTION (IRA)
DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

DATE OF RECEIPT
OR ISSUANCE

I

Appellant - Initial Appeal

March 19,2014

2

Appellant - Explantion to Block 16 & 18 on Appeal

March 24, 2014

3

MSPB - Acknowledgment Order

April 24, 2014

Appellant - OSC investigation termination letters

April 24, 2014

5

Agency - Designation of Representative

April 29, 2014

6

Appellant - motion in opposition to OSC's letter request
for 30 day suspension of appeal pro

April29, 2014

7

Appellant - Appellant's Request for Assistance in
Settlement

May 25, 2014

8

Agency - Request to Stay Deadlines

May 29, 2014

TAB

---

4

VOLUME

-----

1

- - - - - - - ------------------

- - - -- -----

9

1

Agency- Response to ACKORD Incorrectly Served

june 06, 2014

10

1

MSPB -.Order To Show Cause

July 10,2014

11

1

Appellant - Response to Show Cause Order

July 12, 2014

Appellant - Supplement to Response to Show Cause
Order

July 16, 2014

12
13

1

MSPB - Initial Decision

July 25, 2014

14

1

MSPB - Certificate of Service

July 25, 2014
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JOSEPH P. CARSON
V.

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

INDIVIDUAL RIGHT OF ACTION (IRA) - PETITION FOR REVIEW
DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

DATE OF RECEIPT
OR ISSUANCE

Appellant - Motion for EOT to File PFR

August 28, 20 14

2

MSPB "' Notice

August 29, 2014

3

Appellant - PFR oflnitial Decision

August 28, 20 14

4

MSPB - Petition For Review Acknowledgment Letter

September 04; 20 14

5

Agency - Response to Appellant's PFR

September 22, 20 14

6

Appellant - Reply to Agency's Response to PFR

September 27, 2014

7

Agency - Notice of Appearance of Additional Counsel

September 30, 2014

8

MSPB - Letter Rejecting Pleading

January 29, 2015

9

Appellant- motion for leave to add evidence and
arugement to case record

February 02, 2015

10

MSPB - Letter Acknowledging Motion

February 04, 2015

11

Agency - Objection to Appellant's Motion to Open
Record for Additional Evidence

February 13,2015

12

Appellant - Second motion to add evidence

March 02, 2015

13

MSPB- Letter Acknowledging Motion

March 02, 20 15

14

MSPB - Final Order

March 25, 2015

15

MSPB - Certificate of Service

March 25, 2015

TAB

VOLUME
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: July 25, 2014

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Pamela Gault, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the agency.
BEFORE
Richard W. Vitaris
Administrative Judge
INITIAL DECISION
INTRODUCTION
On or about March 19, 2014, the appellant sought to file an individual right
of action (IRA) appeal asserting that, in retaliation for his protected disclosures,
the agency denied failed or refused to resolve his allegations of whistleblower
retaliation in a timely and objective manner For the reasons set forth below, the
appeal is DISMISSED for lack of jurisdiction. The hearing the appellant
requested was not held because there was no factual dispute bearing on the issue
of jurisdiction. See Manning v. Merit Systems Protection Board, 742 F.2d 1424,
1427-28 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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2
JURISDICTION
The Board has jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant has
exhausted his administrative remedies before OSC and makes non-frivolous
allegations that: (1) He engaged in whistleblowing activity by making a protected
disclosure and (2) the disclosure was a contributing factor in the agency's
decision to take or fail to take a personnel action. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3). Yunus v.
Department of Veterans Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367, 1371 (Fed. Cir .2001); Rusin v.
Department of the Treasury, 92 M.S.P.R. 298, ¶ 12 (2002).
By Order dated July 12, 2014, I ordered the appellant to establish
jurisdiction over his IRA appeal. The Order advised the appellant that it did not
appear that the Board had jurisdiction over his IRA appeal because he had not
nonfrivolously alleged that the agency had taken a personnel action against him.
The appellant filed two responses on the jurisdictional issue which I have
considered.
In an IRA appeal, an employee may seek corrective action from the Board
with respect to any “personnel action” taken, or proposed to be taken, against him
as the result of a prohibited personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(8). 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). In this context, a “personnel action” is defined
as follows: (i) an appointment; (ii) a promotion; (iii) an action under 5 U.S.C.
chapter 75 or other disciplinary or corrective action; (iv) a detail, transfer, or
reassignment; (v) a reinstatement; (vi) a restoration; (vii) a reemployment; (viii) a
performance evaluation under 5 U.S.C. chapter 43; (ix) a decision concerning
pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training if the education or
training may reasonably be expected to lead to an appointment, promotion,
performance evaluation, or other personnel action; (x) a decision to order
psychiatric testing or examination; and (xi) any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).
The agency contends that the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
was never employed by the agency, nor was he an applicant for employment with
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them. Thus, the agency claim that the appellant is not an employee within the
meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).
It was Congress's intent in drafting 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) to protect
whistleblowers from a broad range of possible retaliatory actions from
government agencies. Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221,
¶ 10 (2010). Thus, the Board has held that an appellant in an IRA appeal is not
limited to seeking corrective action for personnel actions taken by his employing
agency, but can also raise such claims with respect to personnel actions taken by
other Federal agencies, such as, for example a transfer, detail, restoration, or
reemployment. See 5 C.F.R. § 210.102(18) (defining a transfer as a change of an
employee, without a break in service, from a position in one agency to a position
in another agency); 5 C.F.R. § 317.903 (defining a detail in the Senior Executive
Service to include a temporary assignment to an outside agency); 5 C.F.R. Part
330, subpart G and Part 553 (authorizing a restoration or a reemployment of
former employees to include placement in a position in another agency).
In this case, however, the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
has failed to nonfrivolously allege that the agency has taken a personnel action
concerning him. The appellant contends that the agency — OSC's — failure to
resolve or refusal to resolve the appellant's allegations of whistleblower
retaliation in a timely and objective manner is itself a "personnel action." I
disagree. The claimed "personnel action" clearly does not constitute one of the
personnel actions enumerated by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). Nor does it meet the
definition of the statute's catch all provision, which includes "any other
significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions," within the
definition of a personnel action. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii).
OSC is not the appellant's employing agency nor did the appellant apply to
OSC for any type of work, transfer, detail, emolument, restoration or other
attribute of employment. Rather, OSC is a Federal investigative and prosecutorial
agency. It does not take personnel actions concerning employees other than its
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own. While the appellant may be dissatisfied with the quality and timeliness of
OSC's investigations and with the merits of OSC's prosecutorial decisions, those
investigations and decisions are not personnel actions within the meaning of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A) even though they may be of keen interest to the appellant
and to his career with his own employing agency, the Department of Energy.
Finally, the appellant alleges that the agency is violating certain reporting
requirements contained in 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1) and (g)(2). However, the
appellant has failed to identify any law, rule, or regulation which would allow the
Board to review this claim, and I am aware of none.
DECISION
The appeal is DISMISSED.

FOR THE BOARD:

__________/S/____________________
Richard W. Vitaris
Administrative Judge

NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on August 29, 2014, unless a
petition for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is
usually the last day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board.
However, if you prove that you received this initial decision more than 5 days
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for review within 30 days after
the date you actually receive the initial decision. If you are represented, the 30day period begins to run upon either your receipt of the initial decision or its
receipt by your representative, whichever comes first. You must establish the
date on which you or your representative received it. The date on which the
initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file a petition for
review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you how and
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5
when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are important
because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition
for review.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may
file a cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must
state your objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable
laws, regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board
1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and
may

only

be

accomplished

at

the

Board's

e-Appeal

website

(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only
issues raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in
which the Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are
not limited to, a showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1)
Any alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to
warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner
who alleges that the judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain
why the challenged factual determination is incorrect and identify specific
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6
evidence in the record that demonstrates the error. In reviewing a claim of an
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give deference to an administrative
judge’s credibility determinations when they are based, explicitly or implicitly,
on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The
petitioner must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.
(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To
constitute new evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the
documents themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when
the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition
for review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated,
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A
reply to a response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words,
whichever is less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than
12 point typeface and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one
side of a page. The length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of
authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a
pleading that exceeds the limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such
requests must give the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length of the
pleading and are granted only in exceptional circumstances. The page and word
limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected or required to
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7
submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a well-written petition for
review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the
record in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit
anything to the Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review
must be filed with the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial
decision becomes final, or if this initial decision is received by you or your
representative more than 5 days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date
you or your representative actually received the initial decision, whichever was
first. If you claim that you and your representative both received this decision
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove to the Board the
earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving the initial
decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail
is determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic
filing is the date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the
date on which the Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial
delivery is the date the document was delivered to the commercial delivery
service. Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide
a statement of how you served your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed electronically, the online process itself will
serve the petition on other e-filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of
service of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial
decision in accordance with the Board's regulations.
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NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date this initial decision becomes final.
§ 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012).

See 5 U.S.C.

If you choose to file, be very

careful to file on time. The court has held that normally it does not have the
authority to waive this statutory deadline and that filings that do not comply with
the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management,
931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i),
(b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s
disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request
review of this decision only after it becomes final by filing in the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent
jurisdiction. The court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60
days after the date on which this decision becomes final.

See 5 U.S.C.

§ 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful
to file on time. You may choose to request review of the Board’s decision in the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any other court of
appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to seek review
in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any other
court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
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States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court's website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court's "Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is
contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our
website at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have
expressed interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems
Protection Board appellants before the Federal Circuit.

The Merit Systems

Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor
warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated this
day to each of the following:
Appellant
Electronic Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Agency Representative

U.S. Mail

Pamela Gault
Office of Special Counsel
Associate General Counsel for Litigation
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201
Washington, DC 20036-4505

July 25, 2014
(Date)

/s/
Jeanne Robinson
Paralegal Specialist
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U.S. MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
Office of the Clerk of the Board
1615 M Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20419-0002
Phone: 202-653-7200; Fax: 202-653-7130; E-Mail: mspb@mspb.gov

15-3211

ATTESTATION
I HEREBY ATTEST that the attached index represents a list of the documents
comprising the administrative record of the Merit Systems Protection Board in the appeal
of Joseph P. Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-15-0092W-1, and that the administrative record is under my official custody and control on this
date

on file in this Board
September 11, 2015
Date

William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated
this day to each of the following:
Petitioner
U.S. Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Respondent

U.S. Mail

Robert E. Kirschman, Director
Commercial Litigation Branch
Civil Division Classification Unit
U.S. Department of Justice
1100 L Street, N.W., Room 12124
Washington, DC 20530

September 11, 2015
(Date)

William D. Spencer
Clerk of the Board
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: January 13, 2015

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Pamela Gault, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the agency.
BEFORE
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge
INITIAL DECISION
On October 22, 2014, the appellant, Joseph Carson, sought to file an
individual right of action (IRA) appeal asserting that, in retaliation for his
protected disclosures, the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), denied, failed, or
refused to resolve his allegations of whistleblower retaliation in a timely and
objective manner. For the reasons set forth below, the appeal is DISMISSED for
lack of jurisdiction. The hearing the appellant requested was not held because
there was no factual dispute bearing on the issue of jurisdiction. See Manning v.
Merit Systems Protection Board, 742 F.2d 1424, 1427-28 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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JURISDICTION
The Board generally has jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant
has exhausted his administrative remedies with OSC and makes non-frivolous
allegations that: (1) he engaged in whistleblowing activity by making a protected
disclosure or otherwise engaged in protected activity, and (2) the disclosure or
activity was a contributing factor in the agency's decision to take or fail to take a
personnel action.
In an IRA appeal, an employee or applicant for employment may seek
corrective action from the Board with respect to any “personnel action” taken, or
proposed to be taken, against him as the result of a protected disclosure or
protected activity as described in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) or 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B),
(C), or (D). 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). In this context, a “personnel action” is defined
as follows: (i) an appointment; (ii) a promotion; (iii) an action under 5 U.S.C.
chapter 75 or other disciplinary or corrective action; (iv) a detail, transfer, or
reassignment; (v) a reinstatement; (vi) a restoration; (vii) a reemployment; (viii) a
performance evaluation under 5 U.S.C. chapter 43; (ix) a decision concerning
pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training if the education or
training may reasonably be expected to lead to an appointment, promotion,
performance evaluation, or other personnel action; (x) a decision to order
psychiatric testing or examination; and (xi) any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).
The Office of Special Counsel as the responding agency contends that the
Board lacks jurisdiction over this appeal because OSC’s investigation and
subsequent decision to close its investigation of the appellant’s whistleblower
claim against another agency do not themselves constitute a “personnel action”
within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 2302(a)(2)(A).

See IAF, Tab 20.

OSC also

argued that the appeal should be dismissed on grounds of collateral estoppel or
adjudicative efficiency because the appellant has already received an Initial
Decision examining these identical issues from another MSPB Administrative
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Judge, and a Petition for Review is already pending on that appeal. See Carson v.
OSC, Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1.
For the reasons explained below, the appeal is dismissed because I find that
the appellant has failed to non-frivolously allege that OSC committed a personnel
action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 2302(a)(2)(A). While the reasoning and
outcome of this initial decision are very similar to those employed by Judge
Vitaris in Carson v. OSC, Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1, collateral estoppel
is improper because that initial decision is not a final Board decision.
It was Congress's intent in drafting 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) to protect
whistleblowers from a broad range of possible retaliatory actions by government
agencies.
(2010).

Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221, ¶ 10
Thus, the Board has held that an appellant in an IRA appeal is not

limited to seeking corrective action for personnel actions taken by his employing
agency, but can also raise such claims with respect to personnel actions taken by
other Federal agencies, such as, for example a transfer, detail, restoration, or
reemployment. See 5 C.F.R. § 210.102(18) (defining a transfer as a change of an
employee, without a break in service, from a position in one agency to a position
in another agency); 5 C.F.R. § 317.903 (defining a detail in the Senior Executive
Service to include a temporary assignment to an outside agency); 5 C.F.R. Part
330, subpart G and Part 553 (authorizing a restoration or a reemployment of
former employees to include placement in a position in another agency).
In this case, however, the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
has failed to non-frivolously allege that the agency has taken a covered personnel
action concerning him. The appellant contends that OSC committed a personnel
action under the WPA when it conducted incompetent investigations leading to
unjustified closures of two whistleblower reprisal claims against other agencies.
I disagree that such conduct by OSC constitutes a “personnel action” within even
a very expansive view of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).

The claimed “personnel

action” does not constitute one of the personnel actions enumerated by 5 U.S.C. §
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2302(a)(2)(A).
provision,

Nor does it meet the definition of the statute’s catch-all

which

includes

responsibilities, or conditions.”

“any

other

significant

change

5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii).

in

duties,

In closing, I

adopt Judge Vitaris’ well-crafted and persuasive finding below from his initial
decision in MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1:
OSC is not the appellant’s employing agency nor did the appellant
apply to OSC for any type of work, transfer, detail, emolument,
restoration or other attribute of employment. Rather, OSC is a
Federal investigative and prosecutorial agency. It does not take
personnel actions concerning employees other than its own. While
the appellant may be dissatisfied with the quality and timeliness of
OSC’s investigations and with the merits of OSC’s prosecutorial
decisions, those investigations and decisions are not personnel
actions within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A) even though
they may be of keen interest to the appellant and to his career with
his own employing agency, the Department of Energy.
DECISION
The appellant’s request for corrective action is DENIED. 1

FOR THE BOARD:

_______/S/__________________
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge

1

All pending motions are DENIED. Specifically, the appellant’s motion for an
interlocutory appeal of my prior Order denying his request to disqualify all MSPB
administrative judges from adjudicating this appeal based on a supposed global
conspiracy between OSC and the MSPB is DENIED for the reasons previously
explained in my Order from November 3, 2014, and because the request does not meet
the criteria for granting such a request under 5 C.F.R. § 1201.92(b). See IAF, Tabs 9
and 13. The appellant’s Motion to Compel Discovery from OSC is likewise DENIED
since the material he sought in discovery has no bearing on my jurisdictional findings
above. And finally, the appellant’s Motion for Sanctions against the agency is DENIED
since I find the agency timely requested an extension to reply to the appellant’s
jurisdictional submissions, and supported the extension request with good cause. See
IAF, Tabs 18, 20, and 22.
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NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on February 17, 2015, unless a
petition for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is
usually the last day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board.
However, if you prove that you received this initial decision more than 5 days
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for review within 30 days after
the date you actually receive the initial decision. If you are represented, the 30day period begins to run upon either your receipt of the initial decision or its
receipt by your representative, whichever comes first. You must establish the
date on which you or your representative received it. The date on which the
initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file a petition for
review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you how and
when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are important
because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition
for review if you believe that the settlement agreement is unlawful, was
involuntary, or was the result of fraud or mutual mistake. Your petition, with
supporting evidence and argument, must be filed with Clerk of the Board at the
address below.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may
file a cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must
state your objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable
laws, regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board
1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
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A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and
may

only

be

accomplished

at

the

Board's

e-Appeal

website

(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only
issues raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in
which the Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are
not limited to, a showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1)
Any alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to
warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner
who alleges that the judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain
why the challenged factual determination is incorrect and identify specific
evidence in the record that demonstrates the error. In reviewing a claim of an
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give deference to an administrative
judge’s credibility determinations when they are based, explicitly or implicitly,
on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The
petitioner must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.
(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To
constitute new evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the
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documents themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when
the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition
for review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated,
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A
reply to a response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words,
whichever is less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than
12 point typeface and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one
side of a page. The length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of
authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a
pleading that exceeds the limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such
requests must give the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length of the
pleading and are granted only in exceptional circumstances. The page and word
limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected or required to
submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a well-written petition for
review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the
record in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit
anything to the Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review
must be filed with the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial
decision becomes final, or if this initial decision is received by you or your
representative more than 5 days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date
you or your representative actually received the initial decision, whichever was
first. If you claim that you and your representative both received this decision
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove to the Board the
earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving the initial
decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
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C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail
is determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic
filing is the date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the
date on which the Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial
delivery is the date the document was delivered to the commercial delivery
service. Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide
a statement of how you served your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed electronically, the online process itself will
serve the petition on other e-filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of
service of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial
decision in accordance with the Board's regulations.
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date this initial decision becomes final.
§ 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012).

See 5 U.S.C.

If you choose to file, be very

careful to file on time. The court has held that normally it does not have the
authority to waive this statutory deadline and that filings that do not comply with
the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management,
931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i),
(b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s
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disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request
review of this decision only after it becomes final by filing in the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent
jurisdiction. The court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60
days after the date on which this decision becomes final.

See 5 U.S.C.

§ 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful
to file on time. You may choose to request review of the Board’s decision in the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any other court of
appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to seek review
in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any other
court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court's website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court's "Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is
contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our
website at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have
expressed interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems
Protection Board appellants before the Federal Circuit.
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Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor
warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated this
day to each of the following:
Appellant
Electronic Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Agency Representative

U.S. Mail

Pamela Gault
Office of Special Counsel
Associate General Counsel for Litigation
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201
Washington, DC 20036-4505

January 13, 2015
(Date)

/s/
JoAnn Atkinson
Paralegal Specialist
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MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
Appeal Form--Appellant and Agency Information
OMB No. 3124-0009

Please type or print legibly.
1. Name (last, first, middle initial)

Carson, Joseph, P.
2. Present Address (number and street, city, state, and zip code)
Address:

10953 Twin Harbour Drive

City, State, Zip Code:

Knoxville, Tennessee, 37934, United States of America

3. Telephone numbers (include area code) and E-Mail Address
You must notify the Board in writing of any change in your telephone number(s) or e-mail address while your appeal is pending.

(865) 675-0236
Fax: (865) 966-1675
E-mail Address: jpcarson@tds.net

Home:

Work:

(865) 300-5831

Cell:
Other Phone Type:

4. Do you wish to designate an individual or organization to represent you in this proceeding before the Board? (You may designate a
representative at any time. However, the processing of your appeal will not normally be delayed because of any difficulty you may
have in obtaining a representative.)

Yes

✔

No

5. Name, address, and telephone number of the agency that took the action or made the decisions you are appealing (include bureau
or division, street address, city, State and Zip code)

Office of Special Counsel

Agency Name:

Bureau:
Address:

1730 M. St, NW

City, State, Zip code:

Washington, District of Columbia, 20036, United States of America
(202) 254-3600

Agency Phone:

6. Your Federal employment status at the time of the decision

7. Type of appointment (if applicable):

or action you are appealing:

Temporary

✔

Term
None

Permanent

Applicant

Retired

Seasonal

✔

Competitive

SES

Postal Service

Other

8. Your occupational series, position title, grade, and duty station at the time of the
decision or action you are appealing (if applicable):
Position Title:
Occupational Series

GS-801

or Cluster:
Grade or Pay Band: 14

Duty Station:

10. Length of Government Service (if applicable):
30

Years

0

Excepted

9. Are you entitled to veteran's preference?
See 5 U.S.C. 2108.

Facility Representative

✔

Yes

No

Oak Ridge, TN
11. Were you serving a probationary, trial, or initial service period at
the time of the action or decision you are appealing?

Months

Yes
Appx078

✔

No
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MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
Appeal Form--Appellant and Agency Information
Please type or print legibly.
HEARING: You may have a right to a hearing before an administrative judge. If you elect not to have a hearing, the
administrative judge will make a decision on the basis of the submissions of the parties. Do you want a hearing?

12. Do you want a hearing?

✔

Yes

No

E-Filing: Registration as an e-filer enables you to file any or all of your pleadings with the Board in electronic form. Registration
also means you consent to accept service of all pleadings filed by other registered e-filers and all documents issued by the
Board in electronic form. You will receive these as PDF documents at the e-mail address you provided the Board. If registered as
an e-filer, you may file any pleading, or portion of a pleading, by non-electronic means. You can withdraw your registration as an
e-filer at any time.

13. Do you wish to register as an E-Filer in this appeal?
✔

I elect to E-File

I decline to E-File

14. I certify that all of the statements made in this form and all attached forms are true, complete, and correct to

the best of my knowledge and belief.

Date:

Joseph P. Carson, Appellant
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e-Appeal Attachment Transmittal
Appeal Number:
Appellant Name:
Agency Name:

201401430
Mr. Joseph P. Carson
Office of Special Counsel

Please check the box for each document included with this transmittal.
Name of Attachment

Attachment Processing Status

File Name/Delivery Method

Drafted Appeal File

Upload with e-Appeal

ira-appeal-osc-complete.pdf

2 copies must be submitted of all documents submitted in hardcopy.
Send documents to be submitted in paper form to:
Atlanta Regional Office
401 W. Peachtree Street, NW. Suite 1050
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
United States of America
Phone: (404) 730-2751
Fax: (404) 730-2767
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PART 2 -Agency Personnel Action or Decision (non-retirement)
Complete this part if you are appealing a Federal agency personnel action or decision other than a
decision directly addressing your retirement rights or benefits. This includes C(3rtain actionsthat might not
otherwise be appealable to the Board: individual right of action{IRA) ~ppe~ls under the Whistleblower Protection.··.
Act (WPA); appeals under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA); or
appeals under the Veterans Employment Opportunities Act (VEOA). An explanation of these three types of
appeals is provided in Appendix A.
12. Check the box that best describes the agency personnel action or decision you are appealing. (If you are appealing more than one
action or decision, check each box that applies.)

D Removal (termination after completion of

Suspension for more than 14 days

D Involuntary resignation
0 Involuntary retirement
D Denial of within-grade increase
D Furlough of 30 days or less
D Separation, demotion or furlough for more than 30 days by

Failure to restore/reemploy/reinstate or improper
restoration/reemployment/reinstatement

~Other action (desfribe): ~

probationary or initial service period)

D

Termination during probationary or initial
service period

0
0
D

Reduction in grade, pay, or band

0

Negative suitability determination

13. Date you received the agency's final decision letter (if any)
(MMIDD!YYYY):

I

reduction in force (RIF)
/'I

1

J

1"4Nj o th~/ IJ!'%Jt~c:JV~:1'tt!/i
14. Effective date (if any) of the agencyaction or decision
(MMIDDIYYYY):

I

15. Prior to filing this appeal, did you and the agency mutually agree in writing to try to resolve the matter through an alternative dispute
resolution (ADR) process?

D Yes (attach a copy of the agreement)
16. Explain briefly why you think the agency was wrong in taking this action, including whether you believe the agency engaged in harmful
procedural error, committed a prohibited personnel practice, or engaged in one of the other claims listed in Appendix A. Attach the
agency's proposal letter, decision letter,~~ SF-50, if available. Attach additional sheets if necessary (bearing in mind that there
will be later opportunities to sup~emen'lyouj{ilings).
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PART 2·- Agency Personnel Action or·Decision(non,-retirement) (contipued)
17. With respect to the agency personnel action or decision you are appealing, have you, or has anyone on your behalf, filed a grievance
under a negotiated grieva;;zcedure provided by a collective bargaining agreement?
0

Yes

o

If "Yes," attach a copy of the grievance, enter the date it was filed, and enter the place where it was filed if different from your answer
to question 4 in Part 1.
Agency Name:
Bureau:

I
I

I

I

I

I Date Filed (MM/00/YYYY): I

I

Address:

City:

I

I Zip Code: I

I State: I

I

If a decision on the grievance has been issued, attach a copy of the decision and enter the date it was issued (MM/00/YYYY):
Date Issued (MM/00/YYYY):

I

I

Answef Question 18 ONLY if you are filing an IRA app~al.
18. If you filed a whistleblowing complaint with the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), provide the date on which you did so and the date on
which OSC made a decision or terminated its investigation, if applicable. Attach copies of your complaint and OSC's termination of
investigation letter, notifying you of your right to seek corrective action from the Board.
Date Filed (MM/00/YYYY):

t

I J;;,/J
3
I
J
r

I

3

Date of OSC decision or termination of investigation (MM/00/YYYY):

I Jji¢1

Answer Question 19 ONLY if you are filing a USERRA or VEOA appeal.

I

.

.

19. If you filed ~ complaint with the Department of Labor (DOL), list the date on which you did so, and attach a copy of your complaint. If
DOL has made a decision on your complaint, list the date of this decision, and attach a copy of it. If DOL has not made a decision on
your complaint within 60 days from the date you filed it, state whether you have notified DOL of your intent to file an appeal with the
Board, and attach a copy of such notification.
Date Filed (MM/00/YYYY):

I

I

Has DOL made a decision on your complaint?
DYes

0No

Jl/!j

If "Yes," enter the date it was made. If "No", state whether you have notified DOL of your intent to file an appeal with the Board,
and attach a copy of such notification.
Date of DOL decision (MMIOOIYYYY)f

J
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PART 4 ..;_,Designation of Representative
.··

26. Has an individual or organization agreed to represent you in this proceeding before the Board? (You may designate a representative
at any time. However, it is unlikely that the appeals process will be delayed for reasons related to obtaining or maintaining
representation. Moreover, you must promptly notify the Board in writing of any change in representation.)

0

~No

Yes (Complete the information below and sign)

DESIGNATION:

I

J

"I hereby designate
to serve as my representative during the course of this appeal.
I understand that my representative is authorized to act on my behalf. In addition, I specifically delegate to my representative the authority to
settle this appeal on my behalf. I understand that any limitation on this settlement authority must be filed in writing with the Board."
Representative's address (number and street, city, State and Zip code)

Representative's telephone numbers (include area code) and e-mail

-~"I

address

City:

I

State:

I

I

I

I

I

I

Zip Code:

Office:

I

I

Fax:

I

J

Other:

I

:I

I

I

e-Mail
Address:

SIGN BELOW TO MAKE YOUR DESIGNATION OF REPRESENTATIVE EFFECTIVE

Appellant's Signature

;114

Date (MMIDD!YYYY)
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PART 5- Certific;:ation
made in this form and any attachments are true, complete, and cor ect to the best of my

Privacy Act Statem~nt

a

This form requests personal information that is. relevant and necessary to reach decisionin you.rappeal. The Merit
Systems Protection Board collects this information in order to process appeal!f under its statutory and regulatory
authority.. Because your appeal is a voluntary action, you are not required to provide any persona/information to the.
Merit Systems Protection Board In ~onnection with your app~al. Conc~ivC*Piy, failure to provide all lnformatiofl.·
essentia/.to reaching a decision in your case could result in. the dismissal or denial of y~ur appeal.
·
Decisions of the Merit Systems Protection Board are available to the pul;)lic .·under the provisions of the Freedom of
Information Act and are posted to the Merit Systems ProtectlonBoc,rr:fs p!JI;)/ic website • .Some information about the
appeal also is used in depersonalized form for statistical purposes. FlnC*fly,lnformation from yourappeal file may be
'di~~losed as required by law under the provisions of the Freeclom of Information Act and the Privacy Act.
See 5U.S.C. §§ 552, 552a.
..
.
.
.

Publlc·Reporting. Burden
The public reporting burden for this collection of Information/~ estimated to vary from 20 minutes t 0 4 hours, with an
average of 60 minutes per response, including time for reviewing the forlfJ! ~ear~hing existing data sources, gatheri(Jg
the data .necessary, and. completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding tiJe
burden estimate or any other aspect of the collection ofinformation, in~ludiiJg s'uggestions for reducing this bC]rden.•
to. Office ofthe. Clerk of the Board, Merit Systems Protection Board, 1616 M ·Streeti N. W., Washington, DC 20419 or by
e~maif.to·msRb@mspb.gov.
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(202) 254-3600 I (202) 254-3670 I (800) 872-9855

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE
OR
OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
(Please print legibly or type and complete all pertinent items. Enter "N/A" (Not Applicable) or "Unl<nown" where appropriate. (If more space 1s
needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

17
I

3. A-g-en_c_y_n_a_m_e_:--vc-+---t'-----,..:...,J--.,...;:t..-------::,....,..-f-.#-4---71-'--f-.:..-...::---l---,£-'-11/"
-&'-t-7~"41'-;__~--=:--"Y'-'-.;__~-h:&-h'~-E'E-..J.J.~---lo<:--=::-=:--~1----i-::_:::..k-7fH-

--·-----·------· -·-------..-··

!----------·--·- --- --

·#--1"'-"-'---·-----·-····----···---·---- ----·-

5.

(Home)
(Office) Ext.

Name and title of filer:

Ms.(

Mr.(f$)

0)

Mrs.( 0)

Miss(

C)

___,t,Zfz7f-+-7-t----yL/-1---------------=---~~~=~--==~-~~---:_

-Addre-ss:-

Telephone number(s):

(Home)
(Office) Ext.

Fax number:
E-mail address:

a.

Are you (or is the Complainant, if you are filing as a representative) covered by a collective bargaining agreement? (Check one.)

(413 )Yes

( 0) I don'tknow

(0) No

9. How did you first become aware that you could file a complaint with OSC?
( ()) OSCWeb site

( 0)

News Story

( 0) Other (please
(""'

( 0)
( 0)

OSC Speaker

( (//')) OSC Brochure

( C ) OSC Poster

AgencyPersonnel Office

( 0)

( (' ) Co-worker

Union

describe):
------------~~~~------------------

D t (
. t )·
c::;-;1
~_-~_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
a e approx1ma e . ...jW'--.---,1'----'_-L
1

//·c;,
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COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

Page 2 of 12

What is the employment status of the person affected by the suspected prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity?
(Check all a,n,nlicah/e items- more than one item may ap,nly.)

a.

) Applicant for Federal employment

(L/) Competitive Service

b.

/~areer or career-conditional appointment

) temporaryappointment
) term appointment
c.

) Excepted Service
) Schedule A
) Schedule B
) Schedule C
) National Guard Technician
) Non-appropriated Fund

d.

(

) PostaiService

(

) TennesseeValley Authority

(

) VA Dept. of Medicine and Surgery
) Veterans Readjustment Act (VRA)
) Other (Specify)

(

(

-------- ·----·--·-·-------

) SeniorExecutive Service (SES), Supergrade, or Executive Level
(
(
(
(

e.

) probationary employee

(

) career SES
) noncareer SES
) career GS-16, 17, or 18
)noncareerGS-16,17,or18

) Executive Level V or above (career) fund
) Executive Level V or above (noncareer)
) Presidentialappointee (Senate-confirmed)

) Other
) civilservice annuitant
) formercivil service employee
) competitive service
) excepted service

) militaryofficer or enlisted person
) contract employee
) other(specify):

----------

) unknown

11. What other action(s), if any, have you taken to appeal, grieve, or report this matter under any other procedure?(Check all that
apply.)

None, or not applicable
Appeal filed with Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
Petition for reconsideration of initial decision filed with MSPB
Initial Decision No . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
USERRA claim filed with VETS (Department of Labor)
(Form VETS/USERRANP-1010)
Grievance filed under agency grievance procedure
Grievance filed under negotiated grievance procedure
Matter heard by arbitrator under grievance procedure
Matter is pending in arbitration
Discrimination complaint filed with agency
Agency or Administrative Judge (AJ) decision on discrimination complaint appealed
to Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
Appeal filed with Office of Personnel Management
Unfair labor practice (ULP) complaint filed with Federal Labor Relations Authority
General Counsel
Lawsuit filed in Federal Court
Court name:
--~----~--~------------------Reported matter to agency
Inspector General
Reported matter to member of Congress
Name of Senator or Representative: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Other (specify):

-----------------------------------Appx086

Date: ---------·-·---------···--·······-------Date: _ _ __
Date:-----------·-····-----------···-··-----Date: _ __
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12. What official is responsible for the violation(s) that you are reporting, and what is his/her employment status?
(See question 10 for appropriate description of employment status. If space is needed to identify more than
one official, use Co;tJnuati n Sheet t page 12.)
Name:

tar~ ui\J

Position!Title:
Employment Status:

y/1/;"1 /
#J

N~

If

~·

13. What are the actions or events that you are reporting to OSC? (To the extent known, specifically list: (a) any
suspected prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity, other than reprisal for whistleblowinq: and
(b) any personnel actions involved. (IF YOU ARE ALLEGING REPRISAL FOR WHISTLEBLOWING, SKIP TO
PART 2 ON THE NEXT PAGE.)

14. Provide details of the actions or events shown in your response to question 13. (Be as specific as possible
about dates, locations, and the identities and positions of all persons mentioned. In particular, identify actual
and potential witnesses, giving work locations and telephone numbers when possible. Also, attach any
pertinent documents that you may have. Please provide, if possible, a copv of the notification of the agency's
proposal and/or decision about the personnel action(s) covered by your request for OSC action. If more
space is needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

15. What action would you like OSC to take in this matter (that is, what remedy are you asking for?)
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3.

If you are not the person who actually made a disclosure described in boxes A, 8, C, D above, please
check below to specify the disclosure involved, and provide the name, address, and telephone number· of
the person who made the disclosure, if known. (If space is needed to identify more than one person, use
Continuation Sheet at page 12.)
Disclosure:

8 ( 0)

c ( 0)

D ( 0)

Name:
Address:

------------------------------------------·-·-Telephone number:

Ext.

4. Explain why you believe that the personnel action(s) listed above occurred because of the disclosure(s) that
you described. (Be as specific as possible about any dates, locations, names, and positions of all persons
mentioned in your explanation. In particular, identify actual and potential witnesses, giving work locations
and telephone numbers, if known. Attach a copy of any documents that suppo11 your statements. Please
rovide if ossible a co
of the otification of the a enc 's ro osal and/or decision about the ersonnel
action s covered b o r com I 1 t. If more space is needed, continue on page 12.)

______.........- . . _..J

5.

e in this matter (that is, what remedy are you asking for)?
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.... .,.... __ .,.,

1. WHEN

WA;jT"~
DIS rosr(wJIO-.iYifj ·· ···
d·. jl

'{Mi~fM ~~~A#HEDiSCLOsURE"
01focf/_

,
:

. --;

:

3.~SURE
oFiNFD'RM-A noN"EVIDENCE-D-(ch;dr-:;i/;1;~; ··•· ;
apply):
'
(.~VIOLATION OF LAW, RULE, OR REGULATION

B. WHAT INFORMATION WAS DISCLOSED?

(

) GROSS MISMANAGEMENT

(

) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS

(
(

) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO

.. "

.,_: ·.. _. • ..

._

.

______(_Q_E~~E_~T_~_f~J?~-~!-:'!J~B..P~c;.'=.Q~Ij_!!_l~.l:____________,__ -· __:~-~---:...i:~L:.:_::_:__:._____________________________

-

•. 1:

.,il

1. WHEN WAS THE DISCLOSURE MADE? (MO/DAIYR)

I!

!!

1--------~~~---~-~·"--~--~~~··~!
2. TO WHOM (NAME AND TITLE) WAS THE DISCLOSURE
MADE?

~---------·--·---

!!

..···--·-··-·--.............................. .

3. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION EVIDENCED (check all
that apply):
(

) VIOLATION OF LAW, RULE, OR REGULATION

(

) GROSS MISMANAGEMENT

(

) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS

(
(

) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO
PUBLICHEAL TH OR SAFETY
NONE OF THE ABOVE

4. WHAT PERSONNEL ACTION(S) OCCURRE0,-i=AiLED•.TO-OCCUR, OR
WAS THREATENED BECAUSE OF THE DISCLOSURE? (List all '
applicable personnel action numbers from pages 4-5).

s. WHE'N' DID
(MO/DA/YR)
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OSC asks everyone who files a complaint alleging a possible prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity to
select one of three Consent Statements shown below. IE YDU DO NOT SELECT ONE OF THE THREE CONSENT
STATEMENTS BELOL1£: OSC Wll L ASSUME THAT VOL! HAVE SELECTED CONSENT STATEMENT 1 Please: (a)
select and sign (or check, if filing electronically) one of the Consent Statements below; and (b) keep a copy of the Consent
Statement you select (as well as a copy of all documents that you send to OSC) for your own records.
If you initially select a Consent Statement that restricts OSC's use of information, you may later select a less restrictive
Consent Statement. If your selection of Consent Statement 2 or 3 prevents OSC from being able to conduct an
investigation, an OSC representative will contact you, explain the circumstances, and provide you with an opportunity to
select a less restrictive Consent Statement.
You should be aware that the Privacy Act allows information in OSC case files to be used or disclosed for certain purposes,
regardless of which Consent Statement you sign. See 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b). Information about certain circumstances under
which OSC can use or disclose information under the Privacy Act appears on the next page.
(Please sign one)
Consent Statement 1

sent Statement 1

I consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved in my complaint, but I do not agree to allow OSC to disclose
my identity as the complainant to that agency. I agree to allow OSC to disclose only information from or about me, without
disclosing my name or other identifying information, if OSC decides that such disclosure is needed to investigate the
allegation(s) in my complaint (for example, to request information from the agency, or seek a possible resolution through
mediation or corrective action). I understand that in some circumstances (for example, if I am complaining about my failure
to receive a promotion), OSC could not maintain my anonymity while communicating with the agency involved about a
specific personnel action. In such cases, I understand that this request for confidentiality might prevent OSC from taking
further action on my complaint. I also understand that regardless of the Consent Statement I choose, OSC may disclose
information from my complaint file when permitted by the Privacy Act (including circumstances summarized in Part 5,
below).

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 2

Date Signed

Consent Statement 3
1 do JJ.QJ consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved in my complaint. I understand that if OSC decides that it
cannot investigate the allegation(s) in my complaint without communicating with that agency, my lack of consent w1ll
probably prevent OSC from taking further action on the ~on:plaint. I under~tand that reg~rdless of ~he Consent Statement I
choose, OSC may disclose information from my complaint f1le when perm1tted by the Pnvacy Act (mcludmg Circumstances
r-'•Jmmarized in Part 5, below).

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 3

Date Signed
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Routine Uses. Limited disclosure of information from OSC files is needed to fulfill OSC's
investigative, prosecutorial, and related responsibilities. OSC has described 18 routine uses for
information in its files in the Federal Register (F.R.), at 66 F.R. 36611 (July 12, 2001 ), and 66 F.R.
51095 (October 5, 2001 ). A copy of the routine uses is available from OSC upon request. A
summary of the routine uses appears below.
OSC may disclose informatiofrom its files in the following circumstances:

1. to disclose that an allegation of prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity has been
filed;
2. to disclose information to the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) as needed for inquiries
involving civil service laws, rules or regulations, or to obtain an advisory opinion;
3. to disclose information about allegations or complaints of discrimination to entities
concerned with enforcement of antidiscrimination laws;
4. to the MSPB or the President, when seeking disciplinary action;
5. to the involved agency, MSPB, OPM, or the President when OSC has reason to
believe that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken;
6. to disclose information to Congress in OSC's annual report;
7. to disclose information to third parties as needed to conduct an investigation; obtain an
agency investigation and report on information disclosed to OSC's whistleblower disclosure
channel; or to give notice of the status or outcome of an investigation;
8. to disclose information as needed to obtain information about hiring or retention of an employee;
issuance of a security clearance; conduct of a security or suitability investigation; award of a
contract; or issuance of a license, grant, or other benefit;
9. to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for certain legislative coordination and
clearance purposes;
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Whistleblower Reprisal Complaint of Joe Carson, PE, against Special Counsel Carolyn Lerner
and U.S. Office of Special Counsel
Part 2
A(l)-(3)- What information was disclosed, what did it evidence, when made, and to whom?
Over past ten years, I have repeatedly disclosed information related to violations of law at the
Office of Special Counsel (OSC), regarding its non-discretionary statutory duties to protect
federal employees from prohibited personnel practices (PPPs) and its non-discretionary statutory
duties as a confidential, secure disclosure channel. This includes letters to Congress, disclosures
to OSC, letters to OSC, and federal law suits.
Related disclosures to OSC include: OSC file nos. DI-10-1485, DI-12-2141, and DI-12-3018
Related litigation includes:

Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, docket no. 04·0315, Not Reported in F. Supp.
2d, 2006 WL 785292 (D.D.C., March 27, 2006)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, 2006 WL 5085253 (D.D.C., Oct. 30, 2006) and
decision on remand, Carson v. US. Office ofSpecial Counsel, 2008 WL 2640283
(D.D.C., July 7, 2008)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, 514 F. Supp. 2d (D.D.C. 2007)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, 2008 WL 441532 (D.D.C., Feb. 19, 2008)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, 2008 WL 474251 (D.D.C., Feb. 19, 2008)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, docket no. 3:08-CV-330, 2009 WL 1346052 (E.D.
Tenn., May 11, 2009)
Carson v. Office ofSpecial Counsel, docket no. 09·5645, 633 F.3d 487 (6th Cir. 2011)
Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, docket no. 11-575, U.S. Supreme Court
The sections of law I allege OSC is violating, in whole or part, include:
5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(l) and (g)(2)
5 U.S.C. section 1213(b) and (c) for employees of Tennessee Valley authority and other whollyowned government corporations
5 U.S.C. section 1214(a)(l)(A), (a)(l)(C), (a)(l)(D), (a)(2)(A), (a)(4), (b)(2)(A)(i) and (ii),
(b)(2)(D), (e), and requirements of the "termination statement" found in endnotes of Section
1214, citing Pub. L. 103-424 Section 12(b).
A(4)- What personnel actions resulted? OSC has created, via its decades-long, continuing lawbreaking, "any other significant change in duties, responsibilities or working conditions," for me
by the Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North. and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct.
2405 (2006), because its law-breaking and failure to take any steps to resolve it would dissuade a
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Whistleblower Reprisal Complaint of Joe Carson, PE, against Special Counsel Carolyn Lerner
and U.S. Office of Special Counsel
reasonable co-worker from making protected disclosures to OSC, from engaging in the protected
activity of filing a whistle blower reprisal or other PPP complaint with OSC, or from assisting an
OSC investigation.
A(5) - When did the personnel actions or threats occur? Since 1994, when this type of personnel
action was created in law.
4) Explain why you believe that the personnel action occurred because of the disclosures?
I made the disclosures, OSC took no steps to resolve them, most specifically by requesting the
Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to issue a binding opinion on the contested
questions of law. Additionally, OSC did its utmost to prevent their being resolved on their
merits via litigation for the ones that were subject to litigation, and even when the Court found
OSC in the wrong in not complying with the requirements of the "termination statement," OSC
did nothing to correct it.
Singly, and in combination, OSC thereby caused me to experience "any other significant change
in duties, responsibilities or working conditions."
5) What action would you like OSC to take?
Stop breaking the law and start following it. If there are questions, then request the Office of
Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to review how it is interpreting and applying the
contested sections of law.
Special Counsel Lerner took an oath to well and faithfully discharge the duties of her office. She
apparently subverts that oath, the detriment of the integrity of the federal civil service in the name
of legal ethics . She appears to reason that since OSC is her agency employer, it is also her client,
whose interests she must hold paramount by legal ethics. This apparently includes doing
everything she can to prevent an objective evaluation of how OSC is interpreting and applying
various aspects of its non-discretionary statutory duties to protect federal employees from PPPs
and as a secure, independent, disclosure channel.

2
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Joe Carson

('
.-rom:

Sent:
To:

Subject:

Joe Carson <jpcarson@tds.net>
Tuesday, January 21, 2014 4:15 PM
'Purple, Meredith'
RE: OSC File No. MA-14-1063

I mailed the consent form, allowing the release of my name, on Saturday.
From: Purple, Meredith [mailto:mpurple@osc.gov]

Sent: Tuesday, January 21, 2014 10:47 AM
To: Joe Carson

Subject: OSC File No. MA-14-1063

Dear Mr. Carson:
We have received your complaint, OSC File No. MA-14-1063. Because the complaint is against OSC and
Special Counsel Lerner, it will be referred to the Integrity Committee of the Council of Inspectors General for
Integrity and Efficiency for handling. As such, please let me know whether you consent to the release of your
name to the Integrity Committee. If you do not consent, your complaint will still be referred, but as an
anonymous complaint. Please respond by Wednesday, January 29, 2014. If we do not receive a response by
r~at date regarding your consent, we will treat your non-response as a lack of consent to disclosure your name
.nd identifying information.
Thank you.

Meredith Purple
Complaints Examining Unit
U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M Street, NW, Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036
Direct dial: (202) 254-3608
Fax: (202 )653-0015
E-mail: mpurple@osc.gov

1
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202-254-3607

~

From: Joe Carson [mailto:jpcarson@tds.net]

Sent: Wednesday, February 12, 2014 9:16AM

To: Purple, Meredith
Subject: MA-14-1063, I think the law requires that I have a name and contact info
Dear Ms. Purple,
As I read/understand law in this matter, OSC cannot delegate its responsibility to ensure the law is followed in
investigating my complaint. So a general email address is not sufficient, in my opinion, I think I have a right to know
who at CIGIE is assigned to investigate my complaint (including the screening investigation similar to what happens at
OSC's CEU}.
I appreciate your following up on my request, but I request you provide me a specific name at CIGIE or inform me as to
why I don't have a statutory right to such info.
Respectfully,
Joe Carson

2
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Joe Carson
(\

tom:
Sent:
To:

Subject:

Joe Carson <jpcarson@tds.net>
Wednesday, February 12, 2014 9:31 PM
'Miles, Adam'
RE: MA-14-1063, I think the law requires that I have a name and contact info

Hi Adam,
I appreciate your taking the time to explain the situation more fully and responding so promptly. As you know, I allege
decades long lawbreaking (by omission) at the Office of Special Counsel, so even though I name the current Special
Counsel, I do not claim she (or any other specific person at OSC) is personally enaged in whistleblower reprisal against
me- the entire OSC is, by its current interpretations of various laws.
I agree this situation is likely unprecedented, but I just don't agree that this is the situation anticipated in the IG reform
act of 2008. OSC is properly interpreting the laws or it is not. If it is, then I have no basis to claim a PPP. Only OLC,
within the Executive Branch, is lawfully empowered to resolve the dispute. I tried litigation for years, OSC did
everything it could to evade a judicial review of the disputed laws, despite its duty to "act in my interests."
So I disagree that the IG Act of 2008 supercedes the requirements of 5 U.S.C. section 1214 in this, admittedly novel,
situation. OSC could, if it wished, tell me that it had requested OLC to review the disputed laws. If it did, then I would
withdraw the complaint. But if it will not, I wish to have someone do something no one at OSC, MSPB, DOE or anywhere
else in the Executive Branch has done- hear me out and respond, objectively, to my claims. So I desire a name at CIGIE
( 9 see if that person will actually do the unprecedented thing of hearing me out and responding.
Joe
From: Miles, Adam [mailto:amiles@osc.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, February 12, 2014 3:03PM
To: jpcarson@tds.net
Subject: FW: MA-14-1063, I think the law requires that I have a name and contact info

Hi Joe,
Ms. Purple forwarded your email to me. As you know, 5 USC 1214 requires OSC to provide "the name of a person at the
Office of Special Counsel who shall serve as a contact with the person making the allegation." Your complaint was
initially assigned to Ms. Purple, but in light of the referral to the IC, please feel free to contact me directly to discuss the
complaint and any questions you may have about the referral to the IC.
As you know, the Inspector General Reform Act of 2008 governs "allegations of wrongdoing against Special Counsel or
Deputy Special Counsel." Accordingly, the Integrity Committee has jurisdiction to hear complaints against the Special
Counsel to avoid the inherent conflict of interest that would be created in an OSC investigation of the Special
Counsel. To assist and ensure there is appropriate resolution of your complaint, we referred it to the Integrity
Committee. The IG Reform Act provides the Integrity Committee with the authority to prescribe rules or regulations
necessary to carry out its investigative responsibilities, and it would be up to the rules established by the IC, not OSC, to
provide you with the name of the person assigned to investigate your complaint.

0

nank you, and please feel free to contact me if you have any additional questions.
Adam
1
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Integrity Committee
Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 3973
Washington, D.C. 20535
IC Complaints@ic.tbi.gov

Personal and Confidential
March 6, 2014
Joe Carson, PE
jpcarson@tds.net
Complaint Referral to the Integrity Committee
Dear Mr. Carson:
The Integrity Committee (IC) of the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and
Efficiency (CIGIE) reviewed the complaint you sent to the ICon February 21, 2014.
The IC determined the allegations do not meet the threshold standard necessary for
further review. Therefore, the IC closed the complaint and will take no further action on this
matter. Thank you for referring this matter to the IC.
Sincerely,

Joseph S. Campbell
Chairperson
Integrity Committee
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March 19, 2014
To: MSPB Atlanta
From: Joseph Carson, PE
Subject: IRA appeal against Office of Special Counsel
Block 16: Brief description of why the Office of Special Counsel compounded its decades of
law-breaking with unlawful whistleblower reprisal against me in refusing or failing to
resolve my well-evidenced claims of its law-breaking

For years, I have been making protected disclosures about decades-long, continuing lawbreaking
at OSC and MSPB, including via whistleblower disclosures to OSC, letters to OSC, litigation
with OSC, etc. OSC has refused or failed to take action to resolve my protected disclosures
about its decades-long law-breaking. This is unlawful whistleblower reprisal by the following
reasoning:
1) I have made many protected disclosures to OSC about OSC lawbreaking.
2) OSC officials have refused or failed to resolve my claims of its decades-long law-breaking.
3) By their failure or refusal to resolve my protected disclosures, OSC officials have
compounded their other law-breaking with whistleblower reprisal against me. How? They have
created the personnel action of "any other significant change in my working conditions" as
OSC's failure/refusal to resolve my protected disclosures would tend to dissuade a reasonable
colleague from making protected disclosures to OSC. See Supreme Court precedent in
Burlington.
Block 18: This is an IRA appeal and I have attached the following documents:
1) My 9 page long complaint to OSC about OSC whistle blower reprisal of December 14, 2013

2) 3 pages of email between me and OSC about how my complaint, OSC file no. MA-14-1063,
would be investigated by the Integrity Committee of the CIGIE.
3) The Integrity Committee's letter to me of March 6, 2014 (received as an attachmenittol
email dated March 19, 2014) closing its investigation of my complaint.

,,,..---- I
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Response to Show Cause Order
Summary Page
Case Title : JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket Number : AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Pleading Title : Response to Show Cause Order
Filer's Name : Joseph P. Carson
Filer's Pleading Role : Appellant
Details about the supporting documentation
N/A
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Response to Show Cause Order
Online Interview
1. Would you like to enter the text online or upload a file containing the pleading?
See attached pleading text document

2. Does your pleading assert facts that you know from your personal knowledge?
No
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket No.
)
)AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

Appellant

)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)

)
)
)
)

Agency

APPELLANT’S RESPONSE TO SHOW CAUSE ORDER OF JULY 10, 2014
Per Board’s Order of July 10, 2014, Appellant timely submits his response.
Background:
For many years now, the Appellant has been making whistleblower allegations (or whistleblower
disclosures) to the Agency, Office of Special Counsel (OSC), per 5 U.S.C. § 1213 or other means
(as well as to many other parties), that the Agency is violating a number of its nondiscretionary
statutory duties found in 5 U.S.C. §§ 1212, 1213, 1214 and 1216 regarding is singular duties for
the integrity of the federal civil service. Little, if anything, has been resolved on the merits about
Appellant’s whistleblower allegations of decades-long law-breaking at OSC or its highly
corrupting impact on the integrity of the entire federal civil service.
In his whistleblower reprisal complaint to OSC of December 14, 2013, which is included in its
entirety in Appellant’s Initial IRA appeal in this case, Appellant alleged that OSC, by refusing or
failing to obtain a lawful resolution of his whistleblower allegations, was engaged unlawful
reprisal against him by causing the personnel action of “any other significant change in his
duties, responsibilities or working conditions.”

1
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OSC referred Appellant’s whistleblower complaint to the Integrity Committee of the Council of
the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency (CIGIE), which closed it based on a screening
review. The CIGIE closure letter to Appellant and related OSC investigation closure letters for
OSC file no. MA-14-1063 to Appellant are included in the case record.
On March 19, 2014 the Appellant filed this IRA appeal.
Novel and significant questions of law presented by this appeal:
1)

When an agency fails or refuses to resolve, on any objective basis, a federal agency
employee’s whistleblower allegations that it is violating aspects of its nondiscretionary
statutory duties, can that agency failure or refusal, in and of itself, be a personnel action
because it causes “any other significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working
conditions” of the concerned federal employee? If so, then is the failure or refusal of the
agency to resolve the employee’s concern unlawful whistleblower reprisal?

2)

Given OSC’s singular nondiscretionary, positive, statutory duties to be a confidential,
secure, independent disclosure channel to federal agency employees, to protect them from
reprisal and other types of prohibited personnel practices (PPPs), and to “act in their
interests” in doing so, can the failure or refusal of OSC to comply with any or all of such
duties cause a federal employee who, per his statutory right, sought its assistance or
protection, to experience the personnel action of “any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions?”

Only if both are answered “yes” - and if appellant’s whistleblower allegations of decades-long
OSC law-breaking in NOT complying with one or more aspects of its nondiscretionary statutory
duties are “reasonable” - is this appeal within MSPB’s jurisdiction.
Because these questions of law are novel, important, and because an immediate ruling will
materially advance the completion of this proceeding, the Appellant respectfully suggests the
Administrative Judge, on his own motion, certify an interlocutory appeal of them.
Why an agency failure or refusal to resolve a whisteblower allegation of its law-breaking
can be a personnel action and why OSC’s law-breaking can create a personnel action for
any federal agency employee
Congress created a complex statutory scheme for the regulation of the management culture in
EVERY federal agency in the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, requiring complementary
actions by (what are now) three separate agencies. In did so for two reasons: 1) have a more
uniform system for regulating the management culture in almost 300 federal agencies, and 2) it
knew better than to trust agencies to self-regulate their management culture.
So it created a “three-legged stool” model for the regulation of the management culture, as
2
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follows:
1) Agency heads - “prevent PPPs,” per section 2302(c)
2) OSC - “protect agency employees from PPPs,” per section 1214 and be a confidential,
secure, independent disclosure channel to them per section 1213.
3) MSPB - conduct “special studies” to determine if agency heads and OSC were
adequately performing those functions - whether federal employees were adequately
protected from PPPs, per section 1204(a)(3)
If the system were working properly, then it would provide the President with the information
needed so he could perform his nondiscretionary statutory duty to “take any action... necessary”
to ensure that federal employees were adequately protected from PPPs, per section 2301(c).
As a result of OSC’s law-breaking (compounded by MSPB’s continuing law-breaking in NOT
doing the requisite “special studies” to determine and report “as to whether the public interest in
a civil service free of PPP’s is being adequately protected):”
1) federal employees cannot, contrary to law and rule, effectively make “protected
disclosures” - agencies can ignore them with impunity.
2) federal employees are not, contrary to law, adequately protected from reprisal and other
types of PPPs, and
3) contrary to law, there is no objective basis to contest points 1 and 2.
4) The President is unable to comply with his duty to “take any action...necessary”
because he is not obtaining the required information from OSC and MSPB about
challenges and deficiencies in the integrity of the federal civil service, across the board or
in any specific agency.
This decades-long, compounded, law-breaking by OSC and MSPB is civilization-threatening, in
appellant’s opinion as a professional engineer (PE), because of its highly corrosive and
corrupting impact on the entire federal civil service and American’s trust in their instruments of
government - when America is still the essential Country to sustain Western civilization and
when civilization, worldwide, faces unprecedented risks and challenges - challenges that
absolutely require a trustworthy federal civil service - one which “embodies” the merit principles
- to address.
Why an agency failure or refusal to resolve, in a timely and objective way, a employee’s
reasonably believed whistleblower allegation of its law-breaking is a personnel action.

3
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When an agency fails or refuses to obtain a timely and objective resolution to an employee’s
reasonably believed whistleblower disclosure about its law-breaking, the Appellant contends this
is a personnel action by 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), “any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities or working conditions” because “it might well dissuade a reasonable coworker
from making a protected disclosure or engaging in a protected activity,” see Shivaee v.
Department. of Navy, 74 MSPR 383, 388 (1997), Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North
& Santa Fe Railway. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405, 2415 (2006), and Mogenhan v. Napolitano,
613 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C. Cir. 2010).
Why OSC’s lawbreaking in not performing specific non-discretionary statutory duties that
it owes a federal employee can be a personnel action against that employee.
When OSC fails or refuses to comply with one or more aspects of its non-discretionary statutory
duties as a disclosure channel to a federal agency employee or to protect a federal agency
employee from reprisal, OSC causes a personnel action for that federal agency employee by 5
U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), “any other significant change in duties, responsibilities or working
conditions” because “it might well dissuade a reasonable coworker from making a protected
disclosure or engaging in a protected activity,” see Shivaee v. Department. of Navy, 74 MSPR
383, 388 (1997), Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North & Santa Fe Railway. Co. v.
White, 126 S.Ct. 2405, 2415 (2006), and Mogenhan v. Napolitano, 613 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C.
Cir. 2010).
Are Mr. Carson claims of OSC decades-long law-breaking reasonably evidenced?
No one at OSC is now claiming otherwise, instead OSC engages in pretext after pretext to evade
obtaining an objective answer from the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice.
Respectfully,
___________/s/_________________________
Joseph P. Carson, P.E.
Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831

4
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have served the agency’s representative,
Pamela Gault, with a copy of the within and foregoing pleading by email at
pgault@osc.gov. The Agency’s Representative has requested she be so served.
Date: July 12, 2014

/s/
Joseph Carson, PE
Appellant
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1. Would you like to enter the text online or upload a file containing the pleading?
See attached pleading text document
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket No.
)
)AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

Appellant

)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)
)
)
)

Agency

APPELLANT’S MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT HIS RESPONSE TO SHOW CAUSE
ORDER OF JULY 10, 2014
Per Board’s Order of July 10, 2014, Appellant has until July 17, 2014 to respond. Appellant
submitted a timely response and he now respectfully requests to supplement his response, before
the deadline for responding, with new, previously unavailable information, an OSC letter to
Appellant’s Congressman of July 1, 2014 (which Appellant received late in the evening on July
15 on returning home from an out of state trip). This letter to attached to this motion and
addresses some of Appellant’s claims of decades-long OSC lawbreaking.
Appellant, in his whistleblower reprisal to OSC December 14, 2013, which is included in its
entirety in Appellant’s Initial IRA appeal in this case, specifically alleged that OSC was violating
two laws created by the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1) and (g)(2).
5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1) and (g)(2), require:
§1213(g)(1) If the Special Counsel receives information of a type described in subsection
(a) from an individual other than an individual described in subparagraph (A) or (B) of
subsection (c)(2), (emphasis added) the Special Counsel may transmit the information to
the head of the agency which the information concerns. The head of such agency shall,
1
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within a reasonable time after the information is transmitted, inform the Special Counsel
in writing of what action has been or is being taken and when such action shall be
completed. The Special Counsel shall inform the individual of the report of the agency
head.
§1213(g)(2) If the Special Counsel receives information of a type described in subsection
(a) from an individual described in subparagraph (A) or (B) of subsection (c)(2), but does
not make a positive determination under subsection (b), the Special Counsel may transmit
the information to the head of the agency which the information concerns, except that the
information may not be transmitted to the head of the agency without the consent of the
individual. The head of such agency shall, within a reasonable time after the information
is transmitted, inform the Special Counsel in writing of what action has been or is being
taken and when such action will be completed. The Special Counsel shall inform the
individual of the report of the agency head.
5 U.S.C. § 1213(c)(2) states:
5 U.S.C. § 1213(c)(2) The Special Counsel may require an agency head to conduct an
investigation and submit a written report under paragraph (1) only if the information was
transmitted to the Special Counsel by—
(A)an employee, former employee, or applicant for employment in the agency
which the information concerns; or
(B)an employee who obtained the information in connection with the performance
of the employee’s duties and responsibilities.
For 25 years, since this the creation of §1213(g)(1) in 1989, OSC has interpreted its term “an
individual” to be limited to “an employee, former employee, or applicant for employment” - i.e.
OSC claims than “an individual” excluded such “individuals” as federal contractor employees,
employees of licensees of activities licensed by federal agencies, and anyone else.
Consistent with its improper narrow interpretation, OSC has not once, in 25 years, made such a
referral to an agency head, as Appellant has verified by reviewing every OSC Annual Report to
Congress, by FOIA request to OSC and by personally inspecting OSC’s public records, as by law
at 5 U.S.C. §1219(a)(4), “The Special Counsel shall maintain and make available to the public
reports from heads of agencies under section 1213(g)(1).”
Based on OSC’s letter to Congressman Duncan, OSC is now changing this interpretation. OSC
failed to respond to Congressman Duncan’s request for the number of referrals it made to the
Agency head since 1989 per this section of law, apparently because it did not want to admit
“zero.”
Additionally, in its letter to Congressman Duncan, OSC admitted (tacitly) that it had for 24 years,
2
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from 1989-2013, violated 5 U.S.C. §1213(g)(2) in that it continued its pre-1989 practice of
informally referring such whistleblower disclosures to the Agency IG, which had no duties to do
anything with the referral or report anything back to OSC, instead of following the law and
making such referrals formally and only to the Agency head.
Appellant claims OSC continues to violate about a dozen of its specific statutory duties to
foolhardy souls as he, who are so naive to put their duty to the common good before their
economic security as federal agency employees.
Appellant publicly claims, at whatever risk to his PE license, federal job and pension, that
decades-long, compounded, continuing law-breaking at OSC and MSPB is “civilizationthreatening,” see www.broken-covenant.org.
If Board determines that regardless of whatever laws OSC violates in its duties to foolhardy
federal employees (and others per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1)) as he, that it commits no
personnel action, therefore no reprisal occurs, so be it, but Appellant contends the consequences
of such a ruling for the possibility of America and civilization reaching year 2100 more-or-less
intact are not insignificant.
Respectfully,
___________/s/_________________________
Joseph P. Carson, P.E.
Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831
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TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE

2ND DISTRICT, TENNESSEE

VICE CHAIRMAN
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2207 RAYBURN HOUSE OFFICE BUILDING
WASHINGTON, DC 20515-4202
PHONE: (202) 225-5435
FAx: (202) 225-6440

BOO MARKET STREET, SUITE 110
KNOXVILLE, TN 37902
PHONE: (865) 523-3772

FAX: (865) 544-0728
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331 COURT STREET
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OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNMENT REFORM
SUBCOMMITTEES:
ECONOMIC GROWTH, JOB CREATION,
AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS

NATIONAL SECURITY, HOMELAND DEFENSE,

July 8, 2014

AND fOREIGN OPERATIONS

Mr. Joe P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxvi~ennessee 37934
Dear

M~:

Please find attached hereto the response received from the U.S.
Office of Special Counsel regarding my inquiry on your behalf.
The letter is explanatory.
I hope that this information will prove to be helpful to you and
I wish you the best of luck in your future endeavors.
With kindest regards,

I am

truly,

N, JR.
Member of Congress
JJD:js
Enclosures

E-MAIL: www.house.gov/writerep
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20036·4505

The Special Counsel

July 1, 2014

The Honorable John J. Duncan, Jr.
800 Market Street, Suite 110
Knoxville, TN 37902
Dear Congressman Duncan:
Thank you for your letter of April15, 2014. I am sorry it took this much. time to
reply, but some of the very matters you inquired about were already under review at my
agency at the time. We have now completed our review and are pleased to provide the
following answers to your questions. Note, however, that before any material change may
be made to OSC complaint forms, such a change must be approved by the Office of
Management and Budget. Pending that approval, to avoid confusing prospective
whistleblowers and the public, we have decided to postpone announcing a change in
policy on OSC's website.
In particular, you asked the following:
1. Whether anything precludes me from seeking the opinions from the Office of
Legal Counsel (OLC)?
The answer is no. Referring a matter for an OLC opinion is within my
discretion.
2. Whether the Special Counsel may transmit information received in the form of a
whistleblower disclosure from a federal agency contractor to an agency?
,Yes, I may forward information from a federal agency cqnlraftor to the
1 affected agency. However, unless I transmit such inform~tton pursuant to a
specific statutory provision, the head of the agency is under no legal
requirement to act on the information.
1

3. Whether Section 1213(g)(1) ofthe Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 (WPA)
was created in response to OLC opinions of 1981?
No, there is nothing in the legislative history of the WP A that we are aware of
to indicate that Section 1213(g)(l) was created in response to the cited OLC
opinions. The WP A was passed some eight years after the issuance of these
OLC opinions.
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The Special counsel

The Honorable John J. Duncan, Jr.
July 1, 2014
Page 2 of3
4. Why is OSC apparently opposed to requesting an OLC review of its duties under
Section 1213(g)(l )?
Like many statutory provisions, 1213(g)(1) has been the subject ofvaried
readings. OSC's construction is a good faith effort to interpret the provision,
particularly based on its statutory framework and in recognition that the
statute conveys no protection against retaliation for non-federal employees.
OSC is open to reinterpreting the scope of its disclosure jurisdiction in light of
changing legal circumstances. In 2013 through the National Defense
Authorization Act, Congress extended to agency contractor etJlployees
protection against whistleblower retaliation on a four-year pilot project basis.
Under the NDAA, federal contract employees may make disclosures to a
number of recipients, including federal law enforcement agencies. Since OSC
is a federal law enforcement agency, OSC may receive disclosures pursuant to
the NDAA. OSC would treat such a disclosure under the provisions of Section
1213(g)(l). (OSC is in the process of revising its complaint forms to, among
other things, reflect this change; however, the Office of Management and
Budget must approve such a material change to a revised form before OSC
may issue it.) However, OSC recognizes the special statutory role Congress
assigned to inspectors general in the NDAA to investigate retaliation
complaints by federal contractor employees. Therefore, at my agency's
discretion and in the interests of government efficiency, OSC would defer
contractor disclosures to the appropriate inspector general for handling.
However, if the inspector general did not receive such a covered disclosure of
wrongdoing, or if the inspector general review process were itself tainted by
fraud, neglect, or improper influence, or were unreasonably dilatory, OSC
would handle the referral ourselves, pursuant to Section 1213(g)(l), during the
period covered by the pilot project.
5. Whether OSC continues to make informal referrals of whistleblower disclosures
to the affected agency's insp~ctor general?
No, OSC ceased referring matters to IGs in 2013.
6. Whether OSC has, since its creation, made any referrals under Section
1213(g)(2)?
OSC has referred at least five Section 1213(g)(2) matters to agencies in
just the past year.
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The Special Counsel

The Honorable John J. Duncan, Jr.
July 1, 2014
Page 3 of3
7. If no Section 1213(g)(2) referrals have been made in the past 24 years, doesn't
this indicate OSC should seek OLC review?
As noted in response to the prior question, OSC has many Section
1213(g)(2) disclosures pending at agencies.
If you wish to communicate further about these issues, please feel free to contact
either Principal Deputy Special Counsel Mark Cohen or me.

Sincerely,

Carolyn N. Lerner

....

·

.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have served the agency’s representative,
Pamela Gault, with a copy of the within and foregoing pleading by email at
pgault@osc.gov. The Agency’s Representative has requested she be so served.
Date: July 16, 2014

/s/
Joseph Carson, PE
Appellant
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: July 25, 2014

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Pamela Gault, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the agency.
BEFORE
Richard W. Vitaris
Administrative Judge
INITIAL DECISION
INTRODUCTION
On or about March 19, 2014, the appellant sought to file an individual right
of action (IRA) appeal asserting that, in retaliation for his protected disclosures,
the agency denied failed or refused to resolve his allegations of whistleblower
retaliation in a timely and objective manner For the reasons set forth below, the
appeal is DISMISSED for lack of jurisdiction. The hearing the appellant
requested was not held because there was no factual dispute bearing on the issue
of jurisdiction. See Manning v. Merit Systems Protection Board, 742 F.2d 1424,
1427-28 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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2
JURISDICTION
The Board has jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant has
exhausted his administrative remedies before OSC and makes non-frivolous
allegations that: (1) He engaged in whistleblowing activity by making a protected
disclosure and (2) the disclosure was a contributing factor in the agency's
decision to take or fail to take a personnel action. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3). Yunus v.
Department of Veterans Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367, 1371 (Fed. Cir .2001); Rusin v.
Department of the Treasury, 92 M.S.P.R. 298, ¶ 12 (2002).
By Order dated July 12, 2014, I ordered the appellant to establish
jurisdiction over his IRA appeal. The Order advised the appellant that it did not
appear that the Board had jurisdiction over his IRA appeal because he had not
nonfrivolously alleged that the agency had taken a personnel action against him.
The appellant filed two responses on the jurisdictional issue which I have
considered.
In an IRA appeal, an employee may seek corrective action from the Board
with respect to any “personnel action” taken, or proposed to be taken, against him
as the result of a prohibited personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(8). 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). In this context, a “personnel action” is defined
as follows: (i) an appointment; (ii) a promotion; (iii) an action under 5 U.S.C.
chapter 75 or other disciplinary or corrective action; (iv) a detail, transfer, or
reassignment; (v) a reinstatement; (vi) a restoration; (vii) a reemployment; (viii) a
performance evaluation under 5 U.S.C. chapter 43; (ix) a decision concerning
pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training if the education or
training may reasonably be expected to lead to an appointment, promotion,
performance evaluation, or other personnel action; (x) a decision to order
psychiatric testing or examination; and (xi) any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).
The agency contends that the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
was never employed by the agency, nor was he an applicant for employment with
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3
them. Thus, the agency claim that the appellant is not an employee within the
meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).
It was Congress's intent in drafting 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) to protect
whistleblowers from a broad range of possible retaliatory actions from
government agencies. Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221,
¶ 10 (2010). Thus, the Board has held that an appellant in an IRA appeal is not
limited to seeking corrective action for personnel actions taken by his employing
agency, but can also raise such claims with respect to personnel actions taken by
other Federal agencies, such as, for example a transfer, detail, restoration, or
reemployment. See 5 C.F.R. § 210.102(18) (defining a transfer as a change of an
employee, without a break in service, from a position in one agency to a position
in another agency); 5 C.F.R. § 317.903 (defining a detail in the Senior Executive
Service to include a temporary assignment to an outside agency); 5 C.F.R. Part
330, subpart G and Part 553 (authorizing a restoration or a reemployment of
former employees to include placement in a position in another agency).
In this case, however, the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
has failed to nonfrivolously allege that the agency has taken a personnel action
concerning him. The appellant contends that the agency — OSC's — failure to
resolve or refusal to resolve the appellant's allegations of whistleblower
retaliation in a timely and objective manner is itself a "personnel action." I
disagree. The claimed "personnel action" clearly does not constitute one of the
personnel actions enumerated by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). Nor does it meet the
definition of the statute's catch all provision, which includes "any other
significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions," within the
definition of a personnel action. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii).
OSC is not the appellant's employing agency nor did the appellant apply to
OSC for any type of work, transfer, detail, emolument, restoration or other
attribute of employment. Rather, OSC is a Federal investigative and prosecutorial
agency. It does not take personnel actions concerning employees other than its
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4
own. While the appellant may be dissatisfied with the quality and timeliness of
OSC's investigations and with the merits of OSC's prosecutorial decisions, those
investigations and decisions are not personnel actions within the meaning of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A) even though they may be of keen interest to the appellant
and to his career with his own employing agency, the Department of Energy.
Finally, the appellant alleges that the agency is violating certain reporting
requirements contained in 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1) and (g)(2). However, the
appellant has failed to identify any law, rule, or regulation which would allow the
Board to review this claim, and I am aware of none.
DECISION
The appeal is DISMISSED.

FOR THE BOARD:

__________/S/____________________
Richard W. Vitaris
Administrative Judge

NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on August 29, 2014, unless a
petition for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is
usually the last day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board.
However, if you prove that you received this initial decision more than 5 days
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for review within 30 days after
the date you actually receive the initial decision. If you are represented, the 30day period begins to run upon either your receipt of the initial decision or its
receipt by your representative, whichever comes first. You must establish the
date on which you or your representative received it. The date on which the
initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file a petition for
review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you how and
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5
when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are important
because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition
for review.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may
file a cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must
state your objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable
laws, regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board
1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and
may

only

be

accomplished

at

the

Board's

e-Appeal

website

(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only
issues raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in
which the Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are
not limited to, a showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1)
Any alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to
warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner
who alleges that the judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain
why the challenged factual determination is incorrect and identify specific
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6
evidence in the record that demonstrates the error. In reviewing a claim of an
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give deference to an administrative
judge’s credibility determinations when they are based, explicitly or implicitly,
on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The
petitioner must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.
(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To
constitute new evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the
documents themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when
the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition
for review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated,
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A
reply to a response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words,
whichever is less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than
12 point typeface and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one
side of a page. The length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of
authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a
pleading that exceeds the limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such
requests must give the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length of the
pleading and are granted only in exceptional circumstances. The page and word
limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected or required to
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7
submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a well-written petition for
review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the
record in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit
anything to the Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review
must be filed with the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial
decision becomes final, or if this initial decision is received by you or your
representative more than 5 days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date
you or your representative actually received the initial decision, whichever was
first. If you claim that you and your representative both received this decision
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove to the Board the
earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving the initial
decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail
is determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic
filing is the date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the
date on which the Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial
delivery is the date the document was delivered to the commercial delivery
service. Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide
a statement of how you served your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed electronically, the online process itself will
serve the petition on other e-filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of
service of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial
decision in accordance with the Board's regulations.

Appx126

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 105

Filed: 07/15/2016

8
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date this initial decision becomes final.
§ 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012).

See 5 U.S.C.

If you choose to file, be very

careful to file on time. The court has held that normally it does not have the
authority to waive this statutory deadline and that filings that do not comply with
the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management,
931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i),
(b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s
disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request
review of this decision only after it becomes final by filing in the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent
jurisdiction. The court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60
days after the date on which this decision becomes final.

See 5 U.S.C.

§ 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful
to file on time. You may choose to request review of the Board’s decision in the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any other court of
appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to seek review
in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any other
court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
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9
States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court's website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court's "Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is
contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our
website at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have
expressed interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems
Protection Board appellants before the Federal Circuit.

The Merit Systems

Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor
warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
PFR of Initial Decision
Online Interview
1. Would you like to enter the text online or upload a file containing the pleading?
See attached pleading text document

2. Does your pleading assert facts that you know from your personal knowledge?
No
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket No.
)
)AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

Appellant

)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)
)
)
)

Agency

PETITION FOR REVIEW
Appellant timely submits a petition for review of the initial decision, of July 25, 2014,
which failed to mention any of the specifics of Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures to U.S.
Office of Special Counsel (OSC) about many instances of systemic OSC law-breaking and
wrongly described the retaliation the Appellant alleged on the part of OSC as its failing to protect
him from reprisal in the Department of Energy, the Appelant’s employing agency when
Appellant alleged that OSC’s failure or refuse to resolve the Appellant’s whistleblower
disclosures to it is the retaliatory action.
Background to this IRA appeal and its several related IRA appeals 1

1

Now including AT-1221-14-0520-W-1; AT-1221-14-0637-W-1; and AT-1221-140890-W-1.
1
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Appellant, at whatever risk to his professional engineer (PE) license, federal job and
pension, publicly claims, consistent with his understanding of his positive legal duties as a PE
employed in the Department of Energy (DOE) in a position with significant oversight
responsibilities for public and worker health, safety (including nuclear safety), environment, and
security (including security for nuclear weapon materials), that there is decades-long,
compounded, continuing, civilization-threatening, lawbreaking in Office of Special Counsel
(OSC) and Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB). 2
“Civilization-threatening”means just that to this Appellant - that the negative
consequences to his professional standing and economic security cannot - must not - preclude
him from exposing and, hopefully, ending it. His willingness to put professional honor and
patriotism before his personal economy apparently places this Appellant in a small minority of
federal employees. Appellant is not that surprised, given how decades of this OSC and MSPB
law-breaking have battered the integrity of the federal civil service.
This Appellant primarily attributes this status quo to individuals as Tom Devine of
Government Accountability Project (GAP) and Danielle Brian of Project of Government
Oversight (POGO) - leaders of so-called “whistleblower advocacy groups” who exploit, instead
of exposing, this OSC and MSPB law-breaking, apparently because it benefits them personally
and/or the business models of their organizations. They are the true “insider threats,” in
Appellant’s opinion, to the integrity of the federal civil service as they have the power to “black
2

See www.broken-covenant.org for a three-minute long, professionally-produced video
in which Appellant makes these claims and calls upon President Obama to resolve them.
Appellant respectfully challenge the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and/or Member of MSPB (or its
General Counsel) to pursue a professional misconduct complaint against Appellant with his PE
licensing authority in Tennessee, if they think his public claims are not truthful and objective.
2
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ball” potential political appointees to OSC or MSPB, particularly in Democratic administrations and potential political appointees to OSC and MSPB know it.
OSC is a 35 year-long law-breaking fraud of a federal agency, in essential part, because it
is grossly under-resourced - it should have 450-500 FTE’s, not 110. MSPB enables OSC’s lawbreaking by NOT conducting the requisite “special studies” of its functioning in its nondiscretionary statutory duties related to the integrity of the federal civil service, but MSPB should
have 50 FTE’s in its “special studies” function, not 10. Have GAP or POGO ever called for
adequate funding of OSC or MSPB? No. Instead, they say things as “as soon as OSC and
MSPB start doing their jobs, we’ll call for them to get more Congressional support.” How
convenient to their agendas of exploitation of foolhardy souls as this Appellant, that OSC and
MSPB remain so grossly under-resourced.
OSC and MSPB have a number of essential, non-discretionary, statutory responsibilities
for the regulation of the management culture in EVERY federal agency, many of which they
abandoned at their creation in 1979. The result is that corruption and dysfunction have taken
deep root and flourish in many federal agencies and workplaces, resulting in a much diminished
and more threatened America. 3 4

3

Congress explicitly decided federal agencies would NOT be self-regulating for their
management culture for at least two reasons in crafting the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978: 1)
Congress wanted a more uniform system for almost 300 federal agencies, and 2) Congress knew
better than to trust agencies to self-regulate their management cultures.
4

This includes FBI, intelligence agencies and government corporations. While OSC and
MSPB have more limited jurisdiction in these agencies vis-a-vis (at least some types of)
prohibited personnel practices (PPPs), there are no statutory limits on OSC’s jurisdiction as a
whistleblower disclosure channel or MSPB’s “special studies” jurisdiction in any federal agency
- as much as OSC makes the absurd claim that as much as the law says employees of government
corporations, since 1994, can seek OSC’s protection from reprisal for making whistleblower
3

Appx134
Pleading Number : 2014070498

Submission date : 2014-08-28 23:14:36

Confirmation Number: 766900170

page 6 of 17

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 113

Filed: 07/15/2016

As Appellant understand the position of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Member of
the Board - and that of other attorneys at MSPB (and OSC) - they do not disagree that Appellant
has “reasonable belief” in his public claims of systemic law-breaking at OSC and MSPB.
However, they, as other lawyers at MSPB (and OSC) apparently reason that because they have an
attorney-client relationship with MSPB, their employing federal agency, they cannot seek their
resolution at the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice, because it could find
MSPB in the wrong. So they neither disagree with Appellant having reasonable belief in his
claims, nor do they seek their resolution.
As new evidence for this PFR, previously unavailable, Appellant has attached the Board’s
August 1, 2014 letter to President Obama that describes the Board’s concerns about the
significant loss of due-process rights for senior officials in the Veterans Administration (VA).
However, MSPB bears much responsibility for the unacceptable management culture in VA that
caused Congress to remove these rights. Congress’s doing so is just another result of MSPB’s
law-breaking failure - for 35 years now - to conduct the requisite “special studies” of OSC and
VA such that it could determine and report, to the President and Congress, per 5 U.S.C.
§1204(a)(3) “as to whether the public interest in a civil service free of prohibited personnel
practices (in VA) is being adequately protected.”

disclosures to it, they have no statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to it.
Appellant lives in East Tennessee, where the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) operates several
commercial nuclear power plants. TVA had, until quite recently, the distinction at the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) for having the worst ongoing safety record of any operator of
multiple nuclear power plants in Country - a likely result, in essential part, of this OSC lawbreaking, which MSPB enables by failing to conduct special studies of OSC’s whistleblower
disclosure function, including in government corporations. The stakes are NOT trivial.
4
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Appellant believes the Board knows what it would likely find at VA, were it to conduct a
“special study” of VA and OSC in light of the unfolding VA scandal - that it would find, contrary
to law:
1)

VA employees cannot, as a rule, effectively bring forward concerns.

2)

VA employees are not, as a rule, adequately protected from reprisal and other types of
prohibited personnel practices.

And, because of MSPB’s law-breaking failure to conduct such special studies at VA and OSC for
35 years,
3)

the Secretary of VA is unable to demonstrate compliance with his statutory duty to
“prevent prohibited personnel practices,” and the President is unable to perform his
statutory duty to “take any action....necessary” to ensure VA employment “embodies” the
merit system principles - in short “the public interest in a civil service free of prohibited
personnel practices” at VA has been too-often and too-long betrayed for reasons - OSC
and MSPB law-breaking - that are outside of VA’s control. 5

Which is also exactly what the Board would also find in the Department of Energy and every
other federal agency not excluded from OSC’s reprisal-type prohibited personnel practice
jurisdiction, were it to conduct the requisite special studies.
So it seems to this Appellant that the choice of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and
Member of the Board is to:
1)

continue to do the professionally dishonorable thing of stonewalling/ignoring these
concerns - motivated apparently by nothing more than their protecting their professional
5

See 5 U.S.C. §§ 2301(c) and 2302(c) for these duties.
5
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standing and economic security, or
2)

do the professionally honorable thing and inform President Obama that they will publicly
resign if he does not allow the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to
review how OSC and MSPB have been interpreting the approximately 14 specific civil
service laws in question, particularly including how MSPB has been interpreting its
“special studies” function for past 35 years.6 7

This IRA Appeal should have been handled per Board regulations at 5 C.F.R. §1201.13 as
if it were an appeal of a Board employee
Because Appellant’s claims of decades-long law-breaking at OSC implicate decades-long
law-breaking at MSPB, the case should have been assigned to an Administrative Law Judge, for
the reasons and per the process described in Board regulations at 5 CFR §1201.13. This reason,
and in and of itself, should be sufficient for the Board to vacate the initial decision and remand
the case to an ALJ.

6

Appellant hopes, if his concerns are vindicated, that one result will be the Senate starts
routinely asking nominees for positions in OSC, MSPB as well as other agencies requiring
Senate confirmation if they have the professional honor to publicly resign if they cannot do their
statutory duty for lack of resources or because of Presidential interference.
7

Appellant alleges OSC and MSPB have been violating, for decades, their nondiscretionary statutory duties to regulate aspects of the management culture in federal agencies by
no fewer than fourteen specific civil service laws. OSC recently admitted (if only tacitly) to
Appellant’s Congressman, John Duncan, that it had been violating one - 5 U.S.C. §1213(g)(2) from its creation in 1989 until 2013, by its informally referring some whistleblower disclosures
to agency IG’s, instead of formally referring them to Agency heads as this law requires. OSC
stated it had corrected this practice in 2013, likely due to his Appellant.
Had OSC been following this law from 1989, then the Secretary of Veteran Affairs might well
have requested, many years ago, that OSC make “liberal” use of its discretion to refer
whistleblower disclosures from VA employees to him - and then VA may well have avoided
much of the corruption and dysfunction in which it is mired and to which Congress responded by
removing some of the due process rights of senior VA officials.
6
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Apparently because the Administrative Judge had a conflict of interest in determining the
Appellant has “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosures about OSC’s lawbreaking, as they implicate MSPB law-breaking also, he mischaracterized the
fundamentals of Appellant’s IRA appeal in the initial decision.
This IRA appeal follows Appellant’s making a whistleblower reprisal complaint to OSC,
OSC file no. OSC file no. MA-14-1063. This complaint is included, in its entirety, with all other
related correspondence, in Appellant’s IRA appeal.
From Appellant’s PPP complaint to OSC, which is basis of this IRA appeal:
A(1)-(3) - What information was disclosed, what did it evidence, when made, and to
whom?
Over past ten years, I have repeatedly disclosed information related to violations of law at
the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), regarding its non-discretionary statutory duties to
protect federal employees from prohibited personnel practices (PPPs) and its nondiscretionary statutory duties as a confidential, secure disclosure channel. This includes
letters to Congress, disclosures to OSC, letters to OSC, and federal law suits.
....
The sections of law I allege OSC is violating, in whole or part, include:
5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1) and (g)(2)
5 U.S.C. section 1213(b) and (c) for employees of Tennessee Valley authority and
other wholly-owned government corporations
5 U.S.C. section 1214(a)(1)(A), (a)(1)(C), (a)(1)(D), (a)(2)(A), (a)(4), (b)(2)(A)(i)
and (ii), (b)(2)(D), (e), and requirements of the “termination statement” found in
endnotes of Section 1214, citing Pub. L. 103-424 Section 12(b).
A(4) - What personnel actions resulted? OSC has created, via its decades-long,
continuing law-breaking, “any other significant change in duties, responsibilities or
working conditions,” for me by the Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North. and
Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405 (2006), because its law-breaking and failure to
take any steps to resolve it would dissuade areasonable co-worker from making protected
disclosures to OSC, from engaging in the protected activity of filing a whistleblower
reprisal or other PPP complaint with OSC, or from assisting an OSC investigation.
A(5) - When did the personnel actions or threats occur? Since 1994, when this type of
personnel action was created in law.

7
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4) Explain why you believe that the personnel action occurred because of the disclosures?
I made the disclosures, OSC took no steps to resolve them, most specifically by
requesting the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to issue a binding
opinion on the contested questions of law. Additionally, OSC did its utmost to prevent
their being resolved on their merits via litigation for the ones that were subject to
litigation, and even when the Court found OSC in the wrong in not complying with the
requirements of the “termination statement,” OSC did nothing to correct it.
Singly, and in combination, OSC thereby caused me to experience “any other significant
change in duties, responsibilities or working conditions.”
5) What action would you like OSC to take?
Stop breaking the law and start following it. If there are questions, then request the
Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to review how it is interpreting and
applying the contested sections of law.
Special Counsel Lerner took an oath to well and faithfully discharge the duties of her
office. She apparently subverts that oath, the detriment of the integrity of the federal civil
service in the name of legal ethics. She appears to reason that since OSC is her agency
employer, it is also her client, whose interests she must hold paramount by legal ethics.
This apparently includes doing everything she can to prevent an objective evaluation of
how OSC is interpreting and applying various aspects of its non-discretionary statutory
duties to protect federal employees from PPPs and as a secure, independent, disclosure
channel.
The Administrate Judge fundamentally got the issues of the IRA appeal wrong in stating
on page 1 of the ID:

appellant sought to file an individual right of action (IRA) appeal asserting
that, in retaliation for his protected disclosures (to OSC, about OSC), the
agency (OSC) denied failed or refused to resolve his allegations of
whistleblower retaliation in a timely and objective manner.
What this should be:
appellant sought to file an individual right of action (IRA) appeal asserting
that, in retaliation for his protected disclosures (to OSC, about OSC), the
agency (OSC) denied failed or refused to resolve his (whistleblower
disclosures) allegations of whistleblower retaliation in a timely and objective
8
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manner.
Then the decision should have addressed whether Appellant has “reasonable belief” in his
whistleblower disclosures to and about OSC and whether the failure or refusal of OSC to seek
resolution of Appellant’s claims of OSC decades-long law-breaking at the Office of Legal
Counsel of the Department of Justice was a “personnel action.”
The initial decision did neither, apparently because of the implications about related
MSPB law-breaking. The Administrative Judge should have disqualified himself, per 5 CFR
§1201.13 and 42, because of these implications.
Instead, there is no mention of the specifics of the Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures,
OSC’s alleged reprisal is not its failure to resolve Appellant’s whisteblower disclosures, but
something completely different - to resolve his allegations of whistleblower reprisal.
Reasons this initial decision must be vacated and remanded to an Administrative Law
Judge for adjudication per 5 CFR §1201.13.
1)

Because Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures about systemic OSC law-breaking
implicate systemic MSPB law-breaking in its special studies function.

2)

Because the initial decision failed to mention the specifics of Appellant’s whistleblower
disclosures to OSC about OSC systemic law-breaking, nor whether he has “reasonable
belief” in them.

3)

Because the initial decision is wrong in the facts in claiming Appellant claimed OSC’s
reprisal against Appellant for his making whistleblower disclosures to it about its
systemic law-breaking was its failure or refusal to resolve Appellant’s allegations of
whistleblower reprisal in the Department of Energy, the Appellant’s employing agency.

9
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Instead, Appellant’s IRA claimed it was OSC’s failure or refusal to resolve his
whistleblower disclosures to OSC, about OSC system law-breaking, that was the
retaliatory agency action from which the Appellant sought relief.
4)

Because the case record is under-developed, because OSC did not respond to the Show
Cause Order, just as Appellant suspects it will not respond to this PFR. Had OSC
responded, it would have to address whether Appellant has “reasonable belief” in his
claims of decades-long OSC law-breaking. That is something OSC refuses to do.

For all these reasons, Appellant submits this PFR.
Respectfully,
___________/s/_________________________
Joseph P. Carson, P.E.
Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831

10

Appx141
Pleading Number : 2014070498

Submission date : 2014-08-28 23:14:36

Confirmation Number: 766900170

page 13 of 17

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 120

Filed: 07/15/2016

U.S. MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
1615 M Street, NW
Washington, DC 20419-0001

August 1, 2014

The President
The White House
Washington, D.C. 20500
Re: Section 707 ofthe Veterans Access, Choice, and Accountability Act of2014
Dear Mr. President:
We are writing to express our concern with Section 707 of the Veterans Access, Choice,
and Accountability Act of2014 ("Act"). As you may know, Section 707 prohibits the
undersigned Members of the Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB" or "Board"), sitting as a
three-person panel, from participating in the adjudication of any appeal filed with our agency by
certain employees of the Department of Veterans Affairs.
As the federal agency responsible for adjudicating appeals filed by veterans in connection
with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act and the Veterans
Employment Opportunities Act, and as a small agency that employs more than 20 veterans, we
support and applaud the enactment of any law that seeks to improve conditions for veterans.
We also understand that Section 707 is only one provision of a more comprehensive piece of
legislation, that the Act was approved on a bipartisan basis by Congress, and that a presidential
veto is unlikely. Nevertheless, we feel it is important to share what we believe are very serious
concerns with Section 707.
The MSPB is an independent quasi-judicial agency and part of the executive branch.
Each ofthe undersigned Board members was appointed by you and confirmed by the United
States Senate to adjudicate appeals filed with our agency by federal employees. We believe that
Section 707 which, as noted above, prohibits presidentially-appointed, Senate-confirmed officers
of the executive branch from performing the responsibilities for which those officers were
appointed and confirmed to carry out, is on weak constitutional footing. Indeed, the Supreme
Court has made clear that significant governmental duties, exercised pursuant to public law, must
be performed by "Officers of the United States," within the meaning of Article II of the
Constitution. Moreover, various courts have suggested that Congress is not permitted to infringe
on the right of the executive branch to enforce the laws, nor on the president's appointment or
removal powers with respect to executive branch appointees, once confirmed.
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2
Constitutional concerns aside, we also believe that, once enacted, Section 707 could set a
very dangerous precedent, under which it is viewed permissible for Congress to undermine through must-pass legislation similar to the Act- the ability of presidentially-appointed, Article
II Officers of the United States to carry out the mission of the agency to which they were
appointed to lead.
Again, we understand that this is one provision of a more comprehensive piece of
legislation, and more importantly, understand the sensitive nature of any legislation seeking to
improve conditions for veterans. However, we hope that you will consider these concerns, and
also the possible long-term impact of such a provision oflaw on your office.

Respectfuliy,

Susan Tsui Grundmann
Chairman

Anne M. Wagner
Vice Chairman

Mark A. Robbins
Member
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have served the agency’s representative,
Pamela Gault, with a copy of the within and foregoing pleading by email at
pgault@osc.gov. The Agency’s Representative has requested she be so served.
Appellant also served her by US mail, placed in the mail stream on August 28,
2014:
OSC
Attn: Pamela Gault
1730 M. St, NW
Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036
Date: August 28, 2014
_________/s/_______
Joseph Carson, PE
Appellant
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Certificate Of Service

e-Appeal has handled service of the assembled pleading to MSPB only.
Name & Address
MSPB: Atlanta Regional office

Documents
PFR of Initial Decision

Method of Service
e-Appeal / e-Mail

I agree to send a printed copy of the electronic pleading with attachments to all parties by the
end of next business day, as follows:
Name & Address
Documents
Pamela Gault
PFR of Initial Decision
Agency Representative
Office of Special Counsel
Associate General Counsel for
Litigation 1730 M Street, N.W., Suite
201
Washington, DC 20036-4505
USA

Method of Service
US Postal Mail
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Reply to Agency's Response to PFR
Summary Page
Case Title : JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket Number : AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Pleading Title : Reply to Agency's Response to PFR
Filer's Name : Joseph P. Carson
Filer's Pleading Role : Appellant
Details about the supporting documentation
N/A
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-14-0620-W-1
Reply to Agency's Response to PFR
Online Interview
1. Would you like to enter the text online or upload a file containing the pleading?
See attached pleading text document

2. Does your pleading assert facts that you know from your personal knowledge?
No
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket No.
)
)AT-1221-14-0620-W-1

Appellant

)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)
)
)
)

Agency

APPELLANT’S REPLY TO AGENCY’S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW
Appellant timely submits a reply to the Agency’s response of September 22, 2014 to his
petition for review of the initial decision, dated July 25, 2014.
1) The Agency’s response was not prepared and submitted by a designated individual.
Mr. Weidenfeld is not designated to represent the Agency, only Pamela Gault is. The Board’s
Acknowledgment Order, pages 2 and 7, directed the Agency to inform the Board and Appellant if
there were any changes to its designated representative. The Agency’s response should be
disregarded.
2) The Agency makes false argument that Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures to the
Agency, about the Agency’s law-breaking, are equivalent to other whistleblower
disclosures it receives per 5 U.S.C. §1213.
1
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OSC’s falsely equates Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures to it about its law-breaking,
which were made in a variety of ways, with whistleblower disclosures it receives from other
agency employees about their agency’s law-breaking. That argument is irrelevant to this appeal
in which the Appellant made whistleblower disclosures to OSC, about OSC’s law-breaking, in a
variety of methods.
OSC’s actual argument, consistent with it decades-long, law-breaking ways, is that
federal agencies can, just as it does, refuse or fail to resolve whistleblower disclosures made to
them about their law-breaking, without creating “any other significant change in working
conditions” for the employee who made the whistleblower disclosure.
OSC is really asking the Merit Systems Protection Board to find that agencies can refuse
or fail to resolve whistleblower disclosures made about their law-breaking without creating “any
other significant change in working conditions” for the concerned employee. Apparently, there
is no precedent about this question of law, which just further indicts OSC. This is because if
OSC were not decades-long, law-breaking, civilization-threatening, fraud of a federal agency,
then it would have established such relevant case law at the Board, beginning right after this new
type of personnel action was created in 1994.
Finally, if this Board were not OSC’s decades-long, law-breaking, civilizationthreatening, enabler, then it would have done its statutorily mandated special studies of OSC and
exposed its law-breaking, civilization-threatening, ways - decades ago. Since the Board will not
do its lawful duty, the Appellant has taken it upon himself. He hopes the result will “move the
needle” in the positive direction for the chances of civilization reaching the year 2100 more-or2
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less intact.
Respectfully,
___________/s/_________________________
Joseph P. Carson, P.E.
Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have served the agency’s only designated
representative, Pamela Gault, with a copy of the within and foregoing pleading by
email at pgault@osc.gov. The Agency’s Representative has requested she be so
served.
Appellant also served her by US mail, placed in the mail stream on September 29,
2014:
OSC
Attn: Pamela Gault
1730 M. St, NW
Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036
Date: September 27, 2014
_________/s/_______
Joseph Carson, PE
Appellant
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Certificate Of Service

e-Appeal has handled service of the assembled pleading to MSPB only.
Name & Address
MSPB: Office of the Clerk of the
Board

Documents
Reply to Agency's
Response to PFR

Method of Service
e-Appeal / e-Mail

I agree to send a printed copy of the electronic pleading with attachments to all parties by the
end of next business day, as follows:
Name & Address
Documents
Pamela Gault
Reply to Agency's
Agency Representative
Response to PFR
Office of Special Counsel
Associate General Counsel for
Litigation 1730 M Street, N.W., Suite
201
Washington, DC 20036-4505
USA

Method of Service
US Postal Mail
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MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
Appeal Form--Appellant and Agency Information
OMB No. 3124-0009

Please type or print legibly.
1. Name (last, first, middle initial)

Carson, Joseph, P.
2. Present Address (number and street, city, state, and zip code)
You must notify the Board in writing of any change in your mailing address while your appeal is pending.
Address:
10953 Twin Harbour Drive

Knoxville, Tennessee, 37934, United States of America

City, State, Zip Code:

3. Telephone numbers (include area code) and E-Mail Address
You must notify the Board in writing of any change in your telephone number(s) or e-mail address while your appeal is pending.

(865) 675-0236
Fax: (865) 966-1675
E-mail Address: jpcarson@tds.net

(865) 300-5831
Cell: (865) 300-5831

Home:

Work:

Other Phone Type:

Mobile

4. Do you wish to designate an individual or organization to represent you in this proceeding before the Board? (You may designate a
representative at any time. However, the processing of your appeal will not normally be delayed because of any difficulty you may
have in obtaining a representative.)

Yes

✔

No

5. Name, address, and telephone number of the agency that took the action or made the decisions you are appealing (include bureau
or division, street address, city, State and Zip code)

Office of Special Counsel

Agency Name:

Bureau:
Address:

1730 M. St, NW
Suite 218
Washington, District of Columbia, 20036, United States of America
(202) 254-3600

City, State, Zip code:
Agency Phone:

6. Your Federal employment status at the time of the decision

7. Type of appointment (if applicable):

or action you are appealing:

Temporary

✔

Term
None

Permanent

Applicant

Retired

Seasonal

✔

Competitive

SES

Postal Service

Other

8. Your occupational series, position title, grade, and duty station at the time of the
decision or action you are appealing (if applicable):
Position Title:
Occupational Series

GS-801

or Cluster:
Grade or Pay Band: 14

Duty Station:

10. Length of Government Service (if applicable):

Excepted

9. Are you entitled to veteran's preference?
See 5 U.S.C. 2108.

Facility Representative

✔

Yes

No

Oak Ridge, TN
11. Were you serving a probationary, trial, or initial service period at
the time of the action or decision you are appealing?

30

Years

0

Months

Yes
Appx154

✔

No
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MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
Appeal Form--Appellant and Agency Information
Please type or print legibly.
HEARING: You may have a right to a hearing before an administrative judge. If you elect not to have a hearing, the
administrative judge will make a decision on the basis of the submissions of the parties. Do you want a hearing?
12. Do you want a hearing?

✔

Yes

No

E-Filing: Registration as an e-filer enables you to file any or all of your pleadings with the Board in electronic form. Registration
also means you consent to accept service of all pleadings filed by other registered e-filers and all documents issued by the
Board in electronic form. You will receive these as PDF documents at the e-mail address you provided the Board. If registered
as
an e-filer, you may file any pleading, or portion of a pleading, by non-electronic means. You can withdraw your registration as
an
wish to register as an E-Filer in this appeal?
13. Doatyou
e-filer
any time.
✔ I elect to E-File
I decline to E-File
14. I certify that all of the statements made in this form and all attached forms are true, complete, and correct to

the best of my knowledge and belief.

Joseph P. Carson, Appellant

Date:
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e-Appeal Attachment Transmittal
Appeal Number:
Appellant Name:
Agency Name:

201406122
Mr. Joseph P. Carson
Office of Special Counsel

Please check the box for each document included with this transmittal.
Name of Attachment

Attachment Processing Status

File Name/Delivery Method

Drafted Appeal File

Upload with e-Appeal

ira-appeal-osc-b9.pdf

2 copies must be submitted of all documents submitted in hardcopy.
Send documents to be submitted in paper form to:
Atlanta Regional Office
401 W. Peachtree Street, NW. Suite 1050
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
United States of America
Phone: (404) 730-2751
Fax: (404) 730-2767
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Joe Carson, PE, IRA reprisal complaint against Special Counsel Carolyn Lerner, Esq, and Office
of Special Counsel, per 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii) and §2302(b)(9)(A)(I), October 22, 2014.
Part 2, Block 16 - Personnel Action Appealed
Mr. Carson alleges Special Counsel Lerner and the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) have
willfully refused or failed to comply with a large number of its statutory duties to protect him
from agency reprisal in its investigation and closure of his whistleblower reprisal complaints to
it, OSC file Nos. MA-13-4245 and MA-14-0892.
He contends OSC’s law-breaking failure or refusal to protect him from reprisal in these instances
was a personnel action per 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), “any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions,” because “it might well dissuade a reasonable coworker
from making a protected disclosure or seeking OSC’s protection from whistleblower reprisal,”
see Shivaee v. Department. of Navy, 74 MSPR 383, 388 (1997), Supreme Court precedent in
Burlington North & Santa Fe Railway. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405, 2415 (2006), and
Mogenhan v. Napolitano, 613 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C. Cir. 2010).
He contends that OSC violated, in whole or part, the following laws in its processing of one or
both of these complaints:
5 U.S.C. section 1214(a)(1)(A), (a)(1)(C), (a)(1)(D), (a)(2)(A), (a)(4), (b)(2)(A)(i) and
(ii), (b)(2)(D), (e), and requirements of the “termination statement” found in endnotes of
Section 1214, citing Pub. L. 103-424 Section 12(b).
He contends OSC’s law-breaking is retaliatory, a violation of 5 U.S.C. §2302(b)(9)(A)(i), taken
in response to his seeking its protection from his employing agency’s whistleblower reprisal ultimately for his making whistleblower disclosures about OSC’s decades-long, compounded
(with MSPB’s), civilization-threatening law-breaking.
Part 2, Block 17 - No negotiated grievance has been filed of Mr. Carson’s claims of
whistleblower reprisal against Special Counsel Lerner or OSC.
Part 2, Block 18 - OSC closed its investigation of Mr. Carson’s complaint on September 22,
2014 without seeking corrective action on his behalf. A copy of Mr. Carson’s complaint and all
subsequent correspondence about it is attached.

1
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(202) 254-3600 I (202) 254-3670 I (800) 872-9855

~

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE
OR
OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

(Please print legibly or type and complete all pertinent items. Enter "NIA" (Not Applicable) or "Unknown" where appropriate. (If more space is

needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

~ROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRA
·on ("Complainant"):

______
Mr. (

··r>vrJ

®)

-------

Ms. ( 0)

Mrs. ( 0)

Miss ( 0

___

)

(Home)
(Office) Ext.
Fax number:
E-mail address:
representative of the Complainant, please supply the following information:

7. If you are filing this complaint as a legal or

A

Mr.(

Name and title o f f #

0)

Mrs.( 0)

Ms.( 0)

Miss(

0)

Address:
Telephone number(s):

Fax number:

------------------·)

(Home)
(Office) Ext.

---------------------

E-mail address: -------------------:----:-:--:--:--~---::-:-::-::::::;;--;;;:=;:-:=;---8. Are you (or is the Complainant, if you are filing as a representative) covered by a collective bargaining agreement? (Check one.)

~Yes

( 0)

(0) No

I don'tknow

9. How did you first become aware that you could file a complaint with OSC?

( 0)
( 0)

OSC Web site
NewsStory

( 0) Other (please describe):

( 0)
( 0)

OSC Speaker

( 0) OSC Brochure

Agency Personnel Office

(W> Union

( 0 ) OSC Poster
( 0 ) Co-worker

-------------v-::::::-----------------------------Date (approximate): -'-/(._.9:?_·_;7:~::2~---------------------

Appx158

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 137

Filed: 07/15/2016

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

Page 2 of 12

~

10. What is the employm~nt status of the person affected by the suspected prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity?
(Check all anpltcable tfems. more than one ifem rna¥ aoof.v.)

••

a.

) Applicant for Federal employment

P() Competitive Service

b.

(
(
c.

) temporaryappointment
) term appointment

('f )

career or career-conditional appointment
(" \) probationary employee

) Excepted Service
) ScheduleA
) Schedule B
) Schedule C
) National Guard Technician
) Non-appropriated Fund

d.

(
(
(
(
(

) PostaiService
) TennesseeValley Authority
) VA Dept. of Medicine and Surgery
) Veterans Readjustment Act (VRA)
) Other (Specify)

) SeniorExecutive Service (SES), Supergrade, or Executive Level
(
(
(
(

e. (

) career SES
) noncareer SES
) career GS-16, 17, or 18
) noncareer GS-16, 17, or18

(
(
(

) Executive Level V or above (career) fund
) Executive Level V or above (noncareer)
) Presidentialappointee (Senate-confirmed)

) Other
) civilservice annuitant
) formercivil service employee
) competitive service
) excepted service

) militaryofficer or enlisted person
) contract employee
) other(specify):
--------------)unknown

11. What other action(s), if any, have you taken to appeal, grieve, or report this matter under any other procedure?( Check all that

1

(-){)
(
)
(
)

t0

~LY,'¢/

None, or not applicable
Appeal filed with Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
Petition for reconsideration of initial decision filed with MSPB
Initial Decision No.

Date:
Date: - - - - - - - - - - Date: - - - - - - - - - - - -

USERRA claim filed with VETS (Department of Labor)
(Form VETS/USERRANP-1010)

Date: - - - - - - - - - - -

Grievance filed under agency grievance procedure
Grievance filed under negotiated grievance procedure
Matter heard by arbitrator under grievance procedure
Matter is pending in arbitration
Discrimination complaint filed with agency
Agency or Administrative Judge (AJ) decision on discrimination complaint appealed
to Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
Appeal filed with Office of Personnel Management
Unfair labor practice (ULP) complaint filed with Federal Labor Relations Authority
General Counsel

Date: - - - - - - - - - - - Date: - - - - - - - - - - - Date: - - - - - - - - - - - Date: - - - - - - - - - - - Date: - - - - - - - - - - - -

------------------

Lawsuit filed in Federal Court
Court name:
Reported matter to ag_e_n-cy-.-ln-s-pe-c""'t_o_rG,.,..-e..,..ne.,..r""ari- - - - - - - - - - - - Reported matter to member of Congress
Name of Senator or Representative: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Other (specify):

-----------------------------------Appx159
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COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
~

Page J of 12

12. What official is responsible for the violation(s) that you are reporting, and what is his/her employment status?
(See question 10 for appropriate description of employment status. If space is needed to identify more than
one official, use Conti uation heet at page 12.)
Name:

13. What are the actions or events that you are reporting to OSC? (To the extent known, specifically list: (a) any
suspected prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity, other than reprisal for whistleblowing: and
(b) any personnel actions involved. (IF YOU ARE ALLEGING REPRISAL FOR WHISTLEBLOWING, SKIP TO
PART 2 ON THE NEXT P GE. )

14. Provide details of the actions or events shown in your response to question 13. (Be as specific as possible
about dates, locations, and the identities and positions of all persons mentioned. In particular, identify actual
and potential witnesses, giving work locations and telephone numbers when possible. Also, attach any
pertinent documents that you may have. Please provide. if possible. a copv of the notification of the agencv's
proposal and/or decision about the personnel action(s) covered bv your request for OSC action. If more
space is needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)
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Joe Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Special Counsel Carolyn Lerner, Esq,
per 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii) and §2302(b)(9)(A)(i).
Part I
Block 13 - What are actions or events you are appealing to OSC.
I allege OSC has willfully refused or failed to comply with a large number of its statutory duties
to protect me from agency reprisal in its investigation and closure of my whistleblower reprisal
complaints to it, OSC file Nos. MA-13-4245 and MA-14-0892.
I contend OSC's law-breaking failure or refusal to protect me from reprisal in these instances
was a personnel action per 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), "any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions," because "it might well dissuade a reasonable coworker
from making a protected disclosure or seeking OSC's protection from whistleblower reprisal,"
see Shivaee v. Department. of Navy, 74 MSPR 383, 388 (I 997), Supreme Court precedent in
Burlington North & Santa Fe Railway. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405,2415 (2006), and
Mogenhan v. Napolitano, 613 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C. Cir. 2010).
I contend that OSC violated, in whole or part, the following laws in its processing of one or both
of these complaints:

5 U.S.C. section 1214(a)(I)(A), (a)(l)(C), (a)(I)(D), (a)(2)(A), (a)(4), (b)(2)(A)(i) and
(ii), (b)(2)(D), (e), and requirements of the "termination statement" found in endnotes of
Section 1214, citing Pub. L. 103-424 Section 12(b).
I contend OSC's law-breaking is retaliatory, a violation of 5 U.S.C. §2302(b)(9)(A)(i), taken in

response to my seeking its protection from my employing agency's reprisal - for making
protected disclosures about OSC's decades-long, compounded (with MSPB's), civilizationthreatening law-breaking.
Block 14- Provide details of actions or events shown in response to question 13.
I filed whistleblower reprisal complaints with OSC, in reprisal for my doing so, OSC failed or
refused to comply with a large number of its statutory duties to protect me in investigating and
closing my complaints.

Block 15 - What action would you like OSC to take in this matter?
Follow the Jaw in investigating my whistleblower reprisal complaints! Do yo.ur l~wful duty to
protect me from my employing agency's unlawful reprisal- don't compound It With your own
retaliatory law-breaking!

1

Appx161

Case: 15-3135

r-'\

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 140

Filed: 07/15/2016

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
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Routine Uses. Limited disclosure of information from OSC files is needed to fulfill OSC's
investigative, prosecutorial, and related responsibilities. OSC has described 18 routine uses for
information in its files in the Federal Register (F.R.), at 66 F.R. 36611 (July 12, 2001), and 66 F.R.
51095 (October 5, 2001 ). A copy of the routine uses is available from OSC upon request. A
summary of the routine uses appears below.
OSC may disclose informatiofTom its files in the following circumstances:
r-'\

1. to disclose that an allegation of prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity has been
filed;
2. to disclose information to the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) as needed for inquiries
involving civil service laws, rules or regulations, or to obtain an advisory opinion;
3. to disclose information about allegations or complaints of discrimination to entities
concerned with enforcement of antidiscrimination laws;
4. to the MSPB or the President, when seeking disciplinary action;
5. to the involved agency, MSPB, OPM, or the President when OSC has reason to
believe that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken;
6. to disclose information to Congress in OSC's annual report;
7. to disclose information to third parties as needed to conduct an investigation; obtain an
agency investigation and report on information disclosed to OSC's whistleblower disclosure
channel; or to give notice of the status or outcome of an investigation;
8. to disclose information as needed to obtain information about hiring or retention of an employee;
issuance of a security clearance; conduct of a security or suitability investigation; award of a
contract; or issuance of a license, grant, or other benefit;
9. to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for certain legislative coordination and
clearance purposes;
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-------·----------"]
-------~~RTAIN DISCLOSURES OF INFORMATION
____
____
_I
OSC asks everyone who files a complaint alleging a possible prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity to
select one of three Consent Statements shown below. IF YOU DO NOT SELECT ONE OF THE THREE CONSENT
STATEMEN.TS BELOJ& OSC WILL ASSUME THAT you HAVE SELECTED CONSENT STATEMENT 1 Please: (a)
select and s1gn (or check, if filing electronically) one of the Consent Statements below; and (b) keep a copy of the Consent
Staten:'~~t you select (as well as a copy of all documents that you send to OSC) for your own records.
If you 1n1t1ally select a Consent Statement that restricts OSC's use of information, you may later select a less restrictive
Cons~nt ~tatement. If your selection of Consent Statement 2 or 3 prevents OSC from being able to conduct an
mvest1gat1on, an OSC representative will contact you, explain the circumstances and provide you with an opportunity to
select a less restrictive Consent Statement.
'
You should be aware that the Privacy Act allows information in OSC case files to be used or disclosed for certain purposes,
reg.ardless of which Consent Statement you sign. See 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b). Information about certain circumstances under
wh1ch OSC can use or disclose information under the Privacy Act appears on the next page.

(Please sign one)

Consent Statement 1
with the agency involved in my complaint. I agree to allow OSC to disclose my identity as
rom or about me, to the agency if OSC decides that such disclo ure is needed to

I consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved in my complaint, but I do not agree to allow OSC to disc~ose
my identity as the complainant to that agency. I agree to allow OSC to disclose only information from or about me, Without
disclosing my name or other identifying information, if OSC decides that such disclosure is needed. to investig~te the
allegation(s) in my complaint (for example, to request information from the agency, or seek a poss1bl~ ~esolut1on throu~h
mediation or corrective action). I understand that in some circumstances (for example, if I am compla1~mg about my fa1lure
to receive a promotion), OSC could not maintain my anonymity while communicating with the agency mvolved about~
specific personnel action. In such cases, I understand that this request for confidentiality might prevent OSC fro~ takmg
further action on my complaint. I also understand that regardless of the Consent Statement I choose, o.sc n:'ay disclose
information from my complaint file when permitted by the Privacy Act (including circumstances summanzed 1n Part 5,
below).

Date Signed

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 2

Consent Statement 3

nm

1 do
consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved i~ my con:'plaint. I understand that if OSC deci~es that it
cannot investigate the allegation(s) in my complaint without commun1catmg With that agency, my lack of consent Will
t
1
probably prevent OSC from taking further action on the complaint. I under~tand that reg~rdless of ~he C~nse~t Statem~~s
choose, OSC may disclose information from my complaint file when perm1tted by the Pnvacy Act (mcludmg Clrcumstan
~.summarized in Part 5, below).

Date Signed

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 3
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505

June 24, 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
I 0953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-3346

This will acknowledge receipt of the above-referenced complaint. In the near future, a member of our
staff may contact you to discuss this matter if any additional information is needed to consider this case.
Please provide the telephone number where you wish to be contacted, if you have not already done so. For
overseas telephone numbers please include country codes; we do not have access to Autovon.
If you wish to write to us again concerning this matter, please include the file number listed above.
We can also be reached by telephone at 202-254-3600 or on our toll-free number at 1-800-872-9855. Your
contact at the Office of Special Counsel is Shirine Moazed. Enclosed is OSC's policy statement concerning
the disclosure of information, which includes a disclosure consent form. If you do not sign and return one of
the three consent statement options on the consent form to OSC within 20 days of the date of this letter, it
will be assumed that you agree to Consent Statement I.
~

If this complaint alleges a violation of the prohibited personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C. §
2302(b)(8), commonly called reprisal for whistleblowing, a separate information sheet is included with this
letter which includes answers to commonly asked questions and discusses the right to file a request for
corrective action with the Merit Systems Protection Board. The Board's regulations concerning rights to file
a corrective action case can be found at 5 C.P.R. Parts 1201-1205 and 1209.
In addition to protecting whistleblowers from retaliation, OSC also provides whistleblowers a safe
channel to make disclosures of wrongdoing in order to bring about institutional change. Note that filing a
"disclosure" complaint is a distinct process from filing a retaliation claim. Unlike a retaliation complaint, a
"disclosure" claim does not focus on resolving personnel decisions. Rather, it triggers a process to address
wrongdoing in a federal agency involving a violation of a law, rule or regulation; gross mismanagement; a
gross waste of funds; an abuse of authority; or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. 5
U.S.C. Section 1213.

("\

lfOSC finds that a disclosure ofwrongdoing is substantially likely to be true, OSC requires the head
of the responsible agency to conduct an investigation and issue a public report, and include in that report any
remedial actions planned or undertaken to address the concerns raised by the whistleblower. The
whistleblower may comment on the agency's report, after which the Special Counsel issues a determination
to the President and Congress whether the agency report appears reasonable. (The whistleblower's comments
and OSC's determination are posted on OSC's website.) A disclosure claim may be filed either on-line using
OSC Form 12 (E-File button), via fax numbers 202-254-3711, or mail: Office of Special Counsel, 1730 M
Street, N.W., Suite 218, Washington, DC 20036. One may use either OSC Form 12 (Whistleblower
Disclosure), or submit a disclosure in writing to us without using the form. (Note that when a disclosure is
pending before an IG, OSC will typically defer to the IG's investigation.)

I

'

Please bear in mind that each year OSC receives a large number of complaints concerning prohibited
personnel practices. While we attempt to handle all cases as expeditiously as is possible, we generally
process them in the order received.
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505
202-254-3600

AUG 2 1 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-3346
Dear Mr. Carson:
This letter is in response to a complaint you filed with the U.S. Office of Special
Counsel (OSC). You alleged that OSC's Special Counsel Carolyn Lerner retaliated against
you in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i) by closing two complaints you filed, MA-134245 and MA-14-0892. You also alleged that "OSC's law-breaking failure or refusal to
protect" you from reprisal constituted a significant change in your duties, responsibilities, or
working conditions because "it might well dissuade a reasonable coworker from making a
protected disclosure or seeking OSC's protection from whistleblower reprisal." As explained
below, we are closing your case without further action.
As an employee of the U.S. Department of Energy, the Special Counsel does not have
personnel action authority with respect to your allegations that she retaliated against you.
OSC therefore lacks jurisdiction under 5 U.S.C. § 2302.
In light of the foregoing, we plan to close our file. We will delay our final decision for
13 calendar days from the date of this letter to allow you to submit written comments about
our decision. If you would like to comment on our decision, you may send them to me at the
above-listed address. If we do not hear from you in 13 days, we will close our file in this
matter and notify you in writing of additional rights you may have, including a right to file an
individual right of action (IRA) appeal with the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
under the procedures set forth at 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(3) and 1221 and 5 C.F.R. Part 1209.

Barbara Whe er
Chief,
Complaints Examining Unit
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September 2, 20 14
Ms. Barbara Wheeler, OSC
1730 M. St, NW Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036
Via: fax and email
Subject: OSC file no. MA-14-3346, my comments on pre-determination letter of August 21, 2014
Dear Ms. Wheeler,
In my opinion, your pre-determination letter fails or refuses to comply with relevant law at 5 U.S.C.
§ 1214(a)( 1)(D) in that it misstates my contentions against Ms. Lerner and OSC, which are that OSC
failed to comply with a number of its non-discretionary statutory duties in investigating and closing the
two whistleblower reprisal complaints in question. That is the basis of my claim that she and OSC failed
to do their non-discretionary statutory duty to protect me, apparently in unlawful reprisal for my filing
the whistleblower reprisal complaints at OSC.
I do not claim that OSC's closing of the complaints, in and of itself, was unlawful reprisal -1 claim that
OSC's failure to comply with a number of its non-discretionary statutory duties as an investigatory
agency in investigating and closing my complaints is unlawful reprisal.
Vis-a-vis your claim that OSC is unable to take a personnel action against me, the initial decision in
Carson v. OSC, MSPB docket no. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1, does not determine that, it indicates that OSC
could take a personnel action against me, depending on the circumstances.
I have attached this initial decision and my PFR of it.
Because any OSC systemic law-breaking implicates MSPB law-breaking in not performing mandated
"special studies" of OSC interpretation and application of those duties, if OSC does not request the
Office of Legal Counsel review and issue its opinion on the laws 1 claim OSC has been violating, I
expect the associated IRA appeal at MSPB will be heard by an ALJ, per 5 C.F.R. §1201.13.
I note, with concern, that your letter does not address whether I have "reasonable belief'' in my claims of
OSC law-breaking in its investigation and closure of the two whistleblower reprisal complaints. l believe
the law requires OSC to tell me its determination as to whether I have "reasonable belief'' in my
contentions if OSC terminates its investigation of my complaint.

Respectfully,

- - -Is/- - -

Joseph Carson, PE
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831 jpcarson@tds.net
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September 10, 2104
Ms. Barbara Wheeler
Office of Special Counsel (OSC)
bwheeler@osc.gov
Subject: Additional comments on OSC file no. MA-14-3346, where I allege Special Counsel
Lerner is engaging in reprisal against me for my protected activities at OSC.
Dear Ms. Wheeler,
As I understand the law, my complaint against Ms. Lerner must be referred to the Integrity
Committee of the Council of Inspectors General for Integrity and Efficiency for handling, similar
to how OSC file no. MA-14-1063 was processed.
So, I would appreciate being informed why OSC is apparently not following the law in its
processing of my reprisal complaint against Ms. Lerner. It strikes me as additional unlawful
reprisal that Ms. Lerner and OSC do not follow the law in processing my reprisal complaint
against her.
Respectfully,

Is/- - -

Joseph Carson, PE
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505
202-254-3600

Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-3346

D~ar Mr. Carson:
On August 21, 2014, the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) sent you a letter explaining
the reasons why we planned to take no further action on your complaint against OSC. In our
letter we notified you that you had 13 days to respond to us with any written comments. You
submitted comments in response to our August 21, 2014 letter. We reviewed your
comments, but they do not provide us with a basis to change our determination. Special
Counsel Carolyn Lerner does not have personnel action authority with respect to your
allegations and did not take a personnel action against you. Thus, we have closed our file in
this matter.

(/~--

Barbara Wheeler
Chief
Complaints Examining Unit .
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505

Mr. Joseph Carson
I 0953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 3 7934

Re: OSC File No. MA-14-3346
Dear Mr. Carson:
The purpose of this letter is to notify you that you may have a right to seek corrective
action from the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB). 1 As we informed you in our closure
letter of this date, we have terminated our inquiry into your allegations that, Ms. Carolyn Lerner,
Special Counsel for the U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC), retaliated against you in violation
of5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i) by closing two complaints you filed, MA-13-4245 and MA-140892. You also alleged that "OSC's law-breaking failure or refusal to protect" you from reprisal
constituted a significant change in your duties, responsibilities, or working conditions because "it
might well dissuade a reasonable coworker from making a protected disclosure or seeking OSC's
protection from whistleblower reprisal."

~.

Because you alleged that you were the victim of the prohibited personnel practice
described in section 2302(b)(8) or (b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or (D), commonly called reprisal, you
may have the following rights. You may seek corrective action from the Merit Systems Protection
Board (MSPB) under the provisions of 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(3) and 1221 (individual right of
action) for any personnel action taken or proposed to be taken against you because of a protected
disclosure that was the subject of your complaint to this office. You may file a request for
corrective action with the MSPB within 65 days after the date of this letter. The Merit Systems
Protection Board regulations concerning rights to file an individual right of action with the Board
can be found at 5 C.F.R., part 1209. If you choose to file such an appeal you should submit this
letter to the Board as part of your appeal. Therefore, it is important that you keep the
accompanying letter if you intend to file a request for corrective action with the MSPB. For
additional information on how to file an appeal with the MSPB, please visit: www.mspb.gov.

~-ce_r_el~y_,_____
~~- ?:1:

Barbara J. Wheeler
Chief
Complaints Examining Unit

1

Although an appellant bringing·an individual right of action (IRA) appeal to the MSPB must show
that he or she has exhausted OSC procedures, OSC's decision to close its investigation may not be
considered in an IRA appeal. See 5 U.S.C. § 1221(f)(2); Bloom v. Dep't ofthe Army, 101 M.S.P.R. 79,
~ 10 (2006). The MSPB may order an appellant to submit a copy ofOSC's determination letter, but the
order must contain an explanation of why the letter is necessary and give the appellant the opportunity to
consent. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(2)(B); Bloom, 101 M.S.P.R. 79, at~ 10.
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October 17, 2014
Ms. Barbara Wheeler
U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M St, NW, Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036-4505
Via: Mail and email <bwheeler@osc.gov>
Subject: OSC File no. MA-14-3346; requests for responses to "reasonable questions" per the
"termination statement" of the "endnotes" of 5 U.S.C. section 1214
Dear Ms. Wheeler,
In response to your letter of September 22, 2014, closing this complaint, I request, per Special
Counsel's non-discretionary statutory duty, per section 12(b) of Pub. L. 103-424 (codified in the
"notes" at end of Section 1214), responses to the following reasonable questions about the
investigation or review Special Counsel conducted, the relevant facts ascertained by the Special
Counsel and the law applicable to my allegations.
1) In OSC's determination, do I have "reasonable belief' in my claims of OSC's law-breaking in
my PPP complaint?
2) Why was my PPP complaint not referred to the Integrity Committee o the Council of
Inspectors General?
3) Upon what basis in law does OSC claim it cannot commit a personnel action against me, when
MSPB has found that non-employing agencies can commit personnel actions against federal
employees? (See Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 MSPR 221 ~ 10 (2010).
4) Ms. Wheeler, as a licensed attorney who has an attorney-client relationship with OSC do you
understand your duty to protect OSC, your client, from exposure of its possible law-breaking
trumps your duty to implement the laws you are entrusted, as a lawyer employed by OSC, to
faithfully implement to protect me?
5) Does the final, unappealed (by OSC) decision in Carson v. OSC, 06-1833 (D.D.C. September
27, 2007) that found OSC in violation of its requirements by the "termination statement" have
any relevance to your apparent position that your "attorney-client" relationship with OSC trumps
your duty to implement the laws you are responsible to faithfully implement to protect me? This
decision is attached, its Westlaw cite is 514 F.Supp.2d 54.
Res pee tfull y,
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Joseph Carson, PE
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knox ville, TN 3 7934
865-300-5831
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: October 28, 2014

ACKNOWLEDGMENT ORDER
This office has received the appellant’s individual right of action (IRA)
appeal. A copy of the appeal is being sent to the agency with this Order. I am
the administrative judge assigned to this appeal.
I ORDER the parties to follow the procedures set out in the separate
notices below. If any party fails to follow my orders or the Board’s regulations, I
may impose sanctions pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.43.

If either party has a

question regarding any aspect of the case processing instructions set forth in this
order, he or she may seek clarification from me at the phone number listed under
my signature at the end of this order.
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT
INTRODUCTION
If your appeal is timely filed, and within the Board’s jurisdiction, you have
the right to a hearing on the merits of your case. If you requested a hearing, I
will schedule a hearing for you. If you did not request a hearing, you have 10
calendar days from the date of this Order to file a written request for one. If you
do not request a hearing, you waive your right to one. In that event, you and the
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2
agency will be given an opportunity to make written submissions before the
record on your appeal closes.
DESIGNATION OF REPRESENTATIVE
You may name a representative. If you already have a representative, you
must fill out the enclosed “Designation of Representative” form and file it with
the Board and with the agency within 10 calendar days of the date of this Order
unless you have included your representative’s name, address, telephone number,
and signature in your appeal. If your representative has filed the appeal for you
and you have not personally signed the appeal or submitted a signed “Designation
of Representative” form, you also must file a signed “Designation of
Representative Form” with the Board and with the agency within 10 calendar
days of the date of this Order. If you name a representative after receiving this
Order, fill out the enclosed “Designation of Representative” form and file it with
the Board and the agency immediately after obtaining your representative.
You must immediately notify the Board and the agency in writing of any
changes in the name, address, or telephone number of your designated
representative.
If you register as an e-filer (see information below), you can use electronic
filing to file a Designation of Representative, or to notify the Board of a change
in contact information.
SETTLEMENT
I have directed the agency to contact you within 35 calendar days of the
date of this Order to define the issues, agree to stipulations, and discuss the
possibility of settlement. I am available to assist in the discussions. You must
discuss concrete, specific settlement proposals with the agency unless either party
concludes in good faith that no compromise of any kind is possible. You must
also be prepared to discuss with me the status of your settlement discussions.
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3
If you agree to settle your appeal, and you enter the agreement into the
record, the Board will retain the authority to enforce its terms. However, if you
do not enter the agreement into the record, the Board will have no authority to
enforce the agreement.
DISCOVERY
Discovery is the procedure you may use to learn of any facts, documents,
or other evidence the agency has that may be helpful to your case. If you wish to
engage in discovery, initial requests or motions must be served on the other party
within 30 calendar days of the date of this Order. Unless you are filing a motion
to compel, you must not submit your discovery requests and responses to the
Board. If you do, they will be rejected and returned to you. The procedures used
for discovery are at 5 C.F.R. §§ 1201.71-.85.
You may request that I waive the time limits for discovery set forth at
5 C.F.R. § 1201.73(d) in order to accommodate the particular circumstances of
your appeal. The Board expects all parties to assist in the expeditious processing
of this case by honoring requests for relevant documents and producing material
witnesses without additional Board intervention.
The regulations require that the parties attempt to resolve a discovery
dispute before filing a motion to compel with me. Thus, the party who disputes
the other’s compliance must discuss the anticipated motion with the other party,
and they both must make a good faith effort to resolve the dispute and narrow
their disagreement.

They must also include with any motion a statement

indicating that they have complied with this requirement.

5 C.F.R.

§ 1201.73(c)(1).
RESPONSE TO MOTIONS
You may file a response or objection to any motion filed by the agency.
Unless otherwise specified by me or the Board’s regulations, your response or
objection must be filed with this office and served upon the agency within 10
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calendar days of the date that appears on the agency’s certificate of service. I will
reject any untimely response or objection unless you show good cause for the
delay in filing.
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
FILING PLEADINGS WITH THE MSPB
A “pleading” is any written submission setting out claims, allegations,
arguments,

or

evidence.

Pleadings

include

briefs,

motions,

petitions,

attachments, and responses. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.4(b). Pleadings can be filed via
postal mail, facsimile (fax), personal or commercial delivery, or in electronic
format via e-Appeal Online (https://e-appeal.mspb.gov/). Pursuant to 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.26, all pleadings filed with the Board must meet the following
requirements:
(1) All pleadings must be legible and either printed on 8½ by 11 inch paper,
or formatted so that they will print on 8½ by 11 inch paper.
(2) All pleadings must be filed by the date set by me or the Board’s
regulations. The date of filing is the date your submission is postmarked,
faxed, the date of electronic submission if you e-file, or the date of
receipt if you personally deliver it to the Board’s regional office.
Extensions of filing dates will only be granted if requested in writing and
if good cause is shown. A continuance of a hearing date will be
granted only if requested in writing in accordance with the Board’s
regulation at 5 C.F.R. § 1201.51(c), which requires an affidavit or
sworn statement, and if you are able to show extraordinary
circumstances.
(3) All pleadings must be served upon opposing parties and their
representatives, must be accompanied by a certificate of service stating
(a) the names and addresses of the parties served; (b) the manner of
service (personally delivered, mailed, faxed, or electronic delivery); and
(c) the date of service. A certificate of service is attached to this Order
and lists the names and addresses of the parties who must be served in
this case. The attached certificate of service constitutes a model which
you may follow in preparing your own certificate of service. The Board
may reject a submission that does not have a certificate of service. If you
register as an e-filer, a certificate of service will be prepared
automatically as part of the pleading you file online.
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Pleadings Submitted in Hardcopy
When a pleading submitted by postal mail, fax, personal or commercial
delivery includes three or more documentary attachments, the attachments should
be “tabbed.” A “tab” is a dividing page, a portion of which extends beyond the
normal 8½ inch width of the paper, and which contains a description or label.
When such a pleading is submitted via fax, each page of the attachments should
be sequentially numbered and the attachments should be preceded by a table of
contents describing each attachment and indicating the page on which it starts.
Special instructions for preparing the Agency’s response to the appeal under
5 C.F.R. § 1201.25 are included below.
All documents within a tab must have new page numbers (by hand if
necessary) so that each document, within each tab, is re-numbered, from the first
page of the first document to the last page of the last document. This will allow
for specific page references to the record, by tab and by page number within a
tab. The new page numbers should be placed in the bottom right-hand margin of
each page. If some pages within a tab are already numbered in the bottom-right
margin, parties should place the new page numbers just to the right of the original
page numbers.
Pleadings Submitted via e-Appeal Online
Electronic bookmarks and tables of contents take the place of physical
“Tabs” in pleadings filed by traditional means.

When an e-filed pleading

contains three or more electronic supporting documents, each attachment must be
identified, either by filling out the table for such attachments at e-Appeal Online,
or by uploading the supporting documents in the form of one or more PDF files in
which each attachment is bookmarked. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(g)(3).
Regardless of whether it is uploaded or entered online, each pleading will
be assembled into a single PDF document, which will include all electronic
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attachments, and will contain sequential page numbers.

E-filers need not

manually paginate their pleadings and attachments.
Pleadings are subject to a 10 megabyte size limit. To avoid exceeding this
limit, e-filers are encouraged to scan documents in black and white and to adjust
settings to limit file size. If what would otherwise be a single pleading must be
broken into multiple pleadings because of the size limit, each should contain the
same descriptive title, together with a “Part” designation in parentheses, e.g.,
Agency File (Part A), Agency File (Part B), etc.
For more information about e-filing, read the Board’s regulation at
5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, or visit e-Appeal Online (https://e-appeal.mspb.gov/) and
click the link entitled “How does Electronic Filing Work?”
REGULATIONS
For more detailed information on these procedures, you should refer to the
Board’s regulations in 5 C.F.R. Parts 1201 and 1209.

The regulations are

available for review in agency personnel offices, law libraries, some large public
libraries, and at the Board’s website (http://www.mspb.gov). Please note that the
Board’s regulations were substantially revised as of November 13, 2012. Printed
copies, therefore, may not reflect the applicable regulations. You must assure
that you rely only on the current regulations.
NOTICE TO THE AGENCY/INTERVENOR
AGENCY RESPONSE
I ORDER the agency to read, comply with, and/or respond to any and all
portions of the “Notice to Appellant” which are applicable to it. I also ORDER
the agency to serve me, appellant, and appellant’s representative (if applicable),
with the material listed on the enclosed schedule and any other information
required by 5 C.F.R. § 1201.25 within 20 calendar days of the date of this Order.
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7
DESIGNATION OF REPRESENTATIVE
The agency must designate a representative. I ORDER the agency to file
the name, address, and telephone number of the person authorized to act for the
agency on the enclosed “Designation of Representative” form within 20 calendar
days of the date of this Order. The representative must have authority to settle
this appeal or be able to directly reach someone with that authority on short
notice.
NOTICE TO THE PARTIES
SETTLEMENT
The Board strongly encourages the settlement of the appeals that come
before it. Even where discussions between the parties do not result in settlement,
they often help to define the issues and assist the parties in agreeing to
stipulations.

I therefore urge the parties to contact each other to discuss the

possibility of settlement as early in this proceeding as possible. I am available to
assist in the discussions. The parties should discuss concrete, specific settlement
proposals unless either party concludes in good faith that no compromise of any
kind is possible. They must also be prepared to discuss with me the status of any
settlement discussions. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.41(b)(12) (the administrative judge
is authorized to “[h]old prehearing conferences for the settlement and
simplification of issues”).
If the parties agree to settle this appeal, and to enter the agreement into the
record, the Board will retain the authority to enforce its terms if the Board has
jurisdiction

over

the

appeal.

However,
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8
agreement into the record, or if jurisdiction has not been determined, the Board
will have no authority to enforce the agreement.

FOR THE BOARD:

______/S/________________________
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge
Atlanta Regional Office
401 W. Peachtree Street, NW, Suite 1050
Atlanta, GA 30308
Phone: (404) 730-2751
Fax:
(404) 730-2767
V/TDD (800) 877-8339

Enclosures
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MSPB SCHEDULE 1221
REQUIREMENTS FOR AGENCY FILE
Insofar as the content of the Agency File is concerned, the instructions that
follow apply in all cases. Insofar as the instructions refer to tabbing and
numbering of Agency File materials, they apply only to instances in which the
Agency File is submitted via postal mail, or personal or commercial delivery.
When the Agency File is submitted via e-Appeal Online, the requirements of
5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(g)(3) apply. When the Agency File is submitted via fax,
each page of the attachments should be sequentially numbered and the
attachments should be preceded by a table of contents describing each attachment
and indicating the page on which it starts.
General Information
All evidence submitted will be disclosed to the parties. Therefore, no classified
document can be received in evidence unless accompanied by a statement that it
is declassified and that full disclosure is permitted.
Materials Required to be Tabbed, with Pages Re-numbered within a Tab,
and Filed
1.
A narrative response to the appeal and all material issues raised by
appellant.
[Include the reason the personnel action(s) identified by appellant
was (were) taken, proposed, threatened, or not taken.]
2.
A statement whether appellant is covered by a collective bargaining
agreement and whether that agreement covers the action being appealed.
[If so, provide a copy of the applicable provision(s) and state
whether appellant has grieved the action. If appellant has, submit a
copy of the grievance and indicate the date it was filed.]
3.
A statement whether appellant has
discrimination on the action being appealed.

filed

a

formal

complaint of

[If so, indicate its current status, provide a copy of the complaint,
indicate the date the complaint was filed, and the agency's decision,
if any.]
4.
Copies of all other documents which are relevant and material to this
appeal.
[Provide copies, if applicable, of the notice of proposed action;
appellant's response(s); the decision letter; the SF-50 (or other
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notification of personnel action) documenting the action; and
evidence supporting the action.]
Instructions for Assembly of the Agency File
The agency's file must be organized as described below. Failure to do so will
result in rejection of the submission.
All documents submitted in hardcopy must be bound at the top (not the side) with
a two-hole fastening device. The holes must be 2 and 3/4 inches apart. A cover
is not required.
Documents in item 4 must be arranged by date with the most recent on top and
the oldest on bottom. Documents must be individually tabbed using the letters of
the alphabet, e.g., 4a, 4b, 4c, etc.
All documents within a tab must have new page numbers (by hand if necessary)
so that each document, within each tab, is re-numbered, from the first page of the
first document to the last page of the last document. This will allow for specific
page references to the record, by tab and by page number within a tab. The new
page numbers should be placed in the bottom right-hand margin of each page. If
some pages within a tab are already numbered in the bottom-right margin, parties
should place the new page numbers just to the right of the original page numbers.
A Table of Contents is placed on top of the tabbed documents. Use the following
headings for the Table:
Location

Date

Document Description

Source

[The "location" is the tab number; the "date" is the date of the
document; the "document description" fully identifies the document;
and the "source" indicates the individual or office, who authored or
otherwise produced the document.]
A completed Designation of Agency Representative form must be placed on top
of the Table, if not previously submitted. A transmittal letter, identifying the
case by name and docket number, must be placed on top of the Designation.
A Certificate of Service must be inserted on the bottom of the tabbed file.
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Merit Systems Protection Board
-- Designation of Representative -Please print or type:
Appellant's Name:
Agency Name:
Docket Number:

Joseph P. Carson
Office of Special Counsel
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

The parties may use this form or a similar document to designate any organization or individual to
represent them before the Board. (Appellants representing themselves do not need to submit a
designation of representative). The choice of representative must not result in a conflict of interest
for the organization or person chosen. Each party must make all arrangements for representation.
The Board does not designate a representative for any party to this appeal. The representative(s)
must be able to proceed promptly. Normally, continuances or extensions of time will not be granted
if the appellant or agency delays in seeking or arranging representation, if the representative cannot
proceed in a timely manner, or for changes in representative(s).
Despite the designation of
representative, the parties remain personally responsible for prosecuting the case in a timely
manner.
The purpose of the representative is to assist and counsel the appellant or agency in the preparation,
presentation, or defense of the appeal. The representative appears with, or for, the party at hearings,
settlement negotiations, or other proceedings before the Board. The representative has the
authority to settle the appeal. Any limitation on the representative's settlement authority must
be filed in writing with the Board. By designating a representative, you agree to allow the
Board to disclose to your representative all information concerning the appeal.
DESIGNATION: The individual or organization named below is hereby designated to represent the
Appellant 
Agency 
in connection with this appeal before the Board. This individual or organization is to be served
copies of all communications concerning this appeal from the Board or from the other
party(ies). The address and telephone number of the representative provided below must be correct
and specific to ensure that mail or other communications are received promptly. Any change or
cancellation of this designation must be provided, in writing, to the Board, and to the other
party(ies).
SERVICE METHOD: US Mail 
FAX 
E-Mail 
Name of Representative: __________________________________________________________
Address: __________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________
City: _____________________________State: ______Zip Code: _________
Phone Number: _________________FAX: _____________ Other(E-Mail, etc.): ______________
Signature of Appellant or Agency Authorizing Official: _____________________ Date: _______
Representative's Signature: _____________________________________________ Date: _______
RETURN THIS FORM TO THE BOARD OFFICE WHERE THE APPEAL IS PENDING. PROVIDE A COPY TO
THE OTHER PARTY(IES). BOARD REGULATIONS REQUIRE THAT COPIES OF ALL COMMUNICATIONS
MUST BE SERVED ON THE OTHER PARTY(IES).
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PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT
During the course of processing the appeal, which you or your
representative has filed, the Merit Systems Protection Board collects personal
information that is relevant and necessary to reach a decision in your case. The
Merit Systems Protection Board collects this information in order to process
appeals under one or more of the following authorities: Title 5 U.S.C. §§ 1302,
1221, 3301, 3302, 4302, 5115, 5338, 5345, 5346, 7151, 7154, 7301, 7501, 7512,
7701,and 8347; as well as Executive Orders 9803, 11222, 11478, 11491, and
11787. Because your appeal is a voluntary action, you are not required to provide
any personal information to the Merit Systems Protection Board in connection
with your appeal. Conceivably, failure to provide all information essential to
reaching a decision in your case could result in the dismissal or denial of your
appeal.
DECISIONS OF THE MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD ARE
AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT AND ARE POSTED TO THE MERIT
SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD’S PUBLIC WEBSITE. SOME
INFORMATION ABOUT THE APPEAL ALSO IS USED IN
DEPERSONALIZED FORM FOR STATISTICAL PURPOSES. FINALLY,
INFORMATION FROM YOUR APPEAL FILE MAY BE DISCLOSED AS
REQUIRED BY LAW UNDER THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT
AND THE PRIVACY ACT. SEE 5 U.S.C. §§ 552, 552A.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

NOTICE
SUSPENDED APPEAL PROCEDURE
Both the appellant and the agency are entitled to have this appeal
adjudicated as quickly as possible, usually within 120 days (see 5 U.S.C.
§7702(a)(1)). In some situations, however, the parties or the judge may conclude
that more time than is routinely provided should be granted. Therefore, the judge
may issue an order suspending the processing of an appeal for up to 30 days. The judge
may grant a second order suspending the processing of an appeal for up to an additional
30 days. No case may be suspended for more than a total of 60 days under these
procedures. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.28.
Should the parties contact the administrative judge during the period of
suspension for assistance, and if the administrative judge’s involvement is likely
to be extensive, the judge will notify the parties that it will be necessary to
terminate the suspension and return the case to standard processing.

Appx184

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 163

Filed: 07/15/2016

NOTICE
ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION
The Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB), in an effort to provide
alternatives to the regulatory adjudication process, offers the parties to the
appeals brought to the Board several dispute resolution options. This notice will
familiarize you with those possibilities so that you can consider them and discuss
them with the Administrative Judge before you decide how to proceed. All
options are cost free. Settling your case with the assistance of the professional
who will guide the parties through the process offers your best chance of reaching
a resolution of the appeal that benefits both parties. Accordingly, the MSPB
urges you to be open to the possibility of such a resolution at all times.
THE MEDIATION APPEALS PROGRAM
The Mediation Appeals Program (MAP) is a voluntary, confidential process
in which the parties meet with a trained mediator in a non-litigious,
non-adversarial setting. Even more than the other settlement options available,
MAP encourages the parties to approach settlement with an open mind and to
consider possible resolutions that may not mirror a potential outcome of the
adjudication process. Both parties must agree to mediation, and the MSPB must
concur that it could be beneficial, given the circumstances of the case and of the
parties. Because the appeal will be outside the normal adjudication process while
it is in MAP, your agreement to mediate requires that you be ready to proceed to
mediation without delay, and that you be willing to finalize any settlement you
may reach expeditiously. Cases should normally not spend more than 30 days in
the program.
The mediator will meet with the parties and facilitate discussions between
them in an effort to find common grounds on which to resolve the appeal. In
some circumstances, mediations may be done by video-conference or by
telephone, but they are usually done in person. If the efforts to resolve the appeal
do not result in a settlement, the mediator will have no input into the adjudication
of the appeal. Nonetheless, the parties are likely to return to adjudication with a
better understanding of what is important to them and to the other party, which
often helps them reach a settlement during the adjudicatory process. A brochure
that further explains MAP is enclosed for your review or is available on-line at
www.mspb.gov/map. If you have other questions specific to the mediation
option, in addition to discussing them with the Administrative Judge, you may
call the MAP Regional Operations Coordinator, Talethia Owens, at (202) 6536772, ext. 1840, or e-mail at regionaloperations@mspb.gov.
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THE SETTLEMENT JUDGE PROGRAM
A Settlement Judge is an Administrative Judge like the one assigned to
your appeal, but he or she is assigned specifically and solely to discuss settlement
options with the parties. Like the Administrative Judge assigned to your appeal,
a Settlement Judge is skilled at evaluating the parties’ positions and offering
sound advice on the strengths and weaknesses of each party’s position. A
Settlement Judge plays no part in the processes and procedures through which an
appeal goes during the course of the traditional adjudication process, and has no
input into the decision if the appeal does not settle. For this reason, some parties
feel more open to frank discussion of their appeals and their settlement goals with
a Settlement Judge.
Unlike MAP, both parties do not have to request the services of a
Settlement Judge. However, there must be a genuine willingness by both parties
to explore settlement before one will be appointed. Accordingly, if, after initial
settlement discussions between the parties and with the assigned Administrative
Judge, a party believes the assignment of a Settlement Judge would be useful, a
request may be made to the Administrative Judge or the Regional Director. If the
Regional Director or Chief Administrative Judge concurs, a Settlement Judge will
be assigned.
THE MSPB SETTLEMENT PROGRAM
The Administrative Judge assigned to decide your appeal will explore the
possibility of settlement with the parties to almost all appeals. Thus, you need
not make any election if this is the option you prefer. Through the documents
filed by the parties and the evidence submitted, the Administrative Judge
becomes thoroughly familiar with the case and is in the best position to discuss
the strengths and weaknesses of the appeal, as well as to evaluate not just the
likelihood of success but also the validity of settlement offers made by the
parties, and to suggest proposals for their consideration. Administrative Judges
often spend considerable time working with the parties to help them craft
mutually beneficial settlements in lieu of adjudication, in which it is more likely
that there will be a “winning” and a “losing” side. Any settlement discussions
with the Administrative Judge, however, have no effect on the ultimate outcome
of the appeal if the case does not settle.
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ELECTRONIC FILING AT THE MSPB
Parties and representatives who register as e-filers can file virtually any type of
pleading, including a new appeal, in electronic form. Those who register as e-filers will
receive documents issued by the Board, and pleadings filed by other e-filers, in electronic
form. Registration and filing are done via the Board's e-Appeal site on the Internet:
(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov). The Board's electronic filing application includes the
following features:
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•

•
•

Both the Board and e-filers will receive electronic documents on the same day they are
submitted.
E-filers need not disclose their e-mail addresses to anyone except the MSPB.
E-filers can either enter their pleadings online or upload them as electronic files.
Documents can be submitted in any common electronic format, including word-processing
and image formats (electronic files created by scanning paper documents).
Should they choose to do so, e-filers will be able to submit their pleadings and supporting
attachments in the form of declarations made under penalty of perjury. The Board gives
greater evidentiary weight to statements in this form than to unsworn statements.
Regardless of whether it is uploaded or entered online, each pleading will be assembled
into a single PDF document, which will include all electronic attachments, and which will
contain sequential page numbers. Pagination will enable everyone involved to make
specific citations to the record.
If unable to complete a pleading while online, an e-filer will be able to save his or her work
and complete it during a later session.
E-filers will be provided a confirmation of electronic filing, and will be able to print or
download a copy of the assembled pleading as a PDF document.
Service of pleadings on other e-filers will be automated.
If you elect to be served electronically, MSPB will e-mail you notification when documents
are posted to the e-Appeal repository. You will need to download or read the documents
from the repository. If your mail service has spam filters, please ensure that mail from
@mspb.gov is approved or check your junk folder routinely.
When a party who is an individual is represented, the party and the representative can
separately decide whether to register for e-filing. If only the representative registers for
e-filing, the party will continue to receive documents by regular mail.
Although registration as an e-filer permits participants to file pleadings electronically, they
may file any pleading, or portion of a pleading, by non-electronic means.
Registration as an e-filer can be withdrawn at any time, but while in effect means that the
individual consents to accept electronic service of all documents issued by the Board and
all pleadings submitted by other e-filers.

For further information about electronic filing, please read the Board's regulation
at 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, or visit the Board's regular website (http://www.mspb.gov), or the
Board's e-Appeal site (https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).

Appx187

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 166

Filed: 07/15/2016

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated this
day to each of the following:
Appellant
Electronic Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Agency Representative

U.S. Mail

Office of Special Counsel
Greg McClelland
1730 M Street, N.W.
Suite 230
Washington, DC 20036-4505

October 28, 2014
(Date)

/s/
JoAnn Atkinson
Paralegal Specialist
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: October 28, 2014

THIS DOCUMENT CONTAINS IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT
THIS APPEAL AND ITS PROCESSING. PLEASE READ THE ENTIRE
DOCUMENT CAREFULLY.

ORDER ON JURISDICTION AND PROOF REQUIREMENTS
There is a question whether this appeal is within the Board’s jurisdiction. As
a result, the Board might dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction without
addressing the merits of the case.

This Order provides necessary

information concerning the jurisdictional issue and the burdens of proof the
appellant must meet to show that the Board should not dismiss this appeal
for lack of jurisdiction, as well as how to prove the claim on the merits.
The appeal claims the agency took retaliatory action because of the
appellant’s whistleblowing activity.

I ORDER the parties to follow the

procedures set out below. If either party has a question about any of the case
processing instructions in this Order, you may call this office at the telephone
number listed under my signature at the end of the Order for assistance.
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2
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT
Your claim that the agency retaliated against you because of your
whistleblowing activity appears to be an individual right of action (IRA) appeal.
See 5 U.S.C. § 1221. To establish Board jurisdiction over an IRA appeal, you
must show that you exhausted your administrative remedies before the Office of
Special Counsel (OSC) and make non-frivolous allegations that: (1) you engaged
in whistleblowing activity by making a protected disclosure; and (2) the
disclosure was a contributing factor in the agency's decision to take or fail to take
a personnel action.
Specifically, you must show that you brought your whistleblower
complaint to the attention of OSC, and exhausted OSC's procedures. You have
“exhausted” OSC's procedures once OSC has notified you that it is terminating its
investigation into your whistleblowing complaint.

You may also show you

exhausted OSC's procedures if 120 days have passed since you filed your
whistleblower claim with OSC and you have not received a termination notice.
To satisfy this requirement, you must have informed OSC of the precise ground
of your claim of whistleblowing and given it a sufficient basis to pursue an
investigation which might lead to corrective action. The test of the sufficiency of
your claim of whistleblowing to OSC is the statement you made in the complaint
requesting corrective action or in other submissions to OSC, not any later
characterization of those statements. It is not necessary, though, that you have
correctly labeled the category of wrongdoing when you raised it to OSC.
To have made a disclosure protected under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) means
that you reported a violation of law, rule, or regulation, gross mismanagement, a
gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to
public health or safety, and that you reasonably believed in the truth of the matter
you disclosed.
A non-frivolous allegation is a claim supported by affidavits or other
evidence relevant to the matter at issue that, if proven, could establish the matters
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3
it asserts. Because you must make non-frivolous allegations as to each of the
jurisdictional requirements set out in this Order, your claim and evidence must
pertain to the proof required to support each element of those jurisdictional
requirements.

Conclusory, vague, or unsupported allegations are not enough to

meet this standard. As an administrative agency, the Board has wide latitude in
the kinds of evidence that it can accept, and affidavits are just one example of the
kind of evidence that may be used to support an allegation. The way in which an
allegation may be supported will often depend on the particular facts of the case.
The Board has held that a “gross waste of funds” is more than a debatable
expenditure, and is one that is significantly out of proportion to the benefit
reasonably expected to accrue to the government; that “gross mismanagement”
means a management action or inaction which creates a substantial risk of
significant adverse impact upon the agency's ability to accomplish its mission;
and that an “abuse of authority” occurs when a Federal official or employee
arbitrarily or capriciously exercises power and adversely affects anyone’s rights
or causes personal gain or advantage to himself or to someone he prefers.
You need not prove that the matter you disclosed actually established any
of the conditions described above, such as gross mismanagement.

You must,

however, make a non-frivolous allegation that the matter you disclosed was one
that a reasonable person in your position would believe was evidence of any of
these situations. The test for determining whether your belief was reasonable is
this: Could a neutral, objective person with knowledge of the essential facts that
you knew or could have readily found out reasonably have concluded that the
actions of the government show the condition or conditions described above?
Also, you must non-frivolously allege that you disclosed the matter to someone
other than the alleged wrongdoer, who may have been in a position to do
something about the issue you reported, either directly through management
authority, or indirectly as in disclosure to the media or Congress. A disclosure
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4
made in the normal course of your job responsibilities is not protected as
whistleblowing.
A non-frivolous allegation that a protected disclosure was a contributing
factor in the decision to take or fail to take a personnel action against you is a
detailed, factual allegation that you disclosed one of the above matters, and that
agency officials responsible for the personnel action were aware of your
disclosure and acted within such time that a reasonable person could find that the
disclosure contributed to the action.

Meeting this knowledge and timing test

satisfies your burden, but there are also other ways for you to satisfy it. If you do
not introduce allegations and evidence to meet that test, the Board will then
consider any relevant evidence on the contributing factor question, including the
strength or weakness of the agency’s reasons for taking the personnel action,
whether the whistleblowing was personally directed at the proposing or deciding
official, and whether those individuals had a desire or motive to retaliate against
you. You may also show that the official accused of taking retaliatory action had
imputed knowledge of your protected disclosure by showing that individuals with
actual knowledge of the disclosure influenced the official's action.
In addition, you must make a non-frivolous allegation that the agency
retaliated against you for making that disclosure. “Retaliated against you” means
that the agency took or failed to take, or threatened to take or fail to take, a
personnel action as defined by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2), such as a removal,
suspension, or reassignment. A complete list of these personnel actions is set
forth in the Board's regulations at 5 C.F.R. § 1209.4(a).
PROOF OF CLAIM
If you show that the Board has jurisdiction over your appeal, you are
entitled to a hearing on the merits of the appeal, at which you must prove each of
those same matters by preponderant evidence, i.e., that you engaged in
whistleblowing that contributed to the personnel action(s).
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5
evidence is the degree of relevant evidence that a reasonable person, considering
the record as a whole, would need to find that a contested fact is more likely true
than untrue. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.56(c)(2). In other words, you must show that it is
more likely than not that you engaged in whistleblowing that contributed to the
personnel action.
If you meet this burden, then for the agency to prevail it must show by
clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same personnel action
even if you had not made a disclosure. In order to determine whether the agency
met its clear and convincing evidence burden, the Board looks at the strength of
the evidence the agency used in support of the personnel action, the existence and
strength of any motive to retaliate on the part of the agency officials who were
involved in the decision(s), and any evidence that the agency takes similar actions
against employees who are not whistleblowers, but who are in other ways similar
to you with respect to your Federal employment.
REQUIRED SUBMISSIONS
For purposes of deciding whether the Board has jurisdiction over your
appeal (that is, whether you made non-frivolous allegations as to each of the
jurisdictional elements discussed earlier), I ORDER the appellant to file a
statement, accompanied by evidence, listing the following: (1) your protected
disclosure(s); (2) the date(s) you made the disclosure(s); (3) the individual(s) to
whom you made the disclosure(s); (4) why your belief in the truth of the
disclosure(s) was reasonable; (5) the action(s) the agency took or failed to take,
or threatened to take or fail to take, against you because of your disclosure(s);
(6) why you believe a disclosure was a contributing factor to the action(s); and
(7) the date of your complaint to OSC and the date that it notified you it was
terminating its investigation of your complaint, or if you have not received such
notice, evidence that 120 days have passed since you filed your complaint with
OSC. Unless you submit a copy of the complaint you submitted to OSC, along
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6
with any amendments you filed there, and a copy of the OSC letter notifying you
of your right to appeal to the Board, your response must be in the form of an
affidavit, sworn statement, or declaration under penalty of perjury, 28 U.S.C.
§ 1746, a form for which is found in the Board’s regulations at 5 C.F.R. Part
1201, Appendix IV. The law does not require that you submit a copy of OSC’s
letter, but it does provide that you bear the burden of establishing the required
elements of an IRA appeal.
You must file this statement within 10 calendar days of the date of this
Order, and must serve a copy on the agency at the same time. The agency may
file a response on the jurisdictional issue within 20 calendar days of the date of
this Order.

Unless I tell the parties otherwise, the record on the issue of

jurisdiction will close on the date the agency’s response is due. No evidence
and/or argument on jurisdiction filed after that date will be accepted unless the
party submitting it shows that it was not readily available before the record
closed. Notwithstanding the close of the record, however, pursuant to 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.58(c), a party must be allowed to respond to new evidence or argument
submitted by the other party just before the close of the record. If there is no
jurisdiction, I will dismiss your appeal.

If the Board has jurisdiction, I will

adjudicate your appeal and will schedule a hearing if you requested one.

FOR THE BOARD:

___/S/___________________________
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge

Appx194

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 173

Filed: 07/15/2016

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the attached Document(s) was (were) sent as indicated this
day to each of the following:
Appellant
Electronic Mail

Joseph P. Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Agency Representative

U.S. Mail

Office of Special Counsel
Greg McClelland
1730 M Street, N.W.
Suite 230
Washington, DC 20036-4505

October 28, 2014
(Date)

/s/
JoAnn Atkinson
Paralegal Specialist
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JOSEPH P. CARSON v. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Docket # AT-1221-15-0092-W-1
Appellant's response to show cause order
Online Interview
1. Would you like to enter the text online or upload a file containing the pleading?
See attached pleading text document

2. Does your pleading assert facts that you know from your personal knowledge?
Yes

3. Do you declare, under penalty of perjury, that the facts stated in this pleading are true and correct?
Yes
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket Nos.
)
)AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

Appellant

)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)
)
)
)
)

Agency

APPELLANT’S RESPONSE TO SHOW CAUSE ORDER
Background to this Appeal
Simply put, Appellant thinks the Office of Special Counsel is a 35 year-long law-breaking fraud
and MSPB is its 35 year-long law-breaking enabler. Their decades-long, compounded,
continuing, law-breaking is civilization-threatening, in Appellant’s opinion, given how it has
battered the integrity of the entire federal civil service, allowing corruption and dysfunction to
take deep root and flourish in many federal workplaces and agencies. The fruits of this deepseated corruption and dysfunction include international calamities as the terrorist attacks of 9/11,
going to war in Iraq for false reasons, economic meltdown of 2008, and a loss of confidence by
American people and others around world in democracy. The stakes could hardly be higher
about the law-breaking in these two tiny and obscure federal agencies, which have essential
responsibilities for the regulation of the management culture in other federal agencies.1 2

1

See www.broken-covenant.org for extensive background and supporting documentation.

2

Appellant has attached to this filing three recent letters from Loring Justice, Esq., who
has independently reviewed Mr. Carson’s claims of OSC and MSPB law-breaking. He finds
1
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Appellant’s Objections to his responding to this Order at this point
Appellant respectfully objects to his being directed to respond to this Order prior to his receiving
the “Agency File” described in the Acknowledgment Order from the Office of Special Counsel
(OSC) and obtaining discovery from OSC. Appellant as the thinks this information would be
dispositive to his demonstrating that the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) Agency’s failure or
refusal to protect him from reprisal as the law requires is a “personnel action” in that it creates
“any other significant change in his duties, responsibilities, or working conditions,” because “it
could well tend to persuade a reasonable colleague from making a protected disclosure or
engaging in a protected activity.”
Appellant filed a motion on November 4, 2014, to extend the deadline to file this response until
he obtained such information, it is unopposed by OSC, and has not been ruled upon.
Appellant filed a motion on November 3, 2014, for the Administrative Judge to certify an
interlocutory appeal of his denial, on November 3, 2014, of Appellant’s motion requesting this
case be reassigned to an Administrative Law Judge, given the conflict of interest the
Administrative Judge’s attorney-client relationship with the Board creates in this appeal.
Appellant’s whistleblower disclosures in his whistleblower reprisal complaint to OSC, MA-140892, involve claims of Board law-breaking and this Board law-breaking is also implicated in the
whistleblower disclosures in Appellant’s whistleblower reprisal complaint to OSC, MA-13-4245.
It is OSC’s failure or refusal to protect him as the law requires in these two whistleblower
reprisal complaints that is the basis of this IRA appeal, which alleges OSC engaged in reprisal
against Appellant for his protected activity protected activity of filing these two whistleblower
reprisal complaints with it, specifically when OSC failed or refused to comply with aspects of its
non-discretionary statutory duties to protect him. OSC has filed a response in opposition to this
motion to certify an interlocutory appeal, but it has not been ruled upon.
Appellant’s understanding of what he needs to demonstrate to establish Board jurisdiction
for this appeal:
(1) List Appellant’s protected activities;
(2) Provide the date(s) of Appellant’s protected activities;
(3) List the action(s) OSC took or failed to take, or threatened to take or fail to take, against
Appellant because of his protected activities, and establish that OSC, an agency for which he
does not work, took a personnel action against him;
(4) Describe why Appellant believes his protected activities were a contributing factor to OSC’s
action(s); and
(5) Provide the date of Appellant’s complaint to OSC and the date that it notified Appellant it
was terminating its investigation of his complaint.

them well-evidenced and significant.
2

Appx200
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 5 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 179

Filed: 07/15/2016

1) Appellant’s protected activities
Appellant protected activities for this IRA appeal are his two whistleblower reprisal complaints
to OSC which became OSC file nos. MA-13-4245 and MA-14-0892. 3
2) Dates of Appellant’s protected activities
Appellant filed the whistleblower reprisal complaint with OSC that became OSC file no. MA-134245 on August 27, 2013.
Appellant filed the whistleblower reprisal complaint with OSC that became OSC file no. MA-140892 on December 14, 2013.
(3) The action(s) OSC took or failed to take, or threatened to take or fail to take, against
Appellant because of his protected activities and why OSC, which does not employ the
appellant, was able to take a personnel action against him
Appellant’s position is that OSC’s failure or refusal to comply with various aspects of its nondiscretionary statutory duties - specifically to him - to protect him from reprisal in investigating
and closing his whistleblower reprisal complaints MA-13-4245 and MA-14-0892 is a personnel
action Appellant contends OSC’s failure or refusal to do so is a personnel action by 5 U.S.C.
§2302(a)(2)(A)(xii) because it creates “any other significant change in his duties, responsibilities,
or working conditions” because “it might well dissuade a reasonable co-worker from making
protected disclosures or engaging in protected activities.” Appellant contends the Board’s
controlling case law in Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 MSPR 221 (2010),
paragraphs 10-13, establishes that OSC took a personnel action against Appellant even though
Appellant does not work for OSC.
Statutes relevant to this appeal about OSC’s non-discretionary duty to protect the
Appellant from reprisal (emphasis added to text of statutes)
From 5 U.S.C. § 1201 “endnotes”
Whistleblower Protection; Congressional Statement of Findings and Purpose
Pub. L. 10112, 2, Apr. 10, 1989, 103 Stat. 16 , provided that:
"(a) Findings.-The Congress finds that"(1) Federal employees who make disclosures described in section 2302(b)(8) of title 5,
United States Code, serve the public interest by assisting in the elimination of fraud,
3

Both these complaints and their related correspondence as OSC investigated and closed
them are attached to this filing, with extensive “bookmarks.”
3
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waste, abuse, and unnecessary Government expenditures;
"(2) protecting employees who disclose Government illegality, waste, and corruption is a
major step toward a more effective civil service; and
"(3) in passing the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 [Pub. L. 95–454, see Tables for
classification], Congress established the Office of Special Counsel to protect
whistleblowers (those individuals who make disclosures described in such section
2302(b)(8)) from reprisal.
"(b) Purpose.-The purpose of this Act [see Short Title of 1989 Amendment note above] is to
strengthen and improve protection for the rights of Federal employees, to prevent reprisals, and
to help eliminate wrongdoing within the Government by"(1) mandating that employees should not suffer adverse consequences as a result of
prohibited personnel practices; and
"(2) establishing"(A) that the primary role of the Office of Special Counsel is to protect
employees, especially whistleblowers, from prohibited personnel practices;
"(B) that the Office of Special Counsel shall act in the interests of employees
who seek assistance from the Office of Special Counsel; and
"(C) that while disciplining those who commit prohibited personnel practices may
be used as a means by which to help accomplish that goal, the protection of
individuals who are the subject of prohibited personnel practices remains the
paramount consideration."
5 U.S.C. §1212
(a)
(1) The Office of Special Counsel shall in accordance with section 1214(a) and other
applicable provisions of this subchapter, protect employees, former employees, and
applicants for employment from prohibited personnel practices;
5 U.S.C. §1214
(a)
(1)
(A) The Special Counsel shall receive any allegation of a prohibited personnel
practice and shall investigate the allegation to the extent necessary to determine
whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel
practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken.
(D) No later than 10 days before the Special Counsel terminates any investigation
of a prohibited personnel practice, the Special Counsel shall provide a written
status report to the person who made the allegation of the proposed findings of
fact and legal conclusions. The person may submit written comments about the
report to the Special Counsel. The Special Counsel shall not be required to
provide a subsequent written status report under this subparagraph after the
submission of such written comments.
4
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(2)
(A) If the Special Counsel terminates any investigation under paragraph (1), the
Special Counsel shall prepare and transmit to any person on whose allegation the
investigation was initiated a written statement notifying the person of—
(i) the termination of the investigation;
(ii) a summary of relevant facts ascertained by the Special Counsel,
including the facts that support, and the facts that do not support, the
allegations of such person;
(iii) the reasons for terminating the investigation; and
(iv) a response to any comments submitted under paragraph (1)(D).
(b)
(2)
(A)
(i) Except as provided under clause (ii), no later than 240 days after the
date of receiving an allegation of a prohibited personnel practice under
paragraph (1), the Special Counsel shall make a determination whether
there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel
practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken.
(ii) If the Special Counsel is unable to make the required determination
within the 240-day period specified under clause (i) and the person
submitting the allegation of a prohibited personnel practice agrees to an
extension of time, the determination shall be made within such additional
period of time as shall be agreed upon between the Special Counsel and
the person submitting the allegation.
From §1214 “endnotes” Termination Statement
Pub. L. 103424, §12(b), Oct. 29, 1994, 108 Stat. 4367, provided that: "The Special
Counsel shall include in any letter terminating an investigation under section 1214(a)(2)
of title 5, United States Code, the name and telephone number of an employee of the
Special Counsel who is available to respond to reasonable questions from the person
regarding the investigation or review conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts
ascertained by the Special Counsel, and the law applicable to the person's allegations."
OSC File No. MA-13-4245 - How OSC failed or refused to comply with its duties to protect
the Appellant
Summary of OSC file no. MA-13-4245
Mr. Carson claimed he received a retaliatory reprimand for his protected disclosures that OSC
was unlawfully denying Department of contractor employees their whistleblower disclosure right
per §1213(g)(1). After OSC closed its investigation, Mr. Carson filed an IRA appeal at MSPB,
Carson v. Department of Energy, docket no. AT-1221-14-0520-W-1. The same Administrative
5
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Judge now considering this IRA appeal determined, in an initial decision dated September 30,
2014, that Mr. Carson lacked “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure so the Board
lacked jurisdiction to consider his IRA appeal on the merits. Mr. Carson has filed a PFR with the
full Board of the initial decision. 4
Statutory duties OSC specifically owed Appellant and violated in its investigation and
closure of OSC file no. MA-13-4245
1) In its letter of December 3, 2014, OSC failed to make and report the required determination
“whether are reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced reprisal. Instead, it
reported its determination to “close our inquiry.” It is possible that OSC determined “there are
reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced a PPP, but failed to report it to Mr.
Carson. Regardless, OSC simply failed or refused to comply with its non-discretionary duty to
make and/or report its required determination.
2) In its letter of December 3, 2014, OSC failed or refused to state, contrary to its statutory duties
to Mr. Carson, whether Mr. Carson had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure about
§1213(g)(1).
3) In its investigation termination letter of January 10, 2014, OSC failed or refused to state,
contrary to its statutory duties to Mr. Carson: 1) the required determination “whether there are
reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced reprisal, 2) its determination as to
whether he had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure, 3) failed to respond to his
comments, and 4) failed to state the facts and law its investigation had determined.
4) OSC failed to respond to Mr. Carson’s email and voice mail requests for information per the
“termination statement” - such as OSC’s “reasonable grounds to believe” determination and its
determination as to whether Mr. Carson had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure.5

4

The initial decision is attached to this filing. It found that by “the plain reading of the
language of the statute” that OSC has “unfettered” discretion to do something - refer
whistleblower disclosures from agency contractor employees to the agency head for evaluation that OSC claims to lack legal authority to do. Had OSC compiled with its duties to Mr. Carson or had the MSPB AJ directed OSC to do so via a subpoena for relevant discovery, OSC’s claim
that it lacked legal authority to receive, consider or refer such disclosures would have been part
of the case record, dispositive to the question about Mr. Carson’s “reasonable belief” in his
disclosure.
5

A federal judge found OSC in violation of its duties to Mr. Carson, per the “termination
statement,” in 2007, but OSC just ignored it, then as now, consistent with its decades-long, lawbreaking, ways. The decision in Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, docket no. 06-1833,
(D.D.C. September 27, 2007) is attached, see pages 10 and 11 of decision, its Westlaw cite is 514
F.Supp.2d 54.
6
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How all this OSC law-breaking in its investigation and closure of OSC file MA-13-4245
harmed Mr. Carson and imperils civilization
Had OSC done its duty to protect Mr. Carson, then it would have properly investigated Mr.
Carson complaint, determined and reported that he had reasonable belief in his whistleblower
disclosure about §1213(g)(1), and determined and reported - to Mr. Carson and the Secretary of
Energy - its determination of “there are reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced
reprisal. Then the Secretary of Energy would have directed relief. Because OSC is a lawbreaking fraud, enabled by MSPB law-breaking, none of this happened. Mr. Carson has not
obtained relief from the agency’s reprisal and OSC still claims that contractor employees in the
Department of Energy lack a whistleblower disclosure right per §1213(g)(1), which has likely
resulted in a number of otherwise preventable deaths and serious accidents and incidents in the
Department of Energy. Because of the Department of Energy’s near total dependence on
contractors and its responsibilities for the security of American’s nuclear stockpile and nuclear
weapons materials around the world, this OSC law-breaking places civilization at unnecessarily
increased risk of a nuclear terrorist attack.
OSC File No. MA-14-0892 - How OSC failed or refused to comply with its duties to protect
the Appellant
Summary of OSC file no. MA-14-0892
Mr. Carson claimed MSPB failed or refused to resolve his protected disclosures that it was
unlawfully failing to conduct the required “special studies” of 5 U.S.C. §1204(a)(3) to determine
and report, to the President and Congress “as to whether the public interest in a civil service free
of prohibited personnel practices is being adequately protected,” thereby creating “any other
significant change in his duties, responsibilities, or working conditions” in reprisal for his
protected disclosure. After OSC closed its investigation, Mr. Carson filed an IRA appeal at
MSPB, Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board,, docket no. AT-1221-14-0637-W-1. The case
was assigned to an Administrative Law Judge, per 5 C.F.R. §1201.13. An initial decision dated
November 6, 2014, determined that no personnel action occurred because MSPB is not Mr.
Carson’s employing agency. The initial decision cited no case law, particularly Weed v. Social
Security Administration, 113 MSPR 221 (2010), to justify that finding. Mr. Carson intends to
file a PFR with the full Board of the initial decision. 6
Statutory duties OSC specifically owed Appellant and violated in its investigation and
closure of OSC file no. MA-14-0892
6

The initial decision is attached to this filing. It made no determination about whether
Mr. Carson had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure about MSPB law-breaking.
Had OSC compiled with its duties to Mr. Carson, then OSC would have determined that Mr.
Carson has “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure and that, by Weed, MSPB took a
personnel action against him.
7
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1) In its pre-determination letter of March 6, 2014, OSC failed to make and report the required
determination “whether are reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced reprisal.
Instead, it reported its determination to “close our inquiry.” It is possible that OSC determined
“there are reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced a PPP, but failed to report it to
Mr. Carson. Regardless, OSC simply failed or refused to comply with its non-discretionary duty
to make and/or report its required determination.
2) In its pre-determination letter of March 6, 2014, OSC failed or refused to state, contrary to its
statutory duties to Mr. Carson, its determination whether Weed v. SSA, 113 MSPR 221 (2010),
provided a basis for it to determine that Mr. Carson had suffered a personnel action from MSPB.
3) In its pre-determination letter of March 6, 2014, OSC failed or refused to state, contrary to its
statutory duties to Mr. Carson, its determination whether Mr. Carson had “reasonable belief” in
his whistleblower disclosure about §1204(a)(3).
3) In its investigation termination letter of March 27, 2014, OSC failed or refused to state,
contrary to its statutory duties to Mr. Carson: 1) the required determination “whether there are
reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson experienced reprisal, 2) its determination as to
whether he had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure, 3) failed to apply controlling
Board precedent in Weed v. SSA, 113 MSPR 221 (2010) to whether a personnel action occurred,
and 4) failed respond to his comments.
4) OSC failed to respond to Mr. Carson’s email and voice mail requests for information per the
“termination statement” - such as OSC’s “reasonable grounds to believe” determination, its
determination as to whether Mr. Carson had “reasonable belief” in his whistleblower disclosure,
and how Board precedent in Weed v. SSA, 113 MSPR 221 (2010) applies to whether a personnel
action occurred.7
How all this OSC law-breaking in its investigation and closure of OSC file MA-14-0892
harmed Mr. Carson
Had OSC done its duty to protect Mr. Carson, then it would have properly investigated Mr.
Carson complaint, determined and reported that he had reasonable belief in his whistleblower
disclosure about §1204(a)(3), that Weed v. SSA 113 MSPR 221 (2010) provides ground to
determine a personnel action occurred, and determined and reported - to Mr. Carson and the
Chairman of MSPB - its determination of “there are reasonable grounds to believe” Mr. Carson
experienced reprisal because MSPB failed or refused to resolve his whistleblower disclosure.
7

A federal judge found OSC in violation of its duties to Mr. Carson, per the “termination
statement,” in 2007, but OSC just ignored it, then as now, consistent with its decades-long, lawbreaking, ways. The decision in Carson v. Office of Special Counsel, docket no. 06-1833,
(D.D.C. September 27, 2007) is attached, see pages 10 and 11 of decision, its Westlaw cite is 514
F.Supp.2d 54.
8
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Then the Chairman of MSPB would have directed relief by requesting the Office of Legal
Counsel (OLC) of the Department of Justice review the law and issue its authoritative
interpretation. 8 Because OSC is a law-breaking fraud, enabled by MSPB law-breaking, none of
this happened. Additionally, had OSC’s complied with its statutory duty to Mr. Carson, its
evaluation that Weed v. SSA, 113 MSPR 221 (2010) establishes that MSPB took a personnel
action against him, which would have been dispositive in Carson v. MSPB, docket no. AT-122114-0637-W-1.
Why all this OSC law-breaking - specifically against Mr. Carson - is a personnel action,
even though OSC is not Mr. Carson’s employing agency.
All this OSC law-breaking, specifically against Mr. Carson - by which it betrays its fundamental
purpose for existence and imperils civilization - is a personnel action specifically against Mr.
Carson because it creates “any other significant change in responsibilities or working
conditions,” because “it might well have dissuade a reasonable coworker from making a
protected disclosure or engaging in a protected activity,” see Shivaee v. Department. of Navy, 74
MSPR 383, 388 (1997) and Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North & Santa Fe Railway.
Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405, 2415 (2006). 9
MSPB case law is extensive and unambiguous that when any agency has a specific nondiscretionary statutory duty to a current or former federal agency employee, and fails to properly
discharge it, it takes a personnel action against the employee, despite not being the employee’s
agency of employment. For instance, retirement appeals are not directed to the employee’s
agency, but to OPM. More specific to this IRA appeal is Weed v. Social Security
Administration, 113 MSPR 221 (2010), paragraphs 10-13, where the Board found, with
extensive analysis, that a non-employing agency could engage in reprisal against another
agency’s employee.

8

If the MSPB Chairman has the personnel and professional honor her position of great
responsibility requires, she would publicly resign of OLC declined to perform this review.
9

Shivaee is poor precedent in that the Board did not apply its determinations to Shivaee no “case-by-case” analysis was performed by the administrative judge, nor did the Board remand
the case to perform it. In fact, the Board did not even determine whether the personnel actions
could be evaluated by this 1994 change in law, because it did not determine whether they
occurred before or after its enactment - it just determined the case record was inadequate to make
such a determination and upheld the initial decision.
The fact Shivaee is still cited as precedent, in 2014, reflects OSC’s decades-long betrayal of its
statutory duty to protect whistleblowers - OSC, were it law-abiding, instead of a fraud, would
have developed extensive case law at the Board about this “catch-all” personnel action, starting
shortly after its enactment in 1994.
9
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(4) Why the Appellant believes his protected activities were a contributing factor to OSC’s
action(s);
Appellant filed two whistleblower reprisal complaints with OSC, OSC failed to comply with
aspects of its non-discretionary statutory duties to protect him in its investigation and closure of
those complaints, OSC file nos. MA-13-4245 and MA-14-0892. So there is a direct “cause and
effect” relationship between the Appellant’s protected activities and OSC’s failure or refusal to
comply with aspects of its non-discretionary statutory duties to protect him from reprisal in its
investigation and termination of its investigation for those complaints.
(5) The date of Appellant’s complaint to OSC and the date that it notified Appellant it was
terminating its investigation of his complaint;
Appellant filed his 5 U.S.C. §2302(b)(9)(A)(i) reprisal complaint with OSC on June 9, 2014. It
became OSC file no. MA-14-3346. OSC terminated its investigation of MA-14-3346 on
September 22, 2014.
Other information
Appellant requests the Judge invite a response from OSC to this filing, per his responsibility to
develop the case record on this jurisdictional question.
Appellant, based on OSC’s “Agency file” and responses to discovery, may motion to re-open the
case record on this jurisdictional question.
Conclusion:
For all these reasons, Appellant contends he has established jurisdiction for this IRA appeal
Respectfully,
___________/s/_________________________
Joseph P. Carson, P.E. Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831

10
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LORING E. JUSTICE, P.L.L.C.
A /Iamey at Law
11 9 11 Kingston Pike, Suite 20 I
Knoxville, TN 37934
Telephone: (865) 584-8620

Fax: (865) 584-8621

November 13,2014
Congressman John J. Duncan, Jr.
800 Market Street, Suite 110
Knoxville, TN 37902
Via: Jennifer Stansbeny jennifer.stansberry@mail.bouse.gov
Subject: My evaluation of the concems of Joseph Carson, PE
Dear Congressman Duncan,
I hope you are doing very well. I wrote you last month about Joe Carson, who is also your
constituent and his concems regarding the Civil Service Reform Act (CSRA) and the
Whistleblower Protection Act (WPA). I also included some questions to which Joe has been
seeking answers from Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB) Chairman Susan Grundmann. I
did not include similar questions to Special Counsel Lerner of the Office of Special Counsel
(OSC). Please find them attached.
As I mentioned in my previous letter, I understand the gravity of your many responsibilities.
If you could, though, I respectfully ask you please use your influence with the House Committee
of Oversight and Government Refonn or one of its sub-committees so they seek answers from
OSC and MSPB to respond to these critical questions regarding the CSRA and WP A. Thank you
for your service and for considering this letter.

Cc: Mr. Joe Carson
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Questions for Special Counsel Lerner of Office of Special Counsel (OS C)
1.

Do you have an "attorney-client" relationship with the Office of Special Counsel (OSC)?
If so, could that not create a conflict with your duties as Special Counsel, the head of
OSC, when someone claims OSC is not properly interpreting and applying some of its
non-discretionary statutory duties to the federal civil service and/or federal agency
employees and requests you to seek an opinion from the Office ofLegal Counsel ofthe
Department of Justice to resolve the matter?

2.

Does Joseph Carson, PE have "reasonable belief' (as the term is defined by
whistleblower case law at MSPB) in his public claims of decades-long violations oflaw
at OSC- violations all of the omission variety- regarding any or all of the following
laws:
• 5 U.S.C. § 1212(a)(4)
• 5 U.S.C.§ 1213(g)(l)
• 5 U.S.C. § 1213(b) and (c) for employees ofTennessee Valley Authority
(TVA) and other wholly-owned government corporations, given the wording
of5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(C)(i) and 2302(b)(8) that states such employees are
within OSC's whistleblower reptisal protection jurisdiction if they make
whistleblower disclosures to OSC.
• 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(A), (a)(l)(C), (a)(l)(D), (a)(2)(A), (a)(4), (b)(2)(A)(i)
and (ii), (b)(2)(D), (e), and requirements of the "termination statement" found
in endnotes of 5 U.S.C. § 1214, citing Pub. L. 103-424 Section 12(b)?

3.

Were the whistleblower disclosw-es of Joseph Carson, PE, to OSC a cause ofOSC's
changing its interpretation and implementation, in 2013, of5 U .S.C. §1213(g)(2), 24
years after this law was passed, as you described to Congressman Duncan in your letter
of July 1, 2014?

4.

Do the definitions of prohibited personnel practices (PPPs) apply, in whole or part, to
agencies outside, in whole or part, OSC' s PPP protection jurisdiction? Do these
definitions apply, in whole or part, to the agencies and/or agency components described
at 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(C)? If not, why not? If not, then how can the "metit principles,"
found at 5 U.S.C. §2301(b), which clearly apply in these agencies be implemented- i.e.
how are employees in these agencies to be protected from these agencies violations of the
merit principles, if the definitions ofPPPs do not apply?

5.

Do employees of agencies outside OSC's PPP protection jurisdiction by 5 U.S.C.
§2302(a)(2)(C), have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to it per 5
U.S.C. § ~213(b) and (c)? If not, why not?

6.

Should the heads of government corporations, such as the Tennessee Valley Authority,
per their statutory responsibilities at 5 U.S.C. § 2301(c), to "take any action ..... necessary''
to ensure their agencies "embody" the merit principles, be seeking answers to questions

1
Appx210
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 15 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 189

Filed: 07/15/2016

such as whether the definitions ofPPPs apply in their agencies and whether their
employees have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to OSC per 5 U.S.C.
§1213(b) and (c)?
7.

Do federal agency attorneys have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures, per
5 U.S.C. §1213(a)(2) and§ 2302(b)(8)(B)? If not, why not? Do they also have the right
to make them per 5 U.S.C. §1213(a)(l) and §2302(b)(8)(A) as other federal agency
employees? If not, why not?

8.

Can federal agency employees, as rule bring forward concerns in lawful ways -do federal
agency employees obtain an objective and timely resolution of the concerns they lawfully
bring forward?

9.

Are federal agency employees adequately protected from reprisal and other types of
PPPs?

10.

Is there any objective basis for any agency head to claim they are successfully complying
with their duty to "prevent PPPs" in their agency, per 5 U.S.C. §2302(c), because their
employees are, by objective measure, adequately protected from PPPs?

11.

Is there any objective basis for the President or Congress to claim that federal agency
employees can bring forward concerns and/or are adequately protected from reprisal and
other types ofPPPs? If not, why not?

12.

Do you agree federal agencies are not self-regulating for their management culture, that
OSC and MSPB have essential responsibilities to regulate the management culture in
federal agencies, those not listed at §2302(a)(2)(C), and that the President has the
statutory responsibility, per §2301(c), to ensure the complex system for regulating the
management culture in federal agencies not listed at §2302(a)(2)(C), involving multiple
independent federal agencies performing complementary functions, is working properly?

13.

How large should OSC be in its resources and personnel, to scrupulously implement its
va1ious statutory duties for regulating the management culture in federal agencies?

2
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LORING E. JUSTICE, P.L.L.C.
Attorney at Law
11911 Kingston Pike, Suite 20 I
Knoxville, TN 37934

Fax: (865) 584-8621

Telephone: (865) 584-8620

October 30, 2014

Congressman Jolm J. Duncan, Jr.
800 Market Street, Suite 110
Knoxville, TN 3 7902
phone: (865) 523-3772 Fax: (865) 544-0728
Via: Jennifer Stansberry: jennifer.stansberry@mail.house.gov
Subject: My evaluation of concerns of Joseph Carson, PE
Dear Congressman Duncan,
I hope this letter finds you doing well. I have been your constituent for almost fourteen years now and
during much of that time, have been helping another constituent of yours, Mr. Joe Carson, P.E. In past 4
years, I have carefully, and independently, evaluated the disclosures ofMr. Carson, in regard to
violations of the civil service law by U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) and U.S. Merit Systems
Protection Board (MSPB). Given your legal training and experience as a Member of Congress, I need
not unduly burden your time in explaining the impact of the Civil Service Ref01m Act (CSRA) or the
Whistleblower Protection Act (WPA). They create significant duties on the part of the Office of Special
Counsel and Agency Heads and to a certain extent, the President, to take a number of affirmative steps
to ensure the integrity of the federal merit system in employment and thereby to promote worker and
public health and safety. As Joe has claimed for years, many of these duties are being ignored and given
the text of the laws and their clarity, I cannot disagree with him at all. Joe worries given the significant
federal presence in East Tennessee with Oak Ridge Operations and TVA, among other major federal
actors in our region, the failure to enforce or even acknowledge these significant duties under the CSRA
and WP A puts our region at profound risk. I know you are concerned about these types of issues.

I know you are quite busy and have many duties. But I would respectfully ask you please use your
influence with the House Committee of Oversight and Government Reform or one of its sub-committees
so they direct OSC and MSPB to respond as to their failure to enforce or apply key provisions of the
CSRA and WP A. If OSC and MSPB claim uncertainty as to their duties, I would kindly suggest the
proper mechanism to resolve such is commissioning the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of
Justice to review the involved civil service laws and issue its binding opinion on their interpretation.
Thank you for considering this letter and please let me know anything I can do for you.
Respectfully,

Loring Justice
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Questions for Chairman Susan Grundmann of U.S. Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
1.

Do you have an "attorney-client" relationship with the U.S. Merit Systems Protection
Board (MSPB)? If so, could that not create a conflict with your duties as the head of
MSPB, when someone claims the MSPB is not properly interpreting and applying any of
its non-discretionary statutory duties to the federal civil service and/or federal agency
employees and requests you to seek an opinion from the Office ofLegal Counsel of the
Department of Justice to resolve the matter?

2.

Does Joseph Carson, PE have "reasonable belief' (as the term is defmed by
whistleblower case law at MSPB) in his public claims of decades-long violation oflaw at
MSPB- regarding 5 U.S.C. §1204(a)(3)- in failing and refusing to conduct the
necessary "special studies" to detennine and report, to the President and Congress, "as to
whether the public interest in a civil service free of prohibited personnel practices is
being adequately protected?"

3.

Ifthere is reasonable doubt about MSPB's interpretation of its special studies duty at 5
U.S.C. §1204(a)(3), should you not request the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) ofthe
Department of Justice review it and issue its opinions to resolve such question of
interpreting this civil service law, given its applicability in many federal agencies?
Should you not request the President to direct such an OLC review if OLC will not do so
at your request?

4.

Could such OLC review aid in perfonning your statutory duty to make recommendations
to Congress for legislation, per 5 U.S.C. §1204(1)?

5.

Do the definitions ofPPPs apply, in whole or part, to agencies outside, in whole or part,
MSPB 's PPP adjudicatory jurisdiction? Do these definitions apply, in whole or part, to
the agencies and/or agency components described at 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(C)? If not,
why not? If not, then how can the "merit principles," found at 5 U.S.C. §2301(b), which
do apply in these agencies be implemented - i.e., how are employees in these agencies to
be protected from violations of the merit principles, if the definitions ofPPPs do not
apply?

6.

Were the 1994 changes to 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(C), to place employees of government
corporations within OSC's and MSPB 's whistleblower reprisal protection jmisdiction, a
result of the 1989 MSPB "special study'' oftl1e Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) that
detennined TVA employees could not make whistleblower disclosures to OSC because
they were outside OSC's whistleblower protection jurisdiction by the-then law at
§2302(a)(2)(C)? If so, do employees of TVA and all other government corporations
now have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to OSC per 5 U.S.C.
§ 1213(b) and (c)? 1
1

See MSPB special study, "TVA and Merit Principles," dated 8/17/89, available at
http://www.mspb.gov/studies/viewallstudies.htm
1
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7.

Do employees of federal agencies outside OSC's PPP protectionjurisdiction by 5 U.S.C.
§2302(a)(2)(C) have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to it per 5 U.S.C.
§12l3(b) and (c)? Ifnot, why not?

8.

If the definitions ofPPPs do not apply in federal agencies listed at 5 U.S.C. §
2302(a)(2)(C), how can MSPB, via its special studies, determine "as to whether the
public interest in a civil service free ofPPPs is being adequately protected" in them?

9.

If the defmitions ofPPPs do not apply in federal agencies listed at 5 U.S.C.
§2302(a)(2)(C), how can heads of those agencies comply with their statutory duty at 5
U.S.C. §230l(c) to "take any action ...necessary'' to ensure these agencies "embody" the
merit principles?

10.

Should the heads of government corporations, such as the Tennessee Valley Authority,
per their statutory responsibilities at 5 U.S.C. § 230l(c), to "take any action ..... necessary"
to ensure their agencies "embody" the merit principles, be seeking answers to basic
questions such as whether the definitions ofPPPs apply in their agencies and whether
their employees have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures to OSC per 5
U.S.C. §1213(b) and (c)?

11.

Do federal agency attorneys have a statutory right to make whistleblower disclosures, per
5 U.S.C. § 1213(a)(2) and§ 2302(b)(8)(B), despite attorney-client prohibitions? If not,
why not? Do they also have the right to make them per 5 U.S.C. §1213(a)(l) and
§23 02(b )(8)(A) as other federal agency employees? If not, why not?

12.

Has "the public interest in a civil service free ofPPPs been adequately protected in the
Department of Veterans Affairs during the past 5-10 or more years? If you cannot
answer, why not and from whom should Congress obtain such an objective
detennination?

13.

Can federal agency employees, as rule , effectively bring forward concerns in lawful
ways, that is, do concerned federal employees obtain an objective and timely resolution
of the concerns they lawfully bring forward?

14.

Are federal agency employees adequately protected from reprisal and other types of
PPPs?

15.

Is there any objective basis for any agency head to claim they are successfully complying
with their statutory duty to "prevent prohibited personnel practices (PPPs)" in their
agency, per 5 U.S.C. §2302(c), because their employees are, by objective measure,
adequately protected from PPPs?

16.

Is there an objective basis for the President or Congress to claim that federal agency
employee scan bring forward concerns and/or are adequately protected from reprisal and

2
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other types ofPPPs? If not, why not?
17.

Do you agree federal agencies are not self-regulating for their management culture, OSC
and MSPB have essential responsibilities to regulate the management culture in federal
agencies, particularly those not listed at §2302(a)(2)(C), and the President has the
statutory responsibility, per §2301(c), to ensure the system for regulating the
management culture in federal agencies not listed at §2302(a)(2)(C), involving multiple
independent federal agencies performing complementary functions, is working properly?

18.

How large should MSPB be, in terms of its resources and personnel, to scrupulously
implement its various statutory duties for regulating the management culture in federal
agencies?

3
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LORING E. JUSTICE, P.L.L.C.
Attorney at Law
11911 Kingston Pike, Suite 20 I
Knoxville, TN 37934

Fax: (865) 584-8621

Telephone: (865) 584-8620

October 30, 2014
Mr. Joe Carson, P.E.
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, Tennessee 37922
Re:

Legal Analysis: Potential Duty to Resign

Dear Mr. Carson:
You commissioned me to provide an impartial, expert analysis whether the regulations
1
governing Tennessee Professional Engineers compel you to:
1) resign your position with the U.S. Department ofEnergy(DOE) due to the failure of the
Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB) and the Office of Special Counsel (OS C) to
enforce the federal laws and regulations they are charged with enforcing because they
preclude the Department of Energy from having an adequate worker and public health
and safety programs, or;
2) Go "inactive" with your Professional Engineers (PE) license, and I note being a PE is
not a condition of your employment in DOE.
In advance of this letter, we agreed my ultimate professional opinion would be independent
of and uninfluenced by yours. My freedom of analysis has not been constrained.

I have carefully reviewed your position description as a facility representative, the Secretary
of Energy's "personal commitment" to safety, the regulations of the Tennessee Engineering
Board and relevant civil service laws
Congress created, in the Civil Service Refonn Act of 1978 for the regulation of the
management culture in federal agencies as DOE and to protect the "merit system" in federal
employment. Agency violations of the "merit principles" are "prohibited personnel practices
(PPPs)." The "merit principles" are not self-executing, and action must be taken to ensure
agency employees are adequately protected from PPPs.
Congress created a complex system for the protection ofthe merit system, involving three
agencies performing complementary functions.
Under this system, the agency head is responsible to "prevent prohibited personnel practices
(PPPs)," OSC is responsible to "protect" federal employees from PPPs and MSPB is
responsible to conduct "special studies" to determine whether agency heads and OSC are
"adequately protecting" federal employees from PPPs. Additionally, the President, as the head
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Mr. Joe Carson, p. 2 of 3.
of the Executive Branch, must "take any action ..... necessary'' based on the results ofMSPB's
special studies to ensure that federal employment " embodies" the merit principles (i.e. 1)
agency employees can effectively bring forward concerns, 2) agency employees are adequately
protected from reprisal and other PPPs, and 3) there is an objective basis for the President to
claim conditions 1 and 2 exist.
OSC and MSPB are violating a number of their respective statutory duties for regulating
the management culture in DOE and the President is either unable (due to OSC and MSPB not
complying with their duties) or neglecting to "take any action .... necessary" to ensure DOE
"embodies the merit principles." . Additionally, OSC unlawfully denies DOE contractor
employees their whistleblower disclosure right under 5 USC§ 1213(g)(l).
OSC and MSPB are not fulfilling these duties. They are ignoring them. The courts have
refused or failed to rule on the issues, in the main. When a Court found OSC in violation of
one of its statutory duties- to comply with the requirements of the "termination statement"
when closing a reprisal or other PPP complaint, it did not order relief and OSC continues to
violate this requirement.
Additionally, the heads of OSC, MSPB and DOE have refused or failed to request (or
direct in DOE's case) the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to review the
contested civil service laws and issue authoritative opinions on their interpretation.
In light of this noncompliance with the aforementioned laws, you are considering your ethical

duties, juxtaposed against the federal intransigence. The Tennessee Engineering regulations
provide:

If the registrant becomes aware ofa decision taken by an employer, client, or
contractor, against the registrant's advice, which violates applicable Federal,
State or Local building Laws and Regulations or which may affect adversely
the safety to the public, the registrant shall:
(a) Report the decision to the local building inspector or other public
official charged with the enforcement of the applicable Federal, State
or Local building Laws and Regulations;
(b) Refuse to consent to the decision; and

1

Tennessee Regulations, Rules of the State Board of Architectural and Engineering Examiners, Chapter
0120-02, Rule 0120-.02, et seq.
2

5

us.c. §

2302(b)(8)(B).

5 U.S. C.§ 1213(a)(l)(A) (1994); ld. § 1214(b)(2)(A)
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Mr. Joe Carson, p. 3 of3.

(c) In circumstances where the registrant reasonably believes that other
such decisions will be taken notwithstanding the registrant's objections,
terminate services with reference to the project. 4
You ask whether the failure of the heads of OSC, MSPB or DOE to request the Office of
Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice review the contested laws and issue a binding
opinion, requires you to resign from DOE, seek other employment in DOE where you would
not have responsibilities for worker or public health or safety, or go "inactive" in your PE
license in Tennessee, based on your legal duties to worker and public health and safety.
To reach the duty to resign, one must establish illegal decisions or decisions taken adverse to
public health and safety by an "employer, client or contractor, against the registrant's advice."
Notably, you are employed by the United States Department of Energy, not the MSPB or OSC,
despite their essential roles in the regulation of the management culture in DOE. I understand
you are pursuing whistleblower reprisal cases against both OSC and MSPB related to their
failure to comply with their respective duties to protect you from reprisal or regulate DOE
management culture so you can perform your duties without experiencing reprisal. If it is
determined that OSC or MSPB took "personnel actions" against you, then there would be a
case that the above applies to them.
DOE is a different matter. The Secretary of Energy refuses to direct an OLC review of your
concerns. However, DOE does not require you to be aPE as a condition of your employment,
even though it encourages you to be aPE and reimburses you for your PE registration fee. If
you were required to be aPE by DOE, you might very well have grounds to resign and claim
constructive discharge. Because you are not required to be aPE, you should seek guidance
from the State Engineering Board as to whether you should go "inactive" in your PE license. It
is their regulation, they have the duty to enforce it, and have the duty to provide guidance to
you.

4

Tennessee Regulations, Rules of the State Board of Architectural and Engineering Examiners, Chapter
0120-02, Rule 0120-02-.02.
5

!d.
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(202) 254-3600 I (202) 254-3670 I (BOO) 872-9855

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE
OR
OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

or type and complete all pertinent items. Enter "NIA" (Not Applicable) or "Unknown" where appropriate. (If more space is
needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

Mr.(0)

Ms.(O)

Mrs.(O)

Miss(0)

2.

(Home)
(Office) Ext.
Fax number:
E-mail address:
presentative of the Complainant, please supply the following information:

7. If you are

Mr.(

and title of filer:

0)

Ms.(

0)

phone number(s):

Mrs.( 0)

Miss(

0)

(Home)
(Office) Ext.

Fax number:

8. Are you (or is

E-mail address: ----------:-----:--:---;:--::~===:-::::::=:::::;-;;::;=:;;:;:-)-
Complainant, if you are filing as a representative) covered by a collective bargaining agreement? (Check one.)

9. How did you

( 0)

(0) No

( f}J )Yes

I don'tknow

become aware that you could file a complaint with OSC?

( 0)
(

( 0) OSC Brochure

OSC Speaker

) AgencyPersonnel Office

( 0) Union

( 0 ) OSC Poster
( 0) Co-worker

( 0) Other
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i

COMPLAINT OF P ~SIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
Page 2 of 12
1

10.

th~) suspected prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity?

rnployment sta_tus of the person affected by

a.

1

) A plicant for Federal employment

(~

b.

i

(/\_ C ;mpetitiveService

( I')

temporary appointment
) term appointment

(

c.

or career-conditional appointment

) E :cepted Service

I

d.

) ScheduleA
) Schedule B
) Schedule C
) National Guard Technician
) Non-appropriated Fund

(
(
(
(
(

) PostaiService
) TennesseeValley Authority
) VA Dept. of Medicine and Surgery
) Veterans Readjustment Act (VRA)
) Other (Specify)

) S riorExecutive Service (SES), Supergrade, or Executive Level

( l career SES

e.

(~career

(/~probationary employee

(

(

I) noncareer SES
I

(
(

')career GS-16, 17, or 18
) noncareerGS-16, 17, or18

(
(
(

) Executive Level V or above (career) fund
) Executive Level V or above (noncareer)
) Presidentialappointee (Senate-confirmed)

) Oth r
) civil service annuitant
) formercivil service employee
) competitive service
) excepted service

) militaryofficer or enlisted person
) contract employee
) other(specify):

---------------

)unknown

11. What othe action(s), if any, have you taken to appeal, grieve, or report this matter under any other procedure?( Check all that
apply.)

N ne, or not applicable
A peal filed with Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
P; titian for reconsideration of initial decision filed with MSPB
i
Initial Decision No.
Ui ERRA claim filed with VE_T_S_(_D_e_p_a-rtm-e-nt-o-::f-:-L-a:-bo-r:-)- - - - - - - - - (Form VETS/USERRANP-1010)
ievance filed under agency grievance procedure
ievance filed under negotiated grievance procedure
!
~ tter heard by arbitrator under grievance procedure
1"1 tter is pending in arbitration
D\ crimination complaint filed with agency
A! ency or Administrative Judge (AJ) decision on discrimination complaint appealed
1
to Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
A' peal filed with Office of Personnel Management
1
U fair labor practice (ULP) complaint filed with Federal Labor Relations Authority
!
General Counsel
L: wsuit filed in Federal Court
Court name:
1
Ri ported matter to ag-e-nc_y_l:-n-sp_e_c..,.to-r'""'G""'e_n_,e...,ra'='lr-------------

Date:-----------Date:-----------Date: _ _ _ _.:..____ _ _ _ __
Date:------------

'

d
d

1

R: ported matter to member of Congress

:

o;t

Date:--------Date:----------Date:-----------Date:-----------Date:-----------Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __
Date: _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __

Name of Senator or Representative: _____________
er (specify): - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

1

Appx220
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 25 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 199

Filed: 07/15/2016

I
COMPLAINT 0

,POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

Page 3 of 12

i

I

!

13. What a · the a~ti?ns or events that you are reporting to OSC? (To the extent known, specifically list: (a) any
suspect d prohtblfed personnel practices or other prohibited activity, other than reprisal for whistleblowinq; and
(b) any · ersonnel actions involved. (IF YOU RE ALLEGING REPRISAL FOR WHISTLEBLOWING SKIP TO
PART tON THE NEXT PAGE.
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POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS
) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO
PUBLICHEAL TH OR SAFETY
) NONE OF THE ABOVE
4. WHAT PERSONNEL ACTIO~( OCCURRED, FAILED TO OCCUR, OR
WAS THREATENED BE
SE OF THE DISCLOSURE? (List all

applicable personnel action

5.

bers from pages 4-5).

EN DID PERSONNEL ACTION(S) OR THREAT(S)
OCCUR? ( 0/DAfYR)

HAT INFORMATION WAS DISCLOSED?

. ..

·· ·

1!!.§ NEXT WHI.~~~~!iQ!_~~-~-Q_~§l.:_ ____ , .....:.:....:· ; ... ·
·.i , ·-·..o........;_.;:._~_;_....,.
1. WHEN WAS THE DISCLOSURE MADE? (MO/DA/YR)

2. TO WHOM (NAME AND TITLE) WAS THE DISCLOSURE
MADE?

3. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION EVIDENCED (check all
that apply):
(

) VIOLATION OF LAW, RULE, OR REGULATION

(

) GROSS MISMANAGEMENT

(

) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS

(
(

) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO
PUBLICHEAL TH OR SAFETY
NONE OF THE ABOVE

4. WHAT PERSONNEL ACTION(S) OCCURRED, FAILED TO OCCUR, OR
WAS THREATENED BECAUSE OF THE DISCLOSURE? (List all

applicable personnel action numbers from pages 4-5).
1=5-._W_H_E_N_D_I_D_P_E_R_S_O_N_N_E_L-A-C-:T-:-:10:-N-:-:(:-S):-0:-R=-=:THREAT(S)oCc"U'R?"
(MO/DAfYR)
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I

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
Page 8 of 12

3.

!
i
i

If you ar not the pe.rson wh? actually. made a disclosure described in boxes A, B, C, D above, please
check b ;low to specify the disclosure Involved, and provide the name, address, and telephone number of
the pers :n who made the disclosure, if known. (If space is needed to identify more than one person, use
I

Continu lion Sheet at page 12.)
I

Disclosu 'e:

A (0)

'

Name:

B ( 0)

c ( 0)

D ( 0)

/
~~----------------------------------------------------------------------

Address:l-------------------------------------------!

Telepho ,e number:

Ext.

!

4. Explain ihy you believe that the personnel action(s) listed above occurred because of the disclosure(s) that
you desc ibed. (Be as specific as possible about any dates, locations, names, and positions of all persons
1

mention 1'd in your explanation. In particular, identify actual and potential witnesses, giving work locations
and telep' one numbers, if known. Att ch a copy of any documents that support your statements. Please
of the n · ication of the a enc 's ro osal and/or decision about the ersonnel
rovide 1 ossible a co
overed b
lai If more space is needed, continue on page 12.)

n this matter (that is, what remedy are you asking for)?

5.
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i
COMPLAINT OF pOSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
Page 9 of 12
j

select and si
Statement
If you initia
Consent .,.tdl""""nt
investigation,
select a less
You should
regardless of
which OSC
(Please sign one)

nication with the agency involved in my complaint. I agree to allow OSC to disclose my identity as
from or about me, to the agency if OSC decides that such disclosure is needed to
in my complaint (for example, to request information from the agency, or see a possible
or corrective action). I understand that regardless of the Consent S teme I choose, OSC may
my complaint file when permitted by the Privacy Act (including circu tance summarized in Part 5,

Da

's communication with the agency involved in my complaint, but I do not agree to allow OSC to disclose
complainant to that agency. I agree to allow OSC to disclose only information from or about me, without
disclosing my ame or other identifying information, if OSC decides that such disclosure is needed to investigate the
allegation(s} in my complaint (for example, to request information from the agency, or seek a possible resolution through
mediation or
action). I understand that in some circumstances (for example, if I am complaining about my failure
to receive a p
otion}, OSC could not maintain my anonymity while communicating with the agency involved· about a
specific
action. In such cases, I understand that this request for confidentiality might prevent OSC from taking
further action
my complaint. I also understand that regardless of the Consent Statement I choose, OSC may disclose
information
my complaint file when permitted by the Privacy Act (including circumstances summarized in Part 5,
below).

Complainant's

Date Signed

ignature for Consent Statement 2

to OSC's communication with the agency involved in my complaint. I understand that if OSC deci~es that it
the allegation(s} in my complaint without communicating with that agency, my lack of consent Will
t OSC from taking further action on the complaint. I under~tand that reg~rdless of ~he Conse~t Statement I
choose, OSC ay disclose information from my complaint file when permitted by the Pnvacy Act (1nclud1ng Circumstances
summarized in Part 5, below).

Complainant's

Date Signed

ignature for Consent Statement 3
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POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY

:

statements made in this complaint(including any continuation pages) are
correctto the best of my knowledge and belief. I under: tandt at a false
""''~""""lment of a material fact is a criminal offense punisha Je by a fine of up to
entfor up to five years, or both. 18 U.S.C. § 1001

......,.J.UJJL.I..lo<...J.L>,;~.

Limited disclosure of information from OSC files is needed to fulfill OSC's
, prosecutorial, and related responsibilities. OSC has described 18 routine uses for
in its files in the Federal Register (F.R.), at 66 F.R. 36611 (July 12; 2001 ), and 66 F.R.
ber 5, 2001 ). A copy of the routine uses is available from OSC upon request. A
the routine uses appears below.
lose informatiofrom its files in the following circumstances:

•

sclose that an allegation of prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity has been
close information to the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) as needed for inquiries
lving civil service laws, rules or regulations, or to obtain an advisory opinion;
lose information about allegations or complaints of discrimination to entities
con

rned with enforcement of antidiscrimination laws;
e MSPB or the President, when seeking disciplinary action;
e involved agency, MSPB, OPM, or the President when OSC has reason to
that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken;
ose information to Congress in OSC's annual report;

ose information to third parties as needed to conduct an investigation; obtain an
age cy investigation and report on information disclosed to OSC's whistleblower disclosure
cha nel· or to give notice of the status or outcome of an investigation;
I

'

i

8. to d
information as needed to obtain information about hiring or retention of an employee;
issul nee of a security clearance; conduct of a security or suitability investigation; award of a
ct; or issuance of a license, grant, or other benefit;
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for certain legislative coordination and
nee purposes;
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Joseph Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Jason Armstrong, Dept. of Energy
OSC-11 form
Part 2, Reprisal for Whistleblowing
Backgound to this complaint, likely about my 30th PPP complaint to OSC since 1992
For five or more years now, I have publicly alleged that OSC is a lawbreaking fraud since its
creation by the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 and MSPB is OSC’s lawbreaking enabler from
its creation by the same law. I have repeatedly informed OSC, the President, the Secretary of
Energy, Congress, MSPB and other stakeholders about my concerns - which I contend have
significantly harmed America and place America at unnecessarily increased risk of a terrorist
attack or other catastrophe - and their basis in fact and law. 1
OSC is a continuing fraud because its being one is in the personal interest of Tom Devine, the
long-time Legal Director of the Government Accountability Project (GAP) - he lives to play
“rescuer” - as well as the business interests of his employer, GAP, and other so-called “good
gov’t/watchdog groups as POGO, PEER, Public Citizen, etc; the “cottage industry” of private
sector attorneys who specialize in federal employment law, particularly the DC chapter of the
National Employment Lawyers Association; and the highly paid senior officials and employees such as Tim Hannapel, OSC’s one-time Deputy Director - of federal employee unions.
A broken, lawbreaking fraud of an OSC creates a steady stream of people like me, whom Devine
can “publicly rescue” for public acclaim, and who are “profit centers” to so-called “good gov’t”
groups as GAP, private sector attorneys and federal employee union senior officials and senior
employees, particularly attorneys.
OSC has 110 employees - that, in and of itself, shows OSC is a fraud - and has been for decades.
A viable OSC would need 450-500 employees, but Tom Devine, GAP, et al have persuaded
Administration and Congress for decades now to fund only a mirage OSC, not a viable one. Tom
Devine has the influence, with Democratic Administrations particularly, “blackball” candidates
to political positions at OSC and MSPB. Everyone knows this, and he knows they know.
Special Counsel Lerner and other top OSC officials, as well as longtime OSC attorneys (over half
of OSC’s employees are attorneys) appear hopelessly ethically compromised. Special Counsel
Lerner owes her position to Tom Devine’s support. So do her political appointees.
Additionally, by current “model rules of professional conduct” of the American Bar Association,
Special Counsel Lerner has an inherently conflicted role about my contentions of OSC
lawbreaking. As the head of OSC, she took an oath to enforce the laws within OSC’s mandate.
But as an attorney employed by OSC, she has an attorney-client relationship with OSC - and,

1

See www.broken-covenant.org
1
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Joseph Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Jason Armstrong, Dept. of Energy
therefore, as a duty to prevent, within the law, any exposure of any possible longstanding OSC
lawbreaking. She does not deny my concerns are well-evidenced, she just does what she can to
avoid having them resolved via rule of law at the Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of
Justice - which is exactly what Tom Devine also wants.
Mr. Devine apparently wants to prevent being his exposed as a decades-long exploiter of
foolhardy souls as I - anything but the champion he publicly claims to be - federal employees
who put duty to the common good before our professional standing and personal economy.
Special Counsel Lerner apparently wants to avoid OSC being found blameworthy in not
performing aspects of its positive statutory duties to federal employees or others. And America
seems to diminish, almost by the day, as a Country, as dysfunction and corruption in the federal
civil service becomes more and more the expected norm of the American people.
My March 4, 2012 disclosure to OSC, made per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1), which became OSC
file no. DI-12-2141 and OSC’s March 22, 2012 response, detail the scope of my concerns and the
failure of Special Counsel Lerner to demonstrate the moral courage to obtain their resolution.
No, she does not have the legal authority to direct the Office of Legal Counsel to resolve them,
via rule of law. But she has the moral imperative to request the Office of Legal Counsel do so
and, if it will not, to publicly resign. It seems apparent that she lacks the moral courage to do
this. I think her apparent lack of the moral courage to ensure she is properly implementing her
sworn positive statutory duties, including her statutory mandate to “act in the interests” of
foolhardy souls as I, should persuade President Obama there is adequate grounds to remove her
for cause. 2
My protected disclosures about OSC’s 24 year-long, continuing, violation of 5 U.S.C.
section 1213(g)(1), in claiming that it does not apply to Department of Energy Contractor
Employees - and everyone else, even anonymous individuals.
See my September 4, 2012 disclosure per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1), my November 23, 2012
letter to Special Counsel Lerner about it, and my comments on OSC’s failure to mention to this
statutory authorized disclosure channel on its website. See OSC’s letter to me of August 5, 2013
that supposedly addresses my September 4, 2012 disclosure and November 23, 2012 letter to
Special Counsel Lerner without ever addressing my contentions about section 1213(g)(1). 3
My protected disclosures to Sandra Rhodes, Employee Concerns Manager, URS-CH2Hill
(UCOR), a Department of Energy Contractor responsible for environmental restoration
work in Oak Ridge, Tennessee.

2

My disclosure and OSC’s response are attached to this complaint.

3

These documents are attached to this complaint.
2
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Joseph Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Jason Armstrong, Dept. of Energy
Starting in Fall of 2012, I started making protected disclosures to Ms. Rhodes, that OSC’s
violation of 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1) meant that UCOR employees were unlawfully denied
their statutory right to make confidential, secure, disclosures to OSC, including about concerns
involving information that cannot be publicly released (UCOR works with some classified
materials and processes for DOE). The context was Leo Sain, UCOR’s extravagantly
compensated President and shareholder, establishing policy requiring UCOR employees, on pain
of possible termination, to bring forward concerns, when he refused to bring forward a concern
that OSC’s lawbreaking was denying his employees a lawful way to do so.
Ms. Rhodes told me that her understanding was that Mr. Sain felt his duty as a UCOR corporate
officer precluded him from “rocking boats” about my concerns, as valid as they seemed to be.
To me, Mr. Sain demonstrated a contemptible lack of moral courage and/or greed in putting the
millions of dollars he was making as UCOR employee, officer and stockholder ahead of rule of
law and his duties to the health and safety of his employees and the public.
I pushed Ms. Rhodes about this - any employee concerns manager who lacks the moral courage
to “rock boats” out of fear of loss of employment about valid issues should NOT be an employee
concerns manager. She told me she was recently widowed. I requested she pass my concerns on
to Mr. Sain - because if he were call for a resolution of my concerns about OSC’s 24 year-long
lawbreaking about section 1213(g)(1), DOE management would possibly - and finally - find the
spine to get them lawfully resolved at OLC. 4
I have been in regular conversation with Ms. Rhodes in past 2 years. I have met with her 4-6
times in that period. In our initial conversations she told me our conversations were private, that
I could “let my hair down” and vent, that it came with the territory of her being an employees
concerns manager. 5
But I pushed her to do something that apparently caused her to fear for her job, in asking her to
convey my concerns to Leo Sain. Leo Sain likely has the power to get my managers removed,
given how corrupt and dysfunctional DOE is, so he apparently pushed my management to trump
us a false, unfounded and/or highly irresponsible reprimand against me, based on an unwitnessed
- supposedly “confidential” conversation in which I made “protected disclosures” about OSC’s
lawbreaking and its possible impact on workplace/public health and safety in UCOR. It is
WHAT I said - my protected disclosure and firm intention to get it resolved, despite Leo Sain’s

4

There is no legal question that the Secretary of Energy has the lawful authority to direct
OLC lawfully resolve my concerns about section 1213(g)(1) and other facets of OSC/MSPB
lawbreaking - lawbreaking that has greatly harmed America, in my opinion.
5

I have attached “print screens” of the subject lines of my email to her, from work and
home, during that time.
3
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Joseph Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Jason Armstrong, Dept. of Energy
apparent desire to put his greed before worker safety - even possibly threatening Ms. Rhodes and
my management if I was not STOPPED – and NOT how I said anything to Ms. Rhodes. This
complaint is a sworn statement and my statement as part of this complaint is that there was
nothing contentious in our interaction, even though what I asked of Ms. Rhodes as part of my
protected disclosure, I now realize, must have frightened her, a fairly recent widow, greatly.
I publicly question the moral courage of OSC to do its duty in this matter. If my concerns are
substantiated, I think it means Leo Sain, Sandra Rhodes, and culpable DOE managers should lose
their jobs. Special Counsel Lerner should start by requesting the Office of Legal Counsel to
resolve my contentions about UCOR employees - as other DOE contractor employees - having a
statutory right to make disclosures to OSC per section 1213(g)(1). If OLC will not honor that
request then Special Counsel Lerner should tell the President that if he will not direct a resolution
of this concern, that she will publicly resign. But that would take a moral courage I have yet to
witness - in over 20 years - in OSC, to the great detriment of the integrity of the federal civil
service and America.
I am composed to losing my job and pension, if necessary, to uphold my oath as PE and federal
employees and protect the health and safety of others. I apparently have something - moral
courage in doing my duty to protect others - that seems lacking in OSC, in my management, in
DOE as a whole, in Leo Sain, and DOE contractors as a rule. The possible stakes for America
and world - given DOE’s responsibilities for America’s nuclear stockpile and involvement with
nuclear weapon materials worldwide are, frankly, cataclysmic. My job is of no import relevant to
such stakes - and neither is that of Leo Sain, Sandra Rhodes, Mark Whitney, Susan Carnes, Jason
Armstrong, Rufus Smith and others involved. So do your duty, OSC, please find the necessary
moral courage to do so. 6
Question 4 - why I believe a personnel action occurred in reprisal for my protected
disclosure
I made repeated protected disclosures to Ms. Rhodes - and others - about OSC’s lawbreaking
claim that DOE contractor employees did not have a statutory right to make disclosures to it per
5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1), thereby precluding the statutory right of UCOR employees to make
lawful disclosures to it. I must have put her in fear of her job, possibly because she is a recent
widow. So she reacted in fear, Mr. Sain reacted in greed, my DOE management reacted in
fear/or greed of Mr. Sain, and a baseless, false, and/or highly irresponsible reprimand was issued
about an unwitnessed, private, supposedly confidential and protected conversation was

6

DOE is like an iceberg - 10% federal employees and 90% contractors, who execute the
duties for the safeguards of America’s nuclear stockpile and of much other nuclear weapons
material around the world - this is NO drill, this is “ground zero” truth.
4
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Joseph Carson, PE, whistleblower reprisal complaint against Jason Armstrong, Dept. of Energy
generated. 7
Question 5 - What do I want OSC to do?
DOE operates in a decades-long culture of fear and America is at unnecessarily increased risk of
a nuclear 9/11 because of it. I want OSC to comply with its statutory duties by investigating my
complaint, determining whether there is reasonable grounds to believe a PPP happened and, if so,
to formally report its determination to the Secretary of Energy - giving him an opportunity to
show everyone in DOE just what he will do to “prevent PPPs” in DOE, per his duty per 5 U.S.C.
section 2302(c). But that would take a moral courage I have yet to witness in OSC, in over 20
years.
Attachments:
As described in my complaint’s footnotes.

7

The reprimand is attached, as is my related “employee concern” which was summarily
rejected by Rufus Smith.
5
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\

Mtch 4, 2012
Ms. Catherine McMullen
Ch ef, Disclosure Unit
Of Ice of Special Counsel
17 0 M St, NW Suite 218
W shington, DC 20036 www.osc.gov
Vi : mail, fax, and email 202-653-5151 (fax) <cmcmullen.osc.gov>
Su ject: Disclosure per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(l) alleging 34 years of non-compliance agency
he s Directors ofFBI, Special Counsels ofU.S. Office of Special Counsel, and members ofthe
Bo rd of the U.S. Merit Systems Protection Board with aspects of their vital duties created by the
Ci il Service Reform Act of 1989 has created a "broken covenant" that has contributed to a
mu h diminished and more threatened America. 1

Per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(l) I, a current federal employee, submit a whistleblower disclosure.
I u derstand OSC must receive this information and may transmit it, without necessarily making
a s bstantiallikelihood determination, to the heads of the involved agencies. If this happens, the
hea of those agencies will inform OSC, in writing, of "what action has been or is being taken
and when such action shall be completed" and this written report will become a permanent,
pub icly available, record at OSC per section 1219.
Per the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) disclosure form, OSC-12, and the relevant
reg lation at 5 C.F.R. section 1800.2, I submit the following information:

los ph Carson, PE
109 3 Twin Harbour Drive
Kn xville, TN 37934
865 576-1478 office
865 300-5831 cell
1

See www.broken-covenant.org and http://mspbwatch.org for much additional
infl
ation. "Broken covenant" means that since 1978, Presidents, agency heads, Special
Co nsels of the Office of Special Counsel and members of the Board ofthe Merit Systems
Pro ection Board have failed to properly interpret and apply vital aspects of their respective
sw
duties to ensure federal employees can do their sworn duty to protect the health, safety,
sec rity and welfare of Americans, ethically and competently, without fear or favor, per the merit
syslm principles, while being adequately protected from reprisal and other types of prohibited
perrnnel practices (PPPs).
I

;;J-vft~
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I c nsent to the disclosure of my name by OSC to the involved agencies.
A encies involved- every Executive Branch agency and the Director of the FBI.

M March 4, 2012 letter to plaintiff attorneys in ongoing litigation about the 9111 terrorist
att cks, which I include as part of this disclosure, details my concerns which include:
1.

OSC, for 23 years, has misinterpreted and misapplied section 1213(g)(l ), by failing to
properly receive and consider disclosures made per section 1213(g)(l ), either from
federal employees or anyone else.

2.

OSC, for 34 years, has misinterpreted and misapplied section 1214(e) by claiming its
reporting requirements never apply to its determinations of violations within its
enforcement jurisdiction by sections 1214 or 1216.

3.

OSC, for 34 years, has misinterpreted and misapplied sections 1213(a )(2) and
2302(b)(8)(B) by claiming that employees outside its PPP jurisdiction by section
2302(a)(2)(C) are also prohibited from submitting disclosures to it.

4.

OSC, for 34 years, has misinterpreted and misapplied or simply failed or refused to
comply with sections 1213(a)(2) and 2302(b )(8)(B), by not being able or willing to
receive classified disclosures, including disclosures of highly classified foreign
intelligence or counter-intelligence information.

5.

OSC, for 23 years, has misinterpreted and misapplied section 1214(a)(1) and (a)(4) by
suspending its investigations of whistle blower reprisal type PPPs when the complainant
files an IRA appeal at the Merit Systems Protection Board.

6.

OSC, since 1994, by any or all the above, has committed many section 2302(b )( 12) type
PPPs against many federal employees who sought its assistance, despite its mandate to
"act in the interests" of such employees. It did this by creating or causing the personnel
action, per section 2302(a)(2)(A)(xi), of "any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions" of these federal employees in violating relevant
civil service law, including the merit system principles found at section 2301(b)(4) and
(b)(9).

7.

OSC, since 2004, has misinterpreted and misapplied its duty to survey employees who
submit disclosures to it and include the results in its Annual Reports to Congress. This
requirement was added in 1994 by section 13 of Pub. L. 103-424 and is codified in the
"notes" at end of section 1212. OSC complied with it until 2003 and then stopped doing
so without explanation.

2
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8.

Heads of agencies within OSC's PPP jurisdiction, for 34 years, have misinterpreted and
misapplied their sworn duty, per section 2302( c), to "prevent PPPs" in their agencies by
not ensuring they have an objective basis to tell their employees that: 1) the employees
know of their ability to file confidential disclosures with OSC, including highly classified
disclosures, 2) that OSC is able and willing to receive such disclosures and will comply
with its duties to process them, and 3) they are adequately protected from PPPs.

9.

Heads of agencies outside of OSC 's PPP jurisdiction and Directors of the FBI, for 34
years, have misinterpreted and misapplied their sworn duty, per 2301 (c), to "take any
action .... necessary" to ensure they have an objective basis to tell their employees that: 1)
the employees know of their ability to file confidential disclosures with OSC, including
highly classified disclosures, 2) that OSC is able and willing to receive such disclosures
and will comply with its duties to process them, and 3) they are adequately protected from
PPPs.

10.

The Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB), for 34 years, has misinterpreted and
misapplied its duty at section 1204(a)(3) by failing to conduct the requisite special
studies, thereby enabling all the other misinterpretations and misapplications of law
described in this disclosure.

11.

The MSPB has, for 34 years, failed to conduct the special studies necessary for it to
determine and report "as to whether the public interest in a civil service free of PPPs is
being adequately protected."

12.

The MSPB has, for 34 years, failed to conduct a reactive special study to determine
whether the fact or perception of PPPs was a causal factor in any catastrophe or failure
involving federal agencies, such as 9/11, going to war in Iraq for false reasons, American
torture, financial meltdown of 2008, BP Gulf oil spill of 2010, loss of space shuttles, etc.

13.

The Merit Systems Protection Board, in 2007, made a false argument to a federal court,
that it had issued an interpretation of section 1204(a)(3) when it has not.

14.

That Special Counsels and members of 3-person Board of MSPB who are attorneys have,
for 34 years, wrongly claimed that their attorney-client relationship with their employing
agencies trumps their oath of allegiance for their office, precluding them from faithfully
discharging the duties of their office when doing so might involve "whistleblowing"
about possible misinterpretation or misapplication of the laws they are responsible to
faithfully implement.

l

Co elusion and actions I Seek from OSC, consistent with its duty to "act in the interests" of
co cerned federal employees.

3
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M . McMullen, as one result of the above, Presidents, for the past 34 years, have failed and/or
be n unable to comply with their sworn duty, per section 2301(c), to "take any
ac ·on .... necessary" to ensure they have an objective basis to tell employees of agencies within
0 C's PPP jurisdiction that: 1) the employees know of their ability to file confidential
dis losures with OSC, including highly classified disclosures, 2) that OSC is able and willing to
re eive such disclosures and will comply with its duties to process them, and 3) they are
ad quately protected from PPPs.
I h pe this disclosure results OSC taking the action necessary to spur the President and/or
res onsible agency heads to resolve my wei-evidenced, long-standing, far-reaching and goodfai h concerns about "broken covevant" by directing and/or asking the Office of Legal Counsel
(0 C) of the Department of Justice to issue opinions on the past/current interpretations of the
fol owing laws: 5 U.S.C. sections 1204(a)(3), 1212 "endnote" about Annual Surveys of
em loyees who submit disclosures to OSC, 1213(a)(2), 1213(g)(l), 1214(a)(4), 1214(e), 230l(c),
23 2(c), and whether the attorney-client relationship Special Counsel and attorneys who are
me hers of the Board ofMSPB precludes them from "blowing whistles" about possible
mi interpretation or misapplication of the laws they have a sworn duty to faithfully execute. 2
Ad itionally, I hope it causes OSC to spur MSPB to investigate the false claim it made to a
fed raljudge in 2007 about its having issued a formal interpretation of section 1204(a)(3) when it
ne er has.
I c rtify that all the statements made in this complaint (including any continuation pages or
att chments) are true, complete, and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. I understand
tha a false statement or concealment of a material fact is a criminal offense punishable by a fine
of p to $10,000, imprisonment for up to five years, or both. 18 U.S.C. section 1001.
March 4, 2012
Jos ph Carson, PE
10 53 Twin Harbour Drive
Kn xville, TN 37934
jpc rson@tds.net
865 300-5831 cell

Att~chment: My March 4, 20121etter to approximately 50 plaintiff attorneys in ongoing litigation
abort 9/11 terrorist attacks
cop : Other stakeholders to a federal civil service that operates by merit system principles in
whi h federal agency employees are adequately protected from PPPs.

2

See www.justice.gov/olc/ for a description of this office.
4
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505

March 22, 20 I 2

Mr. Joseph P. Carson, P.E.
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re:

OSC File No. DI-12-2141

Dear Mr. Carson:
The Office of Special Counsel (OS C) has reviewed the information you referred to
the Disclosure Unit. You have alleged that the OSC's Special Counsels, FBI Directors,
members of the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB) and other agency heads have
failed to comply with the duties created by the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 for 34
years.
In the information you provided, you stated that the result of this failure is a
"broken covenant" with the American people that has contributed to a more diminished
and threatened America. You explain that since 1978, because of the broken covenant,
Presidents, as well as the other government officials listed above, have failed to properly
interpret their duties to protect federal employees so that those employees may fulfill
their duty to protect the health, safety, security, and welfare of the American people
without fear of reprisal or other prohibited personnel practices. You cite 14 instances in
which OSC and the MSPB have misinterpreted their statutory authority.
After review of the information, we have determined that OSC is not the proper
forum for review of these allegations. Instead, this information should be provided to
OSC's Congressional oversight committees for their review and consideration. The
information for those committees follows:
Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
U.S. Senate
340 Dirksen Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510
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Mr. Joseph P. Carson
Page 2
Committee on Oversight and Government Reform
U.S. House of Representatives
2157 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20515
Please direct all future correspondence on these issues to the above noted
committees. Accordingly, we are closing our file.
Sincerely,

/~Qvvt~
Catherine A. McMullen
Chief, Disclosure Unit

CAM:TLB
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Se tember 4, 2012
M . Catherine McMullen
C "ef, Disclosure Unit
Of Ice of Special Counsel
17 0 M St, NW Suite 218
W shington, DC 20036 www.osc.gov
Vi : mail and email202-254-3711 (fax) <cmcmullen.osc.gov>

Su ject: Supplement to OSC File No. DI-12-4496, Based on Department of Energy Inspector
Ge eral Special Report of August 29, 2012, "Inquiry into the Security Breach at the National
Nu lear Security Administration's Y -12 National Security Complex."

Pe 5 U.S.C. section 1213(a)(2) I, a current Department of Energy (DOE) federal employee,
su mit a supplement my whistleblower disclosure, OSC File no. DI-12-4496, based on the DOE
Ins ector General (IG) recent "Special Report" regarding the unprecedented, unbelievable and
un eniable breach of physical security at DOE's Y-12 nuclear weapon plant in Oak Ridge, TN.' 2
Th "broken covenant" of the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 is an essential factor to this
"si nificant and specific danger to public health and safety." 3 Fear of reprisal by DOE
em loyees in the Office of Inspector General appears to have controlled the scope of its
inv stigation, to focus on Department of Energy contractors, instead of following the culpability
tot e employees of the National Nuclear Security Administration (NNSA), an autonomous part
oft e Department of Energy, the Secretary of Energy, the Special Counsel of the Office of
Sp cial Counsel (OS C), the Chair and other two members of the Merit Systems Protection Board
(M PB), and the President.
Is
ise, after personally experiencing 20 years of "persecution for righteousness' sake" in DOE
an the federal civil service, that the Department of Energy Inspector General is afraid - with
go d reason - to say that the Secretary of Energy directed his investigation be inadequately
sco ed to avoid following the law and facts where ever they may lead in the Department of

1

This 18 page report is available at http://energy.gov/sites/prod/files/IG-0868_0.pdf

2

This situation has received much local and some national news, see
ht ://blogs.knoxnews.corn!munger/ for local coverage, see
ht ://www .nytimes.com/20 12/09/0 1/science/earth/audit-finds-security-lapses-at-y-12-uranium-st
ora e-plant.html for a national news story.
3

See www.broken-covenant.org for extensive detail.
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En rgy and elsewhere within the Executive Branch.
D E Inspector General Friedmann and his subordinates have good reason to "look the other
wa ," instead of "blowing whistles" about the inadequate scope of their investigation, given how
bat ered the federal civil service has become, as a result of President Obama, as his predecessors
sin e 1978, failing or refusing his sworn duty to "take any action .... necessary'' to ensure
fo lhardy souls like me- concerned federal employee who put their duty to protect others good
be re their personal economies - can do our sworn duty, per the merit system principles, to
pro ect the health, safety, security, and welfare of Americans because we are adequately protected
fro reprisal and other types of prohibited personnel practices (PPPs). 4
C uses outsi~e of DOE, but within the Executive Branch, that likely contributed to the Y12 security breach
Lets start with inability, contrary to law, of DOE and DOE contractor employees at Y-12 to
rna e whistleblower disclosures containing classified information or other information that
ca ot be publicly released.
1)

By law, there is only ONE way concerned DOE employees at Y-12 or NNSA could have
made confidential disclosures (confidential from DOE and everyone else) of sensitive or
classified information about Y-12's deficient physical security systems and programs - to
the Office of Special Counsel, somewhat similar to what I am doing here (even though I
waive confidentiality and this disclosure is not classified). However, OSC does not have
the special equipment or staff with the requisite security clearance to receive such
disclosures - sending a clear message to concerned DOE employees - "look the other
way." 5

2)

By law, there are only two other ways DOE employees can make non-confidential
disclosures of such information- to the DOE Inspector General or "another official
designated by the Secretary of Energy to receive such disclosures." DOE is on record that
the Secretary of Energy, since 1978, has never designated "another official," sending a

4

See 5 U.S.C. section 230l(c) for this duty, the President's most fundamental one to the
bers of the federal civil service.
5

See 5 U.S.C. sections 1213(a)(2), 1213(h), and 2302(b)(8)(B). I made a "protected
dis losure" to OSC about its lawbreaking failure to have the equipment and personnel necessary
to r ceive such classified or protected disclosures - I tried to make it by phone, but got a
rec rding that told me to call back during business hours! OSC is a 34 year-long lawbreaking
fra d of a federal law enforcement agency- consistent with its fraudulent nature, it rejected my
whi tleblower disclosure about its lawbreaking.
2
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clear message to concerned DOE employees at Y-12 -"look the other way."
3)

6

By law, there is only one way for a DOE contractor employee at Y-12 to make a
confidential (to anyone in DOE) disclosure of classified information- to the Office of
Special Counsel. OSC rejects the plain words of this law and its legislative history and
WILL NOT receive any such disclosure (even if it could) from a DOE contractor
employee at Y -12, sending a clear message to concerned DOE contractor employees at Y12, "look the other way." 7

Lets now consider the duties of the Secretary of Energy.
4)

By law the Secretary of Energy as the duty to "prevent prohibited personnel practices
(PPPs)" in the Department of Energy. For 34 years, Secretaries of Energy has failed to
comply with this duty- their most fundamental one to DOE employees- in any
meaningful way. Yes, they issue policy, yes, they have training on that policy - but are
the policies and training effective? Is the Secretary of Energy meaningfully complying
with this duty because he can tell DOE employees, "I have an objective basis to claim that
DOE employees are adequately protected from PPPs." No, he cannot, just as he cannot
tell DOE employees their lawfully established ways to make classified whistleblower
disclosures are actually available, sending a clear message to concerned DOE employees
at Y-12, "look the other way." 8

Lets now consider the responsibilities of the Merit Systems Protection Board and President.
5)

All of this has existed- at Y-12 and DOE nuclear weapon material facilities and sites, and
probably in many, if not most, relevant federal agencies- for 34 years, apparently
unidentified and uncorrected, because the Merit Systems Protection (MSPB) has willfully
failed or refused to conduct mandated "special studies" of such necessarytopics in DOE,
other agencies and the Office of President, per 5 U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3). It has also
existed because the President, since 1978, has willfully failed or refused to comply with
his duty, per 5 U.S.C. section 2301 (c), to "take any action .... necessary to ensure personnel

6

See 5 U.S.C. sections 1213(a)(2) and 2302(b)(8)(B).

7

See 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1), added by the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 to
legi latively overturn a 1981 opinion of the Department of Justice's Office of Legal Counsel 1981 WL 30880, 5 U.S. Op. Off. Legal Counsel 77- that only current or former federal
em loyees could make whistleblower disclosures to OSC. Special Counsel Lerner has refused to
obt in another Office of Legal Opinion on this point of law, instead OSC suggests I bring my
con ems about this to the President and Congress.
8

See 5 U.S.C. section 2302(c), for this Secretarial duty, his most fundamental one to
and NNSA employees.
3
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management is based on and embodies the merit system principles," sending a message to
concerned DOE employees at Y-12, "look the other way." 9

Conclusion
No hing in the DOE IG "Special Report" takes any issue with anything in this supplement to my
wh stleblower disclosure. It is silent to all these concerns. Why? Because fear of reprisal is
en ernie in DOE- and for reasons outside of DOE's control, including OSC, MSPB and the
Pre ident. Fear of reprisal is endemic in OSC, which is why Special Counsel Lerner and other
OS employees "look other way'' at my concerns. Fear of reprisal is endemic in MSPB, which is
wh MSPB Chairman Grundmann and other MSPB employees "look other way'' at my concerns.
Fo the past 3 years, I have been regularly been contacting the President about my concerns and
not ing has been done to resolve them. While his predecessors may well have been "in the dark"
ab t their not having the information necessary to "take any action ... necessary'' to protect
pe le like me, President Obama cannot say this. At this point, I think a fair case can be made
tha he is willfully refusing or failing to do his sworn duty to "take any action .... necessary" to
ens re federal employees are adequately protected from reprisal and other types ofPPPs, so they
can do their sworn duty to protect America. President Obama's message to concerned federal
em loyees - in all agencies- is clear, "look the other way." If only the stakes were not so high
for merica, as the Y -12 security breach demonstrates.

Jos ph Carson, PE
10 53 Twin Harbour Drive
Kn xville, TN 37934
865-300-5831

DO IG "Special Report"
Rel ted news stories

This lawbreaking- by Presidents, MSPB, OSC and agency heads - is systemic and selfrei forcing, but MSPB 's failures to do the requisite special studies is the largest factor in why it
goe on and on, unidentified and uncorrected.
9

4
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201
WAshington, D.C. 20036·4505

August 1, 2013
P. Carson, P.E.
Harbor Drive
TN 37934
OSC File Nos: DI-12-4496 and DI-12-4720

Office of Special Counsel (OSC) has reviewed the information you referred to
Unit. You have alleged a violation of law, rule, or regulation and a
"''~'"'•au•1a' and specific danger to public health and safety by employees of the
of Energy (Energy), Oak Ridge National Laboratory (Oak Ridge), Office of
roru)mmtl:U Management, Oak Ridge, Tennessee. You also alleged a violation of law,
ation and an abuse of authority by President Barack H. Obama, Secretary of
Chu and previous Secretaries over the past 34 years, Special Counsel
and the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB).
is authorized by law to refer protected disclosures to the involved agency for
'on and report.· Disclosures that OSC may refer for investigation must
that establishes a substantial likelihood of violation of law, rule, or
gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a
and specific danger to public health or safety. OSC does not have the
to investigate disclosures and, therefore, does not conduct its own

you alleged that there is inadequate security at Building 3019 at Oak Ridge .
that Building 3019 houses a significant quantity of fissionable uranium,
mrn.lLI ... ,.II"ri because of its design, age, and location in the middle of the laboratory, it is
protect. You noted that Wackenhut Services, Inc. (WSI) Oak Ridge, the same
tasked with protecting the Y-12 nuclear weapons plant at Oak Ridge,
ly I 0 miles away, is responsible for protecting Building 3019. While you did
specific information detailing deficiencies at Building 3019, you noted that
3019 does not have the same level of protective measures that Y-12 has, and
ty breach of the Y-12 facility on July 28,2012, and subsequent security
identified, give rise to concerns about the security of Building 3019. You
a 2005 newspaper article that chronicles the efforts of the Project on
Oversight to gain access to Building 3019 in order to illustrate the security
with the building. You also reported that security personnel at Building 3019
disciplined within the last year for improper conduct, including viewing
..,.1\.~'J"'"'.""

~~Mic3
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nogr phy on goverrunent computers. You alleged that the failure to provide adequate
r tecti n for Building 3019 constitutes a substantial and specific danger to public health
n safe y.
ovember 2012, you noted in a discussion with OSC that, after the security
the Y-12 facility, the Secretary of Energy directed that the security at all
tegor I facilities be reviewed. You stated that Building 3019 is part of that review
n that the building has been inspected by DOE's Office of Health, Safety and Security.
a ge eral policy, OSC does not transmit allegations of wrongdoing to the head of the
g ncy i volved where the agency has investigated or is currently investigating the same
11 gati ns. Because DOE has already responded to the security issues and is in the
r cess f inspecting facilities to determine what corrective measu~es may be necessary,
find o reason to depart from our policy in this instance. Indeed, we note that WSI
o tits c ntract and as of March 24, 2013, no longer provides protective services to Oak
i ge. rotective services are now provided by National Protective Services, L.L.C.
erefo e, we will take no further action on this matter.
N t, you alleged that due to the omission of information in Presidential Policy
i ectiv /PPD-19 issued on October 10, 2012, President Obama "arguably" violated
.S.C §§ 1213(a)(2), (h), and (j); 230l(c); and 2302(b)(8)(B). You stated that
r side t Obama violated these statutes when he failed to: 1) include OSC and MSPB as
h nnel for disclosures from employees of the intelligence agencies, 2) state that MSPB
s he on y agency charged with conducting "special studies" to determine if the channels
o whis leblowing function and if employees are protected from reprisal, and 3) state that
C is e only channel to protect federal employees from other prohibited activity
n ludin agency action prohibited by any civil service law, rule, or regulation.
0 C has jurisdiction to review disclosures of information from federal employees
o cern' g wrongdoing within executive branch agencies covered under Title 5 of the
ited tates Code. However, OSC does not have the authority to review the actions or
e ision of the President or Congress. Allegations of presidential malfeasance may be
e orted to the following congressional committees:

Co
U.
21
W

mittee on the Judiciary
. House of Representatives
8 Rayburn House Office Building
shington, D.C. 20515

Co mittee on Homeland Security and Goverrunental Affairs
Pe manent Subcommittee on Investigations
U .. Senate
34 Dirksen Senate Office Building
W shington, D.C. 20510
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. J os]ph P. Carson

a e3
Y u also alleged that Secretary of Energy Steven Chu "arguably" violated 5 U.S.C.
§ 1213 a)(2), 230I(c)(2), 2302(b)(8)(B) and 2302(c) when he issued a memorandum to
ploy es and contractors on October 5, 2012, entitled, "Employee Concerns Program
t teme t." You stated that the memorandum failed to designate an officer, other than
h DO Inspector General, who is authorized to receive disclosures or allegations
n olvin classified information from employees and that previous Secretaries of Energy
I o fail d to make such a designation. We note, however, that 5 U.S.C.
§ 1213 a)(2)and 2302(b )(8)(B) allow the Secretary to designate an official other than the
n pecto General who may receive disclosures, but do not require that the Secretary
e ignat officials in addition to the Inspector General. The remaining statutes do not
n Jude he requirement you noted. Section § 230 I authorizes the agency head to issue
u es, re ulations, and directives necessary fo ensure personnel management is based on
h meri systems principles, and§ 2302(c) notes that any individual to whom the agency
e d ha designated the authority for personnel management is responsible for the
r venti n of prohibited personnel practices, compliance with applicable civil service
a s, et ., and ensuring that employees are informed of the rights and remedies available
n er Tiles 5 and 12.
Y u further alleged that Secretary Chu and other previous Secretaries of Energy
ai ed to ensure that intelligence units are properly designated within Energy. We note
h t the nergy Office of Intelligence and Counterintelligence, an office of the
part ent of Energy, is a member of the Intelligence Community. Thus, Energy has
e ignat d an intelligence unit.
Sh uld you wish to pursue the allegation regarding longstanding misconduct by
e retar es of Energy you may report them to the President and congressional oversight
o mitt es for Energy. The contact information follows:
T~e President
T e White House
W shington, D.C. 20500

U .. Senate
E ergy and Natural Resources Committee
30 Dirksen Senate Office Building
W shington, D.C. 20510
U. . House of Representatives
C mmittee on Energy and Commerce
21 5 Rayburn House Office Building
W shington, D.C. 20515
Fi ally, you provided a copy of the Energy Office of Inspector G~neral' s report on
h brea h of security at the Y-12 facility. You alleged that fear of repnsal appears to
a e co trolled the scope of the investigation by focusing on actions of Energy

Appx243
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 48 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 222

Filed: 07/15/2016

o tract rs instead of on the culpability of employees of the National Nuclear Security
mini tration, the Secretary of Energy, the Special Counsel, and the MSPB for the
'b oken covenant" of the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, which you identified as an
s entia factor in the substantial and specific danger to public health and safety at Oak
i ge. ou believe the failure of these entities to fully execute their duties has
f ectiv ly sent a message to Energy employees and contractors that they should "look
h othe way" rather than report security concerns.
w·th respect to your allegations involving the broken covenant and the entities
r viou ly identified in connection with that issue, we determined that OSC is not the
o rect rum for the review of these allegations. Allegations involving the Secretary of
ergy nd the National Nuclear Security Administration may be transmitted to the
r side and above-listed congressional oversight committees for Energy. The
11 gati ns concerning the Special Counsel and MSPB may be transmitted to the
r side and appropriate congressional oversight committees for their review and
o side~tion. The contact information for those committees follows:
C mmittee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
U .. Senate
34 Dirksen Senate Office Building
wrshington, D.C. 20510

c1~mittee

on Oversight and Government Reform
U .. House ofRepresentatives
2157 Rayburn House Office Building
W shington, D.C. 20515
PI ase direct all future correspondence regarding these allegations to these offices.
cordi gly, we are closing our files.
Sincerely,

/~~-V~~
Catherine A. McMullen
Chief, Disclosure Unit
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Sp cial Counsel Carolyn Lerner
U. . Office of Special Counsel
170M St, NW
W shington, DC 20036
Su ~ect: 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(l), created by federal Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989,
ov
ed two Office of Legal Counsel opinions, but OSC has ignored or violated this law for
23 ears.

0 ce ofLegal Counsel (OLC) opinions 1981 WL 30900 and 1981 WL 30880 were legislatively
ove
ed by the Federal Whistle blower Protection Act of 1989, by its creation of a new
sta tory whistleblower disclosure mechanism, descnbed at 5 U.S.C. sections 1213(g)(l) and
1219(a)(4).
For 23 years, OSC has :fuiled to refer a single whistleblower disclosure for investigation per these
law , thwarting the will of Congress and contributing to much which has gone wrong in federal
age cies and the activities they regulate in that time.
OL opinion 1981 WL 30900 determined that OSC could, at its discretion, informally transmit
ano ymous whistleblower disclosures to the involved agency, but that it could not formally refer
the for investigation.
opinion 1981 WL 30880 determined that only current or former federal employees could
it whistleblower disclosures to OSC.

In e WPA, Congress created a new, separate, whistleblower disclosure scheme at 5 U.S.C.
sect on 1213(g)(1) that applied to "individuals"- not "employees"- who were not current or
fo er agency employees of the involved agency or who were not current or former employees of
ano her agency who ascertained the matter disclosed as part of their normal job duties.
It di this to legislatively overturn these two OLC opinions. While Congress gave OSC complete
disc etion about referring such whistleblower disclosures for investigation, it required the
age cies to respond to such OSC referrals and for OSC to make the agency responses permanent,
pub 'ely available, records.
Sot · disclosure mechanism applies to anonymous disclosures received by OSC and fur
disc osures received from anyone else - even fOreigners - about wrongdoing in federal agencies,
inc ing the agencies' :fuilure to implement laws or regulations about their regulation of other,
priv te sector, activities.
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De pite this clear statute and its legislative history, OSC has ignored or violated it for 23 years.
0 S 's annual reports to Congress, inspection of its public records, an its related FO IA responses
all emonstrate OSC has yet to implement this law, which is the only lawful way that current or
fo

er federal contractor employees can make classified whistleblower disclosures,
dentially, to an independent agency.

's website makes ABSOLUTELY no mention of other disclosure mechanism and its
dis losure fonn, OSC-12, denies its existence in wrongly claiming that federal contractor
e loyees may not make ANY disclosures to OSC.
I a preciate that my "whistleblowing'' about OSC's decades-long apparent willful fuilure or
re a1 to receive classified disclosures from current or fonner federal agency employees appears
to ave resulted in positive change, based on new information on OSC 's website about how to
rna e such disclosures, but I doubt that many federal employees are aware that OSC is the only
leg lly authorized way they can make classified disclosures confidentially from their agencies.

Joe Carson, PE
10 53 Twin Harbour Drive
Kn xville, TN 37934

cop :Catherine McMullen, Jason Zuckerman
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OSC find that there is a substantial likelihood that one of the statutory conditions exists, the Special Counsel will refer the
disclo ure to the appropriate agency head. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(c). The head of the agency is then required to conduct an investigation and
subm a written report on the findings of the investigation to the Special Counsel.
The st tute sets forth specific information that must be included in the agency's report. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(d). The agem:y reports must be
revie ed and signed by the head of the agency and must include the basis for the investigation, the manner in which the investigation
was c nducted and a summary of the evidence gathered. The report must also list any apparent violations found and include a
· descri tion of any action to be taken as a result of the investigation. OSC does not decide who within the agency will conduct the
inves gation. However, agency heads frequently task their Offices of Inspector General with the responsibility for investigating the
disclo ures referred by OSC.
·The, tute requires agency heads to complete the investigation and report back to OSC on their findings within 6o days. 5 U.S.C. § 1213
(c)(!). If an agency needs additional time to complete the investigation and report, an extension of time may be requested. Extension
· requ s must be submitted in writing and must state specifically the reasons the additional time is needed. Extensions will only be
grant upon a showing of good cause.
. Upon eceipt, the agency's report is reviewed to determine whether it contains the information required by the statute and whether or not .
· there ort's findings appear to be reasonable. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(e}(2). In addition, the whistleblower is afforded an opportunity to review
· and co menton the agency report. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(e)(1). If the report meets the statutory requirements, the Special Counsel then
trans its the report to the President and the congressional committees with oversight responsibility for the agency involved. 5 U.S.C. §
· 1213(e (3). OSC is also required to place the report in a public tile. s.J,J.S.C. !i 1219. The whistleblower's comments, if any, and the Special
Couns l's findings are also sent to the President and congre..c;,~ional oversight committees.
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If the eport reveals evidence of a criminal violation it will not be sent to the whistleblower, nor does it become part of the public file.
Instea , the agency is required to forward the information directly to the Attorney Gener]l
a to notify the Office of Pefonnel

Mana ment and the Office of Management and Budget of the referr:~· 5
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. The R erral Process under 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g) The Special Counsel may also refer cases to the head of an agency where no substantial
likelih od determination has been made. 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(2}. In these cases, the Special Counsel has the discretion to transmit the
inform tion provided by the whistleblower to the head of the agency identified in the disclosure. The agency head is then required to
, inform OSC in writing, within a reasonable time, what action has been or will be taken, and when such action will be completed. The
; whist! blower is also informed of the referral to the agency head.
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Department of Energy
Oak Ridge Office
P.O. Box 2001
Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37831
August 2, 2013

EMO AN DUM FOR JOSEPH P. CARSON
GENERAL ENGINEER
FACILITY OPERATIONS DIVISION
JASON A.

OM:

ARMSTRO~ Q.,. ~ ~-... )

DIRECTOR

~

6

FACILITY OPERATIONS DIVISION
NOTICE OF REPRIMAND

~

e pur ose of this notice is to reprimand you for acting unprofessional, rude and offensive and

o warn ou that future such delinquencies on your part may result in a more severe
i ciplin ry action, including suspension or, possibly removal.
e reas ns for this reprimand are as follows:

0 or a out July 17, 2013, you visited the UCOR Employee Concerns Program Manager,
ra Rhodes, in her office and, behind closed doors, shouted verbal profanities to include
h use f the words "fuck" and "bullshit." In addition, you waved your arms in an aggressive
m nner o display your discontent while using this rude and disrespectful language. This
g ressi e behavior put Ms. Rhodes in a state of fear and is discourteous, unprofessional and
ru e. T e use of foul language in addressing a co-worker or contractor personnel will not be
o erate . Cursing angers, annoys, intimidates and hurts your colleagues. The U.S. Department
of Energ (DOE) policy requires you to practice courtesy in all interactions. Verbal threats and
nonverb I gestures that can be seen as intimidating are not appropriate in the workplace.
en y u use profane language and aggressively wave your arms in the face of a DOE or DOE
o tract r employees you violate the core principles of the DOE conduct policy and specifically·

~i

lates

OE policy on Equal Employment Opportunity, Harassment, and Retaliation. In

lad ition, the topic of the conversation you had with Ms. Rhodes was one of a personal nature.

I
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August 2, 2013

s. Rhodes would like you to refrain from discussing anything that is not under her area of
a

thoritf~ or business related with her.

Future conversations of this nature with Ms. Rhodes will

t bet lerated.
u may grieve this action by filing a grievance under the procedure outlined in DOE Order
2.1, dlrievance Policy and Procedures, or under the provisions of the collective bargaining
reem nt between the Oak Ridge Office and the Local No. 2001 Office and Professional
ploy es International Union, whichever is appropriate. You may have a representative assist
y u in y ur grievance if you desire. If your grievance is filed under the DOE grievance
P ceduf, it must be submitted no later than 15 calendar days from the date you receive this
n tice.
r. Adolphus Brown at {865) 576-4757 will give you all available information about the
gr evanc procedure if you so request.
opy f this letter of reprimand will be placed in your office personnel folder for a period of
ear. I will be withdrawn after 1 year or upon your separation from the DOE, whichever

t achm nts:
P licy S atement on Equal Employment Opportunity,
Haras ment and Retaliation
.S. De artment of Energy Conduct Policy
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The Secretary of Energy
Washington, D.C. 20585

September 26,2012

ME ORANDUM FOR ALL DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY EMPLOYEES
STEVEN CHU
SUB ECT:

~ ~IV

Policy Statement on Equal Employment Opportunity,
Harassment, and Retaliation

I am ersonally committed to ensuring that the Department of Energy maintains a
work lace that embraces equal employment opportunity (EEO), and is free from
haras ment and retaliation.
Equa employment oppol'tlmity ensures that applicants and employees are not subjected
to pr hibited discrimination in any aspect of employment. Prohibited discrimination
incltt es discrimination or reprisal on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, national
origi , age, disability (physical or mental), sexual orientation, pregnancy, status as a
paren , or protected genetic information. EmpJoyment-related decisions must be based
on m rit, and not on pi'Ohibited discriminatory factors.
HaraS!Sment is any unwelcome conduct, verbal, written, or physical, based on prohibited
discri ination, that: ( 1) has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an
empl yee's work performance; (2) creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work
envir nment; or (3) affects an employee's employment opportunities or compensation.
Sexu I harassment is any unwelcome behavior of a sexual nature, including but not
limite to, unwelcome sexual advances; requests for sexual favors, physical conduct of a
sexua nature, or other similar behavior. Sexual harassment is not limited to prohibited
cond ct by a male employee toward a female employee. A male, as well as a female,
may e a victim of sexual harassment. Similarly, sexual harassment is not limited to the
actio •S of a supervisory employee toward a non-supervisory employee; the harasser may
be an gent of the employer, a supervisory employee who does not supervise the victim, a
cowo ker, or a non-employee.
11 e1 ployees huve the right to work in an environment free from prohibited
iscri ination, unlawful hm·assment (sexual and non-sexual) and unlawful retaliation.
You s ould promptly report any such incident to any management official, or directly
o the EEO office at your workplace.

$
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You e entitled to report such incidents without fear of retaliation. Retaliation is a
form f discrimination where an employee is subjected to an adverse employment ·
actio or harassment, solely because he or she filed a charge of discrimination,
partie pated in an investigation, proceeding or hearing, or took other, similar action in
oppos tion to an unlawful employment practice.
Any e ployee of the Department of Energy who engages in discrimination, harassment
r ret liation in violation of the law or of this policy is subject to disciplinary action,
hich may include suspension or dismissal. Managers who have knowledge of an act of
ossi le discrimination, harassment or retaliation should contact their local EEO or
Iuma Capital Office, or the DOE Office of the Ombudsman, for guidance. Managers
ust ct promptly and appropriately to eliminate and prevent discrimination, harassment
nd re aliation in the workplace.
·mpl yees who wish to file a fonnal EEO complaint regarding discrimination,
arass ent, or retaliation must contact an EEO Counselor within 45 calendar days of the
ate o the alleged discrimination, or 45 calendar days from the date on which they
easo ,ably become aware of the discrimination. The complaint process provides a
rom t, thorough, and impartial investigation. The Department will seek to protect the
onfid ntiality of harassment and retaliation allegations, to the extent possible, and will
hare 'nformation only with those who have a need to know in the performance of their
ffici duties. Furthermore, it is the responsibility of the Department to address matters
efore they reach the level of severe and pervasive harassment, with the goal of
reve ting harassment before employees have been subject to actionable harm.
ccor ingly, the Department may choose to conduct an inquiry into the matter, even in
he ab ence of an equal employment opportunity complaint.
<or m re information regarding harassment in the workplace, or information on how to

ile an EEO complaint, go to http://diversity.ene1·gy.gov, and click on "Protecting Civil
ights "
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~PNDl CT

S :>od M~nners and Courtesv
F r the urposes of this statement, "good manners" has an informal, common-sense meaning. It
is behav or that is polite and considerate of others. Courtesy means the practice, day in and day
p1 t. of gbod manne.rs. Courtesy must be reflected in the direct dealings between employees,
b1 tween Federal employees and the public, and in indirect communications such as
~< rrespc ndence and publications.
DOE po icy requires that employees of the Department practice courtesy in all interactions.
D scour eous behavior and other forms of incivility constitute unprofessional behavior.
Unprofe sional, rude, and/or offensive behavior by employees, in whatever form it may take, is
~r unne essary obstacle to the Department in achieving its missions and will not be tolerated.
V olenct in the Workolace
r~ission of ORO management to provide a workplace for Federal employees which is
~r e fron violent conduct and behavior. Examples of behavior for which there is zero tolerance
in Jude, but are not limited to the following:

It s the

-Phys cal acts, such as hitting, pushing, shoving, kicking, throwing objects, stalking
-Verb~! threats, such as abuse, harassment, intimidation
-Non erbal gestures, intimidation, written threats
-Sexu~l harassment and harmful or offensive touching or assault
-Wor place arson, sabotage, vandalism, robbery
In
in
o
Jo
in

ident involving a threat or act of violence, aggression, or intimidation which appears to
olve l n imminent risk to the physical safety of an individual should be immediately reported
the A• sistant Manager for Security and Emergency Management (865-576-2277). If you are
ated c utside the Oak Ridge area, you should immediately notify your supervisor of
ppropriate or suspicious behavior.

Discioli e
Viplatior s of work rules or standards of conduct may lead to disciplinary actions. Rules and
prbcedUI~S concerning Work Force Discipline are contained in the DOE Order 3750.1, change 6,
Wprk Fe rce Discipline. Employees whose positions are included in the bargaining unit should
cohsult t~e negotiated agreement.
Ett~ical 5 tandards
Et ical cpnduct is expected of all ORO employees. Certain aspects of ethical conduct of Federal
en ploye~s are governed by law. Some parts of these standards amount to common sense, but
solne of hem might not be so obvious to new employees. Because of ORO's extensive dealings
wi h con ractor organizations and other commercial enterprises seeking to do business with
Or 0, it s recommended that each employee become familiar with the provisions governing

etl ical s ~ndards.
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loyee Concerns Manager
Oa Ridge Office, Department of Energy
Sui· ect: ~mploye~ Concern/ "protected disclosure" about Deputy Secretary Poneman' s
Co gresswnal testimony of August 1, 2013 and DOE's culture of"celebrate reprisal" 1
De r Mr. Smith,
Re ief/remedy sought by this employee concern, submitted per relevant DOE policy:

1) DOE retain an independent expert to review 20+ years of my contentions of reprisal
whether the fact and law are consistent with my contentions of 35 years of "broken
covenant" of Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 (CSRA) and DOE's culture of"celebrate
reprisal," thereby putting America is at unnecessarily increased risk of a nuclear 9/11.
2) Deputy Secretary Poneman correct his written testimony to Congress to reflect DOE's
essential dependence on OSC and MSPB for the regulation of its management culture
related to bringing concerns forward effectively and adequately protecting employees
from reprisal.
My hope is that this will spur Secretary Moniz to use his lawful authority to direct a lawful
res lution of"broken covenant" contentions by the Office ofLegal Counsel of the Department of
Jus ice, or persuade the President to so direct, or to publicly resign if the President refuses to
all
such a lawful resolution. 2

Mr. Smith, I have little trust that you will "well and faithfully discharge" the duties of your
offi e with resp~ct to this concern. You (and your spouse, another DOE manager) were deposed
as art of a whistleblower reprisal suit I brought forward over 10 years ago, the matter has never
bee resolved because of way DOE abused (in my opinion) attorney-client privilege to evade its
law 1 duty to provide incriminating evidence.

1

I was present in December 1993 when then-Secretary of Energy Hazel O'Leary said that
DO should "celebrate whistleblowers." She spoke in good faith, but was ignorant of how the
rele ant law- by explicit Congressional intent- precludes the Secretary of Energy from having
sue power over DOE's management culture.

1
2

See www.broken-covenant.org for extensive detail.
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I aJ composed to losing my job/pension, if necessary, to try to advance, defend and protect rule
of ~fw in DOE and the federal civil service. I have enjoyed a very privileged life, but I am not
opf istic year 2100 finds desirable societies on planet earth, not given present facts and trends in s me of which - such climate change and nuclear weapon proliferation and terrorism - DOE
has vital responsibilities. My Christian faith and worldview informs me that "suffering
per ecution for righteousness' sake" is not necessarily to shunned, that it is just part of moral
fab ic of universe, a necessary part of confronting institutional evil. 3 I contend such evil now
exi ts and is enabled by the widespread dysfunction and corruption in DOE and the federal civil
ser ice, rooted in 35 years of unabated lawbreaking by the two agencies most responsible for the
int~rity and trustworthiness of all federal agency employees- the U.S. Office of Special Counsel
(09C) and U.S. Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB).
On ugust 1, 2013, Deputy Secretary Poneman testified, I understand under oath, at a full
co
ittee hearing of the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee. In his written
stat ment and testimony, Mr. Poneman stated: 4
"DOE is committed to a workplace where all workers are free to speak out, voice
concerns, or lodge complaints - with the Department, Congress, or other entities - without
fear of reprisal."
I ta e grave exception to the accuracy of that statement, I contend Mr. Poneman' s testimony is
ina curate and inconsistent with controlling civil service law. I think his testimony, if
unc allenged, only serves to maintain DOE's culture of "celebrate reprisal" and keep America at
u ecessarily increased risk of a nuclear 9/11. I think it an abuse of authority for Mr. Poneman
to aim or imply he - or the Secretary of Energy - has statutory power for the self-regulation of
DO 's management culture regarding DOE employees effectively voicing concerns and being
ade uately protected from reprisal. They do not have such statutory authority, it resides in other
5
fed ral agencies and the Office of the President. I consider this to be a "protected disclosure."

3

I respectfully request my reasons be accepted as valid for me, I certainly acknowledge
oth rs have different - and certainly valid for them - reasons for putting duty to the common good
be:fl re their personal economy.
4

See

ht~://oversight.house.gov/hearing/department-of-energys-bonneville-power-administration-discr
imirating-against-veterans-and-retaliating-against-whistleblowers/

j

Mr. Poneman's testimony certainly implied that voicing concerns within DOE would be,
as rule, effective. But he has no objective basis to make this claim and I state that voicing
co cerns - such as this one - is a too often a waste of time and invites reprisal, consistent with
D~'s culture of"celebrate reprisal." The recent computer-based SCWE training is consistent
wiT this contention, by its description of SCWE, the employee's concerns can be ignored.
5

2
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My experience with DOE, contrary to Mr. Poneman's testimony, is that it "celebrates reprisal."
As ne specific- directly contrary to Mr. Poneman's Congressional testimony that "DOE is
co mitted" -DOE now willfully fails or refuses to resolve well-founded concerns that its 90,000
or ore contractor and subcontractor employees are unlawfully prohibited from "freely voicing
con ems" to the U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC), per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(l).
In ct, consistent with its culture of "celebrate reprisal," my immediate supervisor, likely with
con urrence of other DOE officials, has twice in past 9 months taken personnel actions in
rep isal for my making "protected disclosures" about this OSC lawbreaking, which plausibly
con ributed to the Y-12 security breach, to the issues at the Hanford Waste Treatment and
Im obilization facility, to the under-design of the Uranium Processing Facility as well as many
oft e other long-standing project management, safety, health, and security issues in DOE. 6

DO established, repeated, record of lawbreaking reprisal against me is consistent with its
"ce ebrate reprisal" culture - which probably including bonuses to the managers who engage in
rep isal. To my knowledge, there is no record of anyone in DOE experiencing any negative
con equence for engaging in, enabling, or directing whistleblower reprisal against any DOE
em loyee foolhardy enough to put duty before their economic self-interest. 7
I h ve been bringing these and/or related concerns forward in DOE for 5 years, no one has
dis uted their well-founded nature nor disputed that they may be- RIGHT NOW- gravely
im acting health, safety, and security in DOE. But consistent with DOE's culture of"celebrating
rep isal," no one has taken any risks to their career- despite Mr. Poneman's testimony to
Co gress that there should be no such risks - to advocate their lawful resolution. I do not much
bla e you, Mr. Smith, nor the other involved managers, not given DOE's culture of"celebrating
rep isal."

By aw, DOE is NOT self-regulating in its management culture for disclosures or reprisal.
By aw, the Secretary of Energy is only responsible to "prevent reprisal" and other types of
pro ibited personnel practices. He can delegate this responsibility downward, but in 35 years no
Se retary has done so. By a 2012 law, he is now directed to ensure DOE employees know about
the r disclosure rights at OSC. In fact, by law, the Secretary of Energy has neither the statutory
po er to protect DOE employees from reprisal nor ensure their concerns are effectively

I

6

It may be years before the attendant OSC investigation and related litigation is

corpleted, but that is my contention.

~

Consistent with DOE's culture of"celebrate reprisal," it gives no positive recognition to
an of its employees who prevail on the merits in whistle blower litigation - my first-hand
ex erience - now the established legal record - is that it "doubles down" on the reprisal,
aptarently at the bequest of DOE senior HQ attorneys, who then use attorney-client privilege to
shi ld how they betray rule of law and their oaths as attorneys and federal employees .
7

.

3
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ad essed at OSC.
the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) - not DOE - that has the statutory mandate to "protect"
DO employees from reprisal. It is the Office of Special Counsel - not DOE - that has a
sta tory mandate to be a independent, secure, disclosure channel for DOE employees and, with
eve greater discretion, DOE contractor employees. It is the Merit Systems Protection Board
(M PB) that has the statutory mandate to conduct "special studies" of DOE and OSC to
det rmine and report- to the President and Congress - whether they are performing their
res ective, complementary functions and whether DOE employees are, in fact, "adequately
pro ected" from reprisal and whether they can effectively bring forward concerns. It is the
Pr~ident's duty- not that of the Secretary of Energy- to take "any action .... necessary'' to
ens re DOE employees can effectively bring concerns forward while being adequately protected
fro reprisal. 8 Congress consciously made the law this way, in essential part, because it simply
did not trust DOE to self-regulate its management culture for disclosures or reprisal. 9
Sothile I condemn DOE's culture of"celebrating reprisal," I now put much blame for it
els where - OSC and MSPB - because of their 35 years of lawbreaking. At this point, I openly
stat President Obama is failing or refusing to do his duty to ensure OSC and MSPB are properly
doi g theirs, so he can do his. But the results, I contend, include a DOE culture that "celebrates
rep isal" and puts us all at unnecessarily increased risk of a nuclear 9/11.
ectfully,
-+---'/S/_ __
Jos ph Carson, PE
DO Facility Representative Oak Ridge (EM-94)
10 53 Twin Harbour Drive
Kn xville, TN 37934
jpc rson@tds.net
86 -300-5831

I have laid this out, "ad nauseam" in many places and times, see www.brokenenant.org. But, as Deputy Secretary Poneman's testimony demonstrates- after 20 years of
D
Secretarial pledges about "zero tolerance for reprisal"- he cannot say DOE federal
em loyees are, by any objective measure, adequately protected from it- reflecting how
OS /MSPB lawbreaking - and the failure of the President to stop it - precludes any meaningful
tes ·mony about facts that would contradict my claims about DOE's "celebrate reprisal" culture.
8

9

Congress wanted a "comprehensive system" for over 200 federal agencies and did not
tru t agencies to self-regulate their management cultures, which is why it created OSC and
M PB and gave them essential functions for the regulation of the management culture in every
ag cy.
4
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
211 West Fort Street
Suite 521
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 226-4441

Midwest Field Office

December 3, 2013
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-13-4245
Dear Mr. Carson:
This letter responds to the complaint you submitted to the U.S. Office of Special
Counsel (OSC). In your complaint, you alleged that officials in the U.S. Department of
Energy (DOE) comm~tted one or more prohibited personnel practices. We have carefully
considered the information you provided. However, based on our evaluation of the facts
and law applicable to your circumstance, we have made a preliminary determination to
close our inquiry into your allegations.
You alleged that you: (1) received a reprimand; and (2) have been constructively
discharged based on endless reprisal for making a disclosure. Specifically, you alleged
that over the past two years you made repeated disclosures to Sandra Rhodes, Employee
Concerns Manager, URS-CH2Hill (UCOR), a D~partment of Energy Contractor
responsible for environmental restoration work in Oak Ridge, Tennessee, regarding
OSC's unlawful denial of the statutory rights ofUCOR employees to make confidential
secure disclosures to OSC. You stated that since 1989, OSC has failed to follow the law
at 5 U.S.C. 1213 (g)(1) which allows anyone, even anonymous persons, a statutory right
to make disclosures. You also stated that OSC has been a law breaking fraud since its
creation by the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 and that the Merit Systems Protection
Board (MSPB) has been OSC's law breaking enabler from its creation by the same law.
The U.S. Office of Special Counsel is authorized to investigate allegations of
prohibited personnel practices and certain activities prohibited by civil service law, rule,
or regulation. 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(l)(A), 1216(a) and 2302(b). The provisions of
5 U.S.C. § 2302(b) specifically define thirteen prohibited personnel practices for which
we have jurisdiction to investigate.
OSC analyzed your allegation for a potential violation of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).
Under the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 (WPA), it is a violation of 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(8) to take or fail to take, or to threaten to take or fail to take, a personnel action
with respect to any employee or applicant because of any disclosure of information by an
employee or applicant which the employee or applicant reasonably believes evidences:
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U.S. Office of Special Counsel
Mr. Joseph Carson
Page 2
'

(1) any violation oflaw, rule, or regulation; (2) gross mismanagement; (3) a gross waste
of funds; (4) an abuse of authority; or (5) a substantial and specific danger to public
health or safety, if such disclosure is not specifically prohibited by law, or specifically
required by Executive Order to be kept secret. The elements of proof necessary to
establish a violation of section 23 02(b)(8) are: ( 1) a protected disclosure of information
was made; (2) the accused official(s) (e.g., the proposing or deciding official) had
knowledge of the disclosure and the identity of the employee making the disclosure; and
(3) the protected disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action or threat of a
personnel action. Mithen v. Dep 't of Veterans Affairs, 119 M.S.P.R. 215, ~ 11 (2013);
Gergickv. Gen. Servs. Admin.,43 M.S.P.R. 651 (1990).
Unfortunately, our examination of the issues revealed a series oflegal obstacles
that would prevent MSPB from finding that a 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) violation has
occurred. In your complaint to OSC, you stated that you "pushed" Ms. Rhodes to
forward your concerns to the President of UCOR. You said you realized that you "must
have frightened her, a fairly recent widow, greatly." However, you assert that it was not
how you communicated the information to her, but rather what you said that caused DOE
management officials to issue the reprimand to you.
However, a review of the reprimand does not substantiate your view of the
situation. The reprimand notes that you acted unprofessionally, rudely, and offensively.
It states that you shouted verbal profanities and waved your arms in an aggressive manner
to display your discontent, frightening Ms. Rhodes by your behavior. As a result of the
encounter, Ms. Rhodes requested that you refrain from discussing anything that is not
under her area of authority or business related with her. While you may not agree, it
appears that you were reprimanded for the manner in which you delivered the
information, rather than the content of the message. Under these circumstances, it does
not appear that your disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action.
You also alleged that you have been constructively discharged by your agency.
Generally, a constructive discharge occurs when an employee initiates an action, such as
a resignation or retirement, through duress or coercion. Since you are still employed by
the agency, it does not appear that this is a personnel action. A "personnel action" is
defined as: an appointment; a promotion; an action under chapter 75 of this title or other
disciplinary or corrective action; a detail, transfer, or reassignment; a reinstatement; a
restoration; a reemployment; a performance evaluation under Chapter 43 of 5 U.S. C.;
decisions concerning pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training that
would reasonably be expected to lead to promotion or other actions described in this
subparagraph; a decision to order psychiatric testing or examination; the implementation
or enforcement of any nondisclosure policy, form, or agreement; and any other
significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302
(a)(2)(A).
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U.S. Office of Special Counsel
Mr. Joseph Carson
Page 3

Because of these findings, we plan to take no further action on this complaint.
We will delay our final decision for 13 calendar days in order to provide you the
opportunity to submit written comments about our findings. If you would like to
comment on our findings, you may send them to me at the above-listed address, or you
can fax them to (313) 226-4441, extension 6255, or email them to cstemple@osc.gov. If
we do not receive any comments by the end of the 13-day period, we will close our file in
this matter and notify you of any additional rights you may have.
Sincerely,

~

Examiner
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December 18, 2013
Ms. Cynthia Stemple, OSC
211 West Fort St., Suite 521
Detroit, MI 48226
Subject: Response to your pre-determination letter of December 3, 2013 in MA-13-4245
Dear Ms. Stemple,
When I submitted my PPP complaint to OSC on August 27, 2013, I executed a “certification”
for my complaint, that my “statements were true, complete, and correct to the best of my
knowledge and belief” at risk of criminal prosecution. You ignored it, apparently, as it contested
the accuracy of the “facts” stated in the reprimand as its basis. Therefore, I have executed a
declaration contesting nearly fact cited as the basis for the reprimand. Given my agency’s
established, final, repeated history of reprisal against me, cited in published decisions as Carson
v. DOE, 77 MSPR 453; 85 MSPR 171, 88 MSPR 260; and 398 F.3d 1369, I think my declaration
merits a high credibility determination while the reprimand merits none - I think Mr. Armstrong
should be terminated for making such false, baseless, and irresponsible claims against me.
If OSC wishes to claim my declaration is not truthful or objective, I urge it to refer it to the
Department of Justice for perjury and to file a professional misconduct complaint against me
with my professional engineer (PE) licensing authority in Tennessee. As a PE I have a legal
obligation to be “truthful and objective” in such things.
By law, OSC’s duties to me in this matter include:
From “endnotes” of 5 U.S.C. Section 1201(emphasis added in body of text):
Whistleblower Protection; Congressional Statement of Findings and Purpose
Pub. L. 101–12, §2, Apr. 10, 1989, 103 Stat. 16, provided that:
“(a) Findings.-The Congress finds that“(1) Federal employees who make disclosures described in section 2302(b)(8) of title 5,
United States Code, serve the public interest by assisting in the elimination of fraud,
waste, abuse, and unnecessary Government expenditures;
“(2) protecting employees who disclose Government illegality, waste, and corruption is a
major step toward a more effective civil service; and
“(3) in passing the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 [Pub. L. 95–454, see Tables for
classification], Congress established the Office of Special Counsel to protect
1
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whistleblowers (those individuals who make disclosures described in such section
2302(b)(8)) from reprisal.
“(b) Purpose.-The purpose of this Act [see Short Title of 1989 Amendment note above] is to
strengthen and improve protection for the rights of Federal employees, to prevent reprisals, and
to help eliminate wrongdoing within the Government by“(1) mandating that employees should not suffer adverse consequences as a result of
prohibited personnel practices; and
“(2) establishing“(A) that the primary role of the Office of Special Counsel is to protect
employees, especially whistleblowers, from prohibited personnel practices;
“(B) that the Office of Special Counsel shall act in the interests of employees
who seek assistance from the Office of Special Counsel; and
“(C) that while disciplining those who commit prohibited personnel practices may
be used as a means by which to help accomplish that goal, the protection of
individuals who are the subject of prohibited personnel practices remains the
paramount consideration.”
From 5 U.S.C. Section 1214:
(a)(1)(A) The Special Counsel shall receive any allegation of a prohibited personnel
practice and shall investigate the allegation to the extent necessary to determine
whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel
practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken.
(a)(1)(D) No later than 10 days before the Special Counsel terminates any investigation of
a prohibited personnel practice, the Special Counsel shall provide a written status report
to the person who made the allegation of the proposed findings of fact and legal
conclusions. The person may submit written comments about the report to the Special
Counsel. The Special Counsel shall not be required to provide a subsequent written status
report under this subparagraph after the submission of such written comments.
*******************************************
Contrary to your statutory duties, Ms. Stemple, you have not “acted in my interests,” you
performed no meaningful “investigation” of my complaint, let alone investigate it to the
necessary extent, as required by law, to support your determination.
Specifically, Ms. Stemple, you did not speak to me about my complaint during your
2
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“investigation” and based on your letter you did not speak to Ms. Rhodes, Mr. Armstrong or
anyone else. Even though I denied, in my complaint to OSC, the claims of fact in the reprimand
related to my protected disclosure to Ms. Rhodes, subject to criminal penalty, you determined
that MSPB would determine the reprimand is completely accurate.
You failed to perform any legal analysis as to whether I made a protected disclosure to Ms.
Rhodes, whether the protected disclosure was a contributing factor to my receiving the
reprimand, and, if it was, whether the agency demonstrated by “clear and convincing evidence” it
would have reprimanded me anyway. Your letter cites no case law and it fails to make the
required determination “whether there are reasonable grounds to believe” I experienced the
whistleblower reprisal type PPP. Instead, it make an unsupported determination that “our
examination of the issues revealed a series of legal obstacles that would prevent MSPB from
finding that a 5 U.S.C. section 2302(b)(8) violation occurred.”
By law, you have a duty to inform me of the “legal obstacles” - but you fail to specify what they
are with respect to the relevant case law.
I have attached a declaration taking exception to the claims of the reprimand and providing more
evidence of its retaliatory nature.
In my complaint, I also made protected disclosures to you regarding OSC’s decades-long failure
to discharge its statutory duties to people as myself. As the law make clear, you have statutory
duties to me in this matter, Ms. Stemple, including the duty to “act in my interests,” and if you
fail to execute them at this point, I intend to file a whistleblower reprisal PPP complaint against
you, claiming you created “any other significant change in my duties, responsibilities or working
conditions” by failing to discharge your statutory duties to protect me from unlawful reprisal in
DOE.
I urge you to review and apply the May 2012 precedential Federal Circuit decision in Whitmore
v. Labor, docket no. 2011-3084, to get an idea of how far an agency has to go to demonstrate
“clear and convincing evidence” when the protected disclosure and its causal connection to the
agency action alleged retaliatory are, as they are in this case, uncontested. There are no
obstacles, other than decades of OSC law-breaking, to your determining “there are reasonable
grounds to believe” the reprimand is retaliatory. I accept you would be risking your job to make
such a determination, because OSC is a fraud that has a history of engaging in reprisal against its
concerned employees, as the OPM IG report released on December 18, 2013 shows.
By law - another one that OSC has a long-history of ignoring - you have duty to respond to my
comments, substantively, should OSC go forward with its unlawfully obtained and worded
“determination.” I’m not expecting you to comply with this statutory duty either, Ms. Stemple.
Should OSC close out my complaint, I will consider it an act of whistleblower reprisal on OSC’s
part, in retaliation for my making protected disclosures about its decades-long lawbreaking, and I
3

Appx267
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 72 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 246

Filed: 07/15/2016

will respond accordingly.
Respectfully,

Joseph Carson, PE
Knoxville, TN
Attachments:
My declaration of December 18, 2013
Review of movie “Any Given Sunday” cited in declaration
Email thread between me and Mr. Armstrong cited in declaration
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DECLARATION OF JOSEPH P. CARSON TO ACCOMPANY HIS “COMMENTS” ON
OSC’S PRE-DETERMINATION NOTICE OF DECEMBER 13, 2013 IN OSC FILE NO.
MA-13-4245
I am Joseph Carson, the complainant in this matter. I make this declaration freely in the hope it
will spur OSC to comply with its non-discretionary statutory duty to: 1) act in my interests, and
2) investigate my complaint to the extent necessary to determine whether there are reasonable
grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken.
But I am not hopeful, I state, under oath, my well-evidenced belief that OSC is a 35 year-long
lawbreaking fraud of federal agency.
1.

Regarding the reprimand, I state its description of me as “shouting verbal profanities” is
irresponsible, false, and baseless. I did not shout during the conversation, let alone shout
any profanities.

2.

Regarding the reprimand, I state its description of me as waving my arms in an aggressive
manner is irresponsible, false and baseless. I did not wave my arms in an aggressive
manner, I did not shout profanities. I did not act in any way that could be reasonably
construed as “aggressive” and at no point in the conversation did Ms. Rhodes state
anything as “please tone it down.” At no point in the conversation did she say anything
as “you are making me uncomfortable.”

3.

Regarding the reprimand, Ms. Rhodes expressed no concern to me with the way I
reasonably made my protected disclosure to her and the conversation went on for about
40 minutes or so and covered a number of topics.

4.

The conversation I had with Ms. Rhodes was, by her own words, confidential and
protected.

5.

The conversation I had with Ms. Rhodes was unwitnessed.

6.

The conversation I had with Ms. Rhodes was not “of a personal nature,” it was a
protected disclosure. I have not had any conversation with Ms. Rhodes that I would
consider to be of “a personal nature.”

7.

I had previously (in prior 2 years) spoken with Ms. Rhodes 4-6 times for about 2-3 hours
in total. My vocabulary, my vocal tone, my gesticulations, my facial expression, my
voice volume were the same in each. I never shouted profanities, I never waved my arms
aggressively, I never spoke of things “of a personal nature.” I know little about her
personal life, she knows little of mine.

8.

The only difference in the conversation for which I received a retaliatory reprimand was
1
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that I “pushed” her to stop ignoring my protected disclosure about 24 years of OSC
lawbreaking regarding 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1) in claiming DOE contractor
employees, such as UCOR employees, did not have a statutory right to make disclosures
to it. This OSC lawbreaking is highly relevant to her professional responsibilities. Yes, I
knew, given the culture of fear and corruption that so infests DOE and its contractors (due
in essential part to 35 years of OSC being a law-breaking fraud of a federal agency), that I
was asking her to do her duty as significant risk to her job. But, in my opinion, she
should not have the duties of being an employee concerns manager if she lacks the moral
courage to make protected disclosures about the federal agency law-breaking at OSC that
negatively impacts the statutory rights of UCOR employees to make protected disclosures
per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1).
9.

Jason Armstrong has previously engaged in reprisal against me related to my protected
disclosures about OSC law-breaking related to its denial of the statutory rights of DOE
contractor employees to make disclosures to it, per 5 U.S.C. section 1213(g)(1). See OSC
file no. MA-12-4769, the initial and final MSPB decisions in Carson v. DOE, docket no.
AT-1221-13-0285-W-1, and the pending case at CADC, Carson v. MSPB, docket no. 131273. Neither OSC nor MSPB denied the 2006 Supreme Court precedent in Burlington
was relevant to this case, nor did they deny that I was admonished as a direct response to
a protected disclosure, making it “any other significant change in duties, responsibilities
or working conditions” by Burlington, because it would tend to dissuade reasonable coworkers from making a protected disclosure.

10.

On October 31, 2013, Jason Armstrong directed that I and my colleagues watch excerpts
from the 1999 movie “Any Given Sunday” at a group retreat in a cabin at Oak Ridge
National Lab. He said he wanted us to show similar passion in our jobs. The excerpts of
this R-Rated movie (for profanity) repeatedly used word “fuck” and variations thereof
and other profanities, shouted, with aggressive body movements, etc. According to a
review of the movie, the word “fuck” is used “at least 124 times,” while the word “shit”
is used “at least 67 times.” The word “nigger” is used “at least 23 times.” According to
the review, there are other vulgarities and quite a number of religious profanities. The
review is available at www.imdb.com under “parental guide,”and I have attached it as an
exhibit to this declaration.

11.

I cannot reconcile how Mr. Armstrong could possibly inflict such a profane movie on his
subordinates, during official time, at a retreat, to demonstrate the “passion” he wants his
subordinates to exhibit while reprimanding me, however falsely and baselessly, for
alleged conduct similar to what he expressed he wants me to model, as least in passion.
He made no disclaimer to the group about the profanity or aggressive posturing in the
movie regarding the “passion” he wants me and my colleagues to show.

12.

In an email dated December 2, 2013, Mr. Armstrong told me that my concerns about OSC
were not “protected disclosures.” He cited no law or other fact to claim my concerns
2
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were not “protected disclosures” about OSC law-breaking but non-protected statements
about “policy matters.” He apparently does not recognize the meaning of phrase
“protected disclosure.” He will write false, baseless, and highly irresponsible reprimands
to retaliate against “protected disclosures” and then inflict movies showing the same
behavior he reprimanded and praise it for its “passion.” I have attached the email thread
as an exhibit to this declaration.
I, Joseph Carson, do hereby declare:
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing is true and correct.
Executed on
December 18, 2013
_________________________________
Joseph Carson
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
211 West Fort Street
Suite Sll

Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 226·4441

Midwest Field Office

January 10, 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 3 7934
Re: OSC File No. MA-13-4245
Dear Mr. Carson:
On December 3, 2013, we sent you our status report which set forth our proposed
factual and legal determinations. We have reviewed the additional information you sent.
Based on our evaluation of the relevant law and facts included in the information you
submitted, we have made a final determination to close our file in this matter.
In your response you made several points which did not address the reasons we listed
in our predetermination and therefore, they were not considered in reaching this final
determination. You did, however, take exception to our finding that the reprimand appeared
to be issued to you based on the manner in which you communicated your feelings to Ms.
Rhodes. But, other than noting that the discussion you had with Ms. Rhodes was
unwitnessed, you provided no additional information. In addition, you provided no
information addressing your claim that you were constructively discharged.
Unfortunately, the information provided contained no additional information or facts
that would lead us to believe our preliminary determination was in error. Accordingly, while
we understand your concerns, we have made a final determination to close our file on your
complaint.
Because you alleged potential violations of section 2302(b)(8) or (b)(9)(A)(i), (B),
(C), or (D), you may have a right to seek corrective action from the Merit Systems Protection
Board under the provisions of 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(3) and 1221. You may file a request for
corrective action with the Board within 65 days after the date of this letter. The Merit
Systems Protection Board regulations concerning rights to file a corrective action case with
the Board can be found at 5 C.P.R. part 1209. It is important that you keep the
accompanying letter because the Merit Systems Protection Board may require that you
submit a copy should you choose to seek corrective action there.
Sincerely,

Cynthia Stemple
Examiner
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Joe Carson
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Joe Carson <jpcarson@tds.net>
Thursday, January 16, 2014 7:00 PM
cstemple@osc.gov
OSC file no. MA-13-4245; request for information/communication per the law

Dear Ms. Stemple,
As you know, I publicly contend OSC is a 36 year-old lawbreaking fraud of a federal agency- the most corrupt and
corrupting federal agency, relatively at least, in America's history, see www.broken-covenant.org.
I now contend that you have engaged in unlawful reprisal against me, regarding your failure to comply with your nondiscretionary statutory duties to me in OSC file no. MA-13-4245. I intend to pursue remedy as the law allows. I am NOT
threatening you or anyone anything outside the law and never have in the over two decades I have been defending my
positive legal duty, as a licensed professional engineer employed as a safety engineer in Dept. of Energy (DOE), to "blow
whistles," when necessary, to protect public/workplace health and safety pursuant to my professional duty. Simply
put, It's not personal between me, OSC and its employees (or DOE, etc).
To further make my case that OSC, and you, its agent, are engaged in unlawful reprisal against me, I respectfully request
you comply with your non-discretionary statutory duties to me per the "termination statement" found in the endnotes
of 5 USC section 1214.
It states:
Termination Statement

Pub. L. 103-424, §12(b), Oct. 29, 1994, 108 Stat. 4367, provided that: "The Special Counsel shall include in any
letter terminating an investigation under section 1214(a)(2) of title 5, United States Code, the name and
telephone number of an employee of the Special Counsel who is available to respond to reasonable questions
from the person regarding the investigation or review conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts
ascertained by the Special Counsel, and the law applicable to the person's allegations."
So, when can or will you be available to respond to my reasonable questions "regarding the investigation or review
conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts ascertained by the Special Counsel, and the law applicable to the
person's allegations?"
If I am successful in my efforts to demonstrate that you are engaged in unlawful whistlelower reprisal against me, you
should expect me to pursue legal avenues to have your profession of law discipline you professionally. You should also
be aware that a federal judge found OSC in non-compliance with its duties to me vis-a-vis the "termination statement"
years ago, but OSC thumbed its nose that at too, see Carson v. OSC, 514 F.Supp.2d 54, D.D.C. (September 27, 2007).
Respectfully,
Joe Carson, PE
Knoxville, TN
865-300-5831
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-14-0520-W-1

v.
DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY,
Agency.

DATE: September 30, 2014

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Kristopher D. Muse, Esquire, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, for the agency.
Ronald Freeman, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, for the agency.
BEFORE
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge
INITIAL DECISION
On February 28, 2014, the appellant, Joseph Carson, filed the present
appeal alleging that the agency, the Department of Energy (DOE), retaliated
against him for making a protected disclosure in violation of the Whistleblower
Protection Act. For the reasons set forth below, the Whistleblower Protection Act
(WPA) Individual Right of Action (IRA) appeal is dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction. This decision is being issued based upon the written record because I
find no material factual dispute bearing on the issue of jurisdiction. See Manning
v. Merit Systems Protection Board, 742 F.2d 1424, 1427-28 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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2
ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS
Under the provisions of the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1998 (WPA)
and the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 (WPEA), an
employee who believes he was subjected to retaliation because of whistleblowing
may seek corrective action through an IRA appeal with the Board. See 5 U.S.C.
§ 1221(a); 5 C.F.R. § 1209.2(b)(1) (2014). The appellant bears the burden of
proof on the issue of jurisdiction. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.56(2)(i) (2014).
The Board has jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant makes nonfrivolous allegations that, if proven, could show that: (1) he engaged in
whistleblowing activity by making a protected disclosure; and (2) the disclosure
was a contributing factor in the agency’s decision to take or fail to take a
personnel action. See Yunus v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367,
1371 (Fed. Cir. 2001); Rusin v. Department of the Treasury, 92 M.S.P.R. 298,
¶ 12 (2002). The question of whether the appellant has made a non-frivolous
allegation is determined based on the written record, without holding a
jurisdictional hearing. See Spencer v. Department of the Navy, 327 F.3d 1354,
1356 (Fed. Cir. 2003); Iyer v. Department of the Treasury, 95 M.S.P.R. 239, ¶ 4
(2003), aff’d, 104 F. App’x. 159 (Fed.Cir. 2004).
Under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), the appellant does not need to prove an actual
violation of law, rule, or regulation to establish that he made a protected
disclosure. A protected disclosure is a disclosure of information which the
employee reasonably believes evidences any violation of law, rule, or regulation,
gross mismanagement, gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a
substantial and specific danger to public health and safety. See Grubb v.
Department of the Interior, 96 M.S.P.R. 377, ¶ 11 (2004); DiGiorgio v.
Department of the Navy, 84 M.S.P.R. 6, ¶ 11 (1999).
The appellant must also non-frivolously allege that his whistleblowing
activity was a contributing factor in the agency’s decision to take or fail to take a
personnel action. See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(iv). The appellant need only raise
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3
a non-frivolous allegation that the fact of, or content of, the protected disclosures
was one factor that tended to affect the personnel action in any way. See Perkins
v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 98 M.S.P.R. 250, ¶ 19 (2005). The appellant
may

demonstrate

that

a

disclosure

was

a

contributing

factor

through

circumstantial evidence, including, but not limited to, evidence that the official
taking the personnel action knew of the disclosure and that the personnel action
occurred within a period of time such that a reasonable person could conclude
that the disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action, referred to as
the knowledge-timing test. 5 U.S.C. § 1221(e)(1); Easterbrook v. Department of
Justice, 85 M.S.P.R. 60, ¶ 7 (2000). The appellant may establish the knowledge
prong of the knowledge-timing test by non-frivolously alleging that the official
taking the personnel action had constructive knowledge of the disclosure;
constructive knowledge may be established by demonstrating that an individual
with actual knowledge of the disclosure influenced the official(s) accused of
taking the retaliatory action. See Marchese v. Department of the Navy, 65
M.S.P.R. 104, 108 (1994). Regarding the timing prong, the relevant inquiry is
the time between when the agency official taking the action had actual or
constructive knowledge of the disclosure—not necessarily the date of the
disclosure itself—and the time that the personnel action was taken. See Caddell v.
Department of Justice, 57 M.S.P.R. 508, 514 (1993).
In addition, the employee must show that he sought relief from OSC and
exhausted its proceedings on the particular personnel actions alleged to be in
reprisal for whistleblowing, prior to filing with the Board. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3);
5 C.F.R. § 1209.2(b)(1) (2014). The appellant may meet this burden by showing
that OSC notified him that it was terminating its investigation or that 120 days
have passed since he sought corrective action from OSC. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3).
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4
Background and Appellant’s Allegations
The appellant is a GS-0801-14 Facility Representative (Professional
Engineer) with the Department of Energy in Oak Ridge, Tennessee. He filed the
present WPA IRA appeal on February 28, 2014, and attached a copy of his
underlying complaint to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC). The appellant
stated in his initial appeal and documentation to OSC, “For years, I have been
making protected disclosures about decades-long, continuing law-breaking at
OSC and MSPB, including OSC’s violating the rights of federal agency
contractor employees to make whistleblower disclosures to it per 5 U.S.C. §
1213(g)(1). I made such protected disclosures to Sandra Rhodes….” As a result,
the appellant claims that Ms. Rhodes then “concocted a baseless story of my
misconduct” resulting in a written reprimand, dated August 2, 2013, being placed
by his supervisor, Mr. Jason Armstrong, in his personnel file for one year.
The heart of the appellant’s alleged protected disclosure is that, in his
view, OSC has systemically ignored its statutory obligation under 5 U.S.C. §
1213(g)(1) to receive and consider whistleblower allegations by Department of
Energy (DOE) contractors, which he believes are “individuals” for purposes of
that statutory section. See IAF, Tab 35 (Appellant’s Request for Clarification of
Board Jurisdiction Order, June 30, 2014).
5 U.S.C. §1213(g) states as follows:
(g)(1) If the Special Counsel receives information of a type
described in subsection (a) 1 from an individual other than an
individual described in subparagraph (A) or (B) of subsection (c)(2) 2,
1

Such information includes any disclosure by an employee, former employee, or
applicant for employment which the individual reasonably believes evidences a
violation of law, rule, or regulation, gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an
abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety.
2

Such individuals include an employee, former employee, or applicant for employment
in the agency which the information concerns; or an employee who obtained the
information in connection with the performance of the employee’s duties and
responsibilities.
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the Special Counsel may transmit the information to the head of the
agency which the information concerns. The head of such agency
shall, within a reasonable time after the information is transmitted,
inform the Special Counsel in writing of what action has been or is
being taken and when such action shall be completed. The Special
Counsel shall inform the individual of the report of the agency head.
(Emphasis added)
(g)(2) If the Special Counsel receives information of a type described
in subsection (a) from an individual described in subparagraph (A) or
(B) of subsection (c)(2), but does not make a positive determination
under subsection (b), the Special Counsel may transmit the
information to the head of the agency which the information
concerns, except that the information may not be transmitted to the
head of the agency without the consent of the individual. The head of
such agency shall, within a reasonable time after the information is
transmitted, inform the Special Counsel in writing of what action has
been or is being taken and when such action will be completed. The
Special Counsel shall inform the individual of the report of the
agency head.
(g)(3) If the Special Counsel does not transmit the information to the
head of the agency under paragraph (2), the Special Counsel shall
inform the individual of—
(A) the reasons why the disclosure may not be further acted on under
this chapter; and
(B) other offices available for receiving disclosures, should the
individual wish to pursue the matter further.
The appellant argues that he disclosed in the Fall of 2012 and thereafter to
Ms. Sandra Rhodes that OSC had a long-standing policy of violating its nondiscretionary duty to receive and evaluate whistleblower allegations made to it by
DOE contractors per 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1), thus precluding OSC from exercising
its discretionary authority to refer whistleblower allegations from DOE
contractors to the Secretary of Energy per 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1). See IAF, Tab
40 (Appellant’s Response to Order on Jurisdictional Issue Dated June 30, 2014),
pp. 5-6.
The appellant contends that as a result of his disclosures about OSC’s
failure to properly perform its statutory duties under 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1), the

Appx280
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 85 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 259

Filed: 07/15/2016

6
Department of Energy issued to him a baseless reprimand on August 2, 2013,
based upon false allegations of misconduct. The reprimand at issue states that on
July 17, 2013, the appellant visited the UCOR Employee Concerns Program
Manager, Ms. Sandra Rhodes in her office, and, behind closed doors, shouted
verbal profanities and waived his arms in an aggressive manner to display his
discontent while using rude and disrespectful language.

This reprimand was

placed in the appellant’s personnel file for one year. See IAF, Tab 8, Subtab 4a
(Reprimand, dated August 2, 2013).
The above-described reprimand was founded upon an e-mailed complaint
dated July 30, 2013 from Ms. Sandra Rhodes. Within the e-mail, Ms. Rhodes
complained that she had met many times over the past year with Mr. Carson
regarding his “personal issues with the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), none of
which are applicable to UCOR’s contract with the DOE or my role as a the UCOR
Employees Concerns Manager.”

Ms. Rhodes further stated of the alleged

incident that on July 17, the appellant
“…behaved quite frustrated and agitated because he had not received
a response from individuals he contacted about his issues (i.e.,
President Obama, past/present Secretary of Energy Chu and Moniz,
OSC, nor any other agency representatives). His demeanor has
always been appropriate (calm and soft spoken), but this particular
day, he spoke loudly, waving his hands and arms, and used
distasteful curse words (f*ck and bulls***) while venting his
frustrations….I felt very uncomfortable with his use of
unprofessional language in our work environment and during work
hours and his close proximity to me in my office with the door
closed.”
IAF, Tab 8, Subtab 4b.
The appellant denies shouting profanities and making aggressive gestures.
See IAF, Tab 1 (Appellant’s Unsigned Declaration to OSC, December 18, 2013).
He contends that Ms. Rhodes must have made up the story because:
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“I pushed her to do something that apparently caused her to fear for
her job, in asking her to convey my concerns to Leo Sain 3. Leo Sain
likely has the power to get my managers removed, given how corrupt
and dysfunctional DOE is, so he apparently pushed my management
to trump up a false, unfounded and/or highly irresponsible reprimand
against me, based on an unwitnessed, supposedly confidential
conversation in which I made “protected disclosures” about OSC’s
law-breaking and its possible impact on workplace/public health and
safety in UCOR.” IAF, Tab 1 (Appellant’s OSC Complaint).
The Appellant Failed to Make a Non-Frivolous Allegation that He Made a
Protected Disclosure
In my view, the dispositive jurisdictional issue in this appeal is whether the
appellant made a non-frivolous allegation that he made a protected disclosure.
For the reasons explained below, I find that he did not meet his burden on this
issue, and therefore his appeal must be dismissed.
A whistleblowing disclosure is defined at 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(D) (eff.
December 27, 2012) as “a formal or informal communication or transmission, but
does not include a communication concerning policy decisions that lawfully
exercise discretionary authority unless the employee or applicant providing the
disclosure reasonably believes that the disclosure evidences-(i) any violation of
any law, rule, or regulation; or (ii) gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds,
an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or
safety.” See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).
The proper test for assessing whether a protected disclosure occurred is an
objective one: could a disinterested observer with knowledge of the essential
facts known to and readily ascertainable by the employee reasonably conclude
that the actions of the government evidence one of the categories of wrongdoing
identified in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(A). Lachance v. White, 174 F.3d 1378, 1381
(Fed. Cir. 1999).
3

Appellant identifies Mr. Sain elsewhere in his OSC complaint as “UCOR’s
extravagantly compensated President and shareholder.”
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The test for protected status is not the truth of the matter disclosed but
whether it was reasonably believed. See Special Counsel v. Spears, 75 M.S.P.R.
639, 654 (1997). Therefore, the appellant’s failure to prove that the alleged
misconduct described in his disclosures occurred is not a valid basis for finding
that those disclosures are not protected under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8). Rather, to
prove that his disclosures are protected, the appellant need only show that a
disinterested observer with knowledge of the essential facts known to and readily
ascertainable by him could reasonably conclude that: (1) the alleged misconduct
occurred; and (2) the alleged misconduct evidences one of the categories of
wrongdoing identified in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(A).
It is well-settled that statutory protection for whistleblowers is not a
weapon in arguments over policy. LaChance, 174 F.3d 1378 at 1381; O’Donnell
v. Department of Agriculture, 120 M.S.P.R. 94 (2013), aff’d, 561 Fed. App’x. 926
(2014) (nonprecedential). Thus, fairly debatable policy disputes do not constitute
allegations of gross mismanagement. O’Donnell, 120 M.S.P.R. at 99 (citing
White v. Department of the Air Force, 391 F.3d 1377, 1382 (Fed. Cir. 2004)). In
fact, the statutory definition of a “disclosure” at 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(D)
excludes from coverage such disagreements over policy decisions that lawfully
exercise discretionary authority unless the alleged whistleblower reasonably
believes the disclosure is protected.
I find that the appellant did not make a non-frivolous allegation that he
made a protected disclosure concerning OSC’s implementation of its duties under
5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(1). In my view, the appellant’s strongly worded concerns
constitute a merely debatable policy argument concerning OSC’s implementation
of this statutory section. A plain reading of the language of this statute
demonstrates that OSC had significant – if not unfettered – authority to decide
what to do with contractor complaints at the time the appellant made his alleged
disclosure. If OSC exercised its considerable discretion under this statutory
section by deciding that it would refer no contractor complaints to agency heads
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as the appellant alleges, that approach would be facially consistent with OSC’s
authority, and not inconsistent with any other identified law, rule, or regulation.
Nor has the appellant non-frivolously alleged that his disagreement with OSC’s
implementation of this statutory language constituted gross mismanagement,
gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to
public health and safety.
Based on a plain reading of the statutory section at issue, I find that the
appellant has failed to demonstrate that a disinterested observer with knowledge
of the essential facts could reasonably conclude that OSC committed any of the
categories of wrongdoing identified in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(A).

The appeal

must therefore be dismissed. 4

4

The appellant repeatedly sought sanctions against the agency and sought third party
discovery from OSC. Such motions were denied throughout the processing of this
appeal. See IAF, Tabs 36, 39, and 51. The appellant recently sought reconsideration of
my ruling regarding third party discovery to OSC, and requested an interlocutory appeal
on the issue. See appellant’s Motions at IAF, Tabs 55 and 57. Such requests are denied
for the reasons previously explained in my earlier rulings on this issue. Similarly, the
appellant’s recent fifth motion for sanctions against the agency is denied for the reasons
offered in the agency’s response. See appellant’s Motion at IAF, Tab 59, and the
agency’s Response at IAF, Tab 60. And finally, the appellant recently filed two motions
seeking my recusal from the appeal. In support of these motions he expressed his belief
that no MSPB employee could be impartial over the issues he raised, and I would
specifically be committing “career suicide” if I were to find jurisdiction over his
appeal. See appellant’s Motions at IAF, Tabs 56 and 58. The appellant’s arguments in
favor of these motions are not persuasive, and do not in my view state a plausible
argument for my recusal, or the recusal of all Board employees more generally. The
motions are thus denied.
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DECISION
The appeal is DISMISSED.

FOR THE BOARD:

_____/S/_________________________
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge

NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on November 4, 2014, unless a
petition for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is
usually the last day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board.
However, if you prove that you received this initial decision more than 5 days
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for review within 30 days after
the date you actually receive the initial decision. If you are represented, the 30day period begins to run upon either your receipt of the initial decision or its
receipt by your representative, whichever comes first. You must establish the
date on which you or your representative received it. The date on which the
initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file a petition for
review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you how and
when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are important
because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition
for review.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may
file a cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must
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state your objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable
laws, regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board
1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and
may

only

be

accomplished

at

the

Board's

e-Appeal

website

(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only
issues raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in
which the Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are
not limited to, a showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1)
Any alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to
warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner
who alleges that the judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain
why the challenged factual determination is incorrect and identify specific
evidence in the record that demonstrates the error. In reviewing a claim of an
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give deference to an administrative
judge’s credibility determinations when they are based, explicitly or implicitly,
on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The
petitioner must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.
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(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To
constitute new evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the
documents themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when
the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition
for review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated,
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A
reply to a response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words,
whichever is less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than
12 point typeface and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one
side of a page. The length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of
authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a
pleading that exceeds the limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such
requests must give the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length of the
pleading and are granted only in exceptional circumstances. The page and word
limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected or required to
submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a well-written petition for
review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the
record in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit
anything to the Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review
must be filed with the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial
decision becomes final, or if this initial decision is received by you or your
representative more than 5 days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date
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you or your representative actually received the initial decision, whichever was
first. If you claim that you and your representative both received this decision
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove to the Board the
earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving the initial
decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail
is determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic
filing is the date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the
date on which the Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial
delivery is the date the document was delivered to the commercial delivery
service. Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide
a statement of how you served your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed electronically, the online process itself will
serve the petition on other e-filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of
service of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial
decision in accordance with the Board's regulations.
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date this initial decision becomes final.
§ 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012).

See 5 U.S.C.

If you choose to file, be very

careful to file on time. The court has held that normally it does not have the
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authority to waive this statutory deadline and that filings that do not comply with
the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management,
931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i),
(b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s
disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request
review of this decision only after it becomes final by filing in the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent
jurisdiction. The court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60
days after the date on which this decision becomes final.

See 5 U.S.C.

§ 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful
to file on time. You may choose to request review of the Board’s decision in the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any other court of
appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to seek review
in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any other
court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court's website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court's "Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is
contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
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If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our
website at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have
expressed interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems
Protection Board appellants before the Federal Circuit.

The Merit Systems

Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor
warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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(202) 254-3600 I (202) 254-3670 I (800) 872-9855

COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE
OR
OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
(Please print legibly or type and complete all pertinent items. Enter "N/A" (Not Applicable) or "Unknown" where appropriate. (If more space
needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

1.

Mr.(@)

Ms.(Q)

Mrs.(Q)

ts

Miss(())

r

3. Agencyname:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-j~~~~-~-~==~=
/t,

ft jlZ 2ffli_:-

5.

(Home)

6. Contact inf

(Office) Ext.
Fax number:
E-mail address:

7. If you are filing this complaint as a legal or othe representative of the Complainant, please supply the following information:
Mr.(

-t'J)

Ms.(

0)

Mrs.( 0)

Miss( C)

Address:
Telephone number(s):

(Home)
(Office) Ext.

Fax number:
E-mail address:

8. Are you (or is the Complainant, if you are filing as a representative) covered by a collective bargaining agreement? (Check one.)

(~)Yes

( 0)

(0) No

I don'tknow

9. How did you first become aware that you could file a complaint with OSC?

( 0)
( 0)

OSC Web site
News Story

( 0)
( 0)

OSC Speaker

( WI)

Agency Personnel Office

(0)Union

OSC Brochure

( (

) OSC Poster

( C ) Co-worker

(Q)O~er~~~e~K~~:-~~~~~~~-~~~~----~~-~~---------

~

Date (approximate):

d./.2 --------------Appx291
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COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
Page 2 of 12

What is the employment status of the person affected by the suspected prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity?
(Check all a,oplicahle items- more than one jtem may a,o,oly.)

a.

) Applicant for Federal employment

(;A Competitive Service

b.

) temporary appointment
) term appointment
c.

dcareer or career-conditional appointment
) probationary employee

) Excepted Service
) ScheduleA
) Schedule 8
) Schedule C
) National Guard Technician
) Non-appropriated Fund

(
(
(
(

(

d.

(
(
(
(
(

) PostaiService
) TennesseeValley Authority
) VA Dept. of Medicine and Surgery
) Veterans Readjustment Act (VRA)
) Other (Specify)

) SeniorExecutive Service (SES), Supergrade, or Executive Level
)
)
)
)

e.

(

career SES
noncareer SES
career GS-16, 17, or 18
noncareerGS-16, 17, or18

) Executive Level V or above (career) fund
) Executive Level V or above (noncareer)
) Presidentialappointee (Senate-confirmed)

) Other
) civi I service annuitant
) formercivil service employee
) competitive service
) excepted service

) militaryofficer or enlisted person
) contract employee
--------------) other(specify):
) unknown

11. What other action(s), if any, have you taken to appeal, grieve, or report this matter under any other procedure?(C/Jeck all that
apply.)

,/)

None, or not applicable
Appeal filed with Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB)
Petition for reconsideration of initial decision filed with MSPB
Initial Decision No.
USERRA claim filed with VETS (Department of Labor)
(Form VETSIUSERRANP-1010)
Grievance filed under agency grievance procedure
Grievance filed under negotiated grievance procedure
Matter heard by arbitrator under grievance procedure
Matter is pending in arbitration
Discrimination complaint filed with agency
Agency or Administrative Judge (AJ) decision on discrimination complaint appealed
to Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
Appeal filed with Office of Personnel Management
Unfair labor practice (ULP) complaint filed with Federal Labor Relations Authority
General Counsel
Lawsuit filed in Federal Court
Court name:
Reported matter to ag-e-::n-:-cy--r:ln:-::s:::p-::e-::ct:::o-::r7G..-:e:-:n:-:e-:::ra::;-I-------------

-------------------------------------

(
(
(

)
)

(

)

(
(

)

)

)

Reported matter to member of Congress
Name of Senator or Representative: _ _ _ _ _ _ _._ _ _ _ _ __
Other (specify):

Date: _ _ _ __
Date: - - - - - - - - - - - - - - · · - · ·
Date: - - - - - Date:

----··---·-··------·----··--··-···

Date:
---·--··-------·-·-·····-····-·
Date:
Date:
Date: - - - - - Date:
Date:
-----·-----···---····--·····Date:
Date:
------·--·----···-----··-·--Date:

----------------·--·

Date:----------·-·--···----·--·-·····-··-·
Date.-----------····--···········--··-·-···

----------------------------------Appx292
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COMPLAINT OF POSSIBLE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICE OR OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITY
Page 3 or 12

·---

··--·-····-········-··

PositionfTitle:

13. What are the actions or events that you are reporting to OSC? (To the extent known, specifically list.· (a) any
suspected prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity, other than reprisal for whistleblowinq; and
{b) any personnel actions involved. (IF YOU ARE ALLEGING REPRISAL FOR WHISTLEBLOWING, SKIP TO
PART 2 ON THE NEXT PAGE.)

/!lA
14. Provide details of the actions or events shown in your response to question 13. (Be as specific as possible
about dates, locations, and the identities and positions of all persons mentioned. In particular, identify actual
and potential witnesses, giving work locations and telephone numbers when possible. Also, attach any
pertinent documents that you may have. Please provide. if possible. a copv of the notification of the aqencv's
proposal and/or decision about the personnel action(s) covered bv vour request for OSC action. If more
space is needed, use Continuation Sheet at page 12.)

.-------------------------------------·-----·--··1

!

- - - .......------·-·.................... .!

15. What action would you like OSC to take in this matter (that is, what remedy are you asking for?)

I
· - - - -.....................................J
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2. TO WHOM (NAME A. .
MA E?

i

(MOJDAJYRJ-------·---·j

=·-----·-···-·---···-·-·-j
.j
i

TI:ZTE W.. /THE DISCLOSURE

/

l

(/ 0' ~c: ~ /

3.

ISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION EVIDENCED

(~-;;;~k-~fi·v;;-;··--·

1

apply):
(./'(VIOLATION OF LAW, RULE, OR REGULATION

B. WHAT INFORMATION WAS DISCLOSED?

__________ fQ~SCRIBE!!..~!5..T..__WHIS TLEBLO"'Yf.f!..I?.!.§_~'=Q~..YJ:!Q ____

i

(

) GROSS MISMANAGEMENT

(

) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS

(
(

) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO

.
lNHEN

w~~

THE DISCLOSURE- MADE7--(-M'o/DA"iv'R)··--··-·---·-·-- .... il

r

2. TO WHOM (NAME AND TITLE) WAS THE DISCLOSURE

·--·----~

~

MADE?

i!

It

I'

------~----·--·----··-. ···-············........................j,
3. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION EVIDENCED (check all

j1

il

that apply):
(

) VIOLATION OF LAW, RULE, OR REGULATION

(
(

) GROSS MISMANAGEMENT
) GROSS WASTE OF FUNDS

I'

(
(

) ABUSE OF AUTHORITY
) SUBSTANTIAL AND SPECIFIC DANGER TO

I

PUBLICHEAL TH OR SAFETY

------·--·-··--Jl

NONE OF THE ABOVE
4. WHAT PERSONNEL ACTION(S) OCCURRED, FAILED TO OCCUR, OR i
WAS THREATENED BECAUSE OF THE DISCLOSURE? (Lis/ all [
applicable personnel action numbers from pages 4-5).
·
1-5-.-W-H_E_N_D-ID_P_E_R_S_O_N_N_E
__L_A_c"""T~IO~N~(::'S):"'"O':"'::-R"::.TH,_R~E-·A

r(s)"ciccUR·?·-.. -~

(MO/DAIYR)
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3.

If you are not the person who actually made a disclosure described in boxes A, B, C, D above, please
check below to specify the disclosure involved, and provide the name, address, and telephone number of
the person who made the disclosure, if known. (If space is needed to identify more than one person, use
Continuation Sheet at page 12.)
Disclosure:

B ( 0)

c ( 0)

D ( 0)

Name:
Address:

Ext.

Telephone number:
4.

Explain why you believe that the personnel action(s) listed above occurred because of the disclosure(s) that
you described. (Be as specific as possible about any dates, locations, names, and positions of all persons
mentioned in your explanation. In particular, identify actual and potential witnesses, giving work locations
and telephone numbers, if known. Attach a copy of any documents that support your statements. Please
rovide if ossible a co
of the otification of the a enc 's ro osal and/or decision about the ersonnel
action s covered b o r com I 1 t. If more space is needed, continue on page 12.)

5.

I
L__------------------====-------·-·-··---·-·-__1
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~

OSC asks everyone who files a complaint alleging a possible prohibited personnel practice or other prohibited activity to
select one of three Consent Statements shown below. IE YDU DO NOT SELECT ONE OF THE THREE CONSENT
STATEMENTS BEL OW, OSC WILL ASSUME THAT VOLJ HAVE SELECTED CONSENT STATEMENT 1 Please: (a)
select and sign (or check, if filing electronically) one of the Consent Statements below; and (b) keep a copy of the Consent
Staten:ent you select (as well as a copy of all documents that you send to OSC) for your own records.
If you Initially select a Consent Statement that restricts OSC's use of information, you may later select a less restrictive
Consent Statement. If your selection of Consent Statement 2 or 3 prevents OSC from being able to conduct an
investigation, an OSC representative will contact you, explain the circumstances, and provide you with an opportunity to
select a less restrictive Consent Statement.
You should be a~are that the Privacy Act allows information in OSC case files to be used or disclosed for certain purposes,
regardless of whtch Consent Statement you sign. See 5 U.S.C. § 552a(b). Information about certain circumstances under
which OSC can use or disclose information under the Privacy Act appears on the next page.
(Please sign one)
Consent Statement 1

I consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved in my complaint, but I do not agree to allow OSC to disclose
my identity as the complainant to that agency. I agree to allow OSC to disclose only information from or about me, without
disclosing my name or other identifying information, if OSC decides that such disclosure is needed to investigate the
allegation(s) in my complaint (for example, to request information from the agency, or seek a possible resolution through
mediation or corrective action). I understand that in some circumstances (for example, if I am complaining about my failure
to receive a promotion), OSC could not maintain my anonymity while communicating with the agency involved about a
specific personnel action. In such cases, I understand that this request for confidentiality might prevent OSC from taking
further action on my complaint. I also understand that regardless of the Consent Statement I choose, OSC may disclose
information from my complaint file when permitted by the Privacy Act (including circumstances summarized in Part 5,
below).

Date Signed

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 2

Consent Statement 3
1 do !1QJ consent to OSC's communication with the agency involved i~ my con:plaint. I understand that if OSC decides that it
cannot investigate the allegation(s) in my complaint without commumcat1ng w1th that agency, my lack of consent will
probably prevent OSC from taking further action on the ~o~plaint. I under~tand that regardless of ~he Consent Statement I
~oose, OSC may disclose information from my complaint ftle when permitted by the Pnvacy Act (mclud1ng circumstances

mmarized in Part 5, below).

Date Signed

Complainant's Signature for Consent Statement 3
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Routine Uses. Limited disclosure of information from OSC files is needed to fulfill OSC's
investigative, prosecutorial, and related responsibilities. OSC has described 18 routine uses for
information in its files in the Federal Register (F.R.), at 66 F.R. 36611 (July 12, 2001 ), and 66 F.R.
51095 (October 5, 2001 ). A copy of the routine uses is available from OSC upon request. A
summary of the routine uses appears below.
OSC may disclose informatiofrom its files in the following circumstances:

1. to disclose that an allegation of prohibited personnel practices or other prohibited activity has been
filed;
2. to disclose information to the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) as needed for inquiries
involving civil service laws, rules or regulations, or to obtain an advisory opinion;
3. to disclose information about allegations or complaints of discrimination to entities
concerned with enforcement of antidiscrimination laws;
4. to the MSPB or the President, when seeking disciplinary action;
5. to the involved agency, MSPB, OPM, or the President when OSC has reason to
believe that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken;
6. to disclose information to Congress in OSC's annual report;
7. to disclose information to third parties as needed to conduct an investigation; obtain an
agency investigation and report on information disclosed to OSC's whistleblower disclosure
channel; or to give notice of the status or outcome of an investigation;
8. to disclose information as needed to obtain information about hiring or retention of an employee;
issuance of a security clearance; conduct of a security or suitability investigation; award of a
contract; or issuance of a license, grant, or other benefit;
9. to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for certain legislative coordination and
clearance purposes;
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Whistleblower Reprisal Complaint of Joe Carson, PE, against Merit Systems Protection Board
and its Chairman, Susan Grundmann
Part 2
A(l)-(3)- What information was disclosed, what did it evidence, when made, and to whom?
Over past eight years or so, I have repeatedly disclosed information related to violations of law at
the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB), regarding its non-discretionary statutory duties to
conduct "special studies," per 5 U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3) and (e)(3), of how the Office of
Special Counsel is interpreting and applying its non-discretionary statutory duties: 1) to protect
federal employees from prohibited personnel practices (PPPs), 2) OSC's non-discretionary
statutory duties as a confidential, secure disclosure channel, and 3) OSC's non-discretionary
statutory duties to review OPM regulations, proposed and existing, for creating or allowing PPPs,
4) the heads of agencies within OSC's PPP jurisdiction interpreting and applying their nondiscretionary statutory duty to "prevent PPPs," and 5) the heads of agencies outside of OSC's
PPP jurisdiction interpreting and applying their non-discretionary statutory duty to "take any
action .... necessary" to ensure the management culture in their agency "embodies" the merit
system principles.
Because of this decades-long, continuing law-breaking, MSPB has been and continues to be
unable to comply with its non-discretionary statutory duty to determine and report to the
President and Congress whether:
Does 9111, going to war in Iraq for false reasons, space shuttles failing out of the sky,
failure of levees in New Orleans and inept FEMA response, savings and loan debacle,
"fast and furious," Benghazi, economic meltdown of2008, continuing scandals in VA
health care, 100,000 Department of Energy sick workers, airline crashes, train crashes,
mining deaths, BP Gulf Oil Spill, American torture, warrantless wiretapping, etc
evidence:
1) that, contrary to law, federal employees cannot, as a rule, effectively make
"protected disclosures," particularly of classified information (where "effectively"
means the disclosure obtains a timely and objective resolution), and/or
2) that, contrary to law, federal employees are not, as rule, adequately protected
from reprisal and other types of PPPs.
My disclosures about this MSPB law-breaking includes letters to Congress, letters to the
President, disclosures to OSC, letters to MSPB, various "protected disclosures" within my
agency, the Dept. of Energy, and federal law suits.
Related disclosures to OSC includes: OSC file no. DI-12-2141

1
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Whistleblower Reprisal Complaint of Joe Carson, PE, against Merit Systems Protection Board
and its Chairman, Susan Grundmann
Related litigation includes:

Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, docket no. 08-M869, CAFC
Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, docket no. 08-M862, CAFC
Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, docket no. 07-0445, Federal District Court for the
District of Columbia, F.Supp.2d ----,2008 WL 441509 (D.D.C.), February 19, 2008
Carson v. Merit Systems Protection Board, docket no. 08-1108, CADC
The section of law I allege MSPB is violating, in whole or part, include:
5 U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3) and (e)(3)
A(4)- What personnel actions resulted? MSPB has created, via its decades-long, continuing
law-breaking, "any other significant change in duties, responsibilities or working conditions," for
me by the Supreme Court precedent in Burlington North. and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 126
S.Ct. 2405 (2006), because its law-breaking and its failure to take any steps to resolve it would
dissuade a reasonable co-worker from making protected disclosures and/or from engaging in
"protected activities."
A(5) - When did the personnel actions or threats occur? Since 1994, when this type of personnel
action was created in law.
4) Explain why you believe that the personnel action occurred because of the disclosures?
I made the disclosures, MSPB took no steps to resolve them, most specifically by requesting the
Office of Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to issue a binding opinion on the contested
question of law. Additionally, MSPB did its utmost to prevent their being resolved on their
merits via litigation, including making material false claims to a federal judge that it has issued
regulations (i.e. "administrative interpretation")for this section of law when it never has. 1
Singly, and in combination, MSPB thereby caused me to experience "any other significant
change in duties, responsibilities or working conditions."
5) What action would you like MSPB to take?

1

In Carson v. MSPB, docket no. 07-0445, Federal District Court for District of
Columbia, docket item 17, filed April30, 2007, RESPONSE to Show Cause Order and Motion
to Dismiss Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Memorandum pages 6-7, makes this material false
claim and is attached to this complaint.
2
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and its Chairman, Susan Grundmann
Stop breaking the law and start following it. If there are questions, then request the Office of
Legal Counsel of the Department of Justice to review how it is interpreting and applying the
contested section of law.
Chairman Grundmann took an oath to well and faithfully discharge the duties of her office. She
apparently subverts that oath, the detriment of the integrity of the federal civil service in the name
of legal ethics. She appears to reason that since MSPB is her agency employer, it is also her
client, whose interests she must hold paramount by legal ethics. This apparently includes doing
everything she can to prevent an objective evaluation of how MSPB is interpreting and applying
its non-discretionary statutory duties to conduct reactive "special studies" of failures of
government agencies to do their duty to protect the health, safety, welfare, and security of the
American people - such as 9/11 - to determine and report to the President and Congress "as to
whether the public interest in a civil service free of PPPs was adequately protected" in that event
and, if not, why not. Because MSPB is the only agency specifically tasked by law to ask such
questions and because it has failed or refused to do so, no other agency, nor Congressional
investigative body, nor independent Commission has asked these vital questions, meaning
America remains at unnecessarily increased risk of a terrorist attack, serious nuclear accident, or
other catastrophe.
Chairman Grundmann, under oath at her 2009 Senate confirmation hearing, pledged to conduct
such "special studies" but has failed or refused to do so in the years since being confirmed. 2

2

Ms. Grundmann's written testimony is attached to this complaint.

3
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 300
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505

January 2, 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-0892
This will acknowledge receipt of the above-referenced complaint. In the near future, a member of our
staff may contact you to discuss this matter if any additional information is needed to consider this case.
Please provide the telephone number where you wish to be contacted, if you have not already done so. For
overseas telephone numbers please include country codes; we do not have access to Autovon.
If you wish to write to us again concerning this matter, please include the file number listed above.
We can also be reached by telephone at 202-254-3600 or on our toll-free number at 1-800-872-9855. Your
contact at the Office of Special Counsel is Julie Martin-Korb. Enclosed is OSC's policy statement
concerning the disclosure of information, which includes a disclosure consent form. If you do not sign and
return one of the three consent statement options on the consent form to OSC within 20 days of the date of
this letter, it will be assumed that you agree to Consent Statement I.

~

If this complaint alleges a violation of the prohibited personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C. §
2302(b)(8), commonly called reprisal for whistleblowing, a separate information sheet is included with this
letter which includes answers to commonly asked questions and discusses the right to file a request for
corrective action with the Merit Systems Protection Board. The Board's regulations concerning rights to file
a corrective action case can be found at 5 C.P.R. Parts 1201-1205 and 1209.
In addition to protecting whistleblowers from retaliation, OSC also provides whistleblowers a safe
channel to make disclosures of wrongdoing in order to bring about institutional change. Note that filing a
"disclosure" complaint is a distinct process from filing a retaliation claim. Unlike a retaliation complaint, a
"disclosure" claim does not focus on resolving personnel decisions. Rather, it triggers a process to address
wrongdoing in a federal agency involving a violation of a law, rule or regulation; gross mismanagement; a
gross waste of funds; an abuse of authority; or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. 5
U.S.C. Section 1213.
IfOSC finds that a disclosure ofwrongdoing is substantially likely to be true, OSC requires the head
of the responsible agency to conduct an investigation and issue a public report, and include in that report any
remedial actions planned or undertaken to address the concerns raised by the whistleblower. The
whistleblower may comment on the agency's report, after which the Special Counsel issues a determination
to the President and Congress whether the agency report appears reasonable. (The whistleblower's comments
and OSC's determination are posted on OSC's website.) A disclosure claim may be filed either on-line using
OSC Form 12 (E-File button), via fax numbers 202-254-3711, or mail: Office of Special Counsel, 1730 M
Street, N.W., Suite 218, Washington, DC 20036. One may use either OSC Form 12 (Whistleblower
Disclosure), or submit a disclosure in writing to us without using the form. (Note that when a disclosure is
pending before an IG, OSC will typically defer to the IG's investigation.)
Please bear in mind that each year OSC receives a large number of complaints concerning prohibited
personnel practices. While we attempt to handle all cases as expeditiously as is possible, we generally
process them in the order received.
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218
. Washington, D.C. 20036-4505
202-254-3600

MAR 0 6 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-0892
Dear Mr. Carson:
This letter is in response to the complaint that you filed with the p.s. Office of Special
Counsel (OSC). In your complaint you allege that officials at the Merit Systems Protection
Board (MSPB) reprised against you for whistleblowing and committed other prohibited
personnel practices. The Complaints Examining Unit has carefully reviewed the
information that you have provided. Based on our evaluation of the facts and law applicable
to your circumstance, we have made a preliminary determination to close our inquiry into
your complaint.
The U.S. Office of Special Counsel is authorized to investigate allegations of prohibited
personnel practices and activities prohibited by civil service law, rule, or regulation.
5 U.S.C. §§ J214(a)(l)(A), 1216(a) and 2302(b). The Special Counsel presents allegations
of prohibited personnel practices to the Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB") which has
the authority to hear and adjudicate such matters. We have analyzed your complaint for
possible violations of 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b)(8) and (b)(12).
In your complaint, you state that you have made a series of protected disclosures
related to the MSPB's failure to conduct "special studies" pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§1204(a)(3)
and (e)(3). You state that you have reported the MSPB's violation of this law in letters to
Congress, letters to the President, disclosures to OSC, letters to the MSPB, disclosures within
the Department of Energy and federal law suits. You allege that, in reprisal for your
whistleblowing, the MSPB has continued to fail to perform the studies in question, and that
such continued failure constitutes a significant change in your duties, responsibilities or
working conditions.
Because you allege that you have suffered reprisal for whistleblowing, OSC has
analyzed your complaint for potential violations of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8). It is a violation of
5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) to take or fail to take, or to threaten to take or fail to take, a personnel
action with respect to any employee or applicant because of any disclosure of information by
an employee or applicant which the employee or applicant reasonably believes
evidences: (1) a violation of law, rule, or regulation; (2) gross mismanagement; (3) a gross
waste of funds; (4) an abuse of authority; or (5) a substantial and specific danger to public
health or safety, if such disclosure is not specifica]ly prohibited by law, or specifically
required by Executive Order to be kept secret. The elements of proof necessary to establish a
violation of Section 2302(b )(8) are: (1) a protected disclosure of information was made; (2)
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U.S. Office of Special Counsel
Mr. Joseph Carson
Page 2

the accused official(s) (e.g., the proposing or deciding official) had knowledge of the
disclosure and the identity of the employee making the disclosure; and (3) the protected
disclosure was a contributing factor in the personnel action or threat of a personnel
action. Gergick v. General Services Administration, 43 M.S.P.R. 651 (1990).
Under this section of the statute, we must prove, among other things, that you suffered
a personnel action and that your disclosures were at least a contributing factor in the decision
to take a personnel action against you. We cannot do so in this case. First, it is not clear that
the MSPB would find that you have suffered a "personnel action." A "personnel action" is
defined as: an appointment; a promotion; an action under chapter 75 of this title or other
disciplinary or corrective action; a detail, transfer, or reassignment; a reinstatement; a
restoration; a reemployment; a performance evaluation under Chapter 43 of 5 U.S.C.;
decisions concerning pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training that would
reasonably be expected to lead to promotion or other actions described in this subparagraph;
a decision to order psychiatric testing or examination; the implementation or enforcement of
any nondisclosure policy, form, or agreement; and any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302 (a)(2)(A). The selection of studies
conducted by the MSPB, or lack thereof, is not one of the statutorily identified personnel
actions.
However, you assert that the MSPB's actions constitute a significant change in your
duties, responsibilities or working conditions, under the same reasoning as that used in
Burlington North. and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 126 S.Ct. 2405 (2006), as applied to Title
VII discrimination cases. While we appreciate your argument, we are unable to find it
determinative here. First, it does not appear that the MSPB has adopted a similar test in the
context of prohibited personnel practices cases. Second, even if such a test was applicable in
the prohibited personnel practices context, the facts in this case vary significantly from the
facts cited by the Supreme Court in Burlington Northern, and thus it is not clear that the
Board would find that reasoning persuasive in this case. In particular, we cannot determine
that a reasonable employee would be deterred from filing prohibited personnel practices
complaints or whistle blower disclosures because of the number or type of studies into the
civil service and merit system that the MSPB has conducted. Therefore, we are unable to
determine that the MSPB would find that you have suffered an actionable "personnel action"
on the facts presented, and therefore cannot take further action on your complaint.
Further, even if the MSPB found that you have suffered a "personnel action'" we must
next establish that your disclosures were at least a contributing factor in the decision to take
that personnel action. The facts submitted do not support such a finding here. First, you
have submitted no facts showing that the individual(s) at the MSPB responsible for
·
determining the studies to be conducted or carrying out those studies have knowledge of
your disclosures. Second, we have no facts, other than your assertion, that any individual
involved in the studies at the MSPB has a motive to retaliate against you for your disclosures.
Finally, we have no facts indicating that the MSPB's decisions with respect to the studies it
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conducts have changed in response to your disclosures. Rather, the available information
indicates that MSPB consistently conducts and reports studies on the civil service and merit
system, including thirty-nine (39) such reports over the past decade. We found no facts
indicating that the MSPB changed or reduced the number or type of studies it was conducting
at any point because of your disclosures, or as retaliation for your disclosures. We also have
no other information establishing a causal link between the actions taken against you and any
protected disclosure you may have made. Because we cannot prove the required elements of
a Section 2302(b )(8) violation, we have no basis to further investigate your allegations.
You allege that the MSPB has violated 5 U.S.C. §§1204(a)(3) and (e)(3), by failing to
conduct specific types studies related to OSC and OSC's statutory duties. We analyzed your
allegations for a potential violation of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(12). It is a prohibited personnel
practice to take or fail to take any other personnel action if taking or failing to take such
action violates any law, rule, or regulation implementing, or directly concerning, the merit
system principles defined in 5 U.S.C. § 2301. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(12). The elements of
proof of a section 2302(b)(12) violation are: (1) proof of a personnel action as defined in
section 2302( a); and (2) proof of a violation of law, rule, or regulation implementing, or
directly concerning, one of the merit system principles set out in section 2301. Wells v.
Harris, 1 M.S.P.R. 208 (1979); see Harvey v. MSPB, 802 F.2d 537,543-44 (D.C. Cir. 1986).
As discussed above, it is not clear that the MSPB would find that a personnel action
has been taken in this case. But, even if we could so establish, we do not believe that the
MSPB would find that the statute in question has been violated.
The relevant statutory provisions state that the MSPB shall:
(a)(3) conduct, from time to time, special studies relating to the civil service and
to other merit systems in the executive branch, and report to the President and to
the Congress as to whether the public interest in a civil service free of prohibited
personnel practices is being adequately protected; and ....
(e)(3) In carrying out any study under subsection (a)(3), the Board shall make
such inquiries as may be necessary and, unless otherwise prohibited by law, shall
have access to personnel records or information collected by the Office of
Personnel Management and may require additional reports from other agencies
as needed.
According to the information available on the MSPB website (www.mspb.gov), the
MSPB has conducted and reported to Congress, the President, and the public, thirty-nine (39)
studies of the civil service and merit system over the past decade. A number of those studies
(\
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directly address prohibited personnel practices and whistleblower protections. 1 Although
you disagree that the studies in question are sufficient to meet the requirements of the statute,
based on the available information, we do not believe that the MSPB would find a violation
of the law on these facts. In particular, there is no statutory requirement that any particular
type of study be conducted, nor is there any requirement in the statute that the MSPB request
and study any particular OSC records. Therefore, we will take no further action on your
allegations.
As previously stated, our determination to close our inquiry into your complaint is
preliminary. You have the opportunity to provide comments in response to this letter. Your
comments must be in writing and must address the reasons we cite in reaching the
preliminary determination to close our inquiry into your complaint. You have thirteen (13)
days from the date of this letter to submit your comments to my attention. Please reference
your OSC File Number in your response. You may mail your comments to
the return address on the first page of this letter, fax them to 202-653-0015, or email them to
bwheeler@osc.gov. We cannot accept non-written comments, but I can be reached at 202254-3605 if you have questions about your complaint. If we do not receive any written
comments by the end of the thirteen-day period, we anticipate closing your file. We will then
send you a letter terminating our inquiry and advising you of any additional rights you may
have.

ar ara Wheeler
Complaints Examining Unit

('.

1

See, e.g., Blowing the Whistle, Barriers to Federal Employees Making Disclosures (2011); Prohibited
Personnel Practices: Employee Perceptions (2011); Whistleblower Protections for Federal Employees (2010);
and Prohibited Personnel Practices: A Study Retrospective (2010).
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March 10,2014, rev. 1
Ms. Barbara Wheeler, OSC
1730 M St, NW Suite 218
Washington, DC 20036
Subject: Response to your pre-determination letter of March 6, 2014 in MA-14-0892
Dear Ms. Wheeler,
By law, OSC's duties are to act in my interests while investigating my complaint to determine
whether there are reasonable grounds to believe a PPP occurred and report that determination to
me, if negative, and to my agency's head (and me), if positive.
Your pre-determination letter fails to comply with OSC's statutory duties to me in several ways,
including the most obvious, its failure to state whether there are reasonable grounds to believe I
experienced (and am still experiencing) a PPP. Instead, it reports you made a decision to close
the inquiry - something that is unlawful until OSC makes and reports its required determination.
Contrary to your letter's claim, OSC does not have to "prove" anything to MSPB at this point,
instead it must determine and report whether there are reasonable grounds to believe a PPP
occurred.
So the questions OSC should have addressed include:
1) Did I make a protected disclosure? Well, do I have reasonable belief that MSPB is violating
5 U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3)? A Yale Law School graduate found my claims compelling, so yes,
I do have "reasonable belief." 1
2) Are officials at MSPB aware of my "protected disclosure?" Without a doubt.
3) Did officials at MSPB, by their failure to resolve, via rule of law, my claims of decades-long
MSPB law-breaking engage in whistle blower reprisal against me? Yes, they did, they created
"any other significant change in (my) .... working conditions" by Supreme Court precedent in
Burlington, because MSPB 's failure to resolve my protected disclosure, via rule of law, in a
timely manner, would tend to dissuade a reasonable colleague from making such a protected
disclosure.
Ms. Wheeler, there is simply uncontested dispositive evidence that MSPB engaged in
1

See Attorney Loring Justice's legal analysis of MSPB's now 35 year-long interpretation
and application of 5 U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3)- and several related civil service laws- of
Septeber 1, 2011.
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whistleblower reprisal against me by its failure to resolve my protected disclosure about its lawbreaking.
Ms. Wheeler, please consider this letter to be a protected disclosure about OSC's lawbreaking in
not complying with its statutory duties to protect me from reprisal in its processing this PPP
complaint, MA-14-0892. If OSC fails to come into compliance with the law or take action (i.e.
request an OLC review) that it is complying with its statutory duties in processing this PPP
complaint, then OSC will be engaging in whistleblower reprisal against me for the same reasons
that MSPB is.
It is really not that hard, Ms. Wheeler- when a federal agency fails to timely and objectively
resolve an employee's protected disclosure about its law-breaking, it compounds the initial lawbreaking with whistleblower reprisal. That OSC has not been making this point for past 20 years
is just more evidence of its essentially fraudulent nature. Had it, then there would be plenty of
MSPB case law. OSC hides behind its own lawbreaking in citing the lack of MSPB case law,
consistent with its essentially fraudulent nature.

By law - another one that OSC has a long-history of ignoring - you have duty to respond to my
comments, substantively, should OSC go forward with its unlawfully obtained and worded
"determination." I'm not expecting you to comply with this statutory duty either, Ms. Wheeler.
~,

Should OSC close out my complaint, I will consider it an act ofwhistleblower reprisal on OSC's
part, in retaliation for my making protected disclosures about its lawbreaking in "investigating"
this PPP complaint and I will respond accordingly.
Respectfully,

Joseph Carson, PE
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
Attachments:
Loring Justice, Esq, September 1, 2011 analysis ofMSPB's interpretation and application of5
U.S.C. section 1204(a)(3).

2
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LORING E. JUSTICE, P.L.L.C.
Attorney ar Law
11911 Kingston Pike, Suite 20 I
Knoxville, TN 37934
Telephone: (865) 584-8620

Fax: (865) 584-8621

September 1, 2011
Mr. Joe Carson, P .E.
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, Tennessee 37922
Re:

Legal Analysis

Dear Mr. Carson:
You have commissioned me to provide an impartial, expert analysis of 5 U.S.C
§§1204(a)(3), 1214(e) and 2302(c) to address and articulate the requirements of these
laws. In advance of this 1etter, we agreed that my ultimate professional opinion would be
completely independent of and uninfluenced by yours. My freedom of legal analysis has
not been constrained in any way.
In order to properly address these questions, a historical understanding of the
legal framework is critical. The Civil Service Refonn Act of 1978 ("CSRA" or "the Act"
or "Act") codified merit principles and provided that employees who commit prohibited
personnel practices (PPPs) receive disciplinary action and it protected employees who
disclose improper government conduct. The Act defines what constitutes a "protected
disclosure" and what actions are "prohibited personnel practice." 1 The Act was passed in
an environment of serious concern about the integrity of the merit system in federa1
employment 2 and significant evidence of disturbingly aggressive retaliation against
whistleblowers. 3

See, 5 USC§ 2301 and 2302.
See, e.g., Violations and Abuses of Merit Principles in Federal Employment Part 1; Hearings
Before the Subcommittee on Manpower and Civil Service, Serial no. 94-19, 94th Cong., 1st Sess. (1975);
Violations and Abuses of Merit Principles in Federal Employment Part II. Hearings Before the
Subcommittee on Manpower and Civil Service, Serial no. 94-20, 94th Cong., 1st Sess. (1975).
During the term of Fred Malek as head of the White House personnel office during the Presidency
of Richard M. Nixon, Malek oversaw the drafting of the Federal Political Personnel Manual. This manual
openly referenced "the rape of the merit system." White House Personnel Office, "Malek Manual," in
Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities, Executive Session Hearings, Watergate and
Related Activities: Use of Incumbency-- Responsiveness Program, 93rd Cong., 2nd Sess. (1974). See also,
Nixon v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 731 (1982).
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The Whistleblower Protection Act ("WP A") was passed in 1989 to strengthen the
Office of Special Counsel (OSC), created under the CSRA. OSC exists in critical part to
protect whistleblowers from retaliation. 4 The WP A instructed the strengthened OSC that
its mission is to "protect employees, especially whistleblowers, from prohibited personnel
5
practices. " Of paramount significance is the mandate that OSC is to "act in the interests
of employees" 6 who petition for its protection and assistance. It cannot be overstated that
rather than commissioning OSC to be an independent body that decided complaints in the
fashion of an impartial court, rather, the WPA obligated OSC to assist whistleblowers. 7
Simply stated, OSC is intended to be a whistleblower advocate office. As every learned
observer who has addressed the question has concluded, Congress desired that OSC "act
aggressively on behalf of whistleblowers." 8 Due to its' almost uniquely strong
commission to assist and protect whistleblowers, it should be accepted that federal courts
may compel OSC to investigate and prosecute where there is evidence of a prohibited
personnel practice. 9
Structurally, OSC must investigate complaints, "to the extent necessary to
determine whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel
practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken." 10 OSC was originally the investigatory
and prosecutorial arm of the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB). 11 It gained
independence from MSPB via the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989. There is no
doubt that OSC was meant to be a powerful and important agency as an employee may
12
disclose to it evidence or data that is classified or confidential according to law.
When
SeeS. REP. No. 103-358, at 2 (1994), reprinted in 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3549,3550.
Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989, Pub. L. No. 101-12, § 2(b)(2)(A), 103 Stat. 16.
6

ld. § 2(b)(2)(B).

S. REP. No. 103-358, at 2 (1994), reprinted in 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3550. The WPA specifically
requires "that the Office ... shall act in the interests of employees who seek assistance" from it
S. REP. No. 103-358, at 2 (1994), reprinted in 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3550.
9

See e.g., Dunlop v. Bachowski, 421 U.S. 560 (1975). Might it be the case that OSC is not
investigating and creating records of prohibited personnel practices to avoid being legally compelled to
prosecute?
10

5 U.S.C. § 1213(a)(1)(A).

11
MSPB is charged to ensure that the federal civil service is based on merit. MSPB has jurisdiction
over the personnel practices of the federal government and is tasked with conducting special studies related
to the integrity of the merit system (whether it does so will be discussed below). On a practical level, it
decides allegations of wrongdoing often related to adverse agency actions and may provided relief when
appropriate. See, 5 U.S.C. §§ 1201-1206 (1978).
12

5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(B).
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OSC finds "reasonable grounds," to believe a prohibited personnel practice "occurred,
exists, or is to be taken" and such needs "corrective action" it is required to report the
findings and recommendations to the Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB"), the
Office of Personnel Management ("OPM") and the agency involved. 13 In whistleblower
cases, if OSC proves that protected disclosure was a contributing factor to the personnel
action, corrective action is to be ordered by the MSPB unless the agency proves by clear
and convincing evidence that it would have taken the disputed personnel action even had
the protected disclosure never occurred.
You first asked me to consider whether OSC's brief review of a complaint to
determine it has jurisdiction satisfies its duty to investigate. The argument that by
undertaking a brief analysis of a complaint and concluding it has no jurisdiction to act,
OSC has "investigated" within the meaning of the law is untenable and somewhat
distressing. OSC must "receive" any allegation of a prohibited personnel practice and
must "investigate" to the extent necessary to determine whether there are reasonable
grounds to believe that such a practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken. Please note
the language that OSC "must receive" any allegation. This phraseology would strongly
imply that OSC lacks the ability to self limit its role through constrained interpretation of
its own jurisdiction. Indeed, this phraseology extends the jurisdiction of OSC quite
broadly to "any allegation" of a prohibited personnel practice. Two elements need be
met: (1) any allegation of (2) a prohibited personnel practice. 14
Given the statutory mandate employees are able to sue to force the OSC to
conduct an "adequate" investigation. 15 This well recognized ability to sue to ensure that a
substantive investigation has occurred in accordance with the law is completely
inconsistent with allowing the OSC to escape its duty to investigate with the self-serving,
bare assertion that it has reviewed the complaint and lacks jurisdiction. OSC is to
16
investigate prohibited personnel practices first, not its own jurisdiction. OSC is often
17
the last and frequently the only stop for aggrieved employees. Given the scope of its
commission to investigate and seek corrective and disciplinary action, it remains a hotly
13

5 U.S.C. § 1213(a)(I)(A) (1994); ld. § 1214(b)(2)(A).

14

5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(l)(A)).

15

See, e.g., Barnhart v. Devine, 771 F.2d 1515, 1524-25 (D.C. Cir. 1985); Wren v. Merit Sys.
Protection Bd., 681 F.2d 867, 875-76 n.9 (D.C. Cir. 1982).
16

5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(5). 5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(2)(A). 5 US.C. § 1214(b)(2)(B). 5 US.C. § §
1214(b)(4)(A) and (C); 5 US.C. § 12J4(a)(2)(A).
17

Carducci v. Regan. 714 F.2d 171 (D. C. Cir. 1983). See, e.g., Booher v. US. Postal Serv., 843
F.2d 943 (6th Cir. 1988) (probationary employee may not sue unless clear disregard of agency regulation
shown); Harrison v. Bowen, 815 F.2d 1505 (D.C. Cir. 1987). But cf Lynch v. Bennett, 665 F. Supp. 62
(D. D. C. 1987)
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debated question as to whether OSC's budget is grossly inadequate, 18 perhaps in a
deliberate attempt to cripple the office.
In light of this history let us examine your concerns about the certain statutory
provisions to which you referenced me.
Title 5 U.S.C. § 1204(a)(3) provides that the MSPB shallconduct, from time to time, special studies relating to the civil
service and to other merit systems in the executive branch, and
report to the President and to the Congress as to whether the public
interest in a civil service free of prohibited personnel practices is
being adequately protected.
This duty is nondiscretionary and not qualified in any way. The action is to be
taken by MSPB with no prompting required on the part of the President or Congress.
While undoubtedly the phrase "from time to time" is somewhat vague, it cannot be that
given the concerns pursuant to which the CSRA and WPA were enacted and the strength
of Congress' desire to ensure the integrity of the merit system that "from time to time"
means !!!Y!!:· Nonetheless, it appears that MSPB has never conducted a special study
pursuant to this provision by which the head of MSPB reports whether merit system
integrity is intact. There can be no other conclusion than MSPB has willfully ignored this
duty under the law. At a minimum, MSPB should have requested some level of rule
making in order to specify the outer limits of"from time to time." Despite the language
above, it cannot be overemphasized that no head ofMSPB has ever had to sign his or her
name to document indicating that the public interest in a civil service free of prohibited
personnel practices is or is not being ade~uately protected. As such, the MSPB is
deliberately out of compliance with the law. 1
You also asked that I address that portion of the law that related to the
responsibility of agency heads for preventing PPPs and the requirement of coordination
between agency heads and OSC in ensuring that agency employees are informed of their
rights and remedies under the CSRA and WPA. Tile 5 U.S.C. § 2302(c) in defining
prohibited personnel practices provides:
The head of each agency shall be responsible for the prevention of
prohibited personnel practices, for the compliance with and
enforcement of applicable civil service laws, rules and regulations,
and other aspects of personnel management, and for ensuring (in
consultation with the Office of Special Counsel) that agency
employees are informed of the rights and remedies available to
18

See, Kaplan and Hannapel, Rein-vigorating the U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Suggestions for the
Next Administration. American Constitution Society for Law and Policy, Issue Brief, October 20, 2008.
19

This analysis should not be read to imply scathing toward those who administer and staff the
MSPB. MSPB, like OSC, may have well intentioned public servants yet nonetheless be in contempt of its
legal obligations due to budgetary issues. Whatever the case may be, if a federal agency is unable to
comply with its governing laws even for practical reasons, those at the top of the agency ought to be
making lots of noise about that fact.
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them under this chapter and chapter 12 of this title. Any individual
to whom the head of an agency delegates authority for personnel
management, or for any aspect thereof, shall be similarly
responsible within the limits of the delegation.
This language is mandatory as the head of each agency ''shall" be responsible.
Yet, there is no evidence that the head of each agency is genuinely responsible nor is
there evidence of proper consultation between OSC and each agency to ensure that
employees are properly infonned of their rights and remedies under the law. It may be
that an agency head certifies that training has taken place but this only begs and does not
answer questions. Has the training been effective? Is it preventing prohibited personnel
practices? Have any occurred? If so, what did the agency head do to prevent them or
redress them? It seems that OSC, like MSPB, is ignoring its duties under the law. It
strongly appears that rather than being a genuine vehicle for merit system integrity, the
CSRA and WP A are largely illusory. They are written to require numerous actions such
as consultation and reporting to ensure merit system integrity but those words are empty
as they are largely ignored.
You also asked that I address a certain section of the law related to reporting to an
agency head. Title 5 U.S.C. § 1214(e) provides that:
If, in connection with any investigation under this subchapter, the
Special Counsel detennines that there is reasonable cause to
believe that any violation of any law, rule, or regulation has
occurred other than one referred to in subsection (b) or (d), the
Special Counsel shall report such violation to the head of the
agency involved._The Special Counsel shall require ,within 30 days
after receipt of the report by the agency, a certification by the head
of the agency with states1) that the head of the agency has personally reviewed the
report; and
2) what action has been or is to be taken, and when the
action will be completed.
At the outset, it should be noted that you have indicated that since its inception,
there is no evidence OSC has ever reported a violation to an agency head pursuant to this
provision. This is stunning. Regardless of how one chooses to interpret this aspect of the
law, which will be discussed below, can anyone doubt that the CSRA and WPA are not
being fulfilled given that OSC has apparently never once genuinely acted pursuant to
section 1214(e)?
The reporting requirement under 1214(e) is unlike the legal provisions previously
discussed, conditional. In order for reporting to be required, OSC must determine there is
"reasonable cause" to believe a "violation of any law, rule, or regulation" has occurred
"other than one referred to in subsection (b) or (d)." Subsection (d) refers to criminal
violations that would reasonably be expected to be reported to the agency head and other
sources under separate legal authority. Subsection (b) is somewhat vague and amorphous
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but.clearly encompasses situations where "there are reasonable grounds to believe that a
prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists or is to be taken which requires
corrective action." Apparently, OSC uses this and other language in subsection (b) to
argue that it has no reporting duty if it determines that while reasonable grounds exist to
believe that a prohibited personnel practice has "occurred, exists or is to be taken" that
such does not require "corrective action." That is, in OSC's construction it never need
report if it determines "corrective action" is not required. By such construction, OSC
becomes Lord and Master of the reporting requirement and the very existence of such
records as are obviously necessary for the head of MSPB to determine the integrity of the
merit system either exist or do not exist at the whim and caprice of OSC.
It is worthy of note that even when a federal agency is entrusted with
discretionary authority, judicial review may still take place to determine if the agency is
abusing its discretion or is acting in an arbitrary or capricious fashion.2° Similarly, an
agency may not construe its governing statute in contravention of Congress?' Whether
one construes 1214(e) to require reporting to the relevant agency head of a11 instances
wherein there is reasonable cause to believe a violation of law, rule or regulation has
occurred even if such are violations already within the jurisdiction and mandate of
MSPB/OSC or whether one interprets 1214(e) to require reporting only when in the
course of an investigation MSPB/OSC becomes aware of a violation separate from or
collateral to its investigation, one thing is crystal clear: MSPB/OSC has never reported a
single thing of genuine consequence under 1214(e) and it is inconceivable to believe that
during its entire life span MSPB/OSC has never encountered a violation reportable tinder
the section. The very absence of all the reporting so clearly required under the provisions
cited above makes a compelling case that at its core MSPB/OSC is arbitrary and
capricious and abuses its discretion as a matter of course, at a minimum by ignoring its
explicit legal duties.

The reporting duties are quite important. The very duty of reporting implies the
investigation of complaints and adequate records thereof, such that the head is in a
position to meaningfully articulate to the President and Congress whether the integrity of
the federal merit system is intact. The reporting requirements thus belie the sometimes
tacit and sometimes explicit assertion of MSPB/OSC that it may unilaterally determine
that corrective action need not be taken and as such avoid meaningful record keeping of
violations and reporting.
It has been long understood· and accepted that when the government is in
contempt of or willfully neglecting its duties under law that the Courts may act in the
form of a writ of mandamus or otherwise to ensure that the law if fulfilled.Z 2 Given that
20

Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984).

21

Entergy Corp. v. Riverkeeper, Inc., 129 S.Ct. 1498 (2009). ("But surely if Congress has directly
spoken to an issue then any agency interpretation contradicting what Congress has said would be
unreasonable."), Riverkeeper at p. 7, n. 4 (majority opinion).
22

See, Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d 756, 759 (D.C. Cir. 2000).
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key provisions of the CSRA and the WP A are ignored, the Courts must one day act to
ensure that the words enacted into law are not so empty and devoid of meaning as to
invite mockery and diminish the standing of the law. The rule of law would soon cease
to exist should Congress enact laws that go deliberately without enforcement. Before
such an event happens, Congress should step in and refonn these laws by defining the
reporting and consultation requirements to specifically enact binding legal timelines for
the important acts of reporting and consultation required and thereby enhance not only
the integrity of the merit system but also avoid the current sad state of affairs where valid
laws are obviously being deliberately ignored and thereby promoting scorn, ridicule and
·
contempt for the law itself. 23
If you need anything else, please contact me at any time. Thank you.
Sincerely,

23

Alternatively, this unfortunate situation could be addressed by the Attorney General of the United
States. Pursuant to the Judiciary Act of 1789, the Attorney General has the authority to provide the
President and the agencies of the executive branch with governing legal interpretations. The Attorney
General exercises this power through the Office of Legal Counsel ("OLC") of the Department of Justice.
An OLC opinion on the matters addressed herein and perhaps others could require OSC/MSPB and agency
heads to properly report to the President and Congress regarding the integrity of the merit system.
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505
202-254-3600

MAR 2 7 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, TN 3 7934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-0892
Dear Mr. Carson:
We have received your March 10, 2014, response to our preliminary determination
letter which set forth our proposed factual and legal determinations in your complaint. While
we understand your position, we found no new or additional facts which would allow us to
conclude that our preliminary determination was in error.
Specifically, we cannot conclude that you have suffered a "personnel action" as
currently defined in the applicable statute and case law. In addition, you have submitted no
facts, other than your personal belief, establishing a causal connection between your
whistleblowing and any personnel action that the MPSB has taken against you. Because we
cannot determine that the required elements of a Section 2302(b)(8) claim exist, we made a
final determination to close our file in this matter.
Because you alleged reprisal for whistleblowing, you may have a right to seek
corrective action from the Merit Systems Protection Board under the provisions of 5 U.S.C.
§§ 1214(a)(3) and 1221. You may file a request for corrective action with the Board within
65 days from the date of this letter. The Merit Systems Protection Board regulations
concerning rights to file a corrective action case with the Board can be found at 5 C.F.R. Part
1209. It is important that you keep the accompanying letter because the Merit Systems
Protection Board may require that you submit a copy should you chose to seek corrective
action there.

~-·------------

Barb£lWserler
Complaibts ~xamining Unit
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U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036-4505
202-254-3600

MAR 2 7 2014
Mr. Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbor Drive
Knoxville, TN 3 7934
Re: OSC File No. MA-14-0892
Dear Mr. Carson:
The purpose of this letter is to notify you that you have a right to seek corrective
action from the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB). As we informed you in our closure
letter of this date, we have terminated our inquiry into your allegations. Specifically, you
alleged that you suffered a significant change in working conditions because you disclosed
that the MSPB was in violation of a law, rule or regulation. Because you alleged that you
were the victim of the prohibited personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8),
commonly called reprisal for whistleblowing, you may have the following rights.
You may seek corrective action from the MSPB under the provisions of 5 U.S.C. §§
1214(a)(3) and 1221 (individual right of action) for any personnel action taken or proposed to
be taken against you because of a protected disclosure that was the subject of your complaint
to this office. You may file a request for corrective action with the MSPB within 65 days
after the date of this letter.
The Merit Systems Protection Board regulations concerning rights to file an individual
right of action with the Board can be found at 5 C.F.R., Part 1209. If you choose to file such
an appeal you should submit this letter to the Board as part of your appeal. Therefore, it is
important that you retain a copy of this letter if you intend to file a request for corrective
action with the MSPB.

Barbara
eeler
Complaints Examining Unit
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Joe Carson
~

rom:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Joe Carson <jpcarson@tds.net>
Sunday, April 20, 2014 11:41 PM
bwheeler@osc.gov
OSC file no. MA-14-0892; request for information/communication per the law

Dear Ms. Wheeler,
As you know, I publicly contend OSC is a 36 year-old lawbreaking fraud of a federal agency- the most corrupt and
corrupting federal agency, relatively at least, in America's history, see www.broken-covenant.org.
I now contend that you have engaged in unlawful reprisal against me, regarding your failure to comply with your nondiscretionary statutory duties to me in OSC file no. MA-14-0892. I intend to pursue remedy as the law allows. I am NOT
threatening you or anyone anything outside the law and never have in the over two decades I have been defending my
positive legal duty, as a licensed professional engineer (PE) employed as a safety engineer in Dept. of Energy (DOE), to
"blow whistles," when necessary, to protect public/workplace health and safety pursuant to my professional
duty. Simply put, It's not personal between me, OSC and its employees (or DOE, etc).
To further make my case that OSC, and you, its agent, are engaged in unlawful reprisal against me, I respectfully request
you comply with your non-discretionary statutory duties to me per the "termination statement" found in the endnotes
of 5 USC section 1214.
~states:

Termination Statement

Pub. L. 103-424, §12(b), Oct. 29, 1994, 108 Stat. 4367, provided that: "The Special Counsel shall include in any
letter terminating an investigation under section 1214(a)(2) of title 5, United States Code, the name and
telephone number of an employee of the Special Counsel who is available to respond to reasonable questions
from the person regarding the investigation or review conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts
ascertained by the Special Counsel, and the law applicable to the person's allegations."
So, when can or will you be available to respond to my reasonable questions "regarding the investigation or review
conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts ascertained by the Special Counsel, and the law applicable to the
person's allegations?"
If I am successful in my efforts to demonstrate that you are engaged in unlawful whistlelower reprisal against me, you
should expect me to pursue legal avenues to have your profession of law discipline you professionally. You should also
be aware that a federal judge found OSC in non-compliance with its duties to me vis-a-vis the "termination statement"
years ago, but OSC thumbed its nose that at too, see Carson v. OSC, 514 F.Supp.2d 54, D.D.C. (September 27, 2007).
Respectfully,
Joe Carson, PE
Knoxville, TN
~~5-300-5831

1
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-14-0637-W-1

v.
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION
BOARD,
Agency.

DATE: November 6, 2014

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Mathew Bradley, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the Agency.
BEFORE
Hon. Bruce Tucker Smith
Administrative Law Judge

INITIAL DECISION
On April 21, 2014, Joseph P. Carson (Appellant) filed the instant Individual Right of
Action (IRA) appeal against the Merit Systems Protection Board (Agency)1 alleging the Agency
retaliated against him for whistleblowing or other protected activities.
On May 1, 2014, I received Appellant’s IRA appeal from the Board for review and
disposition.2

1

The term “Agency” is used when referring to MSPB’s role as the Respondent Agency in these proceedings. The
term “MSPB” or “Board” is used when referring to the MSPB’s general capacity as a governmental adjudicatory
organization.

2

The United States Coast Guard Administrative Law Judge Program provides adjudication services to the MSPB
pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding. As per 5 C.F.R. §1201.4(a), a “judge” is any person authorized by
the Board to hold a hearing or decide a case without a hearing, including the Board, or member of the Board, or an

1
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After a complete review and analysis of the record and applicable law, I find the Board
does not have jurisdiction under the Whistleblower Protection Act (WPA) (Pub. L. 101-12, as
amended) –and as expanded by the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 (WPEA)
(Pub. L. 112-199). Therefore, for the reasons discussed below, Appellant’s IRA appeal is
DISMISSED FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION.
PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
On December 13, 2013, Appellant, an employee of the Department of Energy, filed a
complaint with the Office of Special Counsel (OSC). Appellant argued he made a series of
protected disclosures to the President of the United States, OSC, the MSPB, and the Department
of Energy, as well as in a succession of federal lawsuits. Specifically, Appellant asserted those
protected disclosures involved the Agency’s failure to conduct certain “special studies” in
accordance with 5 U.S.C. §§1204(a)(3) and (e)(3). In short, Appellant asserted his protected
disclosures constituted whistleblowing and, in reprisal for such action, the Agency continued to
fail to perform certain studies, thereby causing a significant change in Appellant’s duties,
responsibilities and/or working conditions.
On March 6, 2014, OSC issued a preliminary determination to Appellant explaining that
it analyzed the complaint for potential violations of 5 U.S.C. §§2302(b)(8) and (b)(12). OSC
advised Appellant that the complaint did not set forth facts supporting the elements required to
prove a violation of either 5 U.S.C. §§2302(b)(8) or (b)(12). Accordingly, OSC advised
Appellant that it made a preliminary determination to end its inquiry into his complaint.
By letter dated March 10, 2014, Appellant responded to OSC’s March 6, 2014,
preliminary determination contesting OSC’s decision to close its inquiry. Respondent’s letter
administrative law judge appointed under 5 U.S.C. §3105 or other employee of the Board designated by the Board to
hear such matters.

2
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stated “should OSC close out my complaint, I will consider it an act of whistleblower reprisal on
OSC’s part . . . and I will respond accordingly.”
On March 27, 2014, OSC transmitted notice to Appellant advising of its “final
determination to close our file in this matter.” OSC’s correspondence specifically noted, “we
cannot conclude you have suffered a ‘personnel action’ as currently defined in the applicable
statute and case law.” The “final determination” letter from OSC further noted “you have
submitted no facts, other than your personal belief, establishing a causal connection between
your whistleblowing and any personnel action that the MSPB has taken against you.”3
On April 21, 2014, Appellant filed an IRA appeal against the Agency in response to
OSC’s March 27, 2014, determination to terminate its investigation into Appellant’s December
13, 2013, complaint. In his appeal form, Appellant indicated he was appealing MSPB’s “failure
or refusal to resolve ‘protected disclosure.’”
On May 13, 2014, the undersigned issued two orders, to wit: an Acknowledgment Order
and an Order on Jurisdiction and Proof. The Order on Jurisdiction and Proof provided Appellant
with notice that it was questionable whether his appeal was within the undersigned’s jurisdiction.
Accordingly, the Order on Jurisdiction and Proof provided Appellant with necessary information
concerning the jurisdictional issue and the burdens of proof that he must meet to show that the
undersigned should not dismiss the instant matter for lack of jurisdiction. The undersigned
directed Appellant to file a statement addressing the jurisdictional issue with supporting
evidence, within ten calendar days.

3

On April 20, 2014, Appellant e-mailed Barbara Wheeler, Complaints Examinations Unit, OSC and
“contend[ed]that [OSC] ha[s] engaged in unlawful reprisal against me. . . .” Appellant advised Ms. Wheeler that [i]f
I am successful in my efforts to demonstrate that you are engaged in unlawful whistleblower reprisal against me,
you should expect me to pursue legal avenues to have your profession of law discipline you professionally.”

3
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On May 20, 2014, the undersigned granted Appellant’s Request for Extension of Time,
and provided until May 27, 2014, for Appellant to file his jurisdictional statement. On May 25,
2014, Appellant filed his jurisdictional statement and the Agency responded on May 29, 2014.
On June 24, 2014, following a telephonic pre-hearing conference with the parties, the court
requested the parties further brief the jurisdiction issue by July 25, 2014.
On July 18, 2014, Appellant filed his brief; on July 23, 2014, the Agency filed its brief
and moved for dismissal of the matter due to lack of jurisdiction.
PRINCIPLES OF LAW
In an IRA appeal, an employee may seek corrective action from the MSPB with respect
to any “personnel action” taken, or proposed to be taken, against him as the result of a prohibited
personnel practice described in 5 U.S.C. §1221(a); 5 U.S.C. §2302(b)(8); 5 C.F.R. §1209.2.
However, “the Board’s jurisdiction is not plenary, but is limited to those matters over which it
has been granted jurisdiction by statute or regulation.” Weber v. Dep’t of the Army, 45 M.S.P.R.
406, 409 (1990). The Board therefore does not have jurisdiction over all actions that are alleged
to be incorrect. Weyman v. Dep’t of Justice, 58 M.S.P.R. 509, 512 (1993).
As explained in Benton-Flores v. Department of Defense, 121 M.S.P.R. 428 (2014),
In order to secure corrective action from the Board in an IRA appeal, an
appellant must first seek corrective action from OSC. If an appellant has
exhausted her administrative remedies before OSC, she can establish
Board jurisdiction over an IRA appeal by nonfrivolously alleging that she
made a protected disclosure and that the disclosure was a contributing
factor in the agency’s decision to take a personnel action.
Id. at 431-32. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). Whether an appellant has presented
nonfrivolous allegations is determined on the written record. Yunus v. Dep’t of Veterans
Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367, 1371-72 (Fed. Cir. 2001).

4
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In any event, as a limited-jurisdiction tribunal, the Board has an obligation to inquire into
its own jurisdiction on its own motion. Rogers v. U.S. Postal Service, 59 M.S.P.R. 647, 651
(1993). If jurisdiction is successfully established, then the Board conducts a hearing on the
merits. Benton-Flores, 121 M.S.P.R. at 432.4
ANALYSIS
As mentioned above, the requirements necessary to establish Board jurisdiction are: (1)
exhaustion of administrative remedies; (2) assertion of a nonfrivolous allegation; (3) the
allegation is a protected disclosure; and (4) the protected disclosure was a contributing factor in
the agency’s decision to take a personnel action. Id. at 432-36. As explained below, even
assuming the first three jurisdictional elements are met, Appellant failed to demonstrate that the
agency took a personnel action against him. Therefore, the board lacks jurisdiction over this
case.
Personnel Action Requirement
In an attempt to meet one of the requisite jurisdictional elements, Appellant describes the
Agency’s purported “personnel action” against him in the following terms:
MSPB has refused or failed to obtain a timely and objective resolution to
Mr. Carson’s protected disclosure. He contends this is a personnel action
by 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii), “any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities or working conditions” because “it might well dissuade a
reasonable coworker from making a protected disclosure. . . . ”

4

Notably, “[t]here is a fundamental distinction between the requirements necessary to prevail on the merits of a
WPA claim and those sufficient to establish [B]oard jurisdiction. To prevail on the merits, an employee must
establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that a protected disclosure was a contributing factor in an adverse
personnel action. At the jurisdictional threshold, however, the employee’s burden is significantly lower: for [IRA]
appeals ‘the Board’s jurisdiction is established by nonfrivolous allegations that the [employee] made a protected
disclosure that was a contributing factor to the personnel action taken or proposed.’” Johnston v. Merit Sys. Prot.
Bd., 518 F.3d 905, 909 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (quoting Stoyanov v. Dep’t of the Navy, 474 F.3d 1377, 1382 (Fed. Cir.
2007) (internal citations omitted).

5
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(Appellant’s Response to Jurisdictional Order, 05/25/2014) (citations omitted).
Alternatively stated, Appellant claims the Agency retaliated against him by
continuing to fail to perform certain studies, thereby causing a significant change in his
duties, responsibilities and/or working conditions. A review of relevant authority and the
facts in this case belie Appellant’s argument.
Under the WPEA, the term “personnel action” is defined as:
(i) an appointment;
(ii) a promotion;
(iii) an action under chapter 75 of this title or other disciplinary or corrective
action;
(iv) a detail, transfer, or reassignment;
(v) a reinstatement;
(vi) a restoration;
(vii) a reemployment;
(viii) a performance evaluation under chapter 43 of this title;
(ix) a decision concerning pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or
training if the education or training may reasonably be expected to lead to an
appointment, promotion, performance evaluation, or other action described in this
subparagraph;
(x) a decision to order psychiatric testing or examination; and
(xi) any other significant change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions;
5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A). A review of the record reveals the Agency has not and indeed could
not take any of the above-mentioned personnel actions against Appellant. Appellant has shown
no evidence that the Department of Energy, or any other agency, has taken any personnel action
against him as a result of any of his alleged “whistleblowing activities.” Therefore, because
there has been no personnel action, Appellant has not shown one of the necessary elements
required to establish Board jurisdiction over this case.
Appellant argues that MSPB’s failure to obtain a timely resolution to his complaint
“might well dissuade a reasonable coworker from making a protected disclosure. . . . ”
Appellant’s argument is unconvincing. “Dissuad[ing] a reasonable coworker from making a

6
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protected disclosure” is not within the definitional ambit of a personnel action as set forth in 5
U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A).
Based upon the foregoing, Appellant failed to establish that the Agency took a personnel
action against him and therefore failed to establish a valid basis for jurisdiction. Appellant’s
claim that the Agency’s actions, or inactions, constitute a “significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions” does not fall within the ambit of a personnel action as
codified at 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A)(xii). Accordingly, the MPSB has no jurisdiction. 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(8).”
CONCLUSION
Based upon the foregoing analysis, Appellant failed to successfully establish the requisite
jurisdictional bases for the Board to adjudicate his claim on the merits. Alternatively stated,
Appellant failed to demonstrate that the Agency took a personnel action against him.
DECISION & ORDER
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, the Agency’s Motion to Dismiss, as set forth within its
Brief on Jurisdiction, is GRANTED and Appellant’s IRA appeal is DISMISSED FOR LACK
OF JURISDICTION.

FOR THE BOARD:
_____________________________

Hon. Bruce Tucker Smith
Administrative Law Judge
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NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on December 11, 2014, unless a petition
for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is usually the last
day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board. However, if you prove
that you received this initial decision more than 5 days after the date of issuance, you
may file a petition for review within 30 days after the date you actually receive the
initial decision. If you are represented, the 30-day period begins to run upon either
your receipt of the initial decision or its receipt by your representative, whichever
comes first. You must establish the date on which you or your representative received
it. The date on which the initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file
a petition for review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you
how and when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are
important because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition for
review.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may file a
cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must state your
objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable laws,
regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board

8
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1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and may
only be accomplished at the Board’s e-Appeal website (https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only issues
raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in which the
Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are not limited to, a
showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1) Any
alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to warrant an
outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner who alleges that the
judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain why the challenged factual
determination is incorrect and identify specific evidence in the record that demonstrates
the error. In reviewing a claim of an erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give
deference to an administrative judge’s credibility determinations when they are based,
explicitly or implicitly, on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a
hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The petitioner
must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.

9
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(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite the
petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To constitute new
evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the documents
themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition for
review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated, typed, or
handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A reply to a
response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words, whichever is
less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than 12 point typeface
and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one side of a page. The
length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of authorities, attachments,
and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a pleading that exceeds the
limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be received by the Clerk of the Board at
least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such requests must give the reasons for a waiver
as well as the desired length of the pleading and are granted only in exceptional
circumstances. The page and word limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties
are not expected or required to submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a
well-written petition for review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the record
in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit anything to the
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Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review must be filed with the
Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial decision becomes final, or if this
initial decision is received by you or your representative more than 5 days after the date
of issuance, 30 days after the date you or your representative actually received the
initial decision, whichever was first. If you claim that you and your representative both
received this decision more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove
to the Board the earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving
the initial decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail is
determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic filing is the
date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the date on which the
Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial delivery is the date the
document was delivered to the commercial delivery service. Your petition may be
rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide a statement of how you served your
petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed
electronically, the online process itself will serve the petition on other e-filers. See
5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of service
of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial decision in
accordance with the Board’s regulations.
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NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar days
after the date this initial decision becomes final. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev.
eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. The court has
held that normally it does not have the authority to waive this statutory deadline and
that filings that do not comply with the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office
of Personnel Management, 931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i), (b)(9)(B),
(b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s disposition of any
other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request review of this decision
only after it becomes final by filing in the United States Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent jurisdiction. The court of appeals
must receive your petition for review within 60 days after the date on which this
decision becomes final. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If
you choose to file, be very careful to file on time. You may choose to request review of
the Board’s decision in the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or
any other court of appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to
seek review in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any
other court.
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If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to court,
you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in Title 5 of the
United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. §7703) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). You
may read this law as well as other sections of the United States Code, at our website,
http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm. Additional information about the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit is available at the court’s website,
www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular relevance is the court’s “Guide for Pro Se
Petitioners and Appellants,” which is contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and
Forms 5, 6, and 11. Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found
at their respective websites, which can be accessed through
http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our website at
http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have expressed interest in providing
pro bono representation for Merit Systems Protection Board appellants before the Federal
Circuit. The Merit Systems Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any
attorney nor warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
__________________________________________
)
JOSEPH P. CARSON,
)
)
Petitioner,
)
)
v.
)
)
U.S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
)
)
Respondent.
)
__________________________________________)

Civil Action No. 06-1833 (PLF)

OPINION
Petitioner, pro se, seeks a writ of mandamus. Petitioner is an employee of the
Department of Energy and has filed “over 20 prohibited personnel practices (PPP) complaints
since 1992” with the Office of the Special Counsel (“OSC”) for alleged Prohibited Personnel
Practices (“PPP”). Petitioner’s Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Petition for Writ
of Mandamus (“Opp.”) at 4. Two of petitioner’s cases have been resolved by the undersigned.
Carson v. U.S. Office of Special Counsel was decided by the Court on March 27, 2006. See
Civil Action No. 04-0315 PLF, 2006 WL 785292 (D.D.C. March 27, 2006) (“Carson I”). In
Carson I, the undersigned dismissed a petition for a writ of mandamus because it found that one
of the claims was barred by the statute of limitations and that with respect to the other claims
OSC had complied with the statutory requirements. See id. at *7. In the second decision from
this Court, Carson v. U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Civil Action No. 05-0537 (D.D.C. Oct. 30,
2006) (“Carson II”), the undersigned dismissed a petition for a writ of mandamus. There the
Court adopted the report and recommendations of the Magistrate Judge, who found that the
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respondent, the Office of Special Counsel, had “fulfilled its required duty by investigating the
claims made by the Petitioner, and used its discretion in closing the claims because it did not find
sufficient evidence to support Petitioner’s claims of PPP.” Carson II, Report and
Recommendation at 12.
On October 23, 2006, petitioner filed another petition for a writ of mandamus, the
one at issue here, requesting the Court to order the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”) to take
specific actions on specific claims that petitioner had filed (MA-06-2118 and MA-06-2752). See
Petition at 4-5. Respondent again filed a motion to dismiss. See Respondent’s Response to
Show-Cause Order and Motion to Dismiss Petition for Writ of Mandamus. (“Mot.”). Petitioner
asserts in this petition that OSC has not complied with its statutorily mandated obligations with
respect to his complaints and that a writ of mandamus is the appropriate remedy. See Petition
¶¶ 7-10, 16. Specifically, petitioner requests that this Court issue a writ instructing the “OSC [to]
provide the [statutorily] required information, and not [to] include prohibited information related
to its written communications related to its disposition of petitioner’s PPP complaints MA-062118 and MA-06-2752, as well as [to] provide petitioner the additional information he requests
per the required (but now missing) ‘termination statement.’” See id. ¶ 15. Upon careful
consideration of the entire record, the Court will grant respondent’s motion to dismiss.

I. BACKGROUND
In Carson I, the Court described the relevant statutory background, the power of
the Court to issue a writ of mandamus and the standards for issuing a writ of mandamus. See

2
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Carson I, 2006 WL 785292, at *1-*3. For the convenience of the parties, the Court repeats the
relevant statutory framework herein.

A. The Whistleblower Protection Act
Under the Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 (“WPA”), 5 U.S.C. § 1201 et
seq., an agency is prohibited from taking any personnel action in reprisal for the disclosure of
information by an applicant that the applicant reasonably believes evidences violation of any law,
rule, or regulation by another agency employee. See 5 U.S.C. §§ 1221(a), 2302(b)(8)(A)(I); see
also Stella v. Mineta, 284 F.3d 135, 142 (D.C. Cir. 2002); Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d 756,
757-58 (D.C. Cir. 2000). When an agency takes such an action, it is considered to be a
prohibited personnel practice (“PPP”). An employee who believes he has been the victim of a
PPP must first complain to the OSC, which is required to investigate the complaint “to the extent
necessary to determine whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited
personnel practice has occurred.” 5 U.S.C. § 1214; see also Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d
at 758. The initial investigation is conducted by OSC’s Complaints Examining Unit (“CEU”).
See 5 C.F.R. § 1800.1(c)(4); PETER B. BROIDA , A GUIDE TO MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION
BOARD LAW & PRACTICE , Ch. 13 § IV.B.1 (2004). If CEU determines that further investigation
is needed, the complaint is referred to one of the agency’s Investigation and Prosecution
Divisions (“IPDs”) for further investigation. See id. (describing the organizational structure of
OSC). Based upon the IPD investigation, if OSC finds reasonable grounds to believe that a PPP
has occurred, it may recommend to the agency involved that it take corrective action to remedy
the apparent violation. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(2)(B). If the agency refuses or fails to take

3
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action, OSC may petition the Merit Systems Protection Board (“MSPB”) to order the appropriate
corrective action. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(2)(C).
While an investigation is pending, OSC must provide written status updates to a
complainant. See 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(1)(C)(I) and (ii). OSC must issue these updates within 90
days of the filing of a complaint, and at 60-day intervals thereafter, until the investigation is
complete. See id. The updates must describe the current status of the complaint and any action
taken during the preceding time period since the last update was issued. See id. If, after
investigation, OSC finds no reasonable ground to believe that a PPP has occurred, it sends a
written status report (“pre-determination letter”) to the complainant informing him of the
proposed findings and legal conclusions. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(D). OSC must provide this
pre-determination letter at least ten days before terminating an investigation. See id.
In Section 1213, the Act sets out a separate set of procedures for investigating
allegations of agency wrongdoing (known as whistleblower disclosures) under 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(8), which evidence a “(i) violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or (ii) gross
mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority or a substantial and specific
danger to public health and safety.” 5 U.S.C. § 2302 (b)(8)(A); see 5 U.S.C. § 1213(a). If OSC
finds a “substantial likelihood” that the information constitutes a whistleblower disclosure, OSC
transmits the information to the head of the involved agency. See 5 U.S.C. § 1213(b). The
agency must conduct an investigation and submit a written report of its findings to OSC. See id.
If OSC does not find a substantial likelihood that the information constitutes a whistleblower
disclosure, it must inform the submitting individual of “the reasons why the disclosure may not
be further acted on[.]” 5 U.S.C. § 1213(g)(3)(A).
4
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If OSC’s investigation does not uncover support for the complaint, the employee
still may seek corrective action from an alleged PPP before the MSPB. See 5 U.S.C.
§§ 1214(a)(3), 1221. But “an employee alleging a [PPP] must give the OSC a chance to
investigate before going to the MSPB.” Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d at 759. Any decision
of the MSPB is appealable to the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. See
5 U.S.C. § 7703.

B. Writ of Mandamus
1. Jurisdiction Over OSC
Although the Mandamus Act provides that “[t]he district courts shall have original
jurisdiction of any action in the nature of mandamus to compel an officer or employee of the
United States or any agency thereof to perform a duty owed to the plaintiff,” 28 U.S.C. § 1361,
the All Writs Act allows the Court to order a remedy only where subject matter jurisdiction
already exists. See 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a) (providing that the “Supreme Court and all courts
established by an Act of Congress may issue all writs necessary or appropriate in aid of their
respective jurisdictions . . .”); see also Telecommunications Research and Action Center v. FCC,
750 F.2d 70, 76 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (“[I]t is firmly established that [Section] 1651 does not expand
the jurisdiction of a court.”). In addition, the Civil Service Recovery Act of 1978 (“CSRA”),
Pub. L. No. 94-454, 92 Stat. 1111 (codified as amended in scattered sections of Title 5 of the
United States Code), which governs non-constitutional claims brought by federal employees
against the United States government or its agencies, does not provide for subject matter
jurisdiction in the United States district courts for review of OSC decisions made pursuant to its

5
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authority under the statute. See Fornaro v. James, 416 F.3d 63, 67 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (CSRA is
comprehensive and exclusive remedial scheme); Carducci v. Regan, 714 F.2d 171, 174 (D.C.
Cir. 1983) (CSRA is “exhaustive remedial scheme” that clearly evidences congressional intent
not to permit alternative or preexisting remedies); Borrel v. United States Int’l Communication
Agency, 682 F.2d 981, 988 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (“[W]e are unable to conclude from the [CSRA] that
Congress intended to provide an independent judicial remedy to employees.”). Nor does the
CSRA provide for jurisdiction over appeals of decisions rendered by the MSPB in this Court;
only the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit may hear such petitions. See 5
U.S.C. §§ 1215(a)(4) and 1221(h)(2), incorporating 5 U.S.C. §7703(b)(1); see also United States
v. Fausto, 484 U.S. 439, 449 (1988).
The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit
nevertheless has concluded that a United States District Court does have subject matter
jurisdiction to issue a writ of mandamus if it determines that OSC violated a non-discretionary
statutory duty to investigate an employee’s allegations. See Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d
at 756. The court reasoned that because the Federal Circuit reviews only MSPB decisions and
not OSC actions or decisions, depriving the district courts of mandamus jurisdiction over claims
that OSC has failed to perform a statutory duty would foreclose all relief for such a failure. See
id. at 759.

2. Standards for Relief in Mandamus
The remedy of mandamus “is a drastic one, to be invoked only in extraordinary
circumstances.” Allied Chemical Corp. v. Daiflon, Inc., 449 U.S. 33, 34 (1980). Only

6
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“exceptional circumstances amounting to a judicial ‘usurpation of power’” will justify issuance
of the writ. Gulfstream Aerospace Corp. v. Mayacamas Corp., 485 U.S. 271, 289 (1988)
(quoting Will v. United States, 389 U.S. 90, 95 (1967)); see also In re Leeds, 951 F.2d 1323,
1323 (D.C. Cir. 1991). Mandamus is available only if: “(1) the plaintiff has a clear right to relief;
(2) the defendant has a clear duty to act; and (3) there is no other adequate remedy available to
plaintiff.” In re Medicare Reimbursement Litigation, 414 F.3d 7, 10 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quoting
Power v. Barnhart, 292 F.3d 781, 784 (D.C. Cir. 2002)); see also Banks v. Office of Senate
Sergeant-At-Arms and Doorkeeper of the United States Senate, 471 F.3d 1341, 1350 (D.C. Cir.
2006) (concluding that the extraordinary remedy of mandamus need not issue in a case arising
under the Congressional Accountability Act where the issue could be addressed by an appeal
from a final judgment). The party seeking mandamus “has the burden of showing that ‘its right
to issuance of the writ is clear and indisputable.’” Power v. Barnhart, 292 F.3d at 784 (quoting
Northern States Power Co. v. U.S. Dep’t of Energy, 128 F.3d 754, 758 (D.C. Cir. 1997)). Where
the action petitioner seeks to compel is discretionary, petitioner has no clear right to relief and
mandamus therefore is not an appropriate remedy. See, e.g., Heckler v. Ringer, 466 U.S. 602,
616 (1984); Weber v. United States, 209 F.3d at 760 (“[M]andamus is proper only when an
agency has a clearly established duty to act.”).

II. DISCUSSION
Petitioner has filed numerous grievances with the OSC, two of which are at issue
in this case (MA-06-2118 and MA-06-2752). Petitioner raises three shortcomings of the OSC in
addressing his complaints that he believes this Court must remedy. Petitioner asserts: (1) that the

7
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OSC did not use the statutorily required language in its pre-determination letters; (2) that the
OSC did not include the statutorily required termination statement in the termination letters; and
(3) that the OSC included information prejudicial to petitioner in the letter informing petitioner
of his individual right of action. See Petition ¶¶ 7-9. Petitioner’s first and third grounds for
mandamus fail because petitioner misconstrues the statutory requirements. Contrary to
petitioner’s assertions, OSC has met its statutory requirements. Petitioner’s second ground does
raise a technical violation. Due to the extreme nature of the remedy of mandamus, however, the
Court concludes that mandamus is not the appropriate remedy for such a technical violation.1

A. Language in the pre-determination letters
Petitioner asserts that the OSC should have included in the pre-determination
letter a statutorily mandated determination of “whether there are (not) reasonable grounds to
believe a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, exists, or is to be taken.” Petition ¶ 7.2 The
Court finds that while the statute does use petitioner’s language in Section 1214(a)(1)(A), that
language refers to the general duties of the Special Counsel in the investigation of PPPs. The
statute does not require that the OSC use those exact words when writing its pre-determination
letter. Rather, the statute states only that “[n]o later than 10 days before the Special Counsel
terminates any investigation of a prohibited personnel practice, the Special Counsel shall provide

1

In petitioner’s response to respondent’s motion to dismiss, he asserts new legal
arguments. See Opp. at 8-10. But a petitioner “may not amend his complaint through his
opposition papers.” Bigwood v. U.S. Agency for International Development, 484 F.Supp.2d 68,
71 (D.D.C. 2007); see also Doe I v. State of Israel, 400 F.Supp.2d 86, 100 (D.D.C. 2005). Only
those claims raised in his original petition are addressed by this Opinion.
2

Petitioner raised this issue in Carson I. In that case, the Court found the claim was
barred by the statute of limitations. See Carson I, 2006 WL 785 292 (D.D.C. 2006).
8
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a written status report to the person who made the allegation of the proposed findings of fact and
legal conclusions. . . .” 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(D).3
In response to complaint MA-06-2118, the OSC gave petitioner guidance on the
elements required and the legal standard to be met and stated that “without further information
concerning the facts and law . . . , we have made a preliminary determination to close our inquiry
into your allegations.” August 3, 2007 Letter from OSC to Joseph Carson, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1
to Petition (“Pl. Ex. 1”) at 1. Although the statement does not use the phrase “reasonable
grounds” as petitioner would assert is necessary, the OSC meets its statutory obligation under
Section 1214 (a)(1)(D). Likewise, in response to petitioner’s second complaint, MA-06-2752,
the OSC explained that the complaint “does not contain any new information that would alter our
determinations in previous complaints.” September 22, 2006, Letter from OSC to Joseph
Carson, Pl. Ex. 3 to Petition at 1. Again, although not using petitioner’s magic words, the OSC
was clear that it had concluded that there are not enough supporting facts to find that a PPP has
occurred.
The OSC is not required to use any specific language in making its determinations
and providing written status reports. The Court agrees with respondent that the letters in
response to petitioner’s complaints fully addressed and met the statutory requirements of such a
letter. Cf. Carson I, 2006 WL 785292, at *5 (finding that although the OSC did not explicitly
label its reason for not investigating a complaint as a “legal conclusion” OSC had nevertheless

3

The statute goes on to state in Section 1214(a)(1)(D) that the complainant “may
submit written comments about the report to the Special Counsel. The Special Counsel shall not
be required to provide a subsequent written status report under this subparagraph after the
submission of such written comments.” 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(D).
9
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met its statutory burden). Petitioner’s first ground for relief fails, because the OSC has fulfilled
its statutory duties.

B. The Termination Statement
Petitioner next argues that the PPP termination letters for his complaints
(MA-6-2118 and MA-06-2752) do not contain the statutorily required “termination statement.”
See Petition ¶ 8. Section 1214 requires that the OSC issue a written statement to the
complainant. The written statement must notify the person of:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

the termination of the investigation;
a summary of relevant facts ascertained by the Special
Counsel, including the facts that support and the facts that
do not support, the allegations of such person;
the reasons for terminating the investigation; and
a response to any comments submitted under paragraph
(1)(D).

5 U.S.C. § 1214 (a)(2)(A). In addition, a note to Section 1214 indicates that
[t]he Special Counsel shall include in any letter terminating an
investigation under section 1214(a)(2) of title 5, United States
Code, the name and telephone number of an employee of the
Special Counsel who is available to respond to reasonable
questions from the person regarding the investigation or review
conducted by the Special Counsel, the relevant facts ascertained by
the Special counsel and the law applicable to the person’s
allegations.
United States Office of Special Counsel, Merit Systems Protection Board: Authorization, Pub. L.
103-424 Section 12(b), 108 Stat. 4361.
Petitioner correctly asserts that the termination statement, required by
Section 1214(a)(2)(A) and described in the above note to the statute, is missing from the PPP
termination letters he received from the OSC. See August 29, 2006 letter from OSC to Joseph
10
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Carson, Pl. Ex. 2 to Petition; October 16, 2006 letter from OSC to Joseph Carson, Pl. Ex. 4 to
Petition. Petitioner asserts that this Court has jurisdiction to force the OSC to comply with its
statutory obligations through the issuance of a writ of mandamus. See Petition ¶ 1.
In Weber, the D.C. Circuit held that federal district courts have jurisdiction to
issue a writ of mandamus to the OSC, reasoning that “where OSC violate[s] a statutory duty to
investigate [a complainant’s] allegations” there may be no recourse for the complainant because
such a claim “could not [be] ma[d]e before the MSPB or the Federal Circuit.” Thus, “if district
courts lacked power to issue the writ, judicial review of OSC actions would not be available.”
Weber v. U.S. Office of Special Counsel, 209 F.3d at 759. The court in Weber determined,
however, that mandamus was not the appropriate remedy in that case because there was no
clearly established duty to act. See id. at 760.
While it is a technical violation of the statute not to include a termination
statement in a termination letter, it is not the type of violation that would warrant the “extreme
remedy” of a writ of mandamus. Petitioner has had extensive dealings with the OSC, in which
he has filed over 20 PPPs. See Pet. Opp. at 4. In the termination letter dated August 29, 2006,
the OSC refers to a phone conversation between petitioner and the OSC. See August 29, 2006
letter from OSC to Joseph Carson, Pl. Ex. 2 to Petition. Petitioner in this case obviously has the
ability to contact and ask reasonable questions of an employee at the OSC. Here, the OSC has
met the substantive statutory burden to respond in writing with a termination letter. The failure
to include the termination statement appears to be nothing more than an oversight that does not
warrant issuance of a writ of mandamus.

11
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Petitioner concedes that the complaints at issue in this case deal with “issues of
law [that] are almost identical and the facts similarly incontestable” to those in his case that is on
appeal. See Petition at 2; see also July 19, 2007 Notice of Order in Related Case (in which
petitioner notes that the issues in this case are “nearly identical” to the issues on appeal to the
D.C. Circuit). Because the case on appeal deals with the same legal and factual issues, petitioner
cannot meet the third requirement for a writ of mandamus, that “there is no other adequate
remedy available to plaintiff.” In re Medicare Reimbursement Litigation, 414 F.3d at 10 (quoting
Power v. Barnhart, 292 F.3d at 784).4 Because the Court finds that OSC has met its substantive
statutory requirements by issuing the termination letter, and because petitioner cannot establish
his right to mandamus, this Court will not order a writ of mandamus to include a termination
statement on the termination letters from OSC.

C. The Individual Right of Action Letter
Finally, petitioner asserts that the notice accompanying the OSC termination letter
for MA-06-2118 contained “additional prejudicial information, not authorized by statute at 5
USC 1214(a)(3)(A)(I) [sic], and prohibited by statute at 5 USC 1212(g)(1) [sic] and 5 USC
1214(b)(2)(E)[sic][.]”5 Respondent argues, however, and the Court agrees, that the individual

4

Petitioner asserts that his petition for mandamus is not based on the lack of a
telephone number on the termination letter but rather on some greater failure to disclose
information. See Opp. at 14. The writ, if issued, would require the termination statement, but
would not necessarily address petitioner’s grievances. As noted, a writ of mandamus is an
extraordinary remedy that is not appropriate for such a technical statutory violation. See, e.g.,
Allied Chemical Corp. v. Daiflon, Inc., 449 U.S. at 34.
5

5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3) provides:
Except in a case in which an employee, former employee,
12
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right of action letter is not required by statute, and that any information included in the right of
action letter was not prejudicial to the petitioner. See Bauer v. Department of the Army, 88
M.S.P.R. 352, 354 (2001) (“there is nothing in the statute that requires that OSC give the
appellant notice of his appeal right to the MSPB”); see also Mot. at 7.
The statute requires that a person who has filed a complaint alleging retaliation for
whistleblower activities must first seek corrective action from the Special Counsel before seeking

or applicant for employment has the right to appeal directly
to the Merit Systems Protection Board under any law, rule,
or regulation, any such employee, former employee, or
applicant shall seek corrective action from the Special
Counsel before seeking corrective action from the Board.
An employee, former employee, or applicant for
employment may seek corrective action from the Board
under section 1221, if such employee, former employee, or
applicant seeks corrective action for a prohibited personnel
practice described in section 2302(b)(8) from the Special
Counsel and . . . the Special Counsel notifies such
employee, former employee, or applicant that an
investigation concerning such employee, former employee,
or applicant has been terminated[.]
5 U.S.C. § 1212(g)(1) provides:
The Special Counsel may not respond to any inquiry or
disclose any information from or about any person making
an allegation under section 1214(a), except in accordance
with the provisions of section 552a of title 5, United States
Code, or as required by any other applicable Federal law.
5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(2)(E) provides:
A determination by the Special Counsel under this
paragraph shall not be cited or referred to in any proceeding
under this paragraph or any other administrative or judicial
proceeding for any purpose, without the consent of the
person submitting the allegation of a prohibited personnel
practice.
13
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corrective action from the Merit Systems Protection Board. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(2)(B)(3). An
employee who has first gone to OSC may seek corrective action from the MSPB under Section
1221 in either of two situations: (1) if the OSC has notified the employee that the investigation
has been terminated, and the employee acts within 60 days of receiving notification of the
termination; or (2) 120 days after making the complaint to OSC if the applicant has received no
notice from the Special Counsel. See 5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(3). In neither scenario is the right of
action letter necessary or required. A MSPB form with instructions on how to file an individual
right of action appeal, attached by petitioner states: “[I]f you have received written notice from
OSC of your right to file an IRA appeal with the Board, attach a copy of the OSC notice.”
Instructions for Appeal, Pl. Ex. 10 to Opp at 1 (italics added, bold in original). The language in
the instructions indicates that the letter is requested, not required.
In Bauer, the MSPB concluded that failure to deliver a right of action letter
would not toll the 60 day time limit under Section 1214(a)(3)(A)(ii), because the statute only
requires notice of termination, not notice of an individual right to appeal. See Bauer v.
Department of the Army, 88 M.S.P.R at 354. Thus, in Bauer the MSPB found that the right of
action letter was not statutorily required. Id. Because the individual right of action letter is not
required by statute and is issued “as a courtesy,” any information included in the letter – whether
or not prejudicial – is not a violation of the statute. Cf. Williams v. Merit Systems Protection
Bd., 89 Fed. Appx. 714, 716-717 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (unpublished opinion) (noting that the MSPB
had not interpreted the statute to require the Office of Special Counsel to provide whistleblower
claimants with notice of their appeal rights to the Board, and extending the reasoning to
“conclude[] that there was no statutory or regulatory requirement that DOL notify the veteran
14
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complainant of his appeal rights, and that DOL was required only to notify the veteran of the
results of the Department's investigation.”).
In sum, the Court concludes that two of the three alleged violations were not, in
fact, violations, and that the third alleged violation – failure to include a termination statement –
was a technical violation for which the drastic remedy of mandamus is not appropriate. The
Court therefore will dismiss the petition for a writ of mandamus. An Order consistent with this
Opinion will be issued this same day.

/s/______________________________
PAUL L. FRIEDMAN
United States District Judge
DATE: September 27, 2007
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,

)
)
)Docket No.
)

Appellant

)AT-1221-15-0092-W-1
)

v.

)
)
)
)

OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,

)
)
)

Agency
)
___________________________________
)

APPELLANT'S DECLARATION TO ACCOMPANY HIS RESPONSE TO SHOW
CAUSE ORDER REGARDING OSC'S FAILURE OR REFUSAL TO PROVIDE
INFORMATION PER THE "TERMINATION STATEMENT" IN MA-13-4245 AND MA14-0892
I, Joseph P. Carson, PE, the Appellant in this appeal, do hereby declare:
I am prose in this proceeding, an IRA reprisal appeal against Special Counsel Lerner and the
Office of Special Counsel (OSC). I allege Special Counsel Lerner and others in OSC engaged in
unlawful reprisal against me for filing a whistleblower reprisal complaint with it in which the
underlying whistleblower disclosures alleged decades-long, compounded, continuing lawbreaking on the part of OSC and MSPB in their failure or refusal to performance various nondiscretionary statutory duties essential to the regulation of the management culture in my agency,
the Department of Energy, and other federal agencies.
I am alleging reprisal for engaging in the protected activity of seeking protection from OSC and
the reprisal I allege is OSC's failure or refusal to comply with a number of its non-discretionary
duties to protect me. I claim this is a "personnel action" for creating "any other significant
change in duties, responsibilities, or working conditions" because it would tend to dissuade a
re~sonable co-worker from engaging in the protected activity of seeking OSC's protection.
1
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I sent emails and left voice mails and/or spoke requesting information pursuant to the
"termination statement" with Cynthia Stemple in MA-13-4245 and Barbara Wheeler in MA-140892. Neither responded or would provide any of the information to which I have a statutory
right, despite a ruling from a federal Judge in Carson v. OSC, 06-1883, D.D.C, September 27,
2007 (Westlaw cite 514 F.Supp.2d 54), that it has a duty to provide such information to me.
This is completely consistent with OSC's law-breaking failure to protect me from reprisal for
over two decades now.
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing is true and c;rrect.

~;{
Date

2

Appx348
Pleading Number : 2014086435

Submission date : 2014-11-17 12:53:01

Confirmation Number: 1402314570

page 153 of 155

Case: 15-3135

CASE PARTICIPANTS ONLY Document: 68

Page: 327

Filed: 07/15/2016

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have have, on November 17, 2014, served the
OSC attorney Pamela Gault a copy of the within and foregoing pleading by mail
at:
Office of Special Counsel
Pamela Gault
1730 M St, NW
Suite 230
Washington, DC 20036
Additionally, I served Ms. Gault with this filing via email at pgault@osc.gov.
Date: November 17, 2014

_________/s/_________
Joseph Carson, PE
Appellant
10953 Twin Harbour Drive
Knoxville, TN 37934
865-300-5831
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Certificate Of Service

e-Appeal has handled service of the assembled pleading to MSPB only.
Name & Address
MSPB: Atlanta Regional office

Documents
Appellant's response to
show cause order

Method of Service
e-Appeal / e-Mail

I agree to send a printed copy of the electronic pleading with attachments to all parties by the
end of next business day, as follows:
Name & Address
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL
Agency Representative

Documents
Appellant's response to
show cause order

Method of Service
US Postal Mail

Greg McClelland 1730 M Street,
N.W. Suite 230
Washington, DC 200364505
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

v.
U. S. OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

)
)
)
)
)
) Dkt No. AT-1221-15-0092-W-1
)
)
)
)

AGENCY'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Introduction
The U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC or agency) files this Response to
Appellant's Jurisdictional Statement to demonstrate that the Merit Systems Protection
Board (MSPB or Board) lacks jurisdiction in this matter and it should be dismissed.
Appellant is employed by the Department of Energy (DOE) and has filed many
complaints of prohibited personnel practices (PPP) with OSC against his employer and
other federal agencies. Appellant disagreed with OSC's resolution of two of his recent
complaints and he exercised his only right of review-he filed an Individual Right of
Action (IRA) appeal with the Board. He now wants another bite at the apple. In this
current action, he brings an IRA appeal against OSC asking that the MSPB review OSC's
investigative decision to close his case. But it is well-established that the MSPB does not
review this type of prosecutorial discretion by OSC.
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Accordingly, this matter should be dismissed for three reasons: 1) collateral
estoppel will ultimately bar this action if the Administrative Judges' decisions at issue are
adopted by the Board. Because these decisions are not yet final, however, this case
should still be dismissed in the meantime based on the related ground of adjudicatory
efficiency; 2) in the alternative, appellant has failed to establish jurisdiction; and 3) this
action essentially seeks to have the MSPB review the merits of OSC's investigative and
prosecutorial decisions, which the Board has repeatedly held is not permitted.
Background
Appellant filed a whistleblower reprisal complaint with OSC against his
employer, DOE, on August 27, 2013, and against the MSPB on December 14, 2013,
claiming that DOE and the MSPB committed PPPs against him. After examining these
complaints, OSC found insufficient evidence to establish a PPP, closed its cases, and
informed appellant of his right to file an IRA appeal. Appellant then filed an IRA at the
MSPB. See Appellant's Response to Show Cause Order (Response), p. 5, 7. The MSPB
found Appellant's appeals without merit and dismissed both actions. Id., p. 6, 7.
Appellant also filed a complaint against OSC with OSC, claiming that OSC
committed a PPP against him in its handling of his complaints against DOE and MSPB.
OSC closed that PPP complaint, finding that OSC did not take a personnel action against
Appellant. Appellant then filed this IRA appeal against OSC claiming that OSC did not
follow its statutory duties in investigating his complaints and therefore committed a PPP
against him. See Response, p. 3. Appellant was ordered to file a statement showing

2
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jurisdiction, and he emailed a copy of that statement to OSC on November 17, 2014. The
agency timely files this response. 1
Argument
I. Plaintiff's Claims Should Be Dismissed Based on Collateral Estoppel and/or
Adjudicatory Efficiency.
This matter should ultimately be barred by collateral estoppel as described below.
Until the Administrative Judges' decisions are adopted by the Board, however, this case
should be dismissed based on adjudicatory efficiency.
As to collateral estoppel, the Board will apply this defense if: 1) the issue
previously adjudicated is identical to that now presented; 2) that issue was actually
litigated in the prior case; 3) the previous determination of that issue was necessary to the
resulting judgment; and 4) the party precluded by the doctrine was afforded a full and fair
opportunity to litigate its position. Ammex, Inc. v. U.S., 384 F.3d 1368, 1371 (Fed. Cir.
2004); Fisher v. Dept of Defense, 64 M.S.P.R. 509, 513 -16 (1994) (internal cites
omitted); Mintzmyer v. Dep 1 of Interior, 84 F.3d. 419 (Fed. Cir. 1996). As the U.S.

Supreme Court has recognized, collateral estoppel serves important functions. "To
preclude parties from contesting matters that they have had a full and fair opportunity to
litigate protects their adversaries from the expense and vexation attending multiple
lawsuits, conserves judicial resources, and fosters reliance on judicial action by
minimizing the possibility of inconsistent decisions." Montana v. U.S., 440 U.S. 147,
153-54 (1979).
Here, Appellant has previously litigated the issue raised in this appeal: whether
the MSPB has jurisdiction to hear his claim that OSC took a retaliatory personnel action
I

The Appellant and OSC were granted extensions of time in which to file their respective papers. OSC has
also filed a motion to stay this proceeding until a ruling on jurisdiction is made. That motion is pending.

3
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against him when investigating his complaints. In Carson v. OSC, Dkt. No. AT1221-140620-W-1 (July 25, 2014) (Attachment 1), Administrative Judge (AJ) Vitaris found that
the Board did not have jurisdiction over Appellant's similar retaliation claim against
OSC. 2

Specifically, AJ Vitaris found that, "the Board lacks jurisdiction because the

appellant has failed to non-frivolously allege that the agency has taken a personnel action
concerning him." See Decision, p. 3. The AJ correctly noted that, "OSC is not the
appellant's employing agency nor did the appellant apply to OSC for any type of work,
transfer, detail, emolument, restoration or other attribute of employment. Rather, OSC is
a federal investigative and prosecutorial agency. It does not take personnel actions
concerning employees other than its own." Decision p. 3-4. The AJ then held that,
"OSC's investigations and decisions are not personnel actions within the meaning of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)." These holdings were necessary to the resulting judgment and
are directly on point here.

Thus, the first three factors of the collateral estoppel defense

are met. Likewise, Appellant was afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate his
position. As a result, Appellant should be collaterally estopped from re-litigating these
holdings in this case.
In addition to AJ Vitaris' holding that OSC cannot take a personnel action against
Appellant, there is a second, independent reason that collateral estoppel should apply. In
this action, Appellant essentially claims that he had meritorious PPP claims against the
DOE and MSPB and that OSC erred when it did not pursue his claims. Put another way,
Appellant seeks to show that OSC resolved his complaints incorrectly. But the
underlying issue of whether DOE or the MSPB committed a PPP against him has already

2

The parties have submitted briefs in Appellant's Petition for Review and are awaiting a final decision
from the Board.
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been litigated. Indeed, Appellant filed an IRA appeal in both of those actions, and the
MSPB rejected Appellant's claims. See Response, p. 6, 7. Appellant does not get another
bite at the apple by claiming OSC did not resolve the matter correctly because the Board
has already held that insufficient evidence exists to establish that DOE and MSPB
committed a PPP against Appellant.
Although collateral estoppel should apply once the Board issues its decision on
Appellant's related cases,3 the Board has found that the proper disposition in this kind of
case, at this time, is to dismiss the matter on the grounds of adjudicatory efficiency. See,

e.g., Zgonc v. Dept. of Defense, I 03 M.S.P.R. 666,

~

6 (2006), ajf'd 230 F. App'x 967

(Fed. Cir. 2007) (citing McNeil v. Dep i of Defense, 100 M.S.P.R. 146, ~ 11 (2005);

Holloway v. Dept of Veterans Affairs, 56 M.S.P.R. 422, 424-25 (1993). Because the
elements of collateral estoppel are present, but the judgment may not be considered final,
this matter should be dismissed to best serve judicial efficiency and avoid potentially
conflicting results.
2. Appellant Has Failed to Establish Jurisdiction under 5 U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(9)(A)(i).

If the tribunal finds that collateral estoppel does not lead to dismissal, another,
independent reason exists why this case must be dismissed: Appellant has failed to
establish jurisdiction. Appellant brings this action against OSC apparently under 5
U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i). 4 Therefore, Appellant must show that OSC took or failed to
take a personnel action in retaliation for the exercise of any appeal, complaint or
grievance right granted by any law, rule, or regulation with regard to remedying a
3

No final judgments exist because Appellant filed a Petition for Review (PFR) of Judge Vitaris's July 25,
2014 decision and of the decisions in the underlying PPP matters against DOE and MSPB.
4
Appellant framed his claim as arising under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i) only, but the same arguments
would apply to show lack of jurisdiction under 5 U.S.C.§ 2302(b)(8).
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violation of section 2302(b)(8). 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9). He must then show that this
action was a contributing factor in OSC's decision to take or fail to take a personnel
action. See AJ's November 3, 2014 Order Denying Motion for Recusal and Order
Granting Extension; 5 U.S.C. §§ 1214(a)(3), 122l(e)(l); Yunus v. Department of
Veterans Affairs, 242 F.3d 1367, 1371 (Fed. Cir. 2001).
Appellant fails to demonstrate these required elements. He has not shown that
OSC took any personnel action against him; he has not shown what activity he engaged
in to meet the requirements of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9); and he has not shown any causal.
relationship between any protected activity and OSC's treatment of his PPP complaints.
Appellant relies on Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221
(2010), to argue that the Board has jurisdiction over his case. But, Weed is inapplicable
because the decision focused on facts and issues not present here. In Weed, the appellant
had applied for positions at SSA and could have been deemed an applicant for
employment with the SSA. 5 Thus, the SSA could take a personnel action against
appellant when it used a hiring scheme that denied veteran's preference. Conversely, the
Board has previously held that OSC does not have personnel authority over Appellant.
Additionally, in Weed, the Board focused on the timing of the disclosures and found that
Weed did not have to be an employee of SSA when he made the disclosures at issue.
Weed, para. 12. No such timing issues are present here. Finally, in contrast to Weed,
Appellant here argues that OS C's interpretation of its statute is a personnel action against
him. See Response p. 3. ("OSC's failure or refusal to comply with various aspects of its

5

Weed argued that he was an applicant because he had applied for similar positions and the Board found
his nonselection to violate veteran's preference and ordered the agency to reconstruct the hiring for those
positions. Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M .S.P.R. at para I 0. The Board did not address that
argument, relying on the definition of personnel action instead. See id.
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nondiscretionary statutory duties ... is a personnel action."). However, no authority
exists for the proposition that an agency's interpretation of its statute constitutes a
personnel action under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A). This is particularly true where, as here,
the alleged personnel action involves a non-employee.
Finally, even assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant could show that
OSC took a personnel action against him, he must still establish that his disclosure or
action under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9) was a contributing factor in OSC's personnel action
against him. Appellant does not even attempt to meet this required element. Therefore,
this action should be dismissed because Appellant has failed to establish jurisdiction.
3. No Statutory Basis Exists for this Review of OSC's Prosecutorial Decisions.
While Appellant characterizes this action as a PPP complaint, it is in fact an
attempt to seek another review of OSC's prosecutorial decisions and of DO E's and the
MSPB 's actions. Appellant has already exercised all rights the statute provides; he filed
an IRA against DOE and MSPB after OSC closed those cases. Appellant now wants to
relitigate those issues by filing against OSC. However, as described below, the MSPB
does not have jurisdiction to review OSC's discretionary investigative and prosecutorial
decisions.
The Civil Service Reform Act (CSRA) provides Appellant with a right of review;
that is, if he disagrees with OSC's investigative conclusions he may bring his own IRA
appeal for the MSPB to review. But the CSRA does not provide any right to review
OSC's investigative decisions. As courts have repeatedly held, the CSRA is a
comprehensive statute, if a right of review is not provided in the statute; an employee
does not have that right ofreview. See US. v. Fausto, 484 U.S. 439, 455 (1988). Shortly

7
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after the enactment of the CSRA, the MSPB examined the statute and found that OSC
was "structured like that of a prosecutor" and that "the Special Counsel has the discretion
to screen or terminate" complaints, thus, appellants do not have "a right to compel (the)
Special Counsel to seek Board enforcement." Patrick v. Dep 't ofTransp., 6 M.S.P.B.
213, 213-14 (1981). This is essentially what Appellant seeks here and the Board has
consistently found that there is no authority for this kind of review. See e.g., Carson v.
OSC, Dkt. No. AT1221-14-0620-W-1 (July 25, 2014); 6 Vaughn v. OSC, Dkt. No. CH-

3443-12-0600-1-1, September 20, 2012 (Initial Decision), August 1, 2013 (Board
Decision); Becker v. OSC, Dkt. No. NY-3443-10-0155-1-1, April 30, 2010.
Conclusion
For all of the reasons stated above, OSC respectfully requests that this matter be
dismissed.

Respectfully submitted,

Pamela Gault
Litigation Counsel
U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M Street, NW, Suite 301
Washington DC 20036
202-254-3657 (ph)
202-653-5151 (fax)
November 12, 2014

6

The parties have submitted briefs in appellant's PFR and are awaiting a decision.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE .
I certify that on December 12, 2014, I sent, via U.S. mail, a copy of the foregoing
AGENCY'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT to:
Joseph Carson
10953 Twin Harbour Dr.
Knoxville, TN 37934
Brian Bohlen, Administrative Judge
Merit Systems Protection Board, Atlanta Regional Office
401 W. Peachtree St., NW, Suite 1050
Atlanta, GA 30308

Pamela Gault
Counsel for the OSC
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD
ATLANTA REGIONAL OFFICE

JOSEPH P. CARSON,
Appellant,

DOCKET NUMBER
AT-1221-15-0092-W-1

v.
OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL,
Agency.

DATE: January 13, 2015

Joseph P. Carson, Knoxville, Tennessee, pro se.
Pamela Gault, Esquire, Washington, D.C., for the agency.
BEFORE
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge
INITIAL DECISION
On October 22, 2014, the appellant, Joseph Carson, sought to file an
individual right of action (IRA) appeal asserting that, in retaliation for his
protected disclosures, the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), denied, failed, or
refused to resolve his allegations of whistleblower retaliation in a timely and
objective manner. For the reasons set forth below, the appeal is DISMISSED for
lack of jurisdiction. The hearing the appellant requested was not held because
there was no factual dispute bearing on the issue of jurisdiction. See Manning v.
Merit Systems Protection Board, 742 F.2d 1424, 1427-28 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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2
JURISDICTION
The Board generally has jurisdiction over an IRA appeal if the appellant
has exhausted his administrative remedies with OSC and makes non-frivolous
allegations that: (1) he engaged in whistleblowing activity by making a protected
disclosure or otherwise engaged in protected activity, and (2) the disclosure or
activity was a contributing factor in the agency's decision to take or fail to take a
personnel action.
In an IRA appeal, an employee or applicant for employment may seek
corrective action from the Board with respect to any “personnel action” taken, or
proposed to be taken, against him as the result of a protected disclosure or
protected activity as described in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) or 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B),
(C), or (D). 5 U.S.C. § 1221(a). In this context, a “personnel action” is defined
as follows: (i) an appointment; (ii) a promotion; (iii) an action under 5 U.S.C.
chapter 75 or other disciplinary or corrective action; (iv) a detail, transfer, or
reassignment; (v) a reinstatement; (vi) a restoration; (vii) a reemployment; (viii) a
performance evaluation under 5 U.S.C. chapter 43; (ix) a decision concerning
pay, benefits, or awards, or concerning education or training if the education or
training may reasonably be expected to lead to an appointment, promotion,
performance evaluation, or other personnel action; (x) a decision to order
psychiatric testing or examination; and (xi) any other significant change in duties,
responsibilities, or working conditions. 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).
The Office of Special Counsel as the responding agency contends that the
Board lacks jurisdiction over this appeal because OSC’s investigation and
subsequent decision to close its investigation of the appellant’s whistleblower
claim against another agency do not themselves constitute a “personnel action”
within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 2302(a)(2)(A).

See IAF, Tab 20.

OSC also

argued that the appeal should be dismissed on grounds of collateral estoppel or
adjudicative efficiency because the appellant has already received an Initial
Decision examining these identical issues from another MSPB Administrative
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3
Judge, and a Petition for Review is already pending on that appeal. See Carson v.
OSC, Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1.
For the reasons explained below, the appeal is dismissed because I find that
the appellant has failed to non-frivolously allege that OSC committed a personnel
action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 2302(a)(2)(A). While the reasoning and
outcome of this initial decision are very similar to those employed by Judge
Vitaris in Carson v. OSC, Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1, collateral estoppel
is improper because that initial decision is not a final Board decision.
It was Congress's intent in drafting 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) to protect
whistleblowers from a broad range of possible retaliatory actions by government
agencies.
(2010).

Weed v. Social Security Administration, 113 M.S.P.R. 221, ¶ 10
Thus, the Board has held that an appellant in an IRA appeal is not

limited to seeking corrective action for personnel actions taken by his employing
agency, but can also raise such claims with respect to personnel actions taken by
other Federal agencies, such as, for example a transfer, detail, restoration, or
reemployment. See 5 C.F.R. § 210.102(18) (defining a transfer as a change of an
employee, without a break in service, from a position in one agency to a position
in another agency); 5 C.F.R. § 317.903 (defining a detail in the Senior Executive
Service to include a temporary assignment to an outside agency); 5 C.F.R. Part
330, subpart G and Part 553 (authorizing a restoration or a reemployment of
former employees to include placement in a position in another agency).
In this case, however, the Board lacks jurisdiction because the appellant
has failed to non-frivolously allege that the agency has taken a covered personnel
action concerning him. The appellant contends that OSC committed a personnel
action under the WPA when it conducted incompetent investigations leading to
unjustified closures of two whistleblower reprisal claims against other agencies.
I disagree that such conduct by OSC constitutes a “personnel action” within even
a very expansive view of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A).

The claimed “personnel

action” does not constitute one of the personnel actions enumerated by 5 U.S.C. §
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4
2302(a)(2)(A).
provision,

Nor does it meet the definition of the statute’s catch-all

which

includes

responsibilities, or conditions.”

“any

other

significant

change

5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii).

in

duties,

In closing, I

adopt Judge Vitaris’ well-crafted and persuasive finding below from his initial
decision in MSPB Docket No. AT-1221-14-0620-W-1:
OSC is not the appellant’s employing agency nor did the appellant
apply to OSC for any type of work, transfer, detail, emolument,
restoration or other attribute of employment. Rather, OSC is a
Federal investigative and prosecutorial agency. It does not take
personnel actions concerning employees other than its own. While
the appellant may be dissatisfied with the quality and timeliness of
OSC’s investigations and with the merits of OSC’s prosecutorial
decisions, those investigations and decisions are not personnel
actions within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A) even though
they may be of keen interest to the appellant and to his career with
his own employing agency, the Department of Energy.
DECISION
The appellant’s request for corrective action is DENIED. 1

FOR THE BOARD:

_______/S/__________________
Brian Bohlen
Administrative Judge

1

All pending motions are DENIED. Specifically, the appellant’s motion for an
interlocutory appeal of my prior Order denying his request to disqualify all MSPB
administrative judges from adjudicating this appeal based on a supposed global
conspiracy between OSC and the MSPB is DENIED for the reasons previously
explained in my Order from November 3, 2014, and because the request does not meet
the criteria for granting such a request under 5 C.F.R. § 1201.92(b). See IAF, Tabs 9
and 13. The appellant’s Motion to Compel Discovery from OSC is likewise DENIED
since the material he sought in discovery has no bearing on my jurisdictional findings
above. And finally, the appellant’s Motion for Sanctions against the agency is DENIED
since I find the agency timely requested an extension to reply to the appellant’s
jurisdictional submissions, and supported the extension request with good cause. See
IAF, Tabs 18, 20, and 22.
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5
NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on February 17, 2015, unless a
petition for review is filed by that date. This is an important date because it is
usually the last day on which you can file a petition for review with the Board.
However, if you prove that you received this initial decision more than 5 days
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for review within 30 days after
the date you actually receive the initial decision. If you are represented, the 30day period begins to run upon either your receipt of the initial decision or its
receipt by your representative, whichever comes first. You must establish the
date on which you or your representative received it. The date on which the
initial decision becomes final also controls when you can file a petition for
review with the Court of Appeals. The paragraphs that follow tell you how and
when to file with the Board or the federal court. These instructions are important
because if you wish to file a petition, you must file it within the proper time
period.
BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial decision by filing a petition
for review if you believe that the settlement agreement is unlawful, was
involuntary, or was the result of fraud or mutual mistake. Your petition, with
supporting evidence and argument, must be filed with Clerk of the Board at the
address below.
If the other party has already filed a timely petition for review, you may
file a cross petition for review. Your petition or cross petition for review must
state your objections to the initial decision, supported by references to applicable
laws, regulations, and the record. You must file it with:
The Clerk of the Board
Merit Systems Protection Board
1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419
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6
A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by mail, facsimile (fax),
personal or commercial delivery, or electronic filing. A petition submitted by
electronic filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14, and
may

only

be

accomplished

at

the

Board's

e-Appeal

website

(https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).
Criteria for Granting a Petition or Cross Petition for Review
Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board normally will consider only
issues raised in a timely filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations in
which the Board may grant a petition or cross petition for review include, but are
not limited to, a showing that:
(a) The initial decision contains erroneous findings of material fact. (1)
Any alleged factual error must be material, meaning of sufficient weight to
warrant an outcome different from that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner
who alleges that the judge made erroneous findings of material fact must explain
why the challenged factual determination is incorrect and identify specific
evidence in the record that demonstrates the error. In reviewing a claim of an
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will give deference to an administrative
judge’s credibility determinations when they are based, explicitly or implicitly,
on the observation of the demeanor of witnesses testifying at a hearing.
(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous interpretation of statute or
regulation or the erroneous application of the law to the facts of the case. The
petitioner must explain how the error affected the outcome of the case.
(c) The judge’s rulings during either the course of the appeal or the initial
decision were not consistent with required procedures or involved an abuse of
discretion, and the resulting error affected the outcome of the case.
(d) New and material evidence or legal argument is available that, despite
the petitioner’s due diligence, was not available when the record closed. To
constitute new evidence, the information contained in the documents, not just the
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documents themselves, must have been unavailable despite due diligence when
the record closed.
As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition for review, a cross petition
for review, or a response to a petition for review, whether computer generated,
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 words, whichever is less. A
reply to a response to a petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 words,
whichever is less. Computer generated and typed pleadings must use no less than
12 point typeface and 1-inch margins and must be double spaced and only use one
side of a page. The length limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table of
authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. A request for leave to file a
pleading that exceeds the limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days before the filing deadline. Such
requests must give the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length of the
pleading and are granted only in exceptional circumstances. The page and word
limits set forth above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected or required to
submit pleadings of the maximum length. Typically, a well-written petition for
review is between 5 and 10 pages long.
If you file a petition or cross petition for review, the Board will obtain the
record in your case from the administrative judge and you should not submit
anything to the Board that is already part of the record. A petition for review
must be filed with the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this initial
decision becomes final, or if this initial decision is received by you or your
representative more than 5 days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date
you or your representative actually received the initial decision, whichever was
first. If you claim that you and your representative both received this decision
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the burden to prove to the Board the
earlier date of receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving the initial
decision was not due to the deliberate evasion of receipt. You may meet your
burden by filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty of perjury (see 5
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C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to support your claim. The date of filing by mail
is determined by the postmark date. The date of filing by fax or by electronic
filing is the date of submission. The date of filing by personal delivery is the
date on which the Board receives the document. The date of filing by commercial
delivery is the date the document was delivered to the commercial delivery
service. Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if you fail to provide
a statement of how you served your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R.
§ 1201.4(j). If the petition is filed electronically, the online process itself will
serve the petition on other e-filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.14(j)(1).
A cross petition for review must be filed within 25 days after the date of
service of the petition for review.
NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for review of this initial
decision in accordance with the Board's regulations.
NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS
You have the right to request review of this final decision by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.
The court must receive your request for review no later than 60 calendar
days after the date this initial decision becomes final.
§ 7703(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012).

See 5 U.S.C.

If you choose to file, be very

careful to file on time. The court has held that normally it does not have the
authority to waive this statutory deadline and that filings that do not comply with
the deadline must be dismissed. See Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management,
931 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).
If you want to request review of this decision concerning your claims of
prohibited personnel practices under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)(i),
(b)(9)(B), (b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge the Board’s
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disposition of any other claims of prohibited personnel practices, you may request
review of this decision only after it becomes final by filing in the United States
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any court of appeals of competent
jurisdiction. The court of appeals must receive your petition for review within 60
days after the date on which this decision becomes final.

See 5 U.S.C.

§ 7703(b)(1)(B) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be very careful
to file on time. You may choose to request review of the Board’s decision in the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or any other court of
appeals of competent jurisdiction, but not both. Once you choose to seek review
in one court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking review in any other
court.
If you need further information about your right to appeal this decision to
court, you should refer to the federal law that gives you this right. It is found in
Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff.
Dec. 27, 2012). You may read this law as well as other sections of the United
States

Code,

at

our

website,

http://www.mspb.gov/appeals/uscode/htm.

Additional information about the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit is available at the court's website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular
relevance is the court's "Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants," which is
contained within the court's Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, and 11.
Additional information about other courts of appeals can be found at their
respective

websites,

which

can

be

accessed

through

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.
If you are interested in securing pro bono representation for an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our
website at http://www.mspb.gov/probono for a list of attorneys who have
expressed interest in providing pro bono representation for Merit Systems
Protection Board appellants before the Federal Circuit.
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Protection Board neither endorses the services provided by any attorney nor
warrants that any attorney will accept representation in a given case.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify the foregoing has been filed electronically. Notice of this
filing will be sent by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system to
all parties indicated on the electronic filing receipt.
Additionally, I hereby certify that on this date, service was made upon
the following individuals by first class U.S. Mail:
Amici
Zena Denise Crenshaw-Logal
7519 West 77th Avenue
Crown Point, IN 46307
Andrew Dudley Jackson
7519 West 77th Avenue
Crown Point, IN 46307
Brenda McCracken
808 Baskin Drive
Joliet, IL 60404
This 15th day of July, 2016.
LORING JUSTICE, PLLC

By:

iii

s/ B. Chadwick Rickman

